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Letter from 
the CEO

For 99 years, Avianca has been the 
lead character of the best moments 
in the history of Colombia and Latin 
America, connecting millions of 
travelers from our region to the 
world. It has faced the challenges 
that the history of our countries and 
our economies have imposed, to 
guarantee unique and exceptional 
experiences to our customers 
at all times and in this way, 
become a world class Company. 
2018 was a year of progress in 
strengthening our strategy. A year 
of alliances, growth in passengers 
transported, implementation of 
new services, expansion of our 
route network, technological and 
sustainability developments. This 
year we reestablished 100% of our 
operations after the strike of ACDAC 
pilots’ activities that took place in 
the second semester of 2017.

It is how we move forward on these 
fronts: 

We completed our first five years 
at the New York Stock Exchange 
(NYSE), where we quoted along with 
86 Latin American companies and 
became one of the four Colombian 
companies that are part of this 
select group. Under a strategic new 
brand: “We do everything for your 
love,” we improve the experience of 
our clients, and diversify the sources 
of income and business units. 
We concentrate our operation in 
Bogota to a single terminal bringing 
countless benefits to clients and 
employees; we inaugurated four 
new world class VIP lounges in 
Bogotá, Cali, Santa Marta and 

Bucaramanga for a total of 19 
own rooms inside the Holding, 16 
operated by other allies and more 
than 1,000 at global level available 
through our Star Alliance network. 
Our new room at El Dorado Airport 
in Bogotá has more than three 
thousand square meters, alternative 
food services, rest and work centers 
and a strategic location within the 
terminal.

We expanded our route network, 
incorporated 10 new airplanes 
and strengthened our digital 
transformation strategy to optimize 
processes for our client, who is the 
center of everything we do. We 
transported more than 30 million 
passengers with a fleet of 196 
aircraft, and our loyalty program 
already has 8.9 million frequent 
travelers. Avianca today reaches 
twelve cities in the United States 
reaffirming the commitment to 
connect our customers with the 
destinations of their dreams. We 
became the first and only airline 
that operates directly from Bogotá 
to O’Hare International Airport 
in Chicago, destination to which 
we also launched a new direct 
route from Guatemala City, we 
launch the Bogotá - Munich route, 
and we opened new bases in 
this emblematic German city, in 
Mendoza and Corozal.

In our second year of participation, 
we were included in the Dow 
Jones Sustainability Index DJSI 
MILA (Integrated Latin American 
Market) Pacific Alliance, in the fifth 
position. We are pleased that the 

Hernán Rincón 
Avianca’s CEO
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commitment of our nearly twenty 
thousand colleagues, with the 
values, competencies, and objectives 
of our Flight 2020, has allowed the 
market to recognize our sustainable 
management practices, which 
are the basis of the generation of 
financial, social and environmental 
value. 

Our support for children and 
adolescents in Latin America and the 
Caribbean was manifested during 
2018 with the launch of the Click For 
Change platform, a micro-donation 
engine through which our clients 
can invest in the education of our 
children via UNICEF. In addition, we 
were invited to join the Board of 
the Generation Unlimited initiative, 
inaugurated in the framework of the 
73rd session of the United Nations 
General Assembly. This initiative 
brings together United Nations 
agencies and representatives of 
the private sector, civil society and 
youth, to the purpose of finding 
ways to ensure that every child and 
adolescent has access to education, 
training and employment by 2030, 
promoting innovation for strengthen 
existing initiatives and generate new 
ones in education, development of 
job skills and youth empowerment, 
especially for girls.

We started the process of Human 
Rights due diligence, welcoming the 
guiding principles on business and 
human rights of the UN, we took 
the lead as a regional airline in the 
campaign against human trafficking 
led by UNODC, UNICEF, Office of 
the Attorney General of Colombia, 

our immigration authorities and 
various actors of civil society to 
protect our youth and our women 
from this scourge. As corporate 
citizens, we are determined to 
strengthen our mechanisms of social 
dialogue and commitment to the 
sustainable development agenda of 
the United Nations. 

We ended 2018 announcing the 
strategic and commercial alliance 
with United Airlines and Copa 
Airlines in which we had been 
working for almost two years, aimed 
at offering a better service for 
travelers between Latin America and 
the United States. This alliance, once 
approved by the authorities of the 
20 countries contemplated in it, will 
generate more than 12 thousand 
connection options, new direct 
flights, additional frequencies and 
reduction of travel times by having 
more precise connections. We will 
operate as a single route network, 
and this will allow us to integrate 
our frequent flyer programs, simplify 
baggage control, coordinate flight 
schedules and improve airport 
service.

Our 99th anniversary was the 
framework to host the annual 
meeting of CEOs of the 28 member 
airlines of Star Alliance, the most 
important airline network in the 
world. We commemorate this special 
date for us that marks the beginning 
of the celebrations of our first 
century of existence, while we were 
strengthening our commitment 
to the alliance, through which we 
offer today a network of 1,300 

destinations in 193 countries, more 
than 18,800 direct flights and access 
to more than 1000 VIP lounges 
with the opportunity to accumulate 
and redeem miles in the loyalty 
programs of the 28 airlines.

During 2018 we were recognized 
by different institutions, among 
them: Skytrax, as the best airline 
in South America, World Travel 
award as the best airline brand 
in Latin America, Trip Advisor 
as the best tourist class in Latin 
America, Merco Talento Colombia 
as one of the five best companies 
to work for, Effie in communications 
campaigns and relational marketing, 
as well as different recognitions 
for our environmental and safety 
management.
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GRI 102-1; 102-50; 102-52 The 
Board of Directors, the CEO and his 
administration, are presenting the 
sixth Annual Management Report of 
Avianca Holdings S.A. following the 
guidelines of the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) Standards to disclose 
our economic, social, environmental 
and corporate governance 
performance during the period from 
January 1 to December 31, 2018, as 
well as the main challenges we will 
be facing in the future.1

In this report, we will provide 
information about Avianca 
Holdings S.A. and the companies 
that comprise it2 (hereinafter the 
Holding Company or the Company); 
particularly in the description of 
the practices and programs that 
encompass the investment and 
controlling company, as well as 
the operating companies of the 
Holding’s lines of business.

In order to meet the information 
expectations of our stakeholders 
and continue communicating 
our business vision, performance 
and commitment to sustainable 
management, we have prepared this 
management report, which includes 
the Annual Corporate Governance 
Report and complies with the 

applicable standards, regulations 
and initiatives in accordance 
with the commitments made by 
Avianca. In this report, we have also 
incorporated our Communication on 
Progress (COP) regarding principles 
related to Human Rights, Labor 
Rights, the Environment and Anti-
corruption, as members of the 
United Nations’ Global Compact 
initiative.

GRI 102-45 The financial 
information included in this 
report follows the guidelines 
of the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). This 
report includes the consolidated 
and separate financial statements, 
which have been audited by 
KPMG. The non-financial and 
general information is taken from 
primary and secondary sources of 
information kept in the documentary 
records of the Company’s areas and 
processes, where some of them 
are controlled by our management 
systems, which are subject to 
periodic internal and external audits 
throughout the year.

1 

1. GRI 102-51 The date of the most recent report was 2017.
2. GRI 102-45 To check the companies part of the Holding, go to the Financial Statements report attached.

About our report 

02
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Changes in reporting 
GRI  102-48; 102-49

In the event of a change in the formula or basis of calculation of an indicator regarding the data reported in 
previous reports as well as particularities in coverage or scope, we have included the corresponding explanation in 
each section. When presenting actions performed by one (1) or more of the companies that make up the Holding 
Company, the Company that performed such action shall be mentioned specifically.

We have prepared this 
Report in accordance 
with the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI) standard, 
based on the Core option. 
External assessment: 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
A.G. - PwC.

G
R

I 1
02

-5
4

External assurance: 
Deloitte & Touche, 
following  the international 
standard ISAE3000, in 
line with our commitment 
to ensure information 
traceability and reliability. 
See memorandum of 
independent review.

G
R

I 1
02

-5
6

For información additional 
information, concerns or 
suggestions, contact the 
Corporate Citizenship 
Department by e-mail at

G
R

I 1
02

-5
3

About Avianca 
Holdings

Measured in ASKs (available 
seats per kilometers flown), 

grew by

Measured in RPKs (revenue from 
passenger per kilometer flown), 

increased by

GRI 102-1; 102-2 We are a Holding company which incorporates service companies and airlines, and holds investments 
primarily in: passenger airlines, cargo airlines, its LifeMiles loyalty program and related activities including tourism, 
engineering, maintenance and specialized maintenance services. 

Our strong presence in the Andean and Central American region allows us to consolidate regional passenger traffic at 
our hubs and offer connectivity to international destinations, making us a leader in terms of passenger transport from 
our domestic markets to North and South America. 

We operate an extensive network of routes from our three HUBs in Colombia, Peru and El Salvador (plus the prime 
markets of Costa Rica and Ecuador). We offer passenger services to 105 destinations in 27 countries. Our code-sharing 
partnerships, along with our Star Alliance membership, provide our customers with access to a global network of 1,317 
destinations in 193 countries.

Total number of passengers  

Load factor

Passenger 
transport

Capacity Passenger

8.7% 8.7%
30,502,536

83.1%

GRI 102-2; 102-6 Our lines of business

Passenger transportation
 We provide domestic and international passenger transportation in Colombia, Ecuador, Costa Rica, Nicaragua and 
Perú, and other international routes to North, Central and South America, Europe and the Caribbean. Through the 
operation of our fleet, we serve 105 destinations in 27 countries and we carried out 292,599 flights in the year. Since 
2012, we have been members of the Star Alliance program, which enables us to expand our network and offer more 
destinations and services. 

ciudadania.corporativa@avianca.com

• We are a team made up of 18,960 employees3 in 26 countries.
• We made 30.502.536 passengers fall in love with us living an excepcional experience. 
• We transported 563,089 tons of cargo.

GRI 102-7

We integrated several airlines with domestic and international operations:

• Aerovías del Continente Americano S.A. Avianca.
• Taca International Airlines S.A.
• Avianca Perú S.A.
• Avianca Ecuador S.A.
• Tampa Cargo S.A.S

• Aviateca S.A.
• Avianca Costa Rica Sociedad Anónima.
• Isleña de Inversiones S.A. de C.V.
• Aerotaxis la Costeña S.A.
• Servicios Aéreos Nacionales S.A. SANSA.

1 

3. This figure does not include full time trainees, only employees with fixed term and indefinite contracts.
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Avianca Tours
At Avianca Tours we design unforgettable experiences. 
Offering packages throughout the entire Avianca network, 
we reach destinations in North, Central and South America, 
the Caribbean and Europe. With our services, customers 
can enhance their travel plans with accommodations, car 
rentals, tours, excursions, activities, park tickets and events.

• Through a strategic partnership 
between Avianca and PriceTravel, 
the Avianca Tours product was 
strengthened, thus having a positive 
impact on our customers. The greatest 
benefits will be reflected in:
 » +150 thousand hotels available in 
the entire Avianca network.

 » Terrestrial services will be enhanced, 
including a wide range of cruises, 
tours, transport and much more.

 » Users will have a simple, friendly 
platform to find their favorite 
packages.

 » As for Avianca’s points of sale and 
travel agencies, there will be an 
advanced platform to provide them 
with greater autonomy.

• For the first time, we achieved sales 
of Avianca Tours outside of Colombia. 
In May, we began selling packages in 
Mexico through www.aviancatours.
com.mx

• In November 2018, we held the tenth 
Avianca Tours golf tournament.

• We carried out a significant 
commercial operation involving 
promotional products with top 
monthly suppliers to leverage sales 
and ensure a competitive product.

Relevant  numbers  

The renovation to our new 
platform made it possible 
for the digital channel 
tours.avianca.com to grow 
by 305% in the months of 
November and December.   

We sold 10,900 
reservations, including 
activities, hotels, car 
rentals and tourism 
packages.

The top five selling 
destinations for the 
year were: San Andrés, 
Cartagena, Cancún, Punta 
Cana, and Santa Marta. 

305%

10,900

5

Cargo and Courier
Through this business unit, operated by Tampa Cargo, S.A.S., we offered effective, innovative solutions in line 
with our customers’ needs to send and receive cargo. We transported goods and merchandise on cargo aircraft 
(Airbus A330F, A300F and Boeing 767F of the airlines incorporated under Avianca Holdings S.A.) and/or using the 
available capacity in the bellies of the Holding Company’s passenger aircrafts. We stood out as an airline with a 
track record and experience in handling perishables, with a staff trained to provide world-class professional service. 
We transported cargo to a variety of customers, including other international carriers, cargo transport companies, 
exporters and individual consumers. We also strengthened our range of destinations through interline agreements, 
thus covering different continents. 

Capacity, measured in ATKs 
(available ton per kilometers 

flown) 

Cargo volumes measured 
in RTKs (revenue ton per 

kilometers flown) 

Total number of tons4 

Load factor

Cargo Capacity Tons

1,409 M 2,460 M
563,089

57%
1 
4. Does not include Ecuador’s domestic flight information.

Highlights
2018
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• In 2018 we were recognized 
with the Freddie Award #11, 
being the only frequent flier 
program from Latin America 
to receive a Freddie Award 
since 2012.

LifeMiles
The Loyalty Program operates through LifeMiles Ltd, including the airline 
frequent flyer program. This business line sells miles to Avianca as well 
as to third parties and operates the business partners network in which 
miles can be accumulated and/or redeemed for products and services. 
This business unit is an important source of profitability and cash flow for 
Avianca Holdings, and its activities help to ensure customers loyalty for 
Avianca. In addition, LifeMiles brings new customers to the airline, many of 
whom join the program through the LifeMiles business partners network 
which includes banks, clothing stores, restaurants, etc. Under the program 
our customers can earn miles by:

• Traveling with Avianca and our air partners (including Star Alliance).
• Making purchases with their LifeMiles co-branded credit cards or 

redeeming points from other programs into LifeMiles.
• Using the services of our non-air partners (hotels, car rentals, business 

partners and experiences). 
• With promotional mileage purchases (2x1, multiply your miles, and 

others). 

Miles earned can be redeemed for flights or services and products from 
our partners. Customers may also donate their miles through the Miles 
Bank program to help vulnerable children from Latin America that need 
to travel to receive specialized medical services provided in the cities, 
destinations and routes operated by Avianca.

LifeMiles has partners all around the world. Our main markets are: 
Colombia, El Salvador, Costa Rica, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, Perú 
and Ecuador.  

• The coalition in Colombia 
experienced significant 
growth, driven by the success 
of our partnership with Terpel 
and the addition of new 
business partners. 

• We entered the Brazilian 
market through a partnership 
with Livelo, manager of the 
loyalty program for Banco do 
Brazil and Banco Bradesco. 

• We launched a new co-
branded credit card with 
Banco Sudameris of Paraguay. 

• We partnered with Trip+ 
and Mileslife to make direct 
mileage sales to members in 
Asia. 

• We expanded our partnership 
with American Express 
Membership Rewards in 
North America. 

• We upgraded our technology 
and improved member 
experiences (Club LifeMiles, 
QualiMiles, Coalition 
transactions without a 
physical card, new flight 
reservations portal and other 
innovations).

Relevant  numbers
Partners enrolled in the program: 8,9 
million. 
The number of active program partners 
grew by 30%.

The number of active partners in coalition 
grew by approximately 180%. 

Points of sale in the coalition: 
Colombia: +3.500  El Salvador: +370 
Costa Rica: +150  Guatemala: +130 
Peru: +30

Active co-branded credit cards: 
approximately 680,000.

Active business partners.

8,9
30%

180%

680,000

5

+500

Servicios Aeroportuarios Integrados (SAI)
Key partner for the provision of ground support and airport services 
for Avianca Holdings Airlines and third parties, covering services such 
as ground aircraft services, dispatch, passenger services and ground 
equipment maintenance.

• We culminated the first year of 
operations as Avianca Holdings 
S.A. company, meeting 99,2% 
of the transit times. 

• We expanded our business 
lines by introducing 
mobilization services for 
passengers with reduced 
mobility. 

• We attracted new customers 
by providing over 90 additional 
flights per month.

• We expanded our coverage 
in Colombia by opening new 
bases in Pereira and Corozal.

Relevant  numbers 

Over 15 customer airlines: Avianca, KLM, 
Delta, Aeroméxico, Aerolíneas Argentinas, 
Iberia, Interjet, Jetblue, Air Canada, Spirit, 
American Airlines and others.

Presence in 7 bases in Colombia. 

Flights served in 2018. 

Employees.

Ground teams.

15

7
80,000
+2,500

+900

Our strategic business units

GRI 102-2; 102-6 We are organized as a group of companies and/or business units incorporated under Avianca 
Holdings, through which we offer other products and services that complement our passenger and cargo businesses 
and diversify our revenue sources, such as: ground assistance, maintenance, cargo and courier transport, Contact 
Center and loyalty programs. 

In order to create added value for our shareholders, we are working to promote diversification by generating new 
sources of revenue, growth and profitability to our companies, thus ensuring the loyalty of our customers and 
employees, and delivering world-class products and services.5

1 

5. At the close of December 2018, Avianca Holdings S.A. sold all of its holding in OneLink Getcom, and extended the Contact Center service contract.

Highlights
2018

Awards

Highlights
2018
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Viajes Éxito is one of the leading travel agencies in Colombia, offering 
travelers alternatives for their pleasure and business trips. It has a network 
of 41 points of sale throughout Colombia: Bogotá, Cali, Medellín and 
Metropolitan Area, Manizales, Pereira, Pasto, Popayán, Bucaramanga, 
Cúcuta, Barranquilla, Cartagena, Ibagué, Neiva and Villavicencio.

Under the Avianca Cargo brand, Tampa Cargo S.A.S., a cargo airline, fills the 
logistics and air cargo transportation needs. The airline has its own fleet of 
cargo aircrafts and uses the bellies in passenger planes to carry different 
types of merchandise, depending on the customer needs, always keeping 
the cargo in optimal conditions. It provides the option of carrying cargo to 
over 100 destinations due to the extensive routes network and agreements 
that Avianca has with different airlines around the world.

• In 2018 we began 
operating the Puntos 
Colombia trip channel 
(the customer loyalty 
program for Grupo 
Éxito and Bancolombia). 

• We launched the 
corporate self-
management channel 
using the Online 
Booking Tool (OBT). 

• The online channel 
grew 20% over 2017.

• We established Miami 
as a HUB for Avianca 
Cargo. We reached 
connectivity with more 
destinations around 
the world and achieved 
more capacity to 
mobilize cargo.

• Together with the 
consulting firm Miebach 
Consulting, we were able 
to manage larger cargo 
volumes at the Miami 
station warehouses from 
and to destinations in 
Latin America, Europe 
and Asia. With the 
increased capacity, 
transit cargo handling 
surged from 1,700 to 
30,000 tons in 2018.

• We expanded the 
network in Europe with 
an Airbus A330-200 
aircraft that operates 
a cargo flight from 
Brussels to Amsterdam.

• In April 2018, we 
launched the Shanghai 
(PVG) - Santiago de 
Chile (SCL) operation, 
connecting via the 
Miami (MIA) HUB with 
a B747F twice a week, 
in cooperation with 
Taidak Airlogistics (China 
Eastern), which aims to 
increase Avianca Cargo’s 
share of the Asian 
market with China as its 
main origin/destination. 

Relevant  numbers

Total customers (+ 55,000 new 
customers in 2018).

Air segments. 

Hotel nights (73% domestic).

+305,000
+360,000
+140,000

Relevant  numbers6

ATKs.

RTKs.

Load factor.

2,278 M
1,370 M

60.1%

Éxito, viajes y turismo

• PAC LOG - Logística Aeroportuaria awarded a special recognition for 
our contribution to logistics efficiency at the Curitiba station in 
Brazil.

1 
6. This data does not include domestic flights in Colombia.

Highlights
2018

Highlights
2018

Awards
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Deprisa
The Deprisa business unit provides logistics solutions for reception, 
transportation and delivery of documents, packages and merchandise at 
home and abroad, using the bellies in Avianca’s domestic flights to carry 
them.

Business unit specialized in the provision and commercialization of airport, 
engineering, maintenance and training services. With over 15 years in the 
market, its main operation is located in Colombia. The entity is in process of 
expanding to South, Central and North America. 

• We announced the 
creation of Latin 
Logistics Colombia, a 
tool that will provide 
us improved cost 
efficiency, access to new 
businesses demanded 
by the market, and help 
us become a logistics 
integrator to provide 
integrated solutions.

• We advanced 
in our digital 
transformation with the 
implementation of the 
new CRM, electronic 
invoicing.

• We strengthened our 
portfolio with the 
e-Commerce product 
with customers like 
Mercado Libre and 
Amazon by offering 
them differentiated 
logistics in conjunction 
with Avianca Cargo.

• As part of our Major 
Repairs business, we service 
Jetsmart’s A320 aircraft at 
the Rionegro MRO, and we 
also service the Colombian 
Air Force’s Presidential B767 
aircraft as well as Avianca 
Holdings’ own planes.

• We also restored and 
sold SURPLUS7 through 
negotiations with our 
strategic partner DASI 
located in Miami, generating 
initial revenue for the 
Company in the order of 
USD $3M, and improving 
the process by restoring and 
selling inventory material 
classified as SURPLUS. 

Relevant  numbers Relevant  numbers

Million retail sector shipments 
transported.

Domestic and international corporate 
customers. 

Points of sale in Colombia. 

Domestic destinations.  

International destinations through 
partnerships with UPS and Avianca 
Cargo. 

Trucks and 236 motorcycles 
contracted in Colombia.

Since it started out, the Flight and 
Airport Attendants program has 
had 8 cohorts with 542 graduates 
(seventh and eight graduating class). 
In 2018, 395 students were trained, 
with a growth of 14% compared to 
previous year.

Since it started out, the Airline 
Technician program has had 3 
cohorts with 60 graduates of the 
second and third graduating class. 
In 2018, 157 students were trained, 
with a growth of 38% compared to 
previous year.

Specialized training courses in 
hazardous merchandise and basic 
international cargo were carried out 
for 584 students.

Flights were serviced in line 
maintenance, 37 in major 
maintenance and 4,800 calibrated 
devices.

We achieved 5,788 hours on flight 
simulators for the ATR and A320 
fleets and 680 hours on Flight 
Training Devices.

+2 542

+3,500
+300 38%

1,200
+200 50

31,000
330

5,788

1 

7. SURPLUS is the excess aviation material that, due to changes in aircraft technology, fleet renewal 
or variation in maintenance plans, can be offered for resale at present market values.

• Bureau Veritas audited compliance and monitoring of the ISO 28000 
standard, evaluating compliance with the controls established by the 
Company.

Highlights
2018

Highlights
2018

Awards
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Mission
We connect the world to Latin America, 
always striving to do more.

Vision
With the best people and the best 
technology for an exceptional experience, we 
will be the preferred Latin American airline in 
the world. 

Our commitment to always strive to do more is the basis 
to achieve each of the objectives we have planned in our 
Strategic Direction for 2020. 

Client

Diversification of sources 
of value: profitability and 

sustainability.

Operational excellence: safety, 
punctuality and efficiency.

Alliances with strategic 
partners.

Exceptional, consistent 
and personalized 

experience.

Consolidation of a 
Pan American airline.

World-class talent

Best Technology Available

Our 2020 
Flight
“We continued our 2020 flight, aiming to be the preferred 
Latin American airline in the world”. 

03 Our Strategic 
Objectives  2020
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Our Strategic Direction is aimed at connecting the world to Latin America, always striving to do more. That is how 
we have kicked off a new stage of transformation, focusing on the Human Being, our customer, as the center of 
everything we do, to become the preferred Latin American airline by travelers from around the world. 

We will achieve our business vision by 2020 through: 

Exceptional 
experience
It is our differentiating 
factor in the industry. 
We want to be an air-
line that is recognized 
for the warm, safe and 
personalized service. 
We will achieve this 
goal thanks to the best 
people and the best 
technology available. 

Technology
Technology is 
the backbone of 
our business. By 
incorporating it, 
we will be able to 
perform processes 
more efficiently, be 
more productive and 
have a closer and 
more personalized 
relationship with 
customers. 

The best people 
Delivering an 
exceptional travel 
experience is the 
natural consequence 
of having human 
resources that live the 
culture of service and 
change and convey 
it to customers. That 
is why we attract, 
develop and engage 
the best people in the 
region and the world. 

World’s   
preferred Latin 
American airline
We are a customer-
centered service 
company that 
aims to be a global 
leader based on 
the efficiency of its 
processes and to 
always be customers’ 
first choice.
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Strategic initiatives 
In order to achieve our strategic objectives, we carried out the following initiatives in 2018: 

Ambassador Plan   
Make senior management and 
the management team more 
visible and accessible to “our 
people” at all the bases where 
Avianca Holdings is operating, 
by strengthening relevant 
and strategic messages about 
Avianca’s culture while addressing 
doubts and concerns to resolve 
them in a timely manner.

Identification of High 
Potentials with development 
plans
Implement an assessment 
of potential to validate human 
resources with a respective 
development plan.

Identification of External 
Successors
Define the process of market 
analysis to identify external 
successors.

Digital Transformation 
Make Avianca a leading digital airline 
through initiatives such as the launch of 
the new website in Europe, North America 
and several countries in South America, 
and a new, easier and user-friendly version 
of the mobile app, providing customers 
a new type of digital experience. The 
Digital Transformation also covers internal 
processes, easing our work with more 
agile and effective tools.  

CRM
Implement Microsoft Dynamics365 as 
a CRM platform, which allows us to get 
closer and get to know the customer 
throughout the customer journey (360° 
vision).

Success Factors
Transform and digitize Human Resource 
processes based on world-class practices, 
managing integrated processes that 
create value for effective decision-
making and promoting the talent of our 
people.

Transfer to El Dorado
Relocate and adapt the spaces at 
El Dorado (Domestic) Airport that 
Avianca occupied at the Puente 
Aéreo Terminal.

Avianca Complies  
Improve the On-Time Performance 
(OTP) and Schedule Completion 
indicators by means of a program 
of initiatives focused particular-
ly on the operation in Colombia 
through seven work fronts invol-
ving all the operating areas. 

SIMPLIFY
Implement multiple components 
(apps, technology, processes) to 
maximize regulatory compliance, 
Air Operator Certificate (AOC) in-
tegration, flexibility and operating 
efficiency.

Provide an exceptional, consistent and personalized 
experience.

Connectivity  
Offer passengers quality connectivity/Internet service. WiFi-GSM on 
board.

Definition of the Customer Journey 
Identify and prioritize customers’ woes at three macro-moments: 
imagine, experience and enjoy and remember in order to provide an 
exceptional experience.

IROPS 
Minimize the impact of irregularities on customer to improve their 
experience by providing differentiated service and optimizing the 
resources available.

Retrofit A318 
Refurbish and modernize the A318 fleet.

VIP lounges 
Modernize the look of VIP lounges at the Bogotá domestic terminal, Cali 
international terminal, Santa Marta and Bucaramanga.

Consolidation of a Pan American Airline

HORIZON 
Joint Business Agreement with United Airlines and Copa Airlines.

Develop long-term alliances with our strategic partners

JV Price Travel – AV Tours 
Improve the offering of tourism packages, tours and hotels through the 
partnership with Price Travel.

Regions 
Create a new airline owned by Avianca 
to provide secondary commercial air 
transport service on non-trunk or regio-
nal routes. 

CPI (Cost Performance 
Improvement)
Reduce the Company’s operating costs 
through a savings program.

1 2 3 54People
• Attract, develop and engage 

world-class talent.

Technology
• Improve the customer 

experience and the 
productivity of our people with 
the best technology available.

Finance
• Boost the diversification of 

sources of value by ensuring 
a profitable and sustainable 
business in the long term.

Customers and markets
• Provide an exceptional, consistent and personalized experience.
• Consolidation of a Pan American Airline.
• Develop long-term alliances with our strategic partners.

Internal processes
• Increase operational 

excellence with safety, 
punctuality and efficiency.
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• Ethics and Compliance Program.

• Business Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct.

• Anti-corruption Policy.

Our values

For information related to the Ethics and Compliance Program, follow the link
 https://www.avianca.com/co/en/about-us/who-we-are/ethics-and-compliance/
We encourage an open environment, where honest and direct communication are the expectation, not 
the exception. That is why we have an outsourced Ethics Hotline that operates 24/7 so that employees 
and third parties can report unethical conduct and/or send queries to the Ethics Committee.  Check the 
link: http://aviancaholdings.ethicspoint.com

Ethical and Integer Avianca
COP. To carry out our business8,  we act in accordance with the highest 
ethical standards and promote a culture of respect and compliance with 
ethical rules. That is why we have different policies and codes of conduct 
aligned with the ethical, legal and corporate standards that govern 
us, which consider actions for prevention, detection, monitoring and 
remediation. 

GRI 102-16; 102-17

Our standards and documents are:

1 

8.  For more information, go to  http://aviancaholdings.com/corporate-governance/default.aspx?section=governance 

Culture of ethics

We are working for a culture of ethics and organizational compliance.

Get to know the four actions of our program through which we aim to offer integrity and safety in our operation.

Risk 
identification

Value and respond to 
the operational and 
administrative risks.

Prevention

Educate, promote 
and define clear roles, 
policies and procedures 
for the organization and 
the allies. 

Detection

Carry out audits for our 
processes and receive 
complaints through the 
operation of our Ethic 
Line.

Control and 
remediation

Implement, review and 
improve internal controls. 
Educate actors and 
penalize non-compliance. 

Security is our priority  
• We protect our customers and value the 

trust they place in us.
• We take care of ourselves and comply 

with the processes to do our job safely.

We serve with passion and 
integrity
• We like to serve with integrity, kindness, 

empathy, practicality and proactivity.
• We choose to be here because it is our 

calling.

We work as one and we enjoy what 
we do
• We are progressing together and in 

harmony to achieve results.
• It makes us happy to build together and 

complement and recognize each other.

We innovate with sustainable impact
• We experiment and implement 

initiatives to make things better.
• With our ideas and mindful actions, we 

create value for stakeholders. Alliance for 
Integrity

The Path to 
Integrity

Membership of 
associations and 

organizations

Global Compact 
Network

Ethics and Anti-
corruption Commission 

GRI 102-13 National and international advocacy organizations 

“We work to maintain high 
compliance standards to ensure 
exemplary corporate practices. We 
have an unbreakable commitment 
with our clients, shareholders 
and collaborators. Our Ethics and 
Compliance program promotes 
integrity in all our processes”

Hernan Rincón

• Policy of Money Laundering and Terrorism 
Financing Risk System.

•  Policy for the management of conflicts of interest 
involving managers of Avianca Holdings .

Security

We are one

Passion and
Integrity

Sustainable 
impact
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GRI 102-4; 102-6; 102-7 In 2018, our network of routes 
continued to grow, thus improving the Company’s competitive 
position on strategic markets. We began operating at 3 new 
stations: Munich - Germany, Mendoza - Argentina and Corozal – 
Colombia, ending the year with 105 destinations in 27 countries 
in Latin America and Europe.

Cargo transported 
by country of origin 
(Tons)

Cities

Hub Bogotá 
BOGOTA / MUNICH   5 
BOGOTA/CHICAGO   4 
BOGOTÁ/COROZAL   7 
BOGOTÁ/SANTA CRUZ DE LA SIERRA   7

Hub San Salvador  
ORLANDO/ SAN SALVADOR   4 
CARTAGENA/SAN SALVADOR   4 
BOSTON/SAN SALVADOR   4

Hub San Salvador 
LIMA/MENDOZA   7

Guatemala 
GUATEMALA/CHICAGO   7 
GUATEMALA/NEW YORK(JFK)   7 
GUATEMALA/ORLANDO   3

Segment                        % Share
Business  23,20%

Leisure  35,51%

Others  25,77%

Visiting friends or relatives 15,51%

Cargo transported internally in Peru: 
1,792 tons.
Cargo transported internally in 
Colombia: 81,415 tons.

New direct routes and weekly 
frequencies

¿What are the reasons for our 
customers’ trips?10 

9.   Others refers to destinations to which we fly on an unscheduled operation or an operation carried out by cargo planes, 
where we do not operate with passenger planes.
10.  Data based on pax on board. The goal is estimated based on the Company’s business rules.

Passengers
transported
by country of
origin  

Number of 
flights by 
country of 
origin

Bogotá, Colombia
This HUB has an average of 3,052 
flights per week to 24 cities in 
Colombia and 21 countries, operating 
directly to 8 cities in North America, 
11 in South America, 12 in Mexico, 
Central America and the Caribbean 
and 4 destinations in Europe: Madrid, 
Barcelona, London and Munich

Increase in weekly frequencies

Hub Bogotá 
BOGOTA /MADRID  (3 / 21) 
BOGOTA/CURAZAO  (+4/11) 
BOGOTÁ/BOSTON  (+3/7) 
BOGOTÁ/VALLEDUPAR  (+6/27)

Hub San Salvador  
SAN SALVADOR / SAN FRANCISCO  (+2 / 14) 
SAN SALVADOR/WASHINGTON  (+6/20) 
SAN SALVADOR /DALLAS  (+2/7) 
SAN SALVADOR/HOUSTON  (+2/7) 
SAN SALVADOR/CANCÚN  (+2/9)

Hub Lima 
LIMA / SANTIAGO DE CHILE  (+7 / 14)

Guatemala 
GUATEMALA/LOS ANGELES  (+7/14)

Lima, Peru
Through the HUB located in 
Peru’s capital, we offered an 
average of 580 flights per week 
to 3 destinations within the Inca 
country and 14 countries, arriving 
at 15 points in South America, 6 
in Mexico, Central America and the 
Caribbean and 2 in North America.

San Salvador, El Salvador
Through the San Salvador HUB, we 
operate more than 646 flights per 
week in 13 countries, offering direct 
flights to 11 cities in North America, 
11 in Mexico, Central America and the 
Caribbean and 6 in South America. 

Canadá

United 
Estates

México

Colombia

Ecuador

Peru

Caribe

Centralamerica

1,634
1,448
479 
1,148
2,333
848

5,602
5,546
1,844
309
1,916
16,521
0

225,930
239,005
43,720
125,543
343,084
86,153

280,157
377,472
113,490
14,218
182,265
1,686,086
0

7,588
6,043
2,878
426
12,490
3,739

700
5,415
613
1
3,387
7,807
1

3
2
2
1
1
1
0

1
2
1
2
3
1

Latin America

Spain

Chile
Argentina
Paraguay
Bolivia
Brazil
Uruguay

Honduras
Guatemala
Nicaragua
Belice
Panamá
El Salvador
Islas Caimán

Aruba
Costa Rica
Cuba
Curazao
Puerto Rico
Dominican 
Dominicana
Bahamas
Antillas
Holandesas

657
27,946
965
430
353

1,421
-

-

370

1,923
16,025

6,416

161,652

13,122

21,267

77,478
559,410
113,853
45,982
34,739

209,762
-

-

45,425

413,413
1,749,806

470,474

18,970,130

1,327,839

2,678,665

9
5,822
164
-
90

2,177
251

15

148

12,799
115,518

43,933

180,667

33,003

30,076

1
13
1
1
1

2
-

-

1

2
12

2

26

6

5

United Kingdom 

365 80,470 3,299 1

Germany

32 7,604 227 1

Portugal

- - 21 -

Others9

27 363 - -

292,599 30,502,536 479,882 105

Belgium 

- - 575 -

Destinations and route 
network Number of 

Frequencies
Number of 
Frequencies
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Code-sharing 
In 2018, through our subsidiary airlines, 
we continued offering services operating 
under code-sharing with 15 airlines, thus 
providing our customers with the possibility 
of connecting to other Latin American 
countries through Copa Airlines and Avianca 
Brazil; to North America through United 
Airlines, Air Canada and Silver Airways; to 
Mexico, through Aeroméxico; to Europe, 
through Spain and London, they can connect 
through Iberia, Lufthansa and Turkish Airlines, 
and to the Asian continent with All Nippon 
Airways, Eva Air, Singapore Airlines, Air China, 
Etihad Airways and Air India. 

Thanks to these code-sharing agreements, 
we can offer more than 140 destinations and 
215 additional routes that complement the 
network operated directly by Avianca. 

Interline and intermodal 
agreements
We maintain more than 80 interline 
agreements with airlines from the five 
continents and five intermodal agreements 
with train companies Renfe in Spain, Great 
Western Railway in Great Britain, Deutsche 
Bahn in Germany and Oëbb in Austria, as 
well as with intercity bus company National 
Express in Great Britain. There are also 
agreements to exchange benefits with the 
frequent flyer programs Iberia Plus of Iberia 
and Club Premier of Aeroméxico.

Star Alliance in numbers
Since 2012, we have been part of the alliance, which has the most complete route network, by reaching:

In 2018, we continued strengthening our network of destinations by 
establishing direct flights connecting through the HUBs where we are 
operating.  Due to our partnerships and “Code-sharing” with Star Alliance 
and the interline and intermodal agreements, we now offer our travelers the 
possibility of connecting to their dreams on the five continents.     

aircraft 

destinations in 193 
countries 

Daily operation of  

member airlines
28 1,31718,800 

flights 

Fleet of more than 

4,700 

Benefits for our customers
• Easy access to a global network of 28 airlines.

• Upgrades on any member airline of the alliance using 
miles under the Star Alliance Upgrade Awards (SAUA) 
program. 

• Simplicity in the travel experience, as they have the 
possibility to check baggage through to the destination 
and use a single ticket for the entire journey. 

• Acknowledgment throughout the Star Alliance route 
network: If the customer is a member of the LifeMiles 
program or any frequent flyer program of a Star Alliance 
member airline, he/she can accumulate and redeem miles 
by flying with the airlines of this alliance. 

• Access to exclusive products of the Alliance, such as 
Round the World and Corporate Plus. The first allows our 
customers to travel around the world on Star Alliance 
airlines at special rates and adding up to 15 stops at the 
network destinations. The second provides our corporate 
customers with benefits, providing them with access to 
more than 18,800 flights each day, operated by the 28 
airlines of the alliance, covering 1,300 airports at 193 
countries. 

• Frequent flyers in the Elite Gold and Diamond categories 
have priority boarding and baggage pickup, access to 
exclusive Star alliance VIP Lounges and the VIP Lounges 
of the different allies at airports around the world. 

Benefits for our people:
• Shared learning of best practices.

• World-class service orientation and attitude.

• Be a part of an airline with a global presence and 
projection.

Our business 
partnerships
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Strategic-Commercial Alliance with 
United Airlines and Copa Airlines

More options 
and better 
service for our 
passengers  

The main benefits that we 
will be offering our travelers 
together with United Airlines 
include the following, among 
others:

• Possibility to access 
more than 12 thousand 
connection options 
between the United 
States and Latin America.

• New direct flights.
• Additional frequencies 

on the routes already 
operating.

• Reduction in travel 
duration, by having more 
precise connection times.

This is all thanks to the coor-
dination of itineraries and the 
integration of the three airlines’ 
routes for the benefit of our 
customers.

In addition to benefits in term 
of connection opportunities, 
we will also offer benefits in 
customer service, such as the 
standardization of frequent fl-
yer programs, unified baggage 
control and improvements in 
joint airport facilities.    

 

After nearly two years of intensive negotiations, we 
achieved an agreement with United Airlines and Copa 
Airlines to define a strategic and commercial alliance that 
will bring better services to passengers traveling between 
the United States and 19 countries in Latin America.

We reached this agreement with Copa Airlines and 
United Airlines in line with a global trend of cooperation 
agreements in the international airline industry focused 

Benefits for the 
communities involved  
We aim to increase passenger 
demand in major cities in the 
United States and Latin America as 
connecting HUBs, considered in the 
agreement, thus promoting tourism 
and investment in metropolises, 
such as Bogotá, Lima, San Salvador, 
Panama City, Houston, Los Angeles 
and New York. 

Greater competition in the 
interest of the market  
It has been shown worldwide 
that agreements of this type 
benefit consumers and improve 
competition. The Latin American 
market has grown significantly and 
includes various options of airlines 
that offer services at multiple 
prices; however, this market lacks 
an integrated network of routes 
comprised of competitive airlines 
that create value and improve 
customers’ travel experience. 
Through this agreement, we have 
achieved the evolution necessary on 
this market to benefit our travelers 
even more.  

Process  for regulatory 
approval 
To achieve the required 
coordination to be able to provide 
these benefits to consumers, 
communities and the market, 
together with United Airlines and 
Copa Airlines, we have begun 
the process for the regulatory 
approval of the agreement, which 
includes a complementary antitrust 
immunity (ATI) granted by the U.S. 
Department of Transportation 
(DOT), as well as other approvals 
for the regulatory authorities in 19 
Latin American countries.  

The Agreement will be 
implemented as soon as we 
receive the government approvals 
necessary. In addition, the three 
companies will join efforts to 
achieve a strictly commercial goal, 
without merging our operations, 
as each airline will remain an 
independent company.  

This alliance will allow us to 
strengthen our position as a first-
rate airline in the airline industry 
of America; because with United 
Airlines and Copa Airlines, we will 
extend our scope of service on the 
continent to provide our customers 
with better connectivity.

on providing travelers, communities and the market with 
significant benefits.  

This agreement will have coverage in the United States 
and the following Latin American countries: Argentina, 
Belize, Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, El 
Salvador, Guyana, French Guyana, Guatemala, Honduras, 
Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, Suriname, Uruguay 
and Venezuela. 

SUSTAINABLE 
IMPACT
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During 2018, we worked even harder 
to win over the hearts of our travelers, 
striving each day for our customers to 
have an exceptional experience with 
us. This was the inspiration for our new 
brand direction, which enables us to 
express to our stakeholders that we are 
doing Everything for your love.

In 2018, we implemented a 
communication platform in 14 countries 
and at all the points of contact, thus 
achieving brand consistency.  We also 
aim to centralize the investment model 
in markets outside Colombia, to make 
even more people around the world fall 
in love with us.

This year, we aligned our brand 
strategy with Avianca’s sustainability 
strategy “Avianca Citizen”, using the 
joint work mechanisms and campaigns 
that we have developed for Avianca’s 
Corporate Citizenship programs. We 
began the process of implementing the 
“Responsible Advertising Footprint” tool 
developed by the Colombian Advertisers 
Association (ANDA, for the Spanish 
original), which incorporates indicators 
and best practices to contribute to 
sustainable development through 
advertising based on the highest 
standards in sustainable marketing 
practices. 

In 2018, we carried out 2 brand tracking 
measurements, to identify what our 
customers think of us. These were the 
results:

Advertising and brand tracking 
Brand tracking is a study conducted twice a year to 
have a general strategic overview of the competitive 
position of the Avianca brand on 12 markets. Each 
measurement is based on a sample of 3,300 surveys. It 
is applied online to people who have flown at least once 

in the last 12 months (domestic or international).  In 
this study, the following KPI, TSA11 and VFM12 metrics 
are obtained. The year’s results showed significant 
increases compared to the previous year.

Avianca Global Results 
2018

Our Values
Enjoy
Effort-Passion
Win
Flexibility/Agility
Ease
Personalization
Resilience
Global
Transparency
Connect
Innovation
Awareness/Sustainability

54,9

TSA
KPIs

FY 18
+5,9Variation vs 2017

45,7

VFM

+2,9
1 

11. TSA: Total Spontaneous Awareness: customer’s ability to recall and correctly elicit a brand name when prompted by a product category.
12. VFM: Value For Money: the ratio between what the company gives to the customer (value) and what the customer gives to the vendor company 
(money). 

everything 
foryourlove
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• We launched the cross-cutting (internal and external) 
communication platform that broadcasts the full service 
experience at all the points of contact.

• We held a TED talk with expert Martin Reiznik about how 
to make our customers fall in love with us. 

• We decentralized the investment model toward markets 
outside Colombia, such as Europe and North America. 

• We achieved greater efficiency in high-impact campaigns 
and launched new routes.

• Create a segmented 
Brandformance communication 
(attribute and destination 
content) leveraged on 
influencers.

• Create a Brand Experience by 
taking care of travelers’ entire 
journey.

GLOBAL

SOUTH AMERICA´S

LEADING AIRLINE 
BRAND

CATEGORY: TRANSPORT, 
TRAVEL AND TOURISM
CAMPAIGN: THANK YOU
AWARD: GOLD

CATEGORY: CORPORATE 
REPUTATION
CAMPAIGN: #YONOPARO 
[IDON’TSTOP]
AWARD: GOLD

CATEGORY: ACTIVATIONS 
AND SERVICES
CAMPAIGN: THANK YOU
AWARD: GOLD

CATEGORY: TRANSPORT, 
TRAVEL AND TOURISM
CAMPAIGN: THANK YOU
AWARD: GOLD

COLOMBIA

LATINOAMÉRICA

Structure of the 
Holding Company

Lifemiles Ltd.
(Bermuda)

Grupo Taca
Holdings 
Limited 

(Bahamas)

70% 5,02%

Aerovías del Continente 
Americano S.A. Avianca

(Colombia)

Aircraft Ownership
Entities

Avianca Costa Rica S.A.
(Costa Rica)

Services
Companies

Taca International 
Airlines S.A.

(El Salvador)

Tampa Cargo S.A.S.
(Colombia)

Avianca Perú S.A.
(Perú)

94,96%

Others
0,02%

Others
28,3%

Taca S.A.
(Panamá)

Service 
Companies

Others
3,17%

Others
7,58%

Avianca 
Ecuador S.A.
(Ecuador)

Aircraft Ownership

AVIANCA
HOLDINGS S.A.
(Panamá)

Airline 

Investment Vehicle 

Company of services

Servicios 
Aeroportuarios 

Integrales SAI S.A.S.
(Colombia)

90%

99,62%100%100%

Others
30%

Latin Airways 
Corp 

(Panamá)

100%

Latin Logistics 
Colombia S.A.S.

(Colombia)

100%

Regional Express
Americas S.A.S. 

(Colombia)

100%

Others
0,38%

71,66%

Awards

Challenges for  

2019
Highlights
2018



36 37Annual Report 2018 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

Guilds 
and Associations 

GRI 102-13 Associations with the greatest 
value of contribution in 2018

1

3
2

4
5

Star Alliance 1,100,000 

Asociación Nacional de Empresarios de 
Colombia (ANDI)

61,092

International Air Transport 
Association (IATA)

282,482   

Asociación de Empresas Transporte 
Aéreo Internacional (AETAI)

37,041

Asociación Latinoamericana de 
Transporte Aéreo (ALTA)

25,000

Association                                                          Value of contribution in USD

At the international and regional level, we are a part of organizations and 
initiatives that share our principles and values in the pursuit of our objectives. 
Among them, we can highlight:

Corporación Salvadoreña  de Turismo 
(CORSATUR)

GUATEMALA

Asociación Guatemalteca de  
Líneas Aéreas de Guatemala (AGLA)

Asociación Guatemalteca de  
Exportadores (AGEX)

HONDURAS

Asociación Hondureña de Líneas Aéreas (AHLA)

 MÉXICO

Cámara Nacional de  
Aerotransporte (CANAERO)

Asociación Mexicana de Internet (AMIPCI)

NICARAGUA

Asociación de Líneas Aéreas (ALA)

Cámara Nacional de Turismo de  
Nicaragua (CANATUR)

Cámara de Comercio y  
Servicios de Nicaragua

PANAMÁ

Asociación de Líneas Aéreas  
en Panamá (ALAP)

Cámara de Comercio de Panamá

PARAGUAY

VISIT USA

URUGUAY

Cámara Aeronáutica UY

ARGENTINA

Cámar a de Compañías Aéreas en Argentina 
(JURCA)

Helicentro

ARUBA

Cámara de Comercio ARUBA

BOLIVIA

Asociación de Líneas Aéreas (ALA Bolivia)

Cámara de Comercio Americana (AMCHAM)

Skal Club La Paz

BRASIL

IATA BR

Junta dos Representantes das Companhias 
Aéreas Internacionais do Brasil (JURCAIB)

CSC - Country Steering Committee - Star 
Alliance

Agência Nacional de Aviação Civil (ANAC)

COLOMBIA

Asociación de Líneas Aéreas  Internacionales 
en Colombia (ALAICO)

IATA  Fuel Quality Pool (IFQP)

ANATO

Asociación Bancaria y de Entidades 
Financieras de Colombia (Asobancaria)

Asociación Nacional de Empresarios de 
Colombia (ANDI)

Aviation Business

Audience

Buró de Bogotá

Buró de Cartagena

Buró de Medellín

Buró de Pereira

Comité Descubra Brasil

Corporación de Turismo de Santander

FENALCO - Federación Nacional de 
Comerciantes

Fontur

Procolombia

Visit USA

COSTA RICA

Asociación de Líneas Aéreas (ALA)

CURACAO

Curasao Tourism Board

Curasao Cámara de Comercio e Industria

ECUADOR

Asociación de representantes de aerolíneas  
internacionales en el Ecuador (ARLAE)

Cámara de Comercio Colombo  
Ecuatoriana (CAMECOL)

EL SALVADOR

Asociación de Líneas Aéreas  
de El Salvador (ASLA)
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Materiality matrix
GRI 102-47

• Economic development
 Chapter: A value proposition for our 

stakeholders
• Satisfaction and customer 

relations
 Chapter: We do everything for your 

love
• Compliance with laws and 

regulations
 Chapter: Security, Risk 

Management, Ethics and 
Compliance: Our Organizational 
Culture

For the content of this report, we took into account the topics what were highly relevant to stakeholders and the 
Company: 

• Preventing corruption and 
bribery

 Chapter: Security, Risk 
Management, Ethics and 
Compliance: Our Organizational 
Culture

• Attracting and retaining human 
resources

 Chapter: We are flying toward our 
2020 Flight with the best talent

• Employee training and 
development

 Chapter: We are flying toward our 
2020 Flight with the best talent

• Safety and protection on the 
ground and in the air

 Chapter: Security, Risk 
Management, Ethics and 
Compliance: Our Organizational 
Culture

• Risk and crisis management
 Chapter: Security, Risk 

Management, Ethics and 
Compliance: Our Organizational 
Culture

• Responsible management of 
the supply chain

 Chapter: Supply chain our 
strategic partners in management, 
procurement and logistics

Our materiality analysis

Process
GRI 102-46 Defining report content and topic boundaries 
In 2018, we conducted a materiality analysis of our sustainable management practices in order to inform our 
stakeholders of the relevant issues of our business vision, aimed at creating economic, social and environmental 
value. We polled representatives of our main stakeholders regarding the issues they considered most relevant and 
analyzed the issues with the greatest impact on the Company. After learning the results, we prioritized material 
issues, i.e., those that stood out as relevant to stakeholders, and this input was the basis for the preparation of this 
report. 

External: 
• RobecoSAM (2018). Sustainability Yearbook 

2018. Industry profile: Airlines. 
• Sustainability Accounting Standards Board 

-SASB Materiality Map (2018). 
• International Trade Centre (ITC). Sustainability 

Map. Voluntary standards. 

Internal: 
• Materiality analysis of the 2017 Management 

Reports of Avianca Holdings and Aerovías del 
Continente Americano.

• Corporate Sustainability Assessment Results - 
Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI). 

Identification of material issues 

We checked internal and external sources to update the universe of issues to be analyzed during virtual surveys of 
our stakeholders and directors. We reviewed different sources of information that enabled us to identify the relevant 
issues in terms of sustainability, related to our sector. 
These documents are listed below: 

Validation 
We validated the 9 material issues prioritized in the surveys with Company directors, the Vice Presidency of Strategic 
Relations and Customer Experience and the Corporate Citizenship Directorate.

Prioritization of material issues  

As a result of updating the universe of issues, 26 were identified and prioritized by our stakeholders through:  
• Surveys of 46 external stakeholder representatives (customers, guilds, suppliers and NGOs) and 163 directors 

and management staff of Avianca. 
• The analysis of the economic, social and environmental impacts of Avianca Holdings.
As a result of this prioritization, nine material aspects were identified.

04
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Relations with our stakeholders  
GRI 102-40; 102-44; 102-43;102-42
At Avianca, we understand that engaging strategically with each of the stakeholders that are a part of our value chain is essential 
for the sustainable management of the corporation. Building relations of mutual collaboration that generate economic, social 
and environmental value in the long term is achieved by aligning the expectations of our stakeholders with our own objectives, 
values and strategic direction.
Our customers, governments, authorities and, in general, the public, private and civil society organizations with which we interact, 
are our reason to prevail and enable us to fulfill our purpose.

At Avianca, we aim to be a positive agent of change for the countries where we operate, leading value propositions that 
contribute to economic, social and environmental development.
We have the Senior Vice Presidency of Strategic Relations and Customer Experience as the fundamental structure for 
engaging with our stakeholders, integrating technology, knowledge and the human touch, focused on fulfilling our strategic 
objectives.
In 2018, a reputation plan was developed for each of the audiences managed by the Vice Presidency of Strategic Relations 
and Customer Experience. A specific plan was designed for each of the audiences, in order to meet their expectations with 
the Company and improve reputational indices. In 2019, we will measure the effectiveness of that plan. 

TRADE UNIONS

Avianca ensures the 
right of freedom of 
association and social 
dialog.

REGIONS

Avianca is a digital 
company that flies 
airplanes to connect 
Latin America to the 
world.

THIRD SECTOR

Avianca is a partner on 
the sustainable Human 
Development agenda. 
It is a Corporate 
Citizen. 

MEDIA

Avianca is a company 
that delivers transparent 
information in time, 
and brings knowledge 
to the airline industry. 
Is the main source of 
information in the sector.

TOP CEOs

Avianca is an example 
of digital and cultural 
transformation, and by 
setting this example, 
it has achieved 
excellence in customer 
service.

GOVERNMENT

Make Avianca a 
partner of the National 
Government to 
project Colombia as a 
development pole for 
the sector in terms of 
connectivity, services 
and investment.

INFLUENCERS

On Social Media, 
Avianca knows who 
I am.

INVESTORS

Avianca Holdings is a group 
of companies solid and 
sustainable, with financial 
strength and a clear 
corporate governance. We 
deliver great results on time.

GREMIOS

Avianca is changing the 
aviation industry, by 
contributing ideas with 
the highest standards to 
offer safer transportation 
and find solutions through 
operating and cost 
efficiency.

EMPLOYEES

Avianca is a major 
employer, it is the best 
company I want to work.

Our audiences

Customers Communities Regulators

Suppliers and 
contractors

Third sector

Stakeholders Subgroup Engagement mechanisms 
(communication channels) Relevant issues

Customers • High-value customers

• Basic customer

• NPS (Net Promoter Score) Survey 
(quarterly)

• CSI (Customer Satisfaction Index) 
Survey (monthly) 

• Website (permanent)
• Social media (permanent)
• Call center (permanent)
• Points of sale and airports 

(permanent)
• Avianca app (permanent)

• Flight status
• Changes in itinerary
• Provision of additional services
• Ticket sales
• Complaint management 

(irregularities, baggage, etc.)

Shareholders • Institutional investors
• Reference shareholders
• Minority shareholders
• Bondholders
• Preferred shareholders
• Market analysts

• E-mail (eventual)
• Quarterly investors conference
• Annual Report
• 20F Report
• Shareholders’ Meeting (annual)
• Website (permanent)
• Point of contact: Investor Relations 

Office (as applicable)

• Profitability of your investments
• Maintenance of high corporate 

governance standards (transparency)
• Quarterly financial results
• Monthly operating results
• Strategic partnerships

Employees • Direct
• Apprentices
• Third parties

• Intranet, digital bulletin boards 
(screens)

• E-mail (permanent)
• Ethics Hotline (permanent)
• WhatsApp Groups and Facebook pages 

for operating areas
• Primary groups and briefings 

(operating staff)
• One-to-one meetings with leaders
• Yammer corporate social network 

(internal).
• Corporate magazine app - We are One. 

Application for Cabin Crew and Pilots - 
My Crew.

• Executive Meetings.

• Oportunities for growth and 
development

• Wellness activities
• Organizational and structural changes
• Transformation toward a digital 

culture
• Corporate Citizenship Agenda
• Alignment with corporate objectives

Regulators • International Regulatory 
Entities

• Sector regulators
• National and/

or supranational 
administration

• Local administration.

• Annual Report
• Avianca website (permanent)
• Periodic reports
• Financial Superintendence website
• Formal notices, official 

communications, resolutions, 
administrative acts

• Resolutions and Administrative Acts
• Compliance with the standard
• Request for periodic operating, 

economic, financial, tax and 
sustainability information

Third sector • Partner NGOs
• International 

organizations

• NGO engagement exercises
• E-mail from the Corporate Citizenship 

Department (permanent)
• Social Committee (monthly)
• Annual Report

• Strategic engagement
• Avianca’s social programs
• Corporate Citizenship strategy.

Our engagement channels

These are the premises with which we work with each one of our interest stakeholders:
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Stakeholders Subgroup Engagement mechanisms 
(communication channels) Relevant issues

Communities • Communities in the area 
of influence of major 
airports

• Communities benefiting 
from the programs

• Dialog sessions
• E-mail from the Corporate Citizenship 

Department (permanent)

• Avianca’s social programs

• Corporate Citizenship strategy

Suppliers and 
contractors

• Fuel
• Aviation components
• Customer experience 
• Administrative 
• Information technology 
• Airport services 
• Aviation lease

• Avianca website (permanent channel)
• E-mail: registro.proveedores@avianca.

com 
• Ethics Hotline: http://aviancaholdings.

ethicspoint.com

• Support for supplier registration
• Self-registration of new suppliers
• Communication channel enabled 

for suppliers to report any unethical, 
corrupt or suspicious activity

Media • Media directors
• Editors
• Journalists
• Columnists

• News center
• Direct mail to customers and the 

media
• Avianca Magazine
• Social Media
• Avianca te informa: newsletter for travel 

agencies
• Business newsletters for corporate 

customers 
• Avianca website
• Investors web portal
• Loyalty program site 

• Airline service
• Products offered
• Corporate Citizenship strategy
• Operating/financial performance
• Innovation and technology

Our engagement channels Our strategic partnerships
In 2018, we created a governance structure and framework for the implementation of strategic partnerships in order to develop 
long-term mutually beneficial relationships with strategic suppliers.

Develop long-term 
relationships with strategic 

allies

Strengthen the strategic 
position of the Company

Improve the image of the 
organization in the market

Optimize processes, resources 
and economical resources for 

both parties

Improve the client experience 
by being more efficient

Offer a world-class experience

Strengthen the HUBs as well 
as optimize routes for strategic 

markets

Achieve operational excellence 
with the highest possible 

efficiency

Enhance the diversification of 
the business utilities and offer 

complementary services

PEOPLE

CLIENT 

TECHNOLOGY

Characteristics of a strategic ally

Strategic partnerships were formalized with: Microsoft, SAP, Accenture and Telefónica.

WIN-WIN 
RELATIONSHIP

CUSTOMER 
SERVICE

OPPORTUNITY 
COST

TRANSPARENT 
RELATIONSHIPS

INNOVATE AND 
TRANSFORM

JOINT GROWTH

TRANSMIT THE CULTURE 
OF ALLIANCES TO THE 

ENTIRE ORGANIZATION

JOINT 
COMMITMENT
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Our management of corporate communication
Avianca Holdings’ communication with its stakeholders is:

 PROACTIVE  TRANSPARENT   AFFORDABLE  TIMELY   CLEAR

Our job is to deliver clear and timely information so that 
the public can have an informed opinion on our business 
environment, as well as to share information about the 
sectors of the economy that are part of the Holding 
Company, particularly the aviation sector.
To this effect, our communication philosophy is based on 
dialog and engagement with our audiences of interest; 
therefore, there is a two-way flow of information, hearing 
the audience, responding and providing feedback for our 

content with their concerns. In turn, we are responsible 
for conveying users’ rights and obligations in a clear and 
comprehensible manner, so they can exercise them to 
the fullest.
We consider the media, in all their formats, as the most 
appropriate formal and professional channel to provide 
information to the public opinion. Our relationship 
with the media is based 100% on generating proactive 
content and news. 

• Engagement with more than 240 media outlets in Latin 
America and Europe.

• Total news items published about Avianca in America and 
Europe: 48,151.

• More than 90% of the total news items published were 
between positive and neutral.

• Focal points of the content: passenger rights and 
obligations; product and service innovations, changes in 
the experience.

• Successful communication due to schedule changes 
on winter season aimed at 7 external audiences and 10 
internal. More than 80 publications in mass media covering 
eight countries of America.

•  Project with the regions of Colombia: strategic plan to 
start the operation of the new regional airline. Strategy 
aimed at regional stakeholders with all of positive 
publications in media of communication.

• Communicate clearly and precisely the organizational transformation plan that will prepare 
Avianca for the next 100 years.

• Create a communication channel with the media to allow greater interaction with the media.
• Strengthen content and communication for markets in the US and Europe.
• Reinforce and strengthen the generation of information regarding operating events or 

contingencies, and matters related to baggage and refunds.

Principles of communication

Communication channels

Our internal channels

Internal Communications

In 2018, we recorded a significant presence in our internal communication channels, through the dissemination of strategic 
campaigns, campaigns on demand, graphic productions and editorial productions:  

MASTERBASE
• POSTS 332
• PRINTS 3.8M

TOTAL
PRINTS
7.39M

MY CREW
• POSTS 111

DIRECTIVE 
MEETINGS
• POSTS  4
• PRINTS 8K

VPS OPERATIVE 
PANEL 
POSTS  32
• PRINTS 8K

GPS
• POSTS 11
• PRINTS 2.3K

WE ARE ONE APP
• POSTS 35
• PRINTS 26K

YAMMER
• POSTS 813
• PRINTS 49K

CAMPAIGNS 
COMPLIANCE 
196%

STRATEGIC 
CAMPAIGNS: 6

INTRANET
• POSTS  311
• PRINTS 2.8 M

• Operational Irregularities: Implementation of 
communication improvements, achieving growth of 10 
points in the NPS indicator in terms of clarity, kindness 
and timeliness of information. Increase of proactive 
contactability to passengers.

• Effective announcement in coordination with United 
Airlines and Copa Airlines on commercial alliance with 
more than 200 publications in the media of 15 countries.

• Disclosure of expansion of the route network with new 
flights in countries like Germany, Colombia, Guatemala 
and U.S. Relationship and construction of agenda with 
European media, with special emphasis on German press.

• Transfer of operations from the Air Bridge Terminal to El 
Dorado Airport successfully. Total contactability of the 
travelers, achieving their effective transfer.

• Effective communication of total recovery of the operation 
in Colombia after the strike of activities of ACDAC. At the 
end of the last quarter they were not reflected negative 
news.

• Scope in seven countries of America with publications of 
free press of the first five years of Avianca Holdings in the 
Stock Exchange of New York Securities.

Corporate Identity Observatory-ATREVIA. 
Campaign: My heart is red, Avianca red. 
Category: Best internal communication practice in Latin America.

Awards

• News center.
• Direct mail to customers and the 

media.
• Avianca Magazine.
• Social Media.

We have our own channels of dissemination:

CAMPAIGNS BY 
DEMAND: 163

Highlights
2018

Challenges for  

2019

     Avianca te informa: newsletter for travel agencies.
• Business newsletters for corporate customers. 
• Avianca website.
• Investors web portal.
• Loyalty program site.
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Making you fall in love with us through 
our social networks
In 2018, we ensured the effective management of Avianca’s social media, thus interacting in a positive and ongoing 
manner with our main stakeholders, guilds, government entities, the media, employees, digital communities and users. 
These actors were connected to our content, which was reflected in the significant achievement of the Company’s main 
informational and service milestones.  

In an effort to increase our visibility and facilitate communication with our stakeholders and reflect the initiatives they 
have inspired in us, we disseminated different campaigns on our social media throughout the year. 

Instagram  
Stories

12 Post 
ER. 38%

Coverage 
374,150

Total interactions: 

144,475
Total views:

199,650

Total coverage
Facebook Colombia

100 Post
ER. 0,40%

Coverage 
1,829,938

Total interactions: 

7,242
Total views:

87,489

Twitter  
Global

97 Post
ER: 7,31%

Prints 
1,976,030

Total interactions: 

144,475
Total views:

27,489

#RunTour
During the campaign, we posted: 202 posts, 51 on Avianca 
Colombia, 97 on Twitter, 2 on YouTube and 52 Instagram 
Stories, publicizing the content of the campaign.

#TodoParaEnamorarte
[WeDoEverythingForYourLove]

Between April and May, we promoted the launch of 
our catchphrase, We Do Everything for Your Love. 
We aim to share the content we have developed 
to provide our customers with an exceptional 
experience.

Launch of VIP Lounges
Between May and June, we announced the launch of the 
VIP lounges in the cities of Cali and Bogotá, Colombia.

Total coverage
Facebook Global 

27 Post
Engagement:  

1.94%
Coverage  

746,254
Total interactions:

8,446
Total views:

19,882

Twitter  
Global 

583 Post
Engagement:  

2.53%
Prints 

773,197
Total interactions:

27,489
Total views:

57,858

Twitter  
Global 

39 Post 

Engagement:  

1.35%
Prints  

243,064
Total interactions: 

3,499
Total views: 

9,574

Total coverage
Facebook Colombia 

7 Post
Engagement:  

0.66%
Coverage  

151,342
Total interactions: 

1,143
Total views:

34

Engagement:  

6.51%
Alcance  

45,709
Total interactions: 

3,260
Total views: 

51,637
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#BajoUnaMismaCasa
[UnderTheSameRoof]
During the #BajoUnaMismaCasa campaign 
launched between April and May, we announced 
Avianca’s transfer from the Puente Aéreo Terminal 
to El Dorado International Airport in Bogotá, aiming 
to provide our travelers with greater comfort. 

#FamiliadeAcero
[FamilyOfSteel]
Between September and November, we promoted 
the campaign #FamiliaDeAcero in order to 
communicate the new acquisitions and changes in 
our fleet of Aircraft.

Total coverage 
Facebook Global 

8 Post
Engagement:  

0.86%
Coverage  

211,033
Total interactions:

1,800
Total views:

71

Twitter  
Global 

7 Post
Engagement:  

2.36%
Prints 

77,599
Total interactions: 

1,975
Total views:

1,427

Total coverage 
Facebook Global 

46 Post
ER:  

6.52%
Coverage  

1,549,361
Total interactions:

88,562
Total views:

76,423

Twitter  
Global 

48 Post
ER:  

2.08%
Prints 

596,588
Total interactions: 

13,394
Total views:

109,249

1.678 
Contents

7.88%  
engagement 

rate on 
Instagram 

Stories

13.86%  
total 

engagement 
rate

2.6 Millions  
conversations 

monitored

#CorazonesQueLoDanTodo
[HeartsThatGiveTheirAll] 
Through #CorazonesQueLoDanTodo, we accompanied the magic of soccer from the 2018 World Cup in Russia.

As providers of the Colombia and Costa Rica soccer teams, we created the Avianca Fútbol Room to experience the 
world cup in a different way, narrating the sports events, minute-by-minute, for the teams we sponsored: Colombia 
and Costa Rica.

Results

Total coverage 
Facebook Colombia 

14 Post
ER:  

1,17%
Alcance  

348,599
Total interactions:

2,048
Total views:

1,581

Twitter  
Global 

34 Post
ER:  

0,85%
Prints 

220,875
Total interactions: 

1,938
Total views:

14,700

NOTAM
Between October and December, we promoted 
#AprendeVolando [LearnWhileFlying] 
and #AtentoViajeros [AttentionTravelers] to 
communicate runway closures at the airports of 
Armenia and Medellín, which were under repair.
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WINTER
During the launch of WINTER, published from September to November, we reported our changes in operating schedule 
and measures to be taken by travelers starting October 28, 2018.

#NuevaRuta 
[NewRoute]
During the months of September to November, we promoted the #NuevaRuta campaign through which we told our 
customers about the launch of the New Routes, Bogotá-Munich and Bogotá-Chicago, sharing preview announcements 
up to the coverage of the launch day. 

Twitter  
Global 

114 Post 
Engagement:  

0,99%
Prints  

653,233
Total interactions:

8,832
Total views:

51,247

Total coverage 
Facebook Global 

2 Post
Engagement:  

0,75%
Coverage  

62,452
Total interactions:  

482
Total views

0

Instagram  
Stories 

12 Post 
Engagement:  

6.48%
Prints 

179,071
Total interactions: 

11,381
Total views:

119,650

Twitter  
Global 

112 Post 
Engagement:  

3,99%
Prints  

947,398
Total interactions: 

46,454
Total views: 

156,954

Total coverage 
Facebook Global 

18 Post
Engagement:  

4,63%
Coverage 

129,129
Total interactions:  

4,452
Total views:

3,213

Instagram  
Stories 

12 Post 
Engagement:  

6.48%
Prints  

179,071
Total interactions: 

11,381
Total views:  

119,650

#ClickForChange 
Through the #ClickForChange campaign, we informed our customers how, by purchasing their tickets at avianca.com, 
they were contributing to the education of children and adolescents in Latin America and the Caribbean.

Engagement:  

1,94%
Coverage 

137,478
Total interactions:  

742
Total views: 

1,023

Engagement:  

0.58%
Prints 

54,301
Total interactions:  

320
Total views:

3,367

Engagement:  

1.17%
Coverage  

47,034
Total interactions:  

551
Total views:  

48,702

2018 Social Media Awards

ECHO Latam 
Campaign: #YoNoParo (#IDontStop)
Category: Best customer campaign - Central

 

INTERLAT 
Campaign: #ViajeDeEsperanza (#TravelOfHope)
Category: Best Integral Campaign Social Networks

SIMPLIFLYING AWARDS
Campaign:  #YoNoParo (#IDontStop)
Category: Best Airline in Social Care 

INVAMER 
Top 5 of the best brands that manage their digital properties
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All of the activities and initiatives that we carry out as part of our management efforts that contribute to the creation of 
economic, social and environmental value in our region, are focused on contributing to the progress of the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs). We have used the guide “An Analysis Of The Goals And Targets” from Global Compact, Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI) and Pricewaterhouse Coopers (PwC) to report how our management is aligned with our commitment 
to the SDGs.

ODS
Avianca 

Citizen, an 
agent of 
change

Corporate 
Governance, a 
framework for  
comprehensive 
management

Security , Risk 
Management, 

Ethics and 
Compliance Our 
Organizational 

Culture

We are 
flying 

toward our 
2020 Flight 

with the 
best talent

We do 
everything 

for your 
love

Supply chain 
our strategic 
partners in 

management, 
procurement 
and logistics

A value 
proposition 

for our 
stakeholders

Digital 
Avianca: A 
new era of 

exceptional 
service

Our fleet 
eco-efficiency 
reliability and 

comfort

Innovating 
with 

Sustainable 
Impact

• •

• •

• • •

•

•

• • •

•

Alignment of 
material issues with 
the SDGs

ODS
Avianca 

Citizen, an 
agent of 
change

Corporate 
Governance, a 
framework for  
comprehensive 
management

Security , Risk 
Management, 

Ethics and 
Compliance Our 
Organizational 

Culture

We are 
flying 

toward our 
2020 Flight 

with the 
best talent

We do 
everything 

for your 
love

Supply chain 
our strategic 
partners in 

management, 
procurement 
and logistics

A value 
proposition 

for our 
stakeholders

Digital 
Avianca: A 
new era of 

exceptional 
service

Our fleet 
eco-efficiency 
reliability and 

comfort

Innovating 
with 

Sustainable 
Impact

•

•

• •

•

•

•

Our management in 2018 enabled a positive impact on 13 Sustainable Development Goals.
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05

Avianca Citizen, an 
agent of change 1

13. As stated in the first declaration on multinational enterprises of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD).
14. Formerly the Carbon Disclosure Project.  Global disclosure system that enables companies, cities, states and regions to measure and manage their 
environmental impacts. www.cdp.net. 

“With the best human 
talent and the best 
technology, on our Flight 
2020, we will be recognized 
as an excellent corporate 
citizen, connecting our 
stakeholders to the best 
alternatives for creating 
social, environmental and 
humanitarian value for 
Latin America, leaving our 
fingerprint as the Avianca 
Citizen”

We are committed to being agents 
of change for the societies in which 
we serve. The fundamental purpose 
of our “Avianca Citizen” strategy 
is to contribute to developing 
better citizens in Latin America by 
generating economic, social and 
environmental value. 

The human being is the center of 
everything we do. Our customers, 
employees, investors, suppliers, the 
media, governments, authorities, 
public, private and civil organizations, 
are our stakeholders for whom the 
conduct we reflect must be that of an 
excellent citizen.13

At Avianca, we understand that 
engaging strategically with our 

stakeholders means aligning their 
expectations with our objectives, in 
order to keep our value promise.  We 
believe that building on principles, 
values, goals and a shared value, 
where the human being and our 
planet brings us together at the local, 
national, regional and global level, will 
allow us to be an effective agent for 
achieving sustainable development.  
Based on this awareness, we have 
assumed our commitments and 
alliances with the United Nations 
Global Compact, UNICEF, Generation 
Unlimited, the CDP Supply Chain 
program14 and our participation in the 
Dow Jones Sustainability Index MILA 
Pacific Alliance.

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?

Goal 3.4 By 2030, reduce by one third premature mortality 
from non-communicable diseases through prevention and 
treatment and promote mental health and well-being.

Goal 3.8 Achieve universal health coverage, including 
financial risk protection, access to quality essential health-
care services and access to safe, effective, quality and 
affordable essential medicines and vaccines for all.
 

Goal 4.4. By 2030, substantially increase the number 
of youth and adults who have relevant skills, including 
technical and vocational skills, for employment, decent jobs 
and entrepreneurship.

Goal 17.16. Enhance the global partnership for sustainable 
development complemented by multi-stakeholder 
partnerships that mobilize and share knowledge, expertise, 
technologies and financial resources to support the 
achievement of sustainable development goals in all 
countries, particularly developing countries.

Citizen
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We are UNICEF partners in Latin America 
and the Caribbean, we adhere to the United 
Nations Global Compact initiative, and we are 
the first airline in the Americas to be a part of 
the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) Supply 
Chain program. We are also in the Generation 
Unlimited Directory and we have been included 
in the DJSI (Dow Jones Sustainability Index) G

R
I 1

02
-1

2  MILA Pacific Alliance for the second consecutive 
year. As members of the Global Compact, we are 
committed to the United Nations agenda for Business 
and Human Rights, the International Labor Organization 
(ILO) principles of Decent Work, transparency and 
environmental protection. In the same sense, we 
report our progress in the United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDG). 

Own Indicator: Engagement and participation in fundamental scenarios of Corporate Citizenship  

We connect value through 
our strategy

Giving our best in 
what we do every 

day, to create a 
better future for 

all

A world where 
we all contribute 
from our diversity

Believing that 
everything can 
be better and 

working to make 
it possible

Being an agent 
of change for the 
societies in which 

we serve

Understanding the true 
meaning of a child’s smile and 

helping to save his/her life

Caring for our 
planet and 

understanding 
that we are not 
the only ones 

living on it

Being a world 
citizen

Volunteering 
without expecting 
anything in return

¿What does it 
mean to be an 
Avianca citizen?

I leave my fingerprint, I am an 
Avianca Citizen, ¿and you?

©UNICEF/UN0218548/Harris
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“We connect environmental 
value through our responsible 

management, alliances and 
connection with certified 

products and initiatives” 15

CDP
We are the first airline in the Americas to be a part of 
the CDP “Supply Chain” program. Measurement and 
disclosure are essential for the effective management of 
climate change. That is why 55 of our suppliers reported 
their climate risk management and low carbon initiatives 
through CDP, one of the most robust platforms in the 
world in environmental reporting.

Sustainable Procurement 
Committee

In 2018, we created the Sustainable Procurement 
Committee to coordinate and promote the generation 
of economic, social and environmental value through 
our supply chain and manage in a sustainable manner 
any operational, financial and reputational risks that may 
arise in our procurement process.

Purchase of carbon credits
In 2018, we offset the impact of the emissions generated 
by our operations in Colombia, which accounted for 
1,019,170 tons of CO2, which are equivalent to 20.41% 
of the Holding’s total Scope 1 emissions, through the 
purchase of carbon credits, involving certified high-
impact social and environmental investment projects in 
the country.  

The instruments consist of three reforestation, 
restoration and forest conservation projects located in 
Colombia. More than 70% of said credits belong to the 
REDD+ Resguardo Indígena Unificado Selva de Matavén 
project.

1

15.    See further information about our environmental management in Chapter Innovating with Sustainable Impact.

Environmental
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1

16.   Our programs work transversaly to the Holding.  
17.   Miles reversed due to tickets not used by beneficiaries of our social programs.

“We connect Social Value through 
our corporate behavior, as well as our 

programs, alliances and the best social 
value products”16

Miles Bank 
We connect the children and adolescents from the most vulnerable societies in Latin America to healthcare services, 
including high-complexity surgery and treatments. The miles invested are used to transport children who need 
specialized medical assistance and therefore, save or improve their quality of life.

In 2018, we granted 324 tickets to 
transport the children and their families 
through the redemption of 10,488,500 
miles. 

29%

25%

22%

24% 3,184,692

2,776,867

2,432,919

2,598,500

Miles collected in 2018

Balance from previous years

Miles invested by our customers

Miles expired

Others17
Approximate 

value of tickets $346,120 USD

Human
Children for America 

In 2018, we granted 265 tickets 
for children and their guardians, 
accounting for a value of USD 
$186,033.

$186,033 
USD

We support the response to natural disasters and social 
emergencies on the routes operated by Avianca. We 
work together with the International Federation of Red 
Cross and Red Crescent Societies in the air transport of 
humanitarian aid to assist the affected population or 
transporting rescue personnel, volunteers, medical staff 
or emergency victims.

Emergencies attended
• Fuego Volcano in Guatemala:

With the support of our employees at La Aurora 
International Airport in Guatemala City, we collected 
humanitarian aid for the victims of this catastrophe, 
in coordination with the Guatemalan Red Cross. In 
addition, we transported 3,745 kg of aid out of Quito, 
which was collected by the Patronato San José in Quito; 
this cargo was valued at USD 7,115. 

Our employees made cash contributions through 
the current accounts arranged by the Guatemalan 
and Salvadoran Red Cross to support their fellow 
countrymen.

• Frost season in the Andean region of Peru:

We supported the campaign led by the Ministry 
of Education in Peru by transporting 1,220 kg of 
humanitarian aid on the Lima-Cuzco route to attend 
25,037 affected children and adolescents, particularly 
in the province of Apurímac; this cargo was valued at 
USD 964.53. 

We connect the children and adolescents from the most 
vulnerable societies in Latin America in order for them 
to be a part of a unique flight experience with Avianca, 
making the dream come true for children with high-
complexity disease or guarded prognosis. In addition, 
for children with outstanding academic performance, 
whose trip necessarily involves a recognition, award or 
distinction by an educational entity, receiving a student 
scholarship or if they have the objective of sharing 
research, studies or projects that contribute to citizenship 
construction in the region.  

• We make the dreams of our children in Latin 
America and the Caribbean come true along with 
the Make-A-Wish International Organization. Read 
about Hilaryn Hurtado’s dream18.

Solidary Avianca

Organ transport
In 2018, we transported 22 organs in Colombia on our 
domestic routes.

1

18. For further information, go to https://www.aviancaenrevista.com/revista/suenos-cumplidos/
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Bogotá - Colombia
¿What did we do?: Together with 
Make-a-Wish Colombia, we are 
going to make a dream come true 
for three children diagnosed with 
leukemia. Their dream is to swim 
with dolphins in Cancún, go to 
Disney World and go to the Copa 
América to see the Colombian 
soccer team.
¿Who?: 15 volunteers.
¿Social Organization?: Make-a 
Wish Organization.

Barranquilla - Colombia
What did we do?: We carried 
out recreational activities with 
the children during the Christmas 
season, we prayed the novena, and 
gave out refreshments and presents.
¿Who?: 18 volunteers.
¿Who for?: 50 children enrolled in 
the Galapa branch of the Futbol 
con Corazón Foundation.

Medellín - Colombia
¿What did we do?: We handed out 
refreshments, prayed the novena, 
played recreational games and 
raffles and gave out presents.

¿Who?: 110 volunteers.
¿Who for?: 63 children enrolled in 
Aldeas Infantiles SOS.

Bucaramanga - Colombia
¿What did we do?: We arranged a 
Christmas activity with a novena and 
recreational activities, and handed 
out presents provided by our co-
workers in Bucaramanga and Pereira. 
¿Who?: 20 volunteers.
¿Who for?: 61 children enrolled in 
Aldeas Infantiles SOS.

Cali - Colombia
¿What did we do?: We handed out 
presents to the children from Aldeas 
Infantiles SOS.
¿Who?: 9 volunteers.
¿Who for?: 74 children from the 
Aldeas Infantiles SOS Foundation.

Lima - Perú
¿What did we do?: We arranged 
a Christmas activity together with 
the Asociación de Ayuda al Niño 
Quemado (ANIQUEM).
¿Who?: 60 volunteers.
¿Who for?: 210 children benefited 
of the Asociación de Ayuda al Niño 
Quemado (ANIQUEM).

San Salvador - El salvador
¿What did we do?: We carried out 
recreational and art activities with 
the children from the San Antonio 
community.
¿Who?: 23 volunteers.
¿Who for?: 270 families and 200 
children from the community 
benefited with the support of the 
Salvadoran Red Cross.

Willemstad - Curazao
¿What did we do?: We gave out 
presents together with Casa Manita. 
The Airport manager dressed up 
as Santa Clause and visited the 
foundation with a bag full of presents.
¿Who?: 6 volunteers.
¿Who for?: 40 children from Casa 
Manita benefited. 

Santo Domingo – República 
dominicana
¿What did we do?: We handed out 
food donations for the families’ part 
of the Foundation.

¿Who?: 11 volunteers.
¿Who for?:  132 children benefited 
from the Aldeas Infantiles SOS 
Foundation.

Buenos Aires - Argentina
¿What did we do?: We put a smile 
on the faces of some of the children 
from the MANU Foundation by giving 
out some presents, and then coloring, 
drawing and playing with them. We 
also contributed basic products to the 
foundation.
¿Who? 18 volunteers.
¿Who for?: 45 children from the 
MANU Foundation benefited.

 We connect our children to the magic of  Christmas

Photo: Cali, Colombia. Photo: Lima, Perú.
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Run tour
The contribution made in 2018 amounting to COP 
129,562,941 was allocated to begin the construction 
of the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) and Pediatric Integral 
Recovery of the Cardioinfantil Foundation, an area that 
has increased the capacity to care for children suffering 
from high-complexity diseases by 75%. More than 720 
children are cared for each year.

Agreement on the labor and productive inclusion 
of the disabled: we have committed to the inclusion, 
employment and opportunities for people with 
different capabilities by signing this agreement led 
by the Colombian government.

Highlights
2018

Human Rights Due Diligence: we began the 
due diligence process in Human Rights based on 
the Guiding Principles on Business and Human 
Rights (under the United Nations “Protect, Respect 
and Remedy” Framework), which considers 
the identification, prevention, mitigation and 
remediation of Human Rights violations in our 
operations. Because of this process, we will design 
a corporate Human Rights policy at the Holding 
Company level, which reaffirms our commitment 
to protect, respect and remedy possible impacts on 
Human Rights, and we will include the resulting due 
diligence module in our corporate risk management 
model.

Make-A-Wish: We signed an agreement with Make-A-
Wish International, in order to strengthen our social 
program, Niños por América. This Organization works 
in more than 45 countries and is devoted to making 
dreams come true for children suffering from high-
complexity diseases. 

Best Buddies-Labor Inclusion:  together with the Best 
Buddies Colombia Foundation, we implemented the 
program for the labor inclusion of people with different 
capabilities. In 2018, we engaged three Best Buddies 
as service agents at El Dorado Airport in Bogotá, who 
are currently providing our passengers with exceptional 
service, demonstrating that we are all different and our 
capacities are unique. 

United Arab Emirates, the Netherlands, Global 
Business Coalition for Education, Unilever, IKEA, 
The United Bank of Africa, Master Card, World 
Economic Forum, Aga Khan Foundation, Avianca 
Holdings, Telenor Group, BRAC, Aldeas Infantiles 
SOS, Scout Movement, Peace and Human 
Rights Center, Social Change Factory and Zero 
Censorship.

©UNICEF/UN013365/LeMoyne

19. Here you can see the video disclosed in our in-flight entertainment center https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ry1uef3v63c.

Let’s get together to change the education of our 
children and adolescents in Latin America and 
the Caribbean ¡Contribute through Avianca.com!

UNICEF: Avianca Holdings is the first airline to 
partner with UNICEF for Latin America and the 
Caribbean and the first to offer its customers the 
option to invest in UNICEF’s educational programs 
for children and adolescents in this region, through 
the Click for Change campaign linked to our online 
purchase process. Through the sales channel on our 
website www.avianca.com, we offer our customers 
the opportunity to change the life of thousands of 
children and adolescents in the region by investing 
in UNICEF’s educational programs in Latin America 
and the Caribbean. The feature consists of a micro-
donation engine provided by Amadeus to UNICEF 
called “Click for change”, which allows people to 
make cash donations during the online purchase 
process. It began operating in October 2018 in 
Colombia. Thanks to our customers, we collected 
COP 7,764,000 during the last two months of the 
year, thus contributing to the strengthening of the 
national educational systems to improve access and 
completion of preschool, primary and high school 
education19.

Generation Unlimited: we are part of the 
Directory of the Generation Unlimited initiative 
through which, together with the main United 
Nations agencies, UNICEF partner companies and 
civil society leaders are working on the design of 
social and productive inclusion opportunities for 
young people around the world for 2030 aligned 
with the SDGs. 

The following are part of the Generation 
Unlimited Directory: the World Bank, UNDP, 
ILO, UN for Youth, UNDESA, UNESCO, UNFPA, 
UNICEF, Global Compact, Rwanda, Indonesia, 
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Citizen

Highlights
2018

• Social Committee: the purpose of this 
committee is to channel the social 
initiatives, projects and requests from 
the countries where we operate with 
the Corporate Citizenship Department, 
thus enabling timely responses 
to organizations and allowing the 
development of the initiatives that are 
framed within our strategy. 

The stations that took part in 
the Social Committee are:

Arubá CurazaoCuba GuatemalaArgentina Costa RicaPanamá MéxicoParaguay EcuadorUruguay PerúBolivia El Salvador
Republica 

Dominicana Colombia

In 2018, we participated in events that are relevant 
to Avianca’s sustainable management and corporate 
citizenship agenda:

We participated 
as speakers and 
sponsors in the 
second Sustainability 
Summit of Semana 

magazine. The agenda of this 
event set out topics of great 
relevance for Colombia and its 
current development model: 
Sustainable Development Goals 
(SDGs), water, gender equality and 
social challenges.

With the support of 
the Global Compact, 
we carried out 
two workshops 
aimed at all our 

employees on Human Rights 
and the Environment, in order to 
strengthen our mechanisms of 
social dialog and provide everyone 
with knowledge about the state of 
the art of the commitments of the 
private sector and Avianca to the 
fundamental topics of sustainable 
management, which are part of 
our commitments to the Global 
Compact.

We sponsored the 
15th “Círculo de 
Montevideo” meeting, 
“the certainty of 
uncertainty”, which 

discussed competitiveness, 
employability, ethics and values, the 
art of thinking and innovation in our 
region.
Our CEO, Hernán Rincón, participa-
ted in the panel on “Business Ethics 
and Competitiveness”.

We participated in 
the 7th Forum of 
the United Nations 
on Business and 
Human Rights, the 

largest annual worldwide meeting 
on business and human rights, 
bringing together more than 2,000 
government, civil society and private 
sector participants.  This year’s 
agenda made special emphasis on 
progress, the adoption by the private 
sector of the Guiding Principles on 
Business and Human Rights (the 
United Nations “Protect, Respect 
and Remedy” Framework) and 
business due diligence in human 
rights.
We were speakers on UNICEF’S 
panels “Human Rights in 
International Supply Chains” and 
the launch of the “Children’s Rights 
and Business Atlas”, in which we 
announced the launch of the Click 
for Change platform.

The Climate Reality 
Project, OpEPA 
and Avianca 
banded together 
to present the 

workshop, “Taking Off to the 
Climate Future”, an interactive 
discussion based on the famous 
presentation by Nobel Peace 
Prize, Al Gore. It addressed 
relevant topics such as the 
reality of climate change, its 
causes and effects.

We joined the 3rd 
International Mee-
ting of Sustainable 
Airports, held by 
the Civil Aviation 

Authority with the lecture “Hu-
man Rights and their Promotion 
in Sustainable Airports”.

• Human trafficking: as part of the #EsoEsCuento 
campaign led by the United Nations Office on 
Drugs and Crime (UNODC), UNICEF, the Office 
of the Attorney General of Colombia, Migración 
Colombia,Renacer Foundation, the Colombian National 
Police, the Ministry of the Interior, the Colombian 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Avianca, we trained 
1,539 service agents in Colombia, thus contributing to 
the prevention and prosecution of more than 90 cases 
of human trafficking and related crimes. Reports in 
Colombia have increased by more than 600 cases each 
month.
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Awards

Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI): we have been included 
in the Dow Jones Sustainability Index, Mercado Integrado 
Latinoamericano (MILA) Pacific Alliance version, in the last two 
years, ranking 7th and 5th place, respectively, among 32 airlines 
invited from around the world.  The DJSI highlights the companies 
that aim to innovate and have consolidated practices in place to 
create economic, social and environmental value, thus providing 
investors with an objective point of reference for the management 
of a sustainability investment portfolio for the region.

This is how we are making 
progress as for our 
challenges from 2018

• We are developing initiatives and projects that will 
allow the cross-cutting management of our Corporate 
Citizenship agenda.

• Together with our partners, we achieved high-impact 
results to prevent the crime of human trafficking as 
part of the #EsoEsCuento Campaign.

• We have begun the process of Due Diligence in Human 
Rights.

• We are aligning our Sustainability strategy with the 
brand.

• We created the Sustainable Procurement Committee.
• We are supporting the environmental certification 

process pursuant to ISO 14001:2015 for the MRO 
hangar in Medellín, EOM Quito and Guayaquil.

Our Challenges 
for 2019

• Close the DJSI’s short-term 
Sustainability gaps resulting 
from the 2018 assessment to 
improve Avianca’s performance 
in terms of sustainable 
management.

• Strengthen Avianca’s 
engagement with international 
organizations and the civil 
society.

• Implement high-impact social 
and/or environmental projects in 
order to strengthen our strategic 
pillars.

V. policromía

CertifiCate of MeMbership

the program partners, that is international finance Corporation (ifC), s&p Dow Jones indices, 
robecosaM, and bolsas de Valores de Mercado integrado Latinoamericano (MiLa) 

acknowledge that  
avianca holdings sa

is member of the Dow Jones sustainability index (DJsi) MiLa pacific alliance 
DJsi MiLa pacific alliance 2018

september 13th, 2018

September

13th, 2018

· D

JSI MILA Pacific A
lliance 2018 · Certified M

em
b

er
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20.  See chapter “Avianca Citizens: a transformation agent”
21.  See further details in General Content.

“Good corporate 
governance for the 
construction of an ethical 
and accountable culture”

Corporate Governance, a 
framework for comprehensive 

management

Effective management of corporate 
governance is achieved by aligning 
our practices with the highest 
international standards and by 
acting with integrity, accountability 
and fairness in our relations with 
stakeholders, consistent with our 
purpose of being excellent corporate 
citizens.

In 2018, we strengthened our 
corporate governance practices, 
ensuring successful, cost-
effective operations that enabled 
us to maintain open, trusting 
communication with our shareholders, 
the Board of Directors and Senior 
Management. We also complied with 
the Corporate Governance principles 
applicable to our area of operations, 
achieving the optimal performance of 

the governing bodies and contributing 
to the fulfillment of our strategic 
objectives. Our Corporate Governance 
structure lays down the general 
guidelines for the management of 
the integrated concerns under the 
Holding Company, thus facilitating 
the adoption of policies, processes and 
best practices.

Avianca provides the market with 
updated, complete, and accurate 
information, to ensure transparency 
and report the Company’s 
performance in a clear and timely 
manner. Our communication 
channels are: Investor Service 
Office, Shareholder Service Office, 
our website www.aviancaholdings.
com and the website of the Financial 
Superintendence of Colombia.

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?

Create value through 
accountable corporate 
management.

Respect the rights of 
shareholders and investors 
and the equal treatment of 

those who belong to the same 
stakeholder.

Fulfill the legal 
obligations and the 

commitments acquired 
with investors and the 

stock market.

Create an ethical 
culture in the 
organization.

Our corporate culture is based on integrity20:

In 2018, we signed a Joint Action 
Agreement between BRW Aviation 
LLC, Kingsland Holdings Limited and 
United Airlines, Inc.21. Through this 
agreement, we have modified our 
corporate governance model in order 

to concentrate strategic decision-
making and the management of 
the material operational issues of 
Avianca Holdings and its subsidiaries 
in the Board of Directors.

 Goal 5.5. Ensure women’s 
full and effective 
participation and equal 
opportunities for leadership 
at all levels of decision-
making in political, 
economic and public life.
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Our leaders in decision-making

In order to establish guidelines and oversee 
the management of the Company’s most 
relevant economic, social and good governance 
issues, our corporate governance structure 
has four Board committees: Finance and 
Investment Committee, Audit and Corporate 
Governance Committee, Human Resources and 
Compensation Committee, which are mostly 
made up of independent members of the Board 
of Directors, and the Executive Committee, 
which is currently in the setting up process. 
Also, Management has established a Steering 
Committee and several specialized committees 
that cover all the companies that are part of the 
Holding Company.

G
R

I 1
02

-2
2 The highest management body is the Board 

of Directors, which can delegate its duties in 
board committees and other management 
committees. Economic issues are dealt with 
by the Finance Committee, while the Steering 
Committee reviews all strategic issues and those 
that have an environmental and social impact 
derived from the Company’s actions and fulfills 
all the mandates of the Board of Directors. G

R
I 1

02
-1

9 

GRI 102-20 If deemed necessary, the Vice Presidents can 
escalate the most relevant issues, as well as those that 
have a social and environmental impact, to the Board of 
Directors using the following mechanisms:

• Pre-board forum, where each Vice President and 
the CEO are responsible for generating alerts or 
proposing discussions to be escalated to the Board 
of Directors.

• The Chief Financial Officer has direct access to 
the chairman of the Board of Directors’ Finance 
Committee.

• The Vice President of Human Resources has direct 
access to the chairman of the Board of Directors’ 
Human Resources Committee.

• The Audit Director has direct access to the chairman 
of the Board of Directors’ Audit Committee.

GRI 102-32  The Vice President of Strategic Relations 
and Customer Experience, through the Corporate 
Citizenship Department, is responsible for the 
preparation of the Annual Report, which is reported 
to the Board of Directors and then to the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting for its approval.

GRI 102-26 Duties of the Board of Directors and 
Senior Management: 

• Defining the Company’s strategic direction. The Vice 
President of Strategy and Network is responsible 
for defining and updating the Company’s strategic 
direction, vision, mission and values.

• Defining the Company’s competitive advantages and 
their enablers.

• Creating a work plan for each of the advantages and 
making it the basis for prioritizing projects.

• Ensuring the implementation of projects in 
accordance with the business plan and strategic 
direction.

• Ensuring the fulfillment of the decisions made by the 
Board of Directors led by the implementation teams.

• Providing feedback regarding the economic, 
environmental and social decisions made by the 
Board of Directors and Corporate Committees.

• Approving the general policies applicable to the 
Company and the companies integrated under these 
policies.

• Defining the strategic guidelines of the Business 
Group.

GRI 102-35 Remuneration

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee 
supports the Board of Directors in the development of 
polices regarding the appointment and remuneration 
of the members of the Board of Directors and Senior 
Management. It is also responsible for:

• Developing an approach for the strategic 
management of Human Resources in terms of 
compensation and development.

• Proposing a remuneration policy to the Board 
of Directors to be submitted to the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting for its approval.

• Reviewing the development and salary 
compensation policy and the programs of 
incentives, benefits and awards applicable to Senior 
Management, by proposing recommendations.
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GRI 102-18 Our Board of Directors

CEO
Hernán Rincón

Audit
and Corporate 

Governance 
Committee

Finance
and Investment 

Committee

Human 
Resources and 
Compensation 

Committee

Customers Operating Financial Security and 
Compliance

Ethics Weekly 
Revenue

Route 
network and 

revenue

Sales, marketing 
and revenue

Strategic Units

Alexander 
Bialer

8 years 
with the 

Company

Raúl
Campos
3 years 
with the 

Company

Germán
Efromovich
(Chairman)

8 years 
with the Company

Roberto 
Kriete

8 years 
with the 

Company

Board of 
Directors

Specialized
Committees

Steering
Committee

José
Efromovich

8 years 
with the Company

Juan Guillermo
Serna

8 years 
with the Company

Oscar Dario
Morales
6 years 

with the Company

Ramiro
Valencia
8 years 
with the 

Company

James
Leshaw*

GRI 102-22, 102-23 Our Board of Directors is comprised 
of executives with an extensive professional background 
and experience. They currently hold management 
positions or are members of other boards22.  

All of our Board members are men, most of whom are 
over age 60, except for James Leshaw, and they do 
not belong to the executive level of the Company23 or 
underrepresented groups; 6 of them are independent 
members, according to NYSE (New York Stock Exchange) 
standards. Since 2010, only 3 Board members have 
changed, in 2012, 2015 and 2018. 

* James Leshaw was appointed as a member of the Board of Directors in the 2018 General Shareholders’ Meeting
** By signing the shareholder agreement between BRW Aviation LLC, Kingsland Holdings Limited y United Airlines, Inc, the creation of an Executive Committee of the 
Board was agreed, which did not operate in 2018.

GRI 102-25 Our Code of Ethics regulates the procedure 
that must be applied for conflicts of interest at the 
management and employee levels.

As part of our good governance practices, we ensure 
that the management of any conflict of interest that 
may arise with Board members is reported to the Audit 
and Corporate Governance Committee, which issues a 
recommendation on its management, and the decision 
is made by the Board of Directors. Our 20F report 
discloses these conflicts when they involve the existence 
of a controlling shareholder. In compliance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IAS 24) 
and the best corporate practices, the Board members 
sign a related party disclosure.

Our Executive team

General Directorate 
of Security, Risks and 

Compliance

Internal Audit 
Department

*Santiago Diago held this position until January 2018.

¡The best  team to catch
our Flight 2020!

1 
22. For further details on our Board of Directors, follow the link  http://aviancaholdings.com/English/corporate-governance/default.aspx
23. An executive position is defined as held by someone who is also a Company employee.

Executive
Committee**

Isaac 
Yanovich
8 years 
with the 

Company

Alvaro
Jaramillo
8 years 
with the 

Company

Independent 
members

Shareholders’ 
Meeting

Gustavo Cadavid*
Senior Vice 
President

Customer Delivery 
Service

Diana Calixto
Senior Vice 
President

Administration 
and Procurement

Gerardo Grajales
Executive Vice 

President
Strategic Business 

Units

Roberto Held 
Otero

Senior Vice 
President

Finance

Eduardo Asmar
Senior Vice 
President 

Strategy and 
Network

Santiago Aldana
Senior Vice 
President
Digital and 
Technology

Eduardo Mendoza
Senior Vice 
President
Operations

María Paula 
Duque

Senior Vice 
President
Strategic 

Relations and 
Customer 

Experience

Silvia Mosquera
Executive Vice 

President 
Sales, Marketing and 

Income

Ana María Rubio
Senior Vice 
President

Human Resources

Miguel Montoya
Senior Vice 
President

Engineering and 
Maintenance

Renato Covelo
Senior Vice 
President 

Legal, Ethical and 
Compliance

Hernán Rincón
Chief Executive 
Officer, CEO

Business Functions

Support Functions
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• Shareholder and Investor Relations 
Office.

• Ethics Hotline.

• Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee.

• Finance and Investment Committee.
• Compensation and Human 

Resources Committee.
• Ethics Committee.

• Ethics Code and Standards of Business Conduct.
• Anti-Corruption Policy.
• Policies and Procedures for Trading Shares and Securities 

on behalf of Company Managers.
• Policies of the Comprehensive System for the Prevention 

and Control of Money Laundering and Terrorism 
Financing (SIPLAFT, for the Spanish original).

• Protection policy for shareholders and investors.

• Avianca Holdings S.A. Social Pact.
• Corporate Governance Code.
• Board of Directors Rules of Procedure.
• Shareholders’ Meeting Rules of Procedure.
• Audit and Corporate Governance Committee Rules of 

Procedure.
• Finance and Investment Committee Rules of Procedure.
• Compensation and Human Resources Committee Rules of 

Procedure.

Good Governance Policies

Support Committees Good Governance Tools

Corporate Documents

Learn more about our Corporate Governance practices in our Annual Corporate Governance Report and on our website: 
 http://aviancaholdings.com/English/corporate-governance/default.aspx

GRI 405-1 Diversity of governance bodies
Percentage of members of the management team broken down by age and gender24.

Our System of Governance

Legal situation
In 2018, the Company complied with the standards on intellectual property and copyright in relation to the use of software 
installed by the Company itself, as well as subsidiary companies in the countries where it operates. In addition, Avianca 
Holdings verified compliance with Law 1676 / 2013 regarding the receipt and payment of invoices by its subsidiaries 
incorporated in Colombia. Finally, all the requirements set out by the oversight entities were met and the regulations 
applicable to the Corporation were complied with.

Highlights
2018

In 2018, we met the regulatory requirements applicable 
to the Company with the Financial Superintendence of 
Colombia, the Colombian Securities Exchange, the Securities 
Exchange Commission (SEC), and the internal policies and 
procedures established by the Company to ensure the proper 
management of its affairs. 

Our Challenges for  
2019

Continue implementing the best 
Corporate Governance practices in 
accordance with the recommendations 
of Código País25. 

For the fourth consecutive year, we maintained the Investor Relations (IR) recognition awarded by the 
Colombian Securities Exchange, which certifies us as an issuer that complies with Corporate Governance 
standards that are more demanding than the local minimum requirements.

Awards

1 

24. The Management Committee is comprised of our Vice Presidents.

1 

25. Código País is a compilation of recommendations regarding best Corporate Governance practices for issuers from the real and financial sectors.

Men

Women

31% 31%

23,1%

15%

>40 and <50 years >50 and <60 years >60 years

0% 0%

45%

40%

35%

30%

25%

20%

15%

10%

5%

0%
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 “Our customers’ safety 
is our priority”

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?
In 2018, we continued our 
projection to achieve the strategic 
objectives of our 2020 Flight, 
contributing from our areas of 
safety, ethics, risks and compliance 
to the aim of being the latin-
american airline preferred by the 
world´s travelers.

During the year, we worked on 
the implementation of a unique 
and crosscutting corporate risk 
management system, which 
ensures the safe, compliant 
and efficient performance of 
our activities, coordinating 
management in integral security, 
risks, ethics and compliance. This 
model has a risk identification, 
analysis, treatment and 
monitoring process in place, and 
clearly establishes the roles and 
responsibilities regarding risk 
management in the Company, so 
that each department can manage 
it according to the three lines of 
defense model. 

We have an Integral Risk 
Management System Policy, 
approved by the Board of Directors 
in 2017, where the guidelines and 
the framework for action were 
established for risk management 

in the Company. This management 
is carried out according to the 
priorities in operating, financial, 
sales and marketing, and 
development and innovation issues. 
In 2018, we adopted the Business 
Continuity Management Policy 
and we maintained the following 
policies in force:

• Comprehensive Security Policy. 
• Environmental Management 

Policy.
• Ethics and Compliance 

Program.
• Ethics Code and Standards of 

Business Conduct.
• Anti-corruption Policy.
• Policy for the Management 

of Conflicts of Interest with 
Avianca Holdings S.A. and 
Avianca S.A. Managers and the 
Company’s Directors. 

• Integral System of Prevention 
and Laundering Risk Control 
of Assets and Financing of 
Terrorism Policy (SIPLAFT, for 
the Spanish original).

• Privacy policies for passengers, 
customers and users, 
shareholders and investors, 
providers and human resources.

Security, Risk Management, 
Ethics and Compliance: Our 

Organizational Culture

07
Goal 3.8 Achieve universal health coverage, including financial risk protection, access to quality 
essential health-care services and access to safe, effective, quality and affordable essential 
medicines and vaccines for all.

Goal16.4 By 2030, significantly reduce illicit financial and arms flows, strengthen the recovery 
and return of stolen assets and combat all forms of organized crime.

Goal 16.5 Substantially reduce corruption and bribery in all their forms.

Goal 16.6 Develop effective, accountable and transparent institutions at all levels.

Goal16.10 Ensure public access to information and protect fundamental freedoms, in 
accordance with national legislation and international agreements.

Goal 16.11 Strengthen relevant national institutions, including through international 
cooperation, for building capacity at all levels, in particular in developing countries, to prevent 
violence and combat terrorism and crime.
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Tone of Senior Management:
Setting an example and consistency in safe, ethical and 

compliant behaviors

Process 
owners, 
business 
units and  
Avianca’s 
Holdings 

Companies

General Directorate of Security, 
Risks and Compliance

Control and Compliance

Corporate and Civil Aviation 
Security

Operational Safety

Industrial Safety, Occupational and 
Environmental Health

Information Risks

Business Risks and Continuity

Internal Assessment

Human Factors

Corporate 
Audit

We strengthened our integral risk management strategy, which is based on the three lines of defense model, 
increasing the level of maturity of Avianca Holdings’ risk management systems.

First line of Defense 
It is comprised of the process 
leaders and vice presidents, who 
are responsible for ensuring that 
the organizational processes 
established to implement the 
Company’s activities are safe, 
meet the regulatory and industry 
requirements, and identify, 
manage and monitor the risks 
that affect the process.

Second line of defense
It is comprised of the General 
Directorate of Integral Security, Risks 
and Compliance, it is independent of 
the first line and it directly reports 
to the Company CEO. This line is 
in charge of establishing the risk 
management model, monitoring 
the design and creation of controls 
for the first line, organizational 
compliance and advising the 
Company on risk management.

Third line of defense
This line has the role of 
independently verifying 
management and the 
effectiveness of risk management 
and controls through the 
Company’s Internal Audit area.

EXTERNAL AUDITS AND REGULATORY ENTITIES

 “We take care of every 
detail, developing 
our activities safely, 
compliantly and 
efficiently”

Comprehensive safety and protection 
on ground and air
The safety of our passengers and 
employees is the basis for developing 
our operations. We work with an 
integral safety approach, ensuring 
that all of the Company’s activities 
are carried out pursuant to national 
and international regulations and 
standards to increase the levels 
of safety in operations, ensuring a 
comfortable and safe experience for 
all our passengers.

We have an Integral Safety Policy, 
which defines the guidelines 

for the creation, development, 
implementation and maintenance 
of the integral safety management 
systems in the Company’s processes 
and areas. This is with the aim of 
protecting our employees and the 
Company’s tangible and intangible 
assets, as well as ensuring business 
continuity. Through this policy, we 
promote the reporting of operating 
events that could put our people at 
risk, and we empower our staff in 
safety management.

• Operational Security: We manage risks that could generate operating incidents and/or accidents in the 
Company.

• Industrial Safety: We manage risks that could cause accidents and/or diseases in our staff and customers 
from the implementation of the Company’s activities.

• Corporate and Civil Aviation Security: We manage risks that could lead to illegal actions (kidnapping and 
drug trafficking) and theft of the Company’s assets or customers’ belongings.

• Information Security and Privacy26: We manage the risks related to handling information that could affect 
the confidentiality, integrity and availability of data of customers, employees, suppliers and shareholders. We 
define and implement technical and operational policies, processes, procedures and controls that strengthen 
our information handling and protection. Therefore, the Company’s systems and applications that handle 
our stakeholders’ information have standardized controls for data protection based on their critical level. Our 
privacy policies:

• Privacy Policy for Travelers, Customers and Users.

• Privacy Policy for Shareholders and Investors.

• Privacy Policy for Suppliers.

• Privacy Policy for Human Resources Processes.

Read more at https://www.avianca.com/co/en/about-us/legal-documentation/privacy-policy/

In the last three (3) years, there have been five (5) cases of information security breaches, which were 
managed without a high impact for Avianca or its customers. There were three cases in 2018 and two in 
2017. The most critical cases were reported to the external control bodies. No fines have been generated 
by these cases.

Through the Company’s training and education plans, we train our employees on information security and 
privacy. 

The concept of comprehensive security encompasses unified management of the Company’s different types 
of safety and security: 

First Line of 
Defense

Second Line 
of Defense

Third Line of 
Defense

1 

26. GRI 418-1 Substantiated complaints regarding concerning breaches of customer privacy and losses of customer data.
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Own Indicator: Stabilized 
Approaches

This indicator measures flights that, during the approach 
phase, (last 1,000 feet above the runway) do not exceed 
any parameter covered in the Stabilized Approach 
Policy31. The basis for the calculation of the indicator 
changed in July 2018 to have a more restrictive 
measurement that is aligned with the policy guidelines 
included in the Procedures for Operations (PFO), Flight 
Crew Operations Manual (FCOM) and newsletters.   

In 2018, we obtained a percentage of stabilized 
approaches of 99.23% of Avianca’s flights with a target 
of 99.45%. The change in the basis for calculation of this 
indicator may explain the reduction in the result. In light 
of this, we have started to analyze the cause of these 
situations in the Holding Company’s fleet and AOCs 
to implement the necessary corrective measures. The 
design of automatic approach procedures has already 
been started in some airports -Area Navigation (RNAV) 
and Visual Flight Procedure under the PBN specification 
(RVFP) - with the aim of achieving safer approaches.

Own Indicator: Existing Deficiencies 
and Solutions

With the aim of efficiently managing the deficiencies 
or findings identified during the audits, inspections and 
investigations conducted by our Risk Management and 
Compliance Team, we have a Safety and Compliance 
Management System, through which we monitor the 
management of reducing deficiencies in adequate times 
in order to maintain a level of safety and compliance32. 

In 2018, we managed 100% of the findings identified 
through the safety, risk and compliance programs and 
we achieved a 13.4% improvement in shortening the 
time of these, from 74.5% in 2017 to 84.5% in 2018.

Own Indicator: Global Accidents in 
Commercial Operations in the Last 
Four Years

Accidents33 have not been reported in Avianca’s 
operations in the last four years, achieving the target of 
zero (0) flight accidents. 

In 2018, we strengthened a culture of 
reporting safety risks in both air and ground 
operations, during flight activities and in 
ground transit services. This enabled us to take 
preventive action to avoid the materialization 
of the identified situations. 

27. International Operational Safety Audit - IATA
28. Business Alliance for Secure Commerce.
29. European Union security requirements for inbound air cargo.
30. Air company security program.
31. This policy was defined by the Operational Safety and Flight Standards Team.
32. See indicator in the “Risk Management” section.
33. The definition of an accident contained in Annex 13 of the ICAO (International Civil Aviation Organization) is used.

Committed with Integral Security

• Avianca Holdings 
airlines have 
the  IOSA 
Certification 27.

• Our Deprisa business unit has 
the ISO 28000 certification 
for the supply chain’s safety 
management system.

• In 2018, 125 audits were 
carried out with a focus on civil 
aviation by the authorities. 

• Our Avianca Cargo business 
unit has the  BASC 
certification28  and ACC329

  
and RA330  certifications for 
the transportation of cargo 
to Europe.

Highlights
2018
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“The world’s best 
organizations have 
risk management 
models that enable 
and facilitate strategic 
decision-making on 
risks that affect the 
company”

Risk Management 

Our risk management model has 
policies, processes and procedures 
designed based on international 
standards, such as ISO 31000 and 
COSO, which enable the proper 
identification, analysis, treatment, 
monitoring and aggregation34 of 
risks at both strategic and operating 
levels. This management model has 
four main objectives: 

1. Facilitate achievement of our 
strategic objectives, striving to 
avoid or mitigate the impact of 
any situations that may hinder 
it. 

2. Strengthen customer and 
shareholder trust by being a 

A. Corporate risks 

The corporate risk map was updated based on the 
Company’s strategy for 2018, aiming to identify, 
analyze, treat, monitor and aggregate risks that hinder 
compliance with the goals of Avianca Holdings S.A. The 
map was updated with the input of the different risk 
management systems, the findings of internal auditing, 
strategic projects, the environmental analysis, the 
criteria of experts, and interviews with vice presidents 
and directors. This map was approved by the Security 
Risks and Compliance Committee and reviewed by 
the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors. In 
addition, the permanent monitoring and development 
of this new risk model has begun as part of the agenda 
of the primary groups of vice presidents. In turn, key risk 
indicators (KRIs) have been implemented for the Top 
17 corporate (strategic) risks, to identify trends in the 
materialization of these risks. 

B. Risks at the process level

The new methodology for comprehensive risk 
management enables risk management focused on 
the Company’s processes, with the main deliverable of 
a comprehensive risk matrix that identifies, assesses 
and manages the different types of risks, including 
operational safety, corporate security, fraud and 
money laundering. This enables the efficient and 
comprehensive management of the risks of a process. In 
2018, the processes were prioritized when the General 
Directorate of Security, Risks and Compliance conducted 
the risk assessment in a joint effort with leaders. As a 
result, a comprehensive risk matrix was created in 2018 
for 11 processes. 

Company ready to manage 
risks. 

3. Risk is part of any business, so 
it is important to accompany 
tactical and strategic decision-
making with the proper risk 
analysis and vision, in order 
to respond in a timely and 
effective manner to changes in 
the environment.

4. Integrate the different risk 
management frameworks and 
approaches that the Company 
must comply with into a single 
integral risk management 
system.

  C.Project risks 

Together with the Strategic Project Department, a 
project risk management chapter was prepared for in-
clusion in the new corporate project methodology. The 
implementation of this methodology began in 2018 in 
the most important strategic projects.

Risk Management 
Framework 

Support elements
A. Governance    B.Dialogue    C. Tools   D. Culture    E.Response

1. Identification

3. Treatment

2. Analysis

5. Aggregation4. Monitoring

34.  Manage the interrelation of related risk on the company. 

Management model developed from three angles

Additionally, in light of the response element 
mentioned in the model, Avianca Holdings has 
worked on business continuity management (BCM) 
with the aim of giving more importance to business 
continuity management and emergency response in 
the Integral Risk Management System.

The first stage of system implementation in the 
passenger air-transport line was carried out in 2018 
based on international standards, such as ISO 22301. 
As a result, the Business Continuity Management 
System was created, which defines the guidelines 
and the framework for action to manage the system 
at Avianca Holdings S.A. and its incorporated 
companies. Additionally, the Company’s critical 
processes were defined, as well as the minimum 
resources necessary to ensure the provision of 
the service in the event of major interruption. The 
implementation roadmap for the following phases 
of the system was defined based on this, which will 
be developed from 2019 onward.

An emergency plan was carried out with Deprisa 
and SAI, aimed at defining and implementing 
contingency plans in crosscutting projects and 
processes of each company. This fostered and raised 
the profile of business continuity management 
within each business unit, making it one of the 
aspects to be covered in 2019.

The comprehensive Risk Manage-
ment Model in place is based on 
a model of ten elements linked by 
the three defense lines. The first 
five make up the cycle through 
which a risk is managed: identifi-
cation, analysis, treatment, moni-
toring and aggregation; the other 
elements are the basis for the 
implementation of the system: 
governance, dialog, culture, tools 
and business continuity plan. 

This risk management model is structured from these angles: corporate risks, process risks and project risks. 
Corporate risks are those related to compliance with the strategic objectives; process risks are those that affect the 
objectives of processes, and project risks are those aimed at determining the events that can have an impact on 
the success of the project. Based on these objectives, the following advances were made in the three areas in 2018:  

We have contributed to the following aspects with this model:
Risk-based 
decision-making.

Proactive risk management when 
redefining a new process or project.

Identification of risks on which 
efforts need to be focused for 
regulatory compliance.
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Most significant risks for their impact on the future 
business
A. Risks Related to the Company

Risks  Treatment plan

a. Sources of financing 
and cash flow

Adaptation of the expansion 
plans in accordance with the 
Company’s financial conditions.

b. Labor relations

Renewal of agreements with 
union organizations and 
conflict resolution through the 
mechanisms protected under 
laws in force.  

Risks Treatment plan

a. Cyber-attacks
Improvements to the strategy 
for the detection, response and 
monitoring of cyber-attacks.

b. Changes in the 
political environment 
and macroeconomic 
variables

  Permanent monitoring of 
political and macro-economic 
changes and development of the 
strategy for different scenarios.

c. Changes in 
legislation and 
regulation

  Permanent monitoring of 
political and macro-economic 
changes and development of the 
strategy for different scenarios.

d. Changes 
in consumer 
preferences

Reviews and improvements for 
the experience of our customers 
in all their interactions with the 
airline.

Risks Treatment plan

a. Limitations in the HUBs’ 
airport infrastructure

Adaptations over the 
Company’s itinerary 
network.

b. Highly competitive 
airline industry and greater 
advances in innovation and 
new technologies

Definition of a new 
process digitalization 
strategy for the Company.  

C. Risks Related to the Aviation Industry

Own Indicator: Security, Risks and Compliance Indicator
This indicator measures the risk levels in the Company and the management of the timely resolution of the findings 
identified in investigations, audits, assessments and inspections carried out by the Company’s risk and compliance 
systems, as well as the action plans proposed by the areas to mitigate the risks identified: 

Improvement of 3.15 percentage points from 2017, when the risk unit component decreased 
27.14% from 17.87% to 13.02% in 2018, and the management of closure and implementation of 
plans to mitigate deficiencies increased from 79.94% to 85.19%. The above demonstrates timely 
management of the implementation of actions to mitigate risks in organizational processes.

91.24 % 80 %
Result Target

B. Environment Risks
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“Ensuring exemplary 
corporate practices”

Ethics and Compliance

We promote a culture of respect and compliance with the ethical, legal 
and corporate standards at all levels of the Company, through actions for 
the prevention, detection, monitoring and remedy of conducts that are not 
upstanding in the framework of ethics and compliance. Avianca’s culture 
is characterized by honesty and commitment to the Company’s values. 

The purpose of the Ethics Committee is to ensure compliance with the provisions of the Code of Ethics 
and its proper interpretation, as well as resolving conflicts of interest that may arise in the development 
of our activities. This committee prepares periodic reports for the Audit Committee on the reports and 
inquires related non-compliance, unlawful acts, fraud and material conflicts of interest. 

Inquiries or reports made on the scope of the rules and responsibilities of employees, as well as those 
related to the breach of rules or suspicious conduct in the Company are received through the Ethics 
Hotline: http://aviancaholdings.ethicspoint.com available 24 hours a day, seven days a week. Employees 
as well as third parties can make these inquiries and/or reports anonymously.

• Avianca’s Code of Ethics and Business Conduct Norms  aims to prepare the values, principles and results that 
inspire the Company’s action and the behavior expected from its employees, including:

1. Directors.

2. Employees hired through a work contract. 

3. Related third parties (suppliers, contractors).

Our Code of Ethics is available at the following links:

https://www.avianca.com/co/en/about-us/who-we-are/ethics-and-compliance/

And for investors:

http://aviancaholdings.com/English/corporate-governance/default.aspx 

• The Anti-corruption Policy  was adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors and establishes the absolute 
prohibition of bribery of government officials or individuals. Additionally, the policy aims to ensure compliance 
with the anti-corruption laws in different countries, including the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), ensuring 
transparency in books and records and the prevention of bribery. It also has chapters related to giving and 
receiving gifts and favors; political donations; conflicts of interest; trading of shares by directors, who have 
privileged information that has not been disclosed to the market (insider trading); and the reporting or inquiry 
channel for this policy (Ethics Hotline) available at the following link: http://aviancaholdings.ethicspoint.com 

• The Policy for Prevention and Control of Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing and the Proliferation of 
Weapons of Mass Destruction SIPLAFT, was adopted by Avianca Holdings’ Board of Directors and has the 
following objectives: 1) risk identification; 2) knowledge of third parties (suppliers, customers, employees, ticket 
beneficiaries); 3) training and communication; 4) implementation of controls and monitoring; and 5) report 
management.

We have adhered to the different national and international initiatives 
that reinforce our commitment to the highest standards of ethics and 
compliance:

1. United Nations’ Global  
Compact Initiative.  

As a corporate citizen, our management 
incorporates the Ten Principles of the Global 
Compact through our objectives and crosscutting 
strategy, taking as a basis, the best practices 
in human rights and business, labor standards 
(decent work), environment and anti-corruption. 
Therefore, we align our performance indicators to 
close the gaps in sustainable management found 
in the results of the Dow Jones Sustainability 
Index MILA Pacific Alliance and we develop 
specific actions in the processes regarding 
each principle of the Global Compact. This 
management report communicates the progress 
achieved in each principle.

2. Alliance for integrity. 

A global initiative to promote the integrity of 
the business world comprised of the private 
sector, civil society, political organizations and 
international organizations. It aims to strengthen 
the companies’ capacity of compliance and their 
supply chain.

3. Colfecar Compliance Officers 
Committee. 

A professional committee of the Superintendency 
of Ports and Transport that organizes the ground 
cargo transporters in Colombia to implement 
best practices in the prevention of money 
laundering and terrorism financing.

4. The Path to Integrity.

Since November 2017, we have been part of this 
initiative led by the United Nations Office on 
Drugs and Crime.
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Own Indicator: Ethics and Compliance Training

In 2018, we carried out onsite and online training for our 
employees to communicate our policies in topics related to 
ethics and compliance.

Number of employees trained in person:

Number of employees who received 
online training:

17,452

353

317

17,880

4,683

4,409

17,221

2,802

2,722

122 399 3,833 14,606

12,419

11,001

9,659

44

41

77

73

Code of 
Ethics 

NAM

NAM

SIPLAFT

CAM

CAM

Anticorruption 
Policy 

SAM

SAM

Foreign Corrupt 
Practices Act 

(FCPA)35

CO

CO

CAR

CAR

EUR

EUR

92% 94% 91% 66%

1,673
100%Employees

Achieving a 
target of 

Training    
in person on topics 
related to ethics and 
compliance.

Of visits    
to 15 bases: Medellín, Pereira, 
Bucaramanga, Bogotá, Barranquilla, 
Lima, San José in Costa Rica, 
Guayaquil, Quito, Tegucigalpa, San 
Pedro Sula, Guatemala, Mexico, 
Miami and Santiago de Chile.

Committed to the Training and 
Development of Our Employees in Ethics 
and Compliance

We launched four micro-courses on topics related 
to: conflicts of interest, information security, 
ethical leadership and fraud prevention through 
the Company’s Primary Groups.  Through this 
channel, we also disclosed topics related to:

• Three Lines of Defense Model.
• Ethics Hotline Tips.
• Attributes of Our Safety. 
• System for the Prevention of Money 

Laundering Risks.
• Changes to the Anti-corruption Policy and 

FCPA Course.
• Giving and Receiving Gifts and Favors.

With the support of the Global Compact, 
we carry out training on topics related 
to the Principles of the Global Compact: 
Environment, Human Rights and Labor 
Relations, achieving the participation of 179 
employees. 

Our Executive Committee was trained on 
the core topics of the Global Compact.

We carried out specialized training on the 
topic of Prevention of Money Laundering.

The Board of Directors was trained on the 
Law of Corrupt Practices Abroad.

GRI 205-2 Corruption and Training on the 
Anti-corruption Policy

Communication:

Number of Members of the Governing Body to whom 
we Reported the Company’s Anti-corruption Policy
We reported the Anti-corruption Policy to 100% (11 
members) of our Board of Directors. This governing 
body is responsible for approving policies related to the 
topic of Prevention of Corruption and Bribery. 

Total Number of Employees to whom we Reported the 
Anti-corruption Policy by Work Category

18,960 Employees

We reported our Anti-corruption Policy to 100% of our 
employees in Avianca Holdings.

Total Number of Employees to whom we 
Reported the Anti-corruption Policy by Region

Number of Suppliers to which we Reported the Ethics 
and Compliance Policies 
We sent letters on our Ethics and Compliance Policies 
to 40 groups of Type A suppliers, which comprise 93% 
of this kind of supplier.

Online Training
Number of Employees Trained on the Anti-corruption 
Policy by Region and Work Category

Our Anti-corruption Policy is available on our website: 
www.avianca.com, and on the page for investors at: 
www.aviancaholdings.com

Training:

Number of Members of the Governing Body who 
Received Anti-corruption Training
The 11 members of the Board of Directors were 
trained on the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) in 
November 2018.

Number of Employees who Received Anti-corruption 
Training 
In 2018, we trained our employees on anti-corruption 
topics online and in person as follows: 

105 345 3.443 13.328

17,221 Employees were trained. 
This figure amounts to 
91% of our people.

35.  The FCPA course was launched on September 2018.
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Number of Employees Trained on the Law by Region 
and Work Category

275
2,905 2,063

7,095

34 47

NAM CAM SAM CO CAR EUR

58

Managers
CEO, vice 
presidents and 
directors

Administrative 
staff

Operators

198 2,478 9,685

153 306

NAM CAM

242

SAM

766

CO

Onsite Training

Topic: Anti-corruption Policy and Foreign Corrupt 
Practices Act (FCPA):

Regarding compliance with the applicable regulations and requirements in the development of our operations, we 
have the Compliance Monitoring Program (CMP), which is comprised of the Internal Evaluation Program (IEP) and 
the Operations Compliance Program (OCP). Its aim is to ensure that the Company has safe processes in compliance 
with the legal regulations and requirements: 

Own Indicator: Reduction of Fines from the Transportation Security Administration
In 2018, we achieved a 21% reduction in fines from the Transportation Security Administration (TSA). This indicator 
measures the reduction of the intent to fine based on the value in U.S. of the penalty imposed for non-compliance. 

Conventions

Internal Evaluation Program
 (IEP) 

It aims to ensure that the organizational 
processes are designed based on process 
attributes (responsibility, authority, inter-
faces, procedures, controls, performance 
assessment and resources) and are docu-
mented and implemented in accordance 
with regulations, best practices of the in-
dustry and proper risk controls before they 
are implemented in the Company. In 2018, 
actions plans focused on mitigating the risk 
conditions identified in the process design 
were established through this program. 

Operational Compliance 
Program (OCP)

Through scheduled and 
unscheduled audits, the OCP 
validates that the processes 
are implemented according to 
the documentation developed 
by the first line and validated 
by IEP.

Sarbanes - Oxley Act (SOX)

To comply with the commitments 
regarding the SOX Act of 2002 and 
other responsibilities acquired since 
our shares started to be listed on the 
New York Stock Exchange in 2013, 
we are responsible for designing, 
implementing, maintaining and 
assessing the internal control system 
of the Company’s financial reporting.
Audits on the SOX control environment 
were conducted in the Company in 
2018.

We consolidated the area for security, risk and 
compliance data analysis. Through this area, 
we develop organizational knowledge from the 
analysis of qualitative and quantitative data so 
that we have information on security, risks and 
compliance that allow timely decision-making.

Comprehensive Security
• We obtained zero (0) findings of illegal 

substances hidden inside the aircrafts 
because of compliance with strict security 
procedures and controls in operations and 
facilities.

• We conducted joint work with the 
Colombian authorities and federal agencies 
of different states, enabling the capture and 
shutdown of organizations dedicated to 
illegal activity within operations.

Ethics and Compliance
• Avianca was recognized by Colombia’s 

Secretariat for Transparency as an Active 
Company in terms of Anti-corruption 
Compliance. 

• No critical risks of corruption or bribery 
materialized in 2018. 

• We held a Conflict of Interest Disclosure 
Session for Directors. 

• We renewed the commitment to comply 
with: The Code of Ethics and Business 
Conduct Norms; The Conflict of Interest 
Management Policy for Members of the 
Board of Directors and Managers of the 
Organization; The Anti-corruption Policy; 
and The Policy and Procedure for Directors 
to Trade Company Securities.

Highlights
2018

• We launched the new online Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), which has 
trained 12,419 employees. 

• We managed to increase the culture of 
reporting to the Ethics Hotline by 159%.

• No critical risks of money laundering or 
terrorism financing materialized in 2018. 

• We trained 17,880 employees of Avianca 
Holdings on SIPLAFT, which is equivalent 
to 94% of the whole amount of employees.

• We mitigated 1,641 risks of money 
laundering and terrorism financing through 
alerts generated with third parties. 

• We held a Politically Exposed Persons 
(PEPs) Disclosure Session and created the 
PEPs Committee.

• Avianca Holdings S.A. and its incorporated 
companies made reports regarding 70,771 
transactions to the Financial Analysis and 
Information Units. 

Risk Management
We have strengthened our strategy based 
on the three lines of defense model and 
increased the level of maturity of Avianca’s 
risk management systems, with the following 
notable achievements:
• We strengthened cybernetic risk 

management.
• We closed Phase I of the project to 

implement BCM, which includes the 
publication of the Business Continuity 
Policy, risk analysis, identification of critical 
processes and minimal resources, together 
with the prioritization of processes.

• We strengthened the alternative operating 
centers for business continuity.

• We designed and implemented control 
tables to facilitate the monitoring and 
visualization of the data obtained from the 
Company’s Risk Systems.

12,419 employees were trained. 
This figure amounts to 
66% of our people.

1,467 employees in 15 
bases of Avianca 
Holdings36.

We launched a new online course in September 2018 on 
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA).  

36.  The bases where the trainings were carried out are: Lima, Peru (LIM), San Jose, Costa Rica (SJO), Guayaquil, Ecuador (GYE), Quito, Ecuador (UIO), Tegucigalpa, 
Honduras (TGU), Cortés, Honduras (SAP), Guatemala City, Guatemala (GUA), Mexico City, Mexico (MEX), Rionegro, Colombia (MDE), Pereira, Colombia (PEI), Lebrija, 
Colombia (BGA), Miami, USA (MIA), Bogotá, Colombia (BOG), Barranquilla, Colombia (BAQ) and Pudahuel, Chile (SCL).
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Awards 
How we are making progress with   
our 2018 challenges:

Safety, Risks and Compliance

• We redesigned the Compliance Monitoring Program with the 
risk approach, managing to intervein in processes, stations 
and work centers from the impact that these generate on the 
Company and their level of risk according to performance. 

• We integrated attributes of security, ethics, risks and 
compliance into our culture model.

• We implemented the AQD tool in all the risk management 
and compliance systems, enabling the centralization and 
standardization of the processes of investigation, analysis and 
treatment of risks for all the systems.

• We strengthened the risk monitoring and management 
programs from the second line of defense, by increasing the 
use of technology and participation in critical projects of the 
Company.

• We carried out a consultancy to implement the Business 
Continuity Management System and defined the critical 
operating processes with their respective contingency plans.

• We implemented Phase I of the Integrated Risk Management 
System, achieving greater alignment and coordination of the 
second line of defense.

• With the use of technological tools, we implemented different 
dashboards38 that facilitate the comprehensive visualization of 
risks in the Company at operating, tactical and strategic levels, 
contributing to decision-making related to risk management 
and compliance.

• We conducted the IATA Safety Survey, which will enable us to 
define a roadmap to focus our operational security efforts on 
critical processes, as well as continuing to develop the plan to 
strengthen the first line of defense.

• In 2018, the Colombia’s 
Secretariat for Transparency 
acknowledged Avianca as “one 
of the most active companies 
in terms of anti-corruption” 
in Colombia during the EACA 
Awards37.

• Acknowledgement of Civil and 
Corporate Aviation Security 
Management for cooperation 
programs with federal 
agencies.

37.  Active Anti-Corruption Companies
38. Graphic Interphase

Challenges 
for 2019

• Implement the BHAG (MEGA in Spanish) tool, which 
will enable the control of organizational processes in 
terms of governance, risk and compliance. This tool will 
contribute to the integration of the business architecture, 
risks, processes, controls and regulations applicable to 
each stage of the value chain.

• Implement the Know Your Customer program in the 
business units defined by the General Directorate of 
Safety, Risks and Compliance.

• Strengthen the Ethics and Compliance program in the 
new business units.

• Generate an inquiry tool that enables the processes to 
monitor and control the regulations applicable to every 
assessed process of the Company.

• Continue implementing the Integrated Risk 
Management System (Phase II).

• Enhance risk management and strengthen decision-
making in a predictive way through the implementation 
of the risk management methodology in processes 
and projects, automation of monitoring processes and 
development of analytics methods.

• Implement the SARA-ERGOSS software to monitor and 
analyze the flight data, which will enable clearer analysis, 
improvement of the proactive processes of operational 
safety and collaboration in the fault detection process to 
release aircrafts on the ground for maintenance.

Managing Impacts after the strike of 
activities of 2017

In response to the strike of activities 
in 2017, we carried out the following 
actions from the risk approach:

• We implemented KRIs to monitor 
the corporate risks related to labor 
relations with critical operating 
teams, including monitoring of 
compliance with the agreements 
with union organizations, roster 
compliance, scheduling and 
hierarchy. With this information, 
the necessary warnings were 
made to the vice presidents to 
take action.

• We implemented a contingency 
plan to reinforce the airline’s 
operations in the most affected 
stations.

• We carried out ongoing monitoring 
of the compliance with critical 
processes that were affected 
by the strike of activities. The 
compliance program oversees the 
activities implemented on these 
processes.
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Managing our talent08 “With the best people and 
the best technology for an 
exceptional experience, we 
will be the preferred Latin 
American airline in the world” 

Our employees are the backbone of 
our Company. We have passionate, 
world-class talent that always 
goes the extra mile to provide an 
exceptional service to our customers. 
We are advancing toward our 
2020 Flight, by strengthening our 
practices and commitment, creating 
environments of participation, and 
promoting:

• Skills development among our 
employees.

• Leadership and recognition.

• Harmony between personal life 
and work life.

• Diversity, equality and decent 
work.

• Competitiveness.

• Variable remuneration plans and 
an emotional salary.

Our recruitment, selection, retention, 
promotion and training processes 
are based on the skills, values, per-
formance and commitment of our 
people.  

¡At Avianca we work as one and we 
enjoy what we do ! 

Goal 4.3: By 2030, ensure equal access for all women and men to affordable and quality 
technical, vocational and tertiary education, including university.

Goal 4.4: By 2030, substantially increase the number of youth and adults who have 
relevant skills, including technical and vocational skills, for employment, decent jobs and 
entrepreneurship.

Goal 4.7: By 2030, ensure that all learners acquire the knowledge and skills needed to promote 
sustainable development, including, among others, through education for sustainable 
development and sustainable lifestyles, human rights, gender equality, promotion of a culture 
of peace and non-violence, global citizenship and appreciation of cultural diversity and of 
culture’s contribution to sustainable development.

Goal 5.1: End all forms of discrimination against all women and girls everywhere.

Goal 5.4: Recognize and value unpaid care and domestic work through the provision of public 
services, infrastructure and social protection policies and the promotion of shared responsibility 
within the household and the family as nationally appropriate.

Goal 5.5: Ensure women’s full and effective participation and equal opportunities for leadership 
at all levels of decision-making in political, economic and public life.

Goal 8.2: Achieve higher levels of economic productivity through diversification, technological 
upgrading and innovation, including through a focus on high-value added and labour-intensive 
sectors.

Goal 8.5: By 2030, achieve full and productive employment and decent work for all women 
and men, including for young people and persons with disabilities, and equal pay for work of 
equal value.

Goal: 10.2: By 2030, empower and promote the social, economic and political inclusion of all, 
irrespective of age, sex, disability, race, ethnicity, origin, religion or economic or other status.

Goal: 10.3: Ensure equal opportunity and reduce inequalities of outcome, including by 
eliminating discriminatory laws, policies and practices and promoting appropriate legislation, 
policies and action in this regard.

We are flying toward our Flight 
2020 with the best talent
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Our strategy
In order to fulfill our 2020 Vision within a culture of leadership and service, 
we manage our talent through the development cycle:

• We identify exceptional employees who 
deliver results and have the expected levels 
of skills.

• We recruit people with the 
level of skill required for the 
position.

• In the corporate training 
programs, we develop 
these skills.

• Through the development of 
the skill of adaptability, we 
are fostering organizational 
transformation in our people 
for them to respond rapidly to 
changes in the industry and the 
environment.

• We provide tools for the self-development of 
skills using the 70, 20, 10 methodology.

• We develop the skills required for the position 
to which our employees are aspiring. 

• We assess the level of adjustment of the skills 
to determine how to achieve the individual 
objectives.

We guide the growth 
of our employees, 
by promoting the 

development of their 
abilities, strengthening 

their skills and 
preparing them to take 
on new roles within the 

Company. 

This is how we monitor our management 
efforts:

• Alignment of objectives 

• Measurement of indicators in accordance with 
the projects and activities to be carried out

• Primary groups or periodic meetings with our 
teams to develop, implement and monitor 
projects and initiatives 

• Performance discussions with our leaders 

• Measurement using performance assessments 

• Inter-area meetings with strategic partners or 
suppliers 
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Culture

Career plan

development 
70, 20, 10

Talent and 
succession 

Attraction 

Corporate 
training

Organizational 
Transformation 

Internal 
client

Performance 
Management

PURPOSE OF SERVIN
G

¿What do we measure?
• Effectiveness of the Talent 

Recruitment process
   

¿How do we measure it?
• Percentage of vacancy fulfillment according to closing days by job 

family

• Service

• Employer Brand

• Leadership

• Satisfaction survey, Net Promoter Score (NPS) on Talent Recruitment

• Young People’s Dream Career survey in Colombia and El Salvador

• Commitment survey
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Number of employees by type of 
position (administrative, operating and interns) 
by gender

2018

1,741
9,478

2,092
5,128

Administrative Operating

Number of employees by type of position
(Senior Management and Middle Management)
 by gender

2018

74 48 181
218

Senior Management 
(VPs and Directors)

Middle Management 
(Managers)

Number of employees broken down
by gender and type of employment

2018

6,789
10,927

584 660 256 313

Full Time Part Time  Full Time Interns

4,087 3,934

7,577

3,362

Permanent Fixed-term

Number of employees broken down by 
gender and type of contract in 2018.

3

CAM CAR CO EUR NAM SAM

400 17

Number of employees broken down by region 
and type of contract in 2018.

4,622
4,173

2,402

4461

6,828

73 4 350552

2 21 8

 Permanent   Fixed-term   Fixed-term Interns 

1 

43.  No minority or vulnerable groups were reported 

GRI 102-7; 102-8

1 
39.  The acronyms CAR, SAM, CAM, CO, EUR and NAM refer to the regions 
of Central America and the Caribbean, South America, Central America, Colombia, 
Europe and North America, respectively.
40.  The chart does not include the figures of interns or employees engaged through 
Getcom, La Costeña and Servicios Aeroportuarios Integrados (SAI).
41.  The scope of our personnel broken down by gender, age and position does not include interns.
42.  The number of personnel has decreased compared to the previous year due to operating efficiencies 
that have been implemented throughout the last period.

GRI 405-143

¿How many are we and where are we?39

Our team is made up of  18.960 people:  
7,449 women and 11,511 men in 26 countries 40, 41,42

Under age 20 
Over age 20 and under age 30 
Over age 30 and under age 40 
Over age 40 and under age 50 
Over age 50 and under age 60 
Over age 60 
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We recruit and engage 
the best talent

“Human resources 
committed 
to excellence, 
leadership and the 
best service for our 
customers”

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?
Our management efforts are 
focused on recruiting, developing 
and engaging the best talent in the 
region, as part of our service-oriented 
culture, through humanly effective 
leadership. We want people who 
are talented and passionate about 
doing everything for our customers’ 
love. That is why we have placed our 
applicants and leaders in the center 
of our recruitment strategy, to hear 
their voice as customers and identify 

We have developed the following strategies to provide the best recruitment experience: 

• We develop the skills of our Talent Re-
cruitment (TR) team with the support of 
an external consultant.

• We hold focus group meetings and make 
bimonthly service calls to our shortlist of 
candidates to get to know their experience 
and recruit the best talent.

• We have implemented the SAP Success 
Factors platform to achieve greater 
efficiency, which has enabled us to keep 
our candidates informed of their status 
in the process in real time. We also have 
JobsAvianca.com, our recruitment site, on 
which we post not only our vacancies, but 
also our value proposition as an employer 
brand. 

• We are pioneers in the implementation 
of the Avianca-Unilever Talent Swap, 
which consists of exchanging our best 
talent in the key areas for both businesses 
(Revenue and Marketing).  

the service attributes they expect to 
receive at each point of the selection 
process. 

We have a General Talent 
Recruitment Policy that governs 
our recruitment processes and lists 
the scope, the area responsible and 
the admission policies, where we 
describe the process to register the 
vacancy, internal promotions, calls 
for applications and exceptions in the 
talent recruitment process. 
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GRI 401-1 Our hires 

0

226

75

16

9

4

1

108

40

6

0

0

0

0

4

3

0

0

0

0

7

5

3

0

EURCAR
0

0

0

0

0

0

New hires in 2018 broken down by region, age and gender 

330      155 0        3 7      15

0

8

8

4

2

0

0

4

7

4

1

0

NAM
22      16

1

539

353

69

18

3

0

341

155

25

4

0

983      525

0

128

73

19

3

1

0

106

62

14

0

0

SAM
224      182

0

1

1

0

1

0

GRI 401-1 Hire rate broken down by region, age and gender

0%

21,4%

6,9%

2,7%

2,9%

4,6%

20,0%

18,6%

5,8%

2,8%

0%

0%

0%

47,1%

14,8%

6,3%

3,9%

0%

0%

66,7%

12,5%

7,5%

3,1%

0%

25,0%

24,4%

14,6%

6,2%

2,9%

2,2%

0%

16,6%

9,4%

4,2%

1,8%

0,0%

0%

0%

44,4%

18,8%

0%

0%

0%

0%

36,8%

26,3%

37,5%

0%

CO EUR

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

14,3%

12,5%

0%

25,0%

0%

CAR

0%

26,6%

10,8%

6,0%

2,5%

2,1%

0%

29,4%

11,4%

7,1%

0%

0%

SAM

COL



106 107Annual Report 2018 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

GRI 401-1 Turnover rate broken down by age and gender 
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• In an agreement with the Pacific Alliance and 
the Monterrey Institute of Technology, we 
successfully completed the selection process 
of 4 interns for administrative areas who will 
carry out their internship in the first half of 
2019.  

• We completed our Copilot Trainee Program, 
with a rotation of 13 trainees in the core areas 
of our business, before beginning their first 
officer training course.

• We participated in 68 Job and University 
fairs to continue positioning Avianca as an 
employer brand:

 o Colombia:  27

 o North America:  16

 o Ecuador:  17

 o Peru:  8 

• We launched the Employer Brand campaign 
“The Destination You Are Passionate About”. 
We posted stories of employees showing 
their personal and career growth within the 
Company.

Awards 

• We ranked first place in El Salvador and fifth place in Colombia on the “Young People’s Dream Career 2018” 
survey. 

• We were recognized by LinkedIn as the employer brand success case in Colombia.

GRI 401-1 Retirements 
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Highlights
2018
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Challenges 
for 2019

1 Optimize recruitment through digitalization.

2 Carry on with our administrative trainee 
program, development plan, assistance for new 
copilots and the labor inclusion program with 
the support of Best Buddies Colombia.

3 Maintain our ranking on the “Young People’s 
Dream Career” survey in 2019.  

4 Develop and train leaders in the talent 
recruitment process under the “Leaders who 
do everything for your love” program.

5 Continue working in a structured manner on an 
employer brand strategy that will enable us to 
continue positioning ourselves as an attractive 
company to work for in the countries where we 
operate.

Target Status  Result

Comply with the time indicator for 90% 
of the vacancies in 2018.

We ended 2018 with a 93.1% fulfillment rate, up 17 points 
compared to 2017.

Achieve fifth place as the Employer 
Brand on the Young People’s Dream 
Career survey in 2018 in Colombia and 
hold onto first place in El Salvador.

By the end of 2018, we ranked first place in El Salvador 
and fifth place in Colombia.

Achieve greater recruitment 
effectiveness through channels such 
as: Facebook, LinkedIn, Job Fairs and 
Internal Apps.

We were recognized as a success case by LinkedIn for 
achieving the following metrics in Colombia: 42% of 
the hires were influenced by LinkedIn, 95 thousand 
applications received in the last 12 months, 77% increase 
in followers of our page.

This is how we are making 
progress as for our 
challenges from 2018
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We develop and train 
our talent

90.88% of our 
employees (17,230) 
underwent performance 
assessment in 2018.

Percentage of employees by gender and job category who underwent a performance assessment in 2018

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 120%

90%

98%

86%

81%

94%

94%

93%

93%

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?

GRI 404-2 We aim to 
develop and train our 
people to achieve better 
performance and greater 
commitment, productivity 
and comprehensive 
growth.  

Development of our talent

In order to identify our best talent, 
we have created a methodology 
to identify talent at the executive 
level that aims, through work 
sessions, to discuss the potential 
and performance of all the teams 
where future leaders are identified 
in the Company. Development plans 
are designed for these potential 
leaders, focused on covering future 
leadership positions in which they 
can even be appointed as the 
possible successors for critical 
positions.

GRI 404-3 Total percentage 
of employees by gender and 

job category who have received 
a periodic performance and 
professional development 
assessment.

With the aim of increasing the scope 
of the performance assessments 
for all our employees in the Holding 
Company, the percentage of 
assessments for operating personnel 
was increased in 2018. This resulted 
in the payment of a variable bonus 
linked to performance as a benefit 
for employees. Also, the inclusion 
of Success Factors (SAP) in the 
process of defining objectives for 
administrative areas enabled the 
management of teams, since it is a 
user-friendly tool manageable by 
leaders. 

Operative

Administrative

Middle Charges (managers)

High direction (VPs and Directors)
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A committed and world-class team
GRI 404-2 In line with our objective of providing our customers with superior service, we have developed leadership 
and service programs to strengthen our people’s professional abilities. 

Our leadership program
We motivate our leaders to live a culture of self-management based on the four competences of our Avianca employee 
(purpose of serving, leadership, result orientation and adaptability) through the implementation of our Humanly 
Effective Leadership Model. The objective of this initiative is to transform the culture of Avianca to leverage the 
achievement of the strategy.

Leadership model

A
daptabilidad

Lid

erazgo

I.  I accept the 
differences in order 
to build.

II.  I take care of my 
team.

  I set an example.

 I am adaptable 
and learn from my 
mistakes. 

  I act consistently.

 My door is always 
open. 

I.  I align the team.  

II.  I reach agreements: 

 I listen to understand. 

 I talk about changes 
and propose 
solutions. 

 I deliver on what we 
agree. 

I.  I know my people and 
their potential. 

II.  I transform: 

 The individual talent in 
terms of skills on the 
team.

 The individual 
motivation in the 
commitment to 
Corporate results.

 Based on the diagnosis 
and challenges, I 
design strategies and 
plans for action. 

I.  I consider the 
customer to be 
the beginning and 
end of my Service 
strategy.

II.  Move forward 
on the path of 
transformation:

 I develop and 
professionalize my 
people’s talent. 

 I secure the 
resources.   

 I empower and 
provide positive 
feedback. 

I inspire  
by setting an example

I communicate  
and speak clearly and in 
a timely manner

I get  
involved with the teams 
and processes

I encourage  
the development and 
achievement of my team

Purpose of Serving
Le

adership

A
daptabilityResult-

or
ie

nt
at

io
n 

The Leadership Program offered 
to all of Avianca’s leaders is divided 

into:

• Alignment group: CEO 
and Vice Presidents

• Development group: 
Directors and Managers

  •  Motivation Group: 
Middle Management

70 – 20 - 10 Academic Strategy
Learning through 

experience and 
practice on the job.70

Learning 
through 

interaction 
with others.

20
Learning 
through 

courses and 
training.

10
As a complement to our leadership and service programs, we offer technical courses, developed based on 
the Avianca Academy initiative, which reward excellent performance in the roles of our talent. We have also 
invested in the development of our talent by supporting their career plans involving participation in executive 
courses, coaching and English courses, among others. 

Our Service Program

Leaders who achieve results and adapt easily to changes. These are the characteristics that make 
up Avianca’s talent. Passion is More is the strategic program that provides tools so that each of our 
employees strengthens their professional and service skills.

To leverage the achievement of our corporate strategy, this 4 day training works on service attributes 
based on being, understanding, doing and creating, in order to provide our customers with an 
exceptional experience. This training has two phases: (1) personnel who interact with customers; (2) 
the rest of our employees. 

Kindness
We live the experience of 
serving with friendliness.

  Empathy
We connect with others in an 

authentic manner.

We smile and look 
people in the eye.

We treat people with authenticity 
and familiarity.

We use the right tone of voice.

We listen carefully and reach 
agreements.

We discover and connect to 
others.

What we say is consistent with 
our body language.

Proactivity
We find the opportunity to make a 

difference in each moment.

  Practicality
We are determined, agile and 

resourceful.

We create special moments by 
being natural.

We innovate and propose 
improvements.

We create emotional recall.

We manage time with precision.

We make decisions judiciously.

We make the most of our 
resources.

Passion is

Behavioral profile
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Our service program
Own Indicator:  
Hours of training in the service program  45;46 

More to Give is our recognition program in which we 
highlight those who live the corporate values and 
organizational skills, regardless of their job or position 
at the Company. Recognition is delivered through 
messages and badges to any co-worker who you want to 
highlight for his/her work. This year, we implemented our 
Success Factors platform, which allowed us to receive 

an average of more than 6,000 messages of recognition 
per month, compared to those received on the previous 
platform. 

At Avianca, we have World-class talent that gives their 
best each day. That is why we believe that it is always a 
good time to recognize.

More to Give - Recognition in SAP Success Factors

Anyone registered in the app can recognize a co-worker through their profile, as follows:

• We implement the methodology of 
identifying Talent at the executive level, 
which allowed the selection of 148 
people.

• We defined the talent development 
process in line with the training of the 
Company’s future leaders. Our Vice 
Presidents and Directors assigned the 
development programs in accordance 
with each career plan. They assigned 195 
programs, 114 of which were carried out 
in 2018.    

• Carry on with comprehensive instructor 
training.

• Continue strengthening leadership skills in 
line with the corporate strategy. 

• Strengthen the recognition strategy as a tool 
for leaders to leverage commitment.

• Develop new leaders in the transition process 
to team management. 

• Develop and implement the program of 
corporate training in service for phase 3 
personnel.

• Extend the talent identification program to 
middle management.

1 
44.  It applies to all of Avianca’s administrative and operating personnel in jobs at the coordinator level and higher. Information is consolidated at the Holding Company    

level.
45.  Data for Colombia. 
46. The program was carried out for the entire cabin crew.

1. Administrative staff:  8,208
2. Director:  288
3. Manager:  1,872
4. Head:  224
5. Supervisor:  7,872

NUMBER OF 
HOURS OF 
TRAINING 

18,464

NUMBER OF 
PEOPLE TRAINED: 

527

PLATFORM: 
E-LEARNING

Own Indicator: 
Hours of training in the leadership program

The leadership course is defined by a theoretical and a practical approach that aims for reflection-action-transformation 
in order to enable the development of Human Leadership, for Avianca today and in the future. The theoretical part is 
structured based on four pillars (Self-management, Conversational Management, Team Management and Management 
of Achievement), while the practical approach aims to apply and assess the concepts explained throughout the course.44

Our leadership program

This course is comprised on one 
theoretical and one practical 
element. The theoretical component 
includes training in knowledge 
and behaviors, framed in the 
Avianca Corporate Service Culture: 
Kindness, Empathy, Practicality and 

26,073 
Hours of 
training

998
People 
trained

Proactivity. The practical component 
aims to apply the knowledge on 
tests carried out at the facilities of 
Avianca Academy or an institution 
that complies with the required 
standards:

Own Indicator: 

Satisfaction level regarding service variables (NPS)

The Net Promoter Score (NPS) evaluates the effectiveness of 
our service program through variables such as service efficiency, 
the kindness of our people on the ground and in the air, and 
clarity and consistence in the information provided to our 
passengers.

The goal for 2018 was to achieve 66 points on the NPS 
measurement, by increasing the level of customer satisfaction 
through the service provided by the team interacting with 
customers at the system level (Cabin and Check-in Crew in 
Colombia) through the implementation of Service School with 
our entire target population. The result for 2018 was 66, so we 
achieved the proposed goal.

The attributes measured were:

• Clarifying Doubts

• VIP Kindness

• Information at the Lounge

• Crew Friendliness & Efficiency

• Kindness at Check-in

2018 satisfaction 
level regarding 

service variables: 66

1 2 3 By knowing the 
name of the person 
and entering it in 
the search window, 
the person can be 
recognized, and 
a badge can be 
assigned.

 Recognition 
is immediate, 
which means the 
person receives a 
notification e-mail 
on the same day.

 The direct leader of the 
person recognized receives 
an e-mail automatically 
notifying the praise 
received by the person 
under his/her responsibility.

Highlights
2018

Challenges for  

2019
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Adaptability
Our Methodology for Organizational Transformation
At Avianca, we manage change in projects or initiatives to develop our people’s adaptability skills and help to create 
a culture of transformation that will contribute to the achievement of organizational objectives. 

Transformation requires making sense of the change.  

Transformation Methodology 
Based on the 3-stage transformation methodology, we promote the skill of adaptability and prepare leaders as 
owners and managers of the transformation.

Interventions in 2018 
• We supported the implementation of 

management by processes: in the delivery of two 
management cards, Project Management and 
Life Cycle for the Delivery of Solutions. 

 People impacted: 248
• We implemented the transformation strategy 

for CRM in Contact Management, Deprisa and 
Commercial Management of Executives. 

 People impacted: 3,500 

• We defined the transformation strategy for the 
Evolution project (change in the ERP plan at 
Avianca), which will be carried out in 2019. 

 People impacted: 1,750
• We supported the implementation of Success 

Factors.  

 Impacted: the entire Company

• We supported the Avianca Complies project 
aimed at improving operating indicators: we 
provided instruction regarding corporate 
indicators and carried out workshops with 
operating leaders. 

 People impacted: 5,500  

This is how we are 
making progress as for 
our challenges from 
2018

• We completed the training of internal instructors 
to provide corporate training. 

• We designed the virtual training process for 
our leaders in the modules of align, empower, 
develop and recognize, with emphasis on 
Humanly Effective Leadership. 

• We designed the virtual training process for the 
Service program. 

• During the second half of the year, we remained 
focused on the operating staff at the middle 
management level, strengthening their 
leadership skills in compliance with indicators 
and management by processes:

268 
Colombia

584
International

Ambassador Plan 
We carried out the Ambassador 

Plan as the cross-cutting pillar of 
the Holding Company, to promote 

employees’ commitment and leverage 
the cultural transformation process. 

Each Vice President/Director was 
assigned with a station, to assist and 

inquire about strategic topics, manage 
the main findings and reinforce 

the key strategic messages and the 
Avianca culture throughout the 

Company. 

Results of 
our commitment measurement

Thanks to the management carried out in the 5 dimensions of focus: 
leadership, teamwork, recognition, opportunities for career and 
senior management, our commitment index was increased 2 points 
with respect to the previous measurement. 

With this result, we reached 12 points above the 
industry average.

83%

Avianca 2017
Avianca 2018

Data from the Holding

• Define the interventions 
required for each of the 
impacts.

• Identify the target audience 
of the intervention.

• Identify the persons 
responsible.

• Define dates for each 
intervention.

Diagnosis of 
the change

Identificación y  
análisis de impactos

Building 
interventions

• What is the change and its 
purpose.

• Phases, milestones and 
deliverables.

• What changes and what 
stay the same.

• Stakeholders affected and 
involved.

• Identify impacts and the 
dimensions in which the 
impacts are classified: 
people, Company, 
technology and processes. 
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Avianca Academy

Avianca Academy47  is made up of instruction centers 
that provide regulated and unregulated training. 
We aim to manage all the training required by the 
authority in order for our employees to be trained in 
job and service activities, receive updates, ensure the 
quality of their work and carry out aviation operations 
safely. The coverage of these programs is divided into:

• Flights: pilots, cabin crew and dispatchers.

• Airports.
• Ground: ramp, cargo, hazardous goods.

• Maintenance: technicians, engineers, workshops.

• Corporate: for all Company employees.

To measure the impact of the courses, we carried out a performance assessment 
that measures the level of corporate competencies. Based on the analysis of 

these results, a development plan is made in which each employee talks to his/her 
immediate supervisor and they come up with learning strategies.

1 

47. To be able to carry out more thorough and transparent management, we have a comprehensive Manual of the Avianca Academy and training 
manuals by specialty (MEV - MET) and training workbooks.

1 

48. AMOS and MINT are technology platforms to manage the information on flight and maintenance training.
49. Data consolidated by pilots of the different fleets: Colombia: ATR-A320-A330-B787, Peru: A320-A330-EMB, Costa Rica: A320-EMB, El Salvador: 

A320-EMB-A330, Regional airlines (Honduras and Guatemala): ATR
50. The data is consolidated by country and base to which each person belongs, unified at the Air Operations Center (AOC) Data at the Holding 
Company level. 
51. Number of hours of the people who dropped out 1,290
52. 32 people dropped out.

Own Indicator:  
Training programs related to Avianca Academy50

Own Indicator:  
Hours of regulated training49

Air Operations Center (AOC) Number of hours Number of people trained

Colombia 67,027 1,317
Peru 4,445 217
Costa Rica 4,800 113
El Salvador 18,175 266
Guatemala and Honduras 2,309 42
Total 98,04651 1,98752

Number of training 
hours in Avianca 
Academy programs

The activities we carry out through the Academy include:

1

4 5 6

2 3DESIGNING 
on-site and 
virtual training 
programs.

SCHEDULING 
and providing 
the training.

KEEPING a record 
of the expirations of 
recurrent training in 
force.

CARRYING out the certification process and 
submitting the training-related documents 
to the Company’s Document Administration 
Center (DAC) (forms, attendance lists, 
certifications, diplomas).

SUBMITTING the training 
programs to the aviation 
authority of each country 
for their approval.

MAINTAINING the operating 
certificates with the approval 
of regulated training or design 
of unregulated programs. 

1 32 4WE DESIGNED  
and developed 
content and 
learning tools 
for all Avianca 
employees.

OUR 
instruction 
centers are 
certified.

WE SCHEDULED  
and monitored 
all the training 
actions using the 
tools AMOS and 
MINT48.

WE LEAD the audit 
processes that 
involve elements 
associated with 
the training of our 
teams.

64,771

11,646

261,118

We provided training for airport 
personnel, achieving 17,331 
hours with an attendance of  

13,320

Maintenance Passenger cabin crew Office

People: 1,991 

People: 12,773 

People: 389
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• Implement gamification in training.

• Implement an information system for scheduling 
airport and ground training.

• Incorporate virtual reality technology in the training 
for Cabin Crew and Ground Handling. 

• Innovate in the processes of recording attendance 
of onsite training.

• Certify onsite instructors as virtual instructors and 
align training with job functions.

• Change the infrastructure for training in Lima, Peru 
and San José, Costa Rica.

• We achieved a 100% usage of the 
AMOS platform for the scheduling 
of maintenance training and MINT 
for flight training.

• We achieved a 50% incorporation 
of virtual reality for the training of 
Cabin Crew and Ground Handling.

Challenges for 
2019

This is how we are 
making progress as 
for our challenges 
from 2018
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We do everything for 
the love of our talent

In 2018, the benefit perception survey was administered, in which  

42.3% of Avianca’s population participated. This report aims 
to learn about our employees’ satisfaction, identify the level of 

importance of benefits and detect opportunities to redesign them.

GRI 102-36 The wellbeing of our 
employees is a top priority on our 
agenda, since it is due to their effort 
and service that we have managed 
to fly so high. That is why we always 
aim to be competitive on the market 
in terms of remuneration.

We have an employee Remuneration 
Policy for Avianca Holdings, which 
defines the guidelines to manage 
the Total Remuneration, in the 
framework of the Company strategy, 
culture and values. Through this 
policy, we aim to motivate and 
engage employees, ensuring 
equality and competitiveness. 

To define the salary of a position, it 
is a requirement to document the 
job description. The positions are 
assessed in order to remunerate 
them in accordance with their 
responsibilities based on results, 
problem solving and skills, to 
maintain a balance between market 
value and Company value. We also 
check and seek advice regarding the 
payment trends and methodologies 
of top companies. 

In order to ensure competitiveness, 
the Company regularly acquires 

market salary scales applicable 
to each country or region, and 
internal remuneration studies are 
updated to detect any needs for 
salary adjustments and identify the 
Company’s salary position regarding 
the market.

GRI 102-37 We have identified 
impacts at the macro level that 
can affect the performance of our 
management efforts, as well as 
the level of commitment of our 
talent. Therefore, we conducted 
commitment, withdrawal and 
external surveys of Human Talent 
that allowed us to get to know 
people’s tendencies and preferences 
when it comes to looking for a job 
or staying with the same job. This 
survey, along with the assessment 
of our progress on projects and 
initiatives, are the inputs used to 
evaluate our management efforts, 
adopt best policies and make better 
decisions. We also have several 
audits that include the salary 
increase, the provision of a variable 
salary and executive KPIs.

“We want our 
talent to enjoy 
what they do; that 
is why we aim to 
be competitive 
in terms of 
remuneration”

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?
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GRI 401-2: 

The benefits enjoyed by our talent53,54 

1 

53. The benefits cover our operations in Colombia, El Salvador, Peru, Ecuador and Costa Rica.
54. There is no coverage for retirement pensions or shareholding. 
55. This measure is applicable for Colombia and Peru.

1 

56. The term “Location with significant operation” is understood as the 5 countries where the largest percentage of Avianca Holdings (93%) is 
concentrated.

57. The salary ratio refers to the salary received by a woman per Colombian peso earned by a man.
58. There are no significant variations in the indicator with regard to the results of 2017.
59. The salary ratio differences in the positions may be related to seniority in the positions and the remuneration variables associated therewith.

GRI 405-2 Remuneration56 

The Remuneration Policy, as well as all other Human Talent policies, promote the equality, equity and 
competitiveness of our people. Salaries are set for the different positions according to the result of the job 
assessment process, without distinction, regarding age or gender:

Pilot/Copilot
Cabin crew
Technician
Service

Colombia

Ecuador

Peru

El Salvador Costa Rica

0.83 0.851.02 0.83

Senior Management (VPs and Directors)
Middle Management (Managers)

Administrative staff
Operating

Salary ratio between men 
and women57, 58, 59

0.99 0.92 0.81

0.93 0.830.95 0.59 1.03 0.75 1.12

0.961.02 0.85 1.05 1.29 0.62

0.711.03 0.85 1.06 1.01 1.34

0.55 0.701.14 0.68 0.95 0.62 0.88

The female population is concentrated in groups such as Cabin Crew, Services and 
Administrative Positions, while population groups such as Technicians and Pilots are mostly 
male. In 2018, the female population of the bases with the most significant operation remained 
practically the same, with a 0.5% decrease.

With the new division of Operating into categories such as Pilot/Copilot, Cabin Crew and 
Services, and Technicians, a tendency of the indicator closer to 1 was observed, which reaffirms 
our commitment to salary equality between genders.

Healthcare
By means of voluntary 
policies and Company 

coverage, a percentage 
of payment or stipend 

is granted for the 
premiums of employees 
who want access to this 

benefit. 

Tickets 
According to our 

policy, the personnel 
hired directly with 

the Company is 
entitled to courtesy 

tickets at the Holding 
Company level.  

Voluntary loss of license 
insurance policies55

By means of voluntary policies and 
coverage, the Company grants a 

percentage of payment or stipend 
for the premiums of employees who 

want access to this benefit.

Parental leave
As stipulated by law, the 

Company grants authorizations 
as paid leave or days off.  

Disability 
coverage55

Coverage for the 
employee in the 

event of disability 
through the life 

insurance policy paid 
by the Company.

Medical assistance 
By means of voluntary 

plans, negotiations were 
carried out with different 

insurance companies 
to find special prices 
and coverages with 

payments shared between 
the Company and the 

employee.

 Life insurance
To cover our employees in difficult situations, 

the Company grants a life insurance policy.  

Education 
By granting a stipend for education-
related payment or recognition upon 

receiving degrees. 

BENEFITS
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• Redesign the current benefits to launch our 
“Flexible Benefits Portfolio.” 

• Optimize the Variable Programs, by aligning 
them with our Flight 2020, the performance 
methodology and the coverage. 

• As part of the Emotional Salary, set the benefits 
for operating positions. 

We were recognized by the Ministry of 
Labor and the Ministry of Information 
and Communication Technologies for 
implementing the Home Office program 
titled “flying from home” by a large 
number of people who are enjoying this 
benefit.

• Launch the flexible benefits portfolio.

• Carry on with the digitalization of the processes of 
the area by implementing technology tools that 
enable the management of leader remuneration 
and thus, employees will be able to inquire their 
remuneration package in an interactive manner.

We implemented different initiatives to 
innovate our management efforts and 
create better benefits. We will continue 
working on these initiatives through 2019: 

• We empowered our leaders for 
the administration of their teams’ 
remuneration.

• We began to execute the Total 
Remuneration module, as well as 
the module for the self-service of 
employee benefits.

• We designed and implemented 
the long-term incentive to engage 
executives and employees with 
high potential.

• Variable extension linked to 
corporate indicators.

This is how we are making 
progress as for our 
challenges from 2018Awards

Challenges for  

2019
Highlights
2018
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“Avianca ensures decent 
work and promotes social 
dialog”

GRI 407-1 At Avianca, we promote 
the comprehensive development 
of our employees, by ensuring their 
wellbeing, implementing policies 
and practices that improve their 
quality of life and generating a 
decent environment of respect and 
equality. Our fundamental premise 
in the promotion of social dialog with 
our employees has made clear our 
respect for:
• The 8 fundamental agreements 

and the postulates of green 
jobs of the International Labor 
Organization (ILO).

• United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goal No. 8.

• The labor law applicable in 
Colombia and in the laws of the 
countries where we operate. 

• The commitments we have 
voluntarily acquired through the 
United Nations Global Compact.

• The best labor practice 
indicators included in the Dow 
Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI). 

• The fundamental rights 
contained in the Colombian 
Constitution and in the laws of 
the countries where we operate. 

Our policies and procedures, internal 
work regulations, processes and 
practices are focused on promoting 
safe and healthy work environments 
for our employees, aiming to achieve 
the balance between our personal life 
and work life, and promote a culture 
of teamwork.

At Avianca, we are one and we enjoy 
what we do.

Decent work and 
social dialog

Goal By 2030, achieve full and productive employment and 
decent work for all women and men, including for young 
people and persons with disabilities, and equal pay for work 
of equal value.
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The results of the processes we have been carrying out with each of the workers associations that group together 
our personnel, in compliance with the corresponding local legislation, are listed below:

At Avianca Holdings, we have set committees and/or spaces for dialog with the following workers organizations: 

COP Creation of committees for continuous dialog with union organizations and 
workers associations 

Colombia
• Sindicato Nacional de Trabajadores de Avianca 

(SINTRAVA). 
• Sindicato Nacional de Trabajadores de la Industria 

del Transporte Aéreo (SINDITRA).  
• Asociación de Pilotos de Avianca (ADPA). 
• Asociación Colombiana de Auxiliares de Vuelo 

(ACAV) and other workers from the Colombian flight 
industry. 

• Organización de Aviadores de Avianca (ODEAA).  
• Asociación Colombiana de Mecánicos de Aviación 

(ACMA).  
• Asociación Colombiana de Aviadores Civiles 

(ACDAC). 
• Asociación de Trabajadores de TAMPA 

(ASOTRATAMPA). 

Through these committees, we identify opportunities for improvement and, together with the trade unions or 
associations, we reach possible solutions and in subsequent meetings, we follow up on progress. We always aim to 
simplify and strengthen the mechanisms for social dialog with the employees who are members of the trade unions 
or associations.

Peru
• Sindicato de Despachadores de Vuelo de Trans 

American Airlines –SIDEVUTAA.
• Sindicato de Pilotos de Trans American Airlines S.A. 

SIPTRA.
• Sindicato de Tripulantes de Cabina, Agentes de 

Servicio al Cliente e Instructores – SINTRAITRA.

México
• Sindicato Nacional de Trabajadores de Transporte, 

Transformación, Aviación, Servicios y Similares 
SNTTTASS.

Argentina
• Asociación de Personal Aeronáutico APA. 

Highlights
2018 To date, the Company has the following workers organizations in force: 

Colombia
AVIANCA S.A.

Continuity of collective bargaining according to the timetable 
defined by Avianca Holdings companies

Workers
Organization

Term of the Collective 
Agreement 

in Force 
Asociación Colombiana 
de Auxiliares de Vuelo y

demás trabajadores de 
industria del sector aéreo 
colombiano (ACAV).

Collective bargaining to 
begin on March 1, 2019.

Asociación Colombiana 
de Aviadores Civiles 
(ACDAC).  

Avianca: Arbitral Decision 
under review by the 
Supreme Court of Justice.

Decision in force up to: 
December 9, 2019

Asociación Colombiana 
de Mecánicos de Aviación 
(ACMA).

December 30, 2017 with 
automatic extension up 
to December 30, 2018.

Organización de 
Aviadores de Avianca 
(ODEAA).

April 1, 2017 to March 31, 
2020 

Sindicato Nacional 
de Trabajadores de la 
Industria del Transporte 
Aéreo (SINDITRA). 

July 1, 2015 to July 1, 
2020

Sindicato de los 
Trabajadores del 
Transporte Aéreo 
Colombiano, servicios, 
logística y conexos 
(SINTRATAC).

There is no collective 
agreement in force.

Sindicato Nacional de 
Trabajadores de Avianca
(SINTRAVA).

July 1, 2015 to July 1, 
2020

Asociación de Pilotos de 
Avianca (ADPA).

There is no collective 
agreement in force.

Sindicato Nacional 
de Trabajadores del 
Sector Aéreo y Servicios 
Complementarios 
(SINTRAEREOS).

Under negotiation - 
There is no collective 
agreement in force.

Asociación Nacional de 
Trabajadores del Sector 
Aéreo y de Servicios 
Aeroportuarios (ANTSA).

There is no collective 
agreement in force.

Tampa Cargo S.A.S.

Trade Union Term of the Agreement 
in Force

Asociación de 
Trabajadores de 
Tampa(Asotratampa).

Agreement expires on 
August 2, 2021

Asociación Colombiana 
de Aviadores Civiles 
(ACDAC).

Agreement expires on  
December 31, 2019

Sindicato de los 
Trabajadores del 
Transporte Aéreo 
Colombiano, servicios, 
logística y conexos 
(SINTRATAC).

There is no collective 
agreement

As part of the bargaining agenda of Tampa Cargo 
S.A.S., in August 2018, we carried out the bargaining 
process with ASOTRATAMPA, in which we successfully 
concluded and reached on a collective bargaining 
agreement in force up to 2021, which applies to the 
employees of Tampa Cargo S.A.S. 
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Peru 
In Peru, Trans American Airlines S.A. has the following 
trade unions: 

Trade Union Term of the Agreement 
in Force

Sindicato de 
Despachadores de Vuelo 
de Trans American 
Airlines.

January 1, 2018 to 
December 31, 2019.

Sindicato de Pilotos de 
Trans American Airlines 
S.A.

August 1, 2017 to 
December 31, 2019.

Sindicato de Tripulantes 
de Cabina, Agentes de 
Servicio al Cliente e 
Instructores.

Agreement signed in May 
2016 was in force up to 
September 30, 2017. It 
has been extended since 
September 2017. 

In line with its bargaining agenda, Trans American 
Airlines S.A. ended the year 2018 by signing the 
collective agreement with the Syndicate of Flight 
Dispatchers, which will be in force up to December 2019. 
As part of the agreements reached with the Syndicate 
of Flight Dispatchers, we expect to hold bimonthly 
meetings to review compliance with the collective 
agreement. 

We are currently bargaining for the new terms of the 
collective agreements with Syndicate of Cabin Crewmen, 
Customer Service Agents and Instructors to begin the 
new term in 2019. We have also held meetings with this 
trade union to review compliance with the collective 
agreement.

In the same vein, as part of the bargaining with the 
Pilot’s Union, we are coordinating monthly roundtables, 
and aim to replicate them with all our employees at the 
airports. 

Chile 
To date, Grupo Taca de Chile S.A. does not have 
unionized employees.  

We are in permanent contact with non-unionized 
workers organizations and we are open to dialog.  

Trade Union Term of the Agreement 
in Force

SNTTTASS. February 1, 2017 - 
February 1, 2018

Asociación Sindical 1° de 
Mayo.

June 1, 2017 - June 1, 
2018

México 
In Mexico, Taca de México S.A., has the following trade 
unions with their collective agreements: 

As part of the bargaining agenda with Taca de México 
S.A. , we carried out a process in 2018 to update the 
economic benefits of the collective agreement in force 
with SNTTTASS.

We are in permanent contact with trade union 
SNTTTASS and we are open to their concerns regarding 
compliance with the collective agreements in force. 

Argentina 
In Argentina, Trans American Airlines S.A. maintains 
relations with UPADEP and APA, as follows: 

Trade Union Term of the Collective 
Agreement in Force 

UPADEP (Unión Personal 
de Aeronavegación de 
Entes Privados).

In force since July 11, 
1975.

APA (Asociación de 
Personal Aeronáutico).

There is no contract in 
force since, according 
to local legislation; the 
industry is governed by 
the collective agreement 
in force with UPADEP. 

We have maintained ongoing dialogs with the trade 
union that acts as a registered agent before the Labor 
Inspection Authority, Unión Personal de Aeronavegación 
de Entes Privados (UPADEP). Although none of our 
employees are members of said trade union, we 
recognize the official title granted to UPADEP. 

In addition, the company has employees who are 
members of the trade union Asociación de Personal 
Aeronáutico (APA). 

GRI 102-41 Percentage of employees 
covered by collective bargaining agreements

29%
PERU

100%
MÉXICO

46%
ARGENTINA

26.80%
COLOMBIA

120%

100%

80%

60%

40%

20%

0%

All of the collective agreements signed with our 
Company’s trade unions disclose the terms and 
provisions for consultation and negotiation.

Challenges 
for 2019

• Manage collective bargaining between the 
ACDAC Trade Union and TAMPA CARGO S.A.S. 

• Manage collective bargaining with the 
SNTTTASS Trade Union in Mexico. 

• Manage collective bargaining with the Sindicato 
de Despachadores de Vuelo de Trans American 
Airlines (SIDEVUTAA) in Perú.

• Manage collective bargaining with the Sindicato 
de Pilotos de Trans American Airlines (SIPTRA) 
in Perú.

• Manage collective bargaining with the Sindicato 
de Tripulantes de Cabina, Agentes de Servicio al 
Cliente e Instructores in Peru.

• Continue holding meetings for dialogs with trade 
unions to continue making joint progress in labor 
relations. 

• Support the Company’s operating areas in 
Colombia bearing in mind the signing of the 
peace agreement and the management of the 
post-conflict situation.
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A Culture Regarding Risk 
Management and Compliance 
with Occupational Health and 

Safety Standards

Goal 3. Mitigate operating events and 
accidents related to the consumption 
of alcohol and recreational drugs 
through the adoption of a prevention 
policy.

Goal 8. Carry out processes of work 
reincorporation and adaptation with 
the aim to maintain the productivity 
of our talent.

Manage risks in the environment 
and in the production processes, 
preventing the progression of 
employee health incidents.

“We contribute to the 
productivity of the 
company by managing our 
risks”

We have passionate, world-class 
talent that always goes the extra mile 
to provide an exceptional service to 
our customers. It is our priority to 
identify, assess and manage labor 
hazards in our processes with the 
aim to promote healthy and safe 
environments that help to strengthen 
a culture of prevention, self-care, care 
of others and of the environment, 
generating a positive impact on 
Avianca Holdings’ productivity 
to prevent work accidents and 
occupational diseases.

Therefore, the delivery of our 
operations is based on compliance 
with the Comprehensive Safety Policy, 
which establishes:

1. The guidelines to ensure the 
identification and analysis of 
hazards and risk assessment and 
mitigation.

2. Effective comprehensive safety 
management systems that enable 
the participation of all employees. 

3. Ongoing training, update and 
development of the employees’ 
knowledge and skills in their 
activity and roles with the aim 
to achieve the safe execution of 
their work. No employee must 
carry out roles for which he/she 
does not have the required skills 
and training. 

4. The creation and promotion of 
a safety culture that includes 
the adoption of safe practices 
and enables effective two-
way communication between 
employees and managers.

5. The hiring, supervision and control 
of service providers with the aim 
to ensure that they comply with 
the standards and requirements 
of the Company’s management 
systems.

We ensure and verify compliance 
with our policy under an occupational 
health and safety framework through: 

• Committees that enable 
us to assess and monitor our 
management.

• Audits by external bodies (SGS, 
Concesionario Aeroportuario, 
AON, Pacífico Seguros and 
Quirón) that verify and 
assess compliance with the 
Occupational Health and Safety 
Management System and 
fulfillment of the applicable 
and current technical, legal and 
contract requirements. 

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?
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Risk analysis
We have a documented procedure where hazards are 
identified, and risks are assessed through of a qualitative-
quantitative methodology with the next steps:

1. Identification: Identify risks that affect the process 
and / or project.

2. Analysis: Prioritize the risks based on the 
assessment of the probability and impact scales.

3. Treatment: Develop actions to mitigate, eliminate, 
accept or transfer risks.

4. Monitoring: Implement and monitor actions, 
behavior of risks and new risks.

5. Aggregation: Group or correlate similar risks or 
common causes.

The evaluation of the risks and the implementation of 
the monitoring of the actions for their control, have 
allowed us to advance in the effective management of 
these, in compliance with the legal requirements in force 
and the impact on the decrease of the accident rate.

72
consultancies

Human security
Signage, corridors, 
doors for emergencies

40 Integrated security projects
Integrated projects outside of 
Colombia in security
human and systems fire 
protection

6 System of 
suppression
In fire suppression 
systems

26 Resources for 
emergencies

In requirements 
for extinguishers, 
stretchers, immobilizers

8 Detection and Alarm
In detection and alarm 
systems fire protection

8 Protection against 
falls   
In fall protection 
systems for work at 
heights

We Align Our Objectives with the SDGs
We orient our Occupational Health and Safety Management System (OHSMS), its objectives, strategies and 
targets under the following parameters:

1. Compliance with ISO 45001 requirements as a benchmark standard and universal language.

2. Alignment of the OH-SMS with the Company’s risk management model (three lines of defense).

3. Adoption of the Sustainable Development Goals.

consultancies

consultancies

consultancies

consultancies

consultancies
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Committees General Aspects

Comprehensive Safety 
Committee 

Meetings with the Company CEO and team of vice presidents to present the 
significant findings that require budget and/or administrative approval for their 
management.

Local Security and 
Compliance Committee

Meetings are held once a month with all the process leaders.

The accident and absenteeism indicators are provided, along with the serious 
incidents occurred during the reporting period and the findings and actions 
proposed.

Dual Committee
The meetings are held regularly.

They present the accident indicators and the frequency, severity and results of the 
investigated work accidents.

Primary Management 
Committee It presents the monthly accident and absenteeism trends.

Primary Committee of 
Other Areas

Monthly participation in the committees of other areas to verify management 
and present projects, initiatives and cases that have occurred during the reporting 
periods. 

If necessary, actions are generated through these committees in response to the 
significant risks identified.

One to One Bimonthly one-to-one meetings are scheduled to review and monitor the 
achievement of each team member’s goals, which are set at the start of the year.

Our monitoring Committees
In order to monitor our management, we have the following committees:

GRI 403-1 Representation of Employees in Formal Employee-
Company Health and Safety Committees60,61

As well as the aforementioned committees, we have 
the Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee 
(COPASST, for the Spanish original), which our 
employees and management participate in to analyze 
the indicators, relevant events and trends to collectively 
find improvement plans. Additionally, they find strategies 
to: 
• Identify and manage locative risks, in the processes, 

equipment and tools in order to avoid conditions in 
the environment that lead to the materialization of 
work accidents.

• Ensure that ordinary and extraordinary monthly 
meetings are held in accordance with current local 

regulation, as well as ensuring the implementation 
of the defined work plan.

• Investigate work accidents, identify root causes and 
contribute to the productivity of the Company with 
actions that prevent its recurrence.

We have a culture of reporting the events, conditions 
and work accidents through a platform that ensures 
tracking and timely management. According to our 
internal rating, the 2018 distribution was as follows: 
• Incidents without lost days (30%)
• Incidents with one lost day (6%) 
• Incapacitating incidents (64%)

COPASST 
by Country Description Lines of Action

Colombia

The COPASST is comprised of 12 
representatives of the company and 12 
representatives of the employees for 
24 members, who are distributed in the 
different regions of Colombia where 
Avianca S.A. operates.

Avianca Cargo has a Joint Occupational 
Health and Safety Committee comprised 
of six representatives of the company and 
six representatives of the employees for 
12 members.

1. Safety inspections.
2. Participation in the investigations on work accidents.
3. Oversight and participation in the Occupational Health 

and Safety Management System (OHSMS).
4. Employee participation and inquiry organization.
5. Follow-up of requests and agreements in meetings.
6. Identification of hazards and risk assessment.

El Salvador
Management representatives and 
employee representatives comprise the 
committee in equal parts.

1. Promote initiatives on procedures for effective risk 
prevention.

2. Investigate and analyze the causes of work accidents 
and occupational diseases and propose the necessary 
prevention measures.

3. Regularly inspect the worksites with the aim to detect 
unsafe physical and mechanical conditions that may 
cause work accidents.

Guatemala

The committee is comprised in equal 
parts by employee and management 
representatives. In the case of Guatemala, 
there are five employee representatives 
and five manager representatives. 

1. Carry out epidemiological surveillance of work accidents 
and occupational diseases.

2. Investigate and analyze the causes of work accidents 
and occupational diseases and propose the necessary 
prevention measures.

3. Inspect the buildings, facilities and equipment of the work 
centers to verify that the health and safety conditions are 
optimal.

60. The indicator’s data is consolidated for all employees hired by the following companies:
Aerovías del Continente Americano S.A., Tampa Cargo S.A., Avianca Ecuador, Avianca Perú, Aviaservicios (Guatemala), Servicio Terrestre Aéreo y Rampa (Costa Rica) Servicios 
Aeronáuticos Pilocret (Costa Rica), Servicios Misceláneos Australes (Costa Rica), Taca Costa Rica, Taca International Airlines (Guatemala), Taca International Airlines (El 
Salvador), Technical and Training Services (El Salvador) and Trans American Airlines (Lima).
61.All of our employees are represented by official health and safety committees. 
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COPASST 
by 

Country
Description Lines of Action

Perú

The Occupational Health and Safety 
Committee is comprised of 12 members (six 
employer representatives and six employee 
representatives).

1. Approve the employer’s Internal Health and Safety 
Rules of Procedure.

2. Approve the Annual Occupational Health and Safety 
Program.

3. Participate in the preparation, approval, implementation 
and assessment of the policies, plans and programs to 
promote occupational health and safety, as well as the 
prevention of work accidents and occupational diseases.

4. Oversee compliance with legislation, internal rules 
and technical specifications of the work related to 
occupational health and safety, as well as the Internal 
Occupational Health and Safety Rules of Procedure.

5. Make regular inspections. 
6. Consider the circumstances and investigate the causes 

of all incidents.

Costa Rica

The number of participants determines the 
number of employees for each committee, 
with four representatives of the employer 
and four representatives of the employees.

1. Participate in the election of its representatives before 
the committee meeting.

2. Support the operation and development of the 
committee’s functions.

3. Report any situation to the committee that is likely to 
harm the employees’ health.

4. Participate and help in all the training activities on 
occupational health.

5. Respect and comply with the measures for promotion, 
prevention, protection and oversight issued by the 
employer through the people in charge of the office or 
department.

Ecuador

According to legislation in Ecuador, 
the committee and subcommittee are 
comprised of three representatives of the 
employer and three representatives of the 
employee.

1. Promote risk prevention.
2. Foster a culture of prevention (through campaigns or 

strategies).
3. Make inspections. 
4. Analyze conditions to propose the adoption of measures.

Own Indicator: Absenteeism and Accident rate of the Holding Company’s Direct 

Employees.62

62. The rate of injury from work accidents is calculated by: (Number of work accidents / Number of work hours) × 1,000,000. The data used to calculate the rate of injury 
from work accidents include all the work accidents reported.
The rate of occupational disease is calculated by: (Number of occupational diseases reported / Number of work hours) × 1,000,000. 
The rate of days lost due to work accidents or occupational diseases is calculated by: (Number of days lost due to work accidents or occupational diseases / Number of work 
hours) × 1,000,000. 
The rate of absenteeism is calculated by: (Number of days lost due to work accidents, occupational diseases and general illnesses  Number of days per employee) × 1,000,000 
Our results in Colombia include the figures of Avianca S.A. and Tampa Cargo S.A.

Accident 
frequency rate

21.29

Number of 
mortalities

0

Rate of lost days due 
to common illnesses, 
occupational diseases 

and work accidents 

22,410

Rate of lost days due 
to work accidents

121.96

Occupational 
diseases rate 

0

Rate of lost days 
due to common 

illnesses

134.79
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Disabling injury index

Accident Frequency Rate of Direct 
Employees broken down by AOC 
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Own Indicator: Occupational Health and Safety Training Provided

We trained our employees in 2018, with the aim to promote a culture of prevention of work accidents and 
occupational diseases. Therefore, we strive for our management to have a greater scope and for our employees to 
help us to lead our initiatives: 

Region Topic No. of Employees Trained

Colombia

Prevention of Musculoskeletal Disorders (Methodology applied 
according to population and tasks) 1,700

Psychosocial Management System 5,963

Hazard Identification and Risk Assessment 930

Emergency Response 438

Brigade Training 162

Total 9,193

Ecuador

Emergency Brigades in Quito 50

Use of Personal Protective Equipment - Maintenance and Land 
Operations 21

Use of Fire Extinguishers and Fire Prevention 69

Risks and their Prevention - Maintenance 11

Work at Heights 9

Risks and their Prevention - Land Operations 10

Mechanical Risks and their Prevention - Supporting Equipment 6

Adequate Cargo Handling and Ergonomic Risks 3

Health, safety, and environment (HSE), Occupational Factors and 
Risks for New Employees and Interns 200

Total 379

Costa Rica

Cargo Handling 157

Reporting Accidents in the Organizational Risk Report 157

Brigade Training 60

Alcohol and Drug Abuse Program 157

Industrial Safety, Occupational and Environmental Health Induction 
for Contractors 30

Use of Personal protection items 157

Total 718

El 
Salvador

Industrial Safety, Accident Prevention 220

Disclosure of Local Emergency Guides 20

Brigade Training 25

Three Lines of Defense Management Model 20

Occupational and Environmental Health and Safety Induction for 
Contractors 70

Handling of Chemicals 24

Total 379



144 145Annual Report 2018 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

Guatemala

Occupational and Environmental Health and Safety Induction for 
Contractors 82

Handling of Extinguishers 47
Correct Use and Care of PPE for Work at Heights 32
Work at Heights 58
Brigade Training 25

Total 244

Peru

Emergency Brigades 39
Regulatory Course on Safety and Health at Work - Maintenance 150
Use of fire extinguisher fire prevention 23
Proper handling of loads and ergonomic risks of the supply chain 
warehouse 5

Induction in Hygiene and Industrial Safety 50
Total 267

1. Occupational Health and Safety Management System (OHSMS): we designed and standardized 
the documentary requirements based on the ISO 45001 standard, where we obtained 100% 
documentary compliance on the part of SGS.

2. Road Safety: we standardized a strategic road safety plan based on the local standards and 
requirements of ISO 39001 with the scope of the mobility, terrestrial operations, Deprisa and 
aeronautical maintenance processes. 

3. Management of unsafe actions and conditions: we guarantee the management of the findings at 
92% of compliance and actions in 82%, impacting the reduction of the accident rate by 7%.

4. Work at heights program: we improved the infrastructure of hangars with the installation of 
portable protection systems against falls. We also implemented the service-level agreements for the 
comprehensive and traceable management of maintenance works and reconditioning of workbenches.  

5. Epidemiological surveillance system for musculoskeletal disorders:  we implement inspections, 
training processes and intervention in the posts and critical areas for the risk management. 

Highlights
2018

Region Topic No. of Employees
Trained

Awards
Award from the Airport Operator in Quito (Quiport) to the management of Avianca Ecuador.

Challenges 
for 2019

1. Expand the horizontal monitoring model on 
industrial safety and health at work for third 
parties, contractors and suppliers.

2. Manage the prevention model and crisis 
care, integrating the Plan of Ground 
Emergency Management (PGET) with the 
Emergency Response Plan in air (ERP).

3. Implement the monitoring model of 
industrial safety and health at work for the 
critical processes of the organization.

4. Design and implement the System of 
management for hygienic risks.

5. Improve the level of risk in the processes of 
the company.

6. Decrease the accident rate in most critical 
populations for each of the countries where 
we operate.

7. Strengthen the culture model in the 
Operational Vice Presidencies of Avianca 
of the three lines of defense in the themes 
related to Industrial Safety and Health at 
work.

8. Implement the Management System 
of Health and Safety at Work under 
the requirements of ISO 45001 in the 
Operational Vice Presidencies of Avianca 
Holdings.

9. Guarantee the closing of legal gaps 
manageable in 2019.

10. Reduce absenteeism by impacting in the 
productivity of the operational processes of 
the Company.

1. We improve the level of risk in the processes 
of the Company, decreasing 58% of the 
intolerable risks.

2. We decreased the frequency index by 7% of 
accident.

3. Management of 91.91% of the identified 
findings from Industrial Safety and Health in 
the work for the company’s processes.

4. We carry out the identification and evaluation 
100% of the legal requirements of 6 Stations: 
Colombia, Ecuador, Peru, Costa Rica, 
Guatemala and El Salvador.

104
Costa Rica

577
Colombia

116
Ecuador

68
El Salvador

89
Guatemala

344
Peru

 legal requirements evaluated

How we are making 
progress with our 2018 
challenges:
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09

We do everything for
your  love

1

63. For more information go to chapter “Digital Avianca: A  new era of exceptional service.”

“Customers are the 
beginning, middle and end 
of our business strategy. 
Doing everything for their 
love is our purpose”

We do everything for the love of our 
customers. Their satisfaction is our 
reason of being and our objective is 
to become the Latin American airline 
preferred by travelers from around 
the world. We have the best people 
and the best technology to provide 
our customers with exceptional 
service, connecting them to what 
they want most and enabling them to 
have a unique experience through all 
our points of contact. 

To deliver our differentiated value 
proposals, we want our customers, at 
all these points of contact, to feel that 
we understand their expectations and 
we adapt our processes to provide 
the best service, always aiming for 
their satisfaction and loyalty. That is 
why, as a starting point, in 2018, we 
defined a unique customer journey 
structure, which identified three 

macro-moments experienced by 
customers during their experience 
with Avianca (imagine, experience and 
enjoy, and remember) and the profiles 
of our most important customers, to 
get to know their main interests and 
expectations and to continue doing 
everything to make them fall in love 
on each trip. 

We articulate our customer’s 
voice with policies and procedures, 
aiming to develop actions focused 
on strengthening the relationship. 
We have internal policies related to: 
handling complaints, compensating 
passengers and the frequent flyer 
program. Regarding these topics, 
we analyze the issues that have the 
greatest impact, in order to mitigate 
complaints and claims from our 
passengers.

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?

Those responsible for managing the achievement of these objectives are: 
Customer Voice Directorate, Customer Travels, Loyalty and Digital Experience63.

• Improve our customers’ experience at all the points of contact of 
the customer journey, from the time they imagine their trip until they 
remember it, aiming to close the gaps between their ideal experience 
and the one they are currently experiencing with the airline. 

• Support the transformation process in order to be a world-class 
service company in which the customer is the center of business 
decisions.

• Guarantee the offer of adequate value and recognition to our high 
value customers (HVC) in order to build loyalty. 

Our Objectives
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Risk identification and 
mitigation tools

We have identified different internal and external risks to which our 
operation is exposed, and we know that these factors can affect the 
customer’s perception regarding our service: 

• Delay in operations due to the high fleet usage rates.

• Limited infrastructure at the HUBs.

• Disruptions in the operation of the HUBs due to strikes outside the 
Company, causing irregularities in the operation.

• Interruption in operations due to natural disasters in our main 
countries of operation.

• Lateness of third parties affecting the operation (catering, fuel, etc.).

We have different tools to define, analyze and monitor these risks on an ongoing basis, aiming to prevent and reduce 
any impact on our operation and on the quality of our service:

• We use instruments, such as software or platforms, 
to get to know our customers’ perception, needs and 
interests. 

• We hold work sessions with the administrative area, 
the innovation team, the SBD (Strategy and Business 
Development) and the main areas that interact with 
customers, in order to identify travelers’ expectations 
and prioritize the ones with the greatest impact. 
Skytrax, Star Alliance, IQ and Net Promoter Score 
reports are also considered. 

Customer Protection Center (CPC)
Through the CPC, we minimize the impact of irregularities for customers caused by involuntary changes in 
their itinerary, by providing differentiated and consistent service and optimizing the resources available in 
order to improve their experience.

Communications:

• We enabled an e-mail delivery tool, AACC (Altea Amadeus Customer Contact), through which any 
irregularity is reported to the passenger and a solution is offered.

• We created the communication tool between Avianca Holdings and the Call Center called “Preventive 
Management Tool”, which identifies affected passengers and provides the relevant notifications.

Compensations and assistance services:
• We reduced complaints stemming from the failure to credit miles by 95%.

Analytics and systems:
• We implemented the “Dynamic Waiver” tool to parameterize waivers for passengers affected by external 

events of force majeure (hurricanes and volcanoes, among others).

Others:
• Together with the Avianca Academy, we developed a training program on contingencies for airport staff.

1

64. See more information in the chapter Digital Avianca: A new era of exceptional service.

• The measures taken to improve travelers’ experience 
are tested using the Sprints methodology, where 
customers themselves validate more efficiently 
whether the initiative improves their experience.

• On the new website and our app, feedback windows 
have been implemented to heed customers and 
based on their comments, implement improvements 
in their digital experience64.
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1

65. Subjective, usually negative perception associated with interaction at a point of contact.

Managing impacts after the strike of 
activities of 2017

In order to return to our normal operating conditions 
after the strike of activities in 2017, we have deployed 
the following strategies, among others:  
• We adjusted itineraries implemented throughout 

2018 in order to improve traveler connectivity. 
• We provided reserve airplanes and crew in order 

to be prepared for any contingency.
• We optimized technical and human resources 

to ensure the offering on the routes with the 
greatest demand. In addition, measures have 
been implemented to facilitate changes in travel 

dates and to accommodate travelers on available 
flights.

• With the support of the Civil Aviation Authority, 
we implemented a communication and customer 
service platform to provide real-time information 
on internal and external incidents that affect 
travelers’ schedules.

• We have the support of digital providers such as 
Netflix and PasaLaPágina to offer customized 
entertainment on the flights operated under Wet 
Lease.

 We do everything for our customers’ 
throughout their journey
In 2018, we defined a single customer journey structure and four customer profiles for Avianca:

We identified 19 moments experienced by customers from the time they imagine their trip until they remember it. 
Within this structure, a diagnosis was made, which allowed the identification and prioritization of the greatest woes65 
experienced by our travelers on their journey and we launched work plans to relieve and improve their experience 
with the airline.

Colombian, age 35, Single
Characteristics:
• Intelligent planner, independent, 

multitasker, successful, 
confident.

Camilo is a person who achieves a balance 
between his professional and social life. He 
is strict about his routines, which he tries to 
maintain on his constant business trips. In 
general, Camilo is in control of his time, to 
ensure he makes the most of it. He values 
his contacts, whether they are from work or 
his private life, and takes advantage of social 
media to share different moments.

German, age 46, In a relationship
Characteristics:
• Cool, travels in groups, 

sophisticated, independent, 
active.

Money has never been an issue. Fred knows 
that good things can be a little more 
expensive. He loves to do everything in groups, 
from planning to flying. His friends know 
he is a curious adventurer who will always 
bring great ideas and the recommendations 
necessary for their trips to become great 
adventures worthy of sharing. 

Brazilian, age 26, Single
Characteristics:
• Smart with his budget, #addicted_

to_social_media, spots opportunities, 
summer guy, well informed.

He views himself as someone who makes the most 
of the opportunities he encounters. Marcelo carries 
out thorough searches for the best prices, and 
checks blogs and apps to find the best option. His 
life online is important to him. He has thousands of 
friends with whom he shares his adventures, taking 
care of the details to entertain his followers. Money 
has never been an issue. Fred knows that good 
things can be a little more expensive. He loves to 
do everything in groups, from planning to flying. 
His friends know he is a curious adventurer who will 
always bring great ideas and the recommendations 
necessary for their trips to become great 
adventures worthy of sharing.

Colombian, age 38, Married and with 
2 Children
Characteristics:
• Family-Motivated, Multitasker, 

Traditional, Foodie, Organized.

She is proud of her family and her Colombian 
heritage, which she intends to pass on to her 
children. Her passion for cooking wounds up 
becoming a business initiative that Tatiana is 
still trying to adjust to her family life. Therefore, 
on her work trips, she always contacts them 
on her smartphone via WhatsApp or calls. She 
knows very well that when she is away from 
her family and her team, she enjoys some alone 
time, during which she creates personal spaces.

Camilo Fred Marcelo Tatiana
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Highlights
2018

In order to mitigate the woes associated with the journey and improve 
the experience of our travelers at each point of contact, the following 
initiatives have been developed:

We mapped out all the 
communications received by the 
customer via e-mail and created 
business rules that, through the 
contactability committee, enable us to 
centralize and coordinate our contract 
through Avianca and LifeMiles. 

1

2 We created an e-newsletter for travelers, 
which allows them to plan and organize 
their trip with us, which has become one 
of the most read e-mails at Avianca with a 
readership rate of 53% in 2018. The purpose 
of this newsletter is to provide our customers 
with clear and timely information.

3 • We launched our new Domestic VIP 
lounge in Bogotá with an area of 3,000 m2, 
capacity for 70,000 passengers per month 
and world-class services. We also opened 
new lounges in Bucaramanga, Santa Marta 
and Cali (international airport). 

• We improved the menus in the 
international Gold and Diamond lounges 
in Bogotá and the international lounge in 
Miami, including new options and rotating 
the menus offered more frequently.

• We opened our domestic lounge for 
unaccompanied minors at El Dorado 
Airport in order to improve and personalize 
our future travelers’ experience. That 
is where we came up with the new 
experiences we have planned for children in 
2019.

• In 4Q 2018, we improved our VIP lounge 
NPS by 19 points compared to 4Q of the 
previous year. The attributes that recorded 
the highest increase were food,beverages 
and the comfort of our lounges.

• By focusing on international travelers, we 
redefined the strategy of reading material 
in VIP lounges and on board. So, we have an 
offering of content in different languages 
and with the possibility of digital download 
for reading in VIP lounges and on board.

Imagine

1

2

4

Imagine

Arrive at the 
airport

Purchase

VIP lounge

Research

Check in

Prepare
Connection

Boarding

Plan

Security, 
migration, 
customs

Collect 
baggage

Petitions, 
complaints 
and claimsLeave the 

airport

Leave 
home

Flight

Remember
Return

We carried out pilot tests to redefine the 
boarding process, aiming for traveler ease and 
to decrease the times of the boarding process. 
The implementation of the first phase will 
begin in 2019 at El Dorado Airport.

• We launched our in-flight Wi-Fi service on two of our aircraft. We 
have planned that more than 20 aircraft at the Holding level will 
have this service in 2019.

• By focusing on international travelers, we redefined the strategy 
of reading material in VIP lounges and on board. So, we have an 
offering of content in different languages and with the possibility 
of digital download for reading in VIP lounges and on board.

• As for A318 aircraft, we improved the wireless entertainment 
experience that travelers can enjoy on their devices.

New Europe flight Business Class service standard (Applies for the 
following flights BOG-MAD/BCN/LHR and MAD/BCN-BOG/CLO/MED)
• Inclusion of the express menu in order to offer travelers a single-

dish menu, thus avoiding more than one interruption and favoring 
time to sleep, read, work, etc.

• Elimination of traditional casserole dishes in which we used to 
serve food, we now present it on larger base plates that provide 
each preparation with a touch of sophistication.

• Now we serve each dish on board: our crew looks out for 
each detail in the final presentation of the dishes on board, 
thus achieving, after heating, a more brilliant and consistent 
appearance.

•  We have a new menu design, which aims to invite travelers to 
taste the flavors of the world at an altitude of more than 20 
thousand feet. It also includes details of the stories behind the 
dishes and their ingredients, thus making them more attractive.

• We had the advice of an expert Sommelier to define the ideal 
accompaniment for each dish, considering the range of wines on 
board.

6 • We evaluate the hotels 
with which we have set 
agreements to provide 
assistance in the event of 
irregularities, in order to 
rank and prioritize them 
in the system, taking into 
account the capacity of 
response to the operation 
and experience variables, 
such as distance from the 
airport, hotel stars and 
brand recognition. 

• We are improving the 
experience in cases of 
irregularities by providing 
priced food vouchers, 
rather than standard 
combo vouchers. This 
change allows us to 
increase the variety of 
options for passengers 
according to their 
tastes and needs, while 
segmenting amounts by 
type of customer.

Experience and Enjoy Remember

3

4

5

6

5
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Customer relations

In order to provide the best service, we seek mechanisms for the comprehensive and timely attention of our 
customers’ needs and expectations. Therefore, we have effective channels of communication in place, ensuring the 
creation of an integrated customer-airline-customer contact system:

• Comments
• Complaints
• Suggestions
• Requests
• Compliments

• Website
• Call Center
• Letters
• Social Media
• Form available on board the aircraft, at 

points of sale and in airports

Our service promise is to provide a satisfactory response to all the contacts received within a term of 10 
business days (on average). To do so, in the cases that could not be resolved by the front line, we have created 
a second-level contact system. The cases are forwarded systematically to this second level of attention 
and resolution, which will ensure that each of the situations opened, will be addressed to provide a prompt 
response to our customers.

through: 

Our indicators

Net Promoter Score (NPS)

The Net Promoter Score 
(NPS) measures the level of 
recommendation and loyalty of the 
passengers who use our services. 
To do so, we survey our customers 
to identify our advantages or added 
values and the areas where we have 
the opportunity for improvement. 

Own Indicator:

NPS

The results of the surveys showed 
us that we stand out for the high 
standards of our fleet and the 
excellent service provided on 
board. However, we identified an 
opportunity for improvement at 
the operational level (in OTP and 
Schedule Completion indicators), 
which led to a decrease of two (2) 
percentage points compared to 2017.

This reduction was also driven by the 
changes in itineraries due to the time 
lag of the crew during the strike of 
activities in 2017. We implemented 
the Winter 2018 itinerary plan to 
move the flight bank and logistic 
operations from the different bases. 

The Skytrax Ranking encompasses 
the different customer service criteria, 
such as staff, catering on board 
and departure lounge comfort and 
boarding efficiency. 

For the second consecutive year, we 
received international recognition 
at the Skytrax World Airline Awards 
2018 as “The Best Airline in South 
America”.

 Complaint Index 

46%

29,82 86,10

52%
NPS 2018

January to 
August  

Goal

September to 
December

By implementing  this measure, we 
increased the positive perception of 
our customers as we made refunds 
and provided timely communications. 
As a positive aspect on the result of 
the indicator, we can highlight the 
end of Wet Lease in North America 
(NAM) and Europe.

Ranking Skytrax

The Complaint Index allows us to 
determine the number of complaints 
received in relation to the number of 
passengers transported (Number of 
Complaints per 10,000 passengers 
transported).

Own Indicator:

2018 Complaint Index
In September 2018, changes were 
made to the tool for registering 

and managing complaints, which 
broadened their classification based 
on customers’ experience. Through 
the migration of the CRM, we 
recorded more customer contacts 
than before. The increase in the 
classification criteria does not mean 
an increase in complaints, but rather 
an increase in recorded information. 
This measure is intended to place the 
customer at the center of everything 
we do.

Although we cannot compare our 
results to those of last year, the 
strike of activities of 2017 continued 
to affect this indicator. That is 
why we adopted measures such 
as: rescheduling our itineraries, 
expediting our inspection processes, 
increasing call center capacity, 
keeping our communication channels 
open to report our operation minute-
by-minute (Avianca Breaking News), 
strengthening our human resources 
and refunding tickets without 
penalties. 

Our indicators  allow us to 
measure and self-evaluate our 
processes in order to identify 
opportunities for improvement.

Own Indicator:
Actual
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Our projects

CRM (Customer Relationship 
Management):  

In April 2018, we launched the implementation of the CRM 
project, a data management system that will provide us 
with all the information on our customers at a single click 
and in just one place. Through this new tool, we will get to 
know our customers better, to be able to anticipate their 
needs and generate unique, personalized experiences 
at the different points of contact. This technological 
implementation will be key to increasing our travelers’ 
satisfaction and loyalty, by offering a more specialized 
service and assistance model, which will undoubtedly be 
reflected in greater operational efficiency and profitability.

Home Printed Bag Tag

This is a self-service initiative that enables 
our customers to print, if they want, 
the bag tag from wherever they are in 
Colombia. This way, when they arrive at 
the airport, just have to place it in a label 
holder that will be provided by the host, 
place it on the bag, go to the exclusive 
module and hand over their luggage more 
quickly and easily.

Awards

Skytrax 
“The Best Airline in South 

America”

Apex
“We are a 5-star airline”

This recognition was awarded for the second 
consecutive year at the Skytrax World Airline 
Awards 2018. 

This recognition was awarded by APEX, Airline 
Passenger Experience. 
We received this mention in the category of Best 
South American Regional Airline.

• In order to align customer interaction 
processes, work on the root cause of the 
problems that affect passengers and increase 
the echo of their voice, we created the 
Customer Voice Department, which represents 
the customer in dealing with all the areas of 
the Company.

• We defined the customer journey, which 
identifies the macro-moments experienced 
by travelers throughout their experience with 
Avianca and thus, the profiles of those who are 
traveling with us today. 

• We consolidated the Customer Journey team, 
its processes and organizational structure 
framed in the three macro-moments and the 
types of customer that have the most impact: 
high-value customers, corporate and groups, 
children and assisted persons.

• We enabled an e-mail delivery tool, AACC 
(Altea Amadeus Customer Contact), through 
which any irregularity is reported to the 
passenger and a solution is offered.

Highlights
2018

This is how we are making progress as 
for our challenges from 2018
• We implemented the new blankets on board 

standard, which ensures an excellent experience 
for our passengers. 

• In January 2018, we launched a lot of new 
content for the entertainment system according 
to the type of aircraft and flight duration. Our 
passengers enjoyed up to 500 options (movies 
and TV) and 288 music CDs. In addition, new 
content categories were implemented, such as 
TED Talks, YouTube, Current Hits, Slow TV (or 
relaxation content) and content only in its original 
language. We also implemented new games in the 
entertainment system, which helped us to renew 
the current offering. 

• We provided two of our aircraft with in-flight 
Internet service, so our passengers could surf 
the web, watch streaming videos and check their 
social media during the flights on their mobile and 
portable devices. 

• We implemented a new service standard for 
flights to and from Europe, which enabled us 
to provide a better gastronomical offer and an 
express menu. We also have a new menu, which 
tells the stories of the dishes and their ingredients.

• We achieved the definitive transfer from the 
Puente Aéreo Terminal to El Dorado International 
Airport for Bogotá, Colombia. 

Challenges 
for 2019

• Improve the on-board service ex-
perience on our flights.

• Implement a new boarding fra-
mework at the stations where 
Avianca operates by redesigning 
queues, to organize and expedite 
the boarding process at all the 
airports.

• Implement new amenity kits for 
Business Class.

• Define the customer journey of 
irregularities involving interaction 
with travelers.

• Improve the experience in the VIP 
lounges in Miami, Medellín, Bogotá 
international and Chile.

• Implement self-management tools 
and mechanisms at the airports.
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Our  loyalty program

Project:  Virtual card

Change in requirements

At Avianca, we were producing around 349,000 plastic LifeMiles 
cards per year, which could take up to 450 years to decompose, thus 
impacting our oceans.
As Avianca Citizen, we connect environmental value through 
responsible environmental management, alliances and connection 
with certified products and initiatives. Therefore, as of January 1, 
2019, no more physical cards will be produced; they will now be 
virtual and can be viewed on the Avianca or LifeMiles apps.
This way, our customers can check their status, balance and elite 
counter, as well as read about news and exclusive offers for LifeMiles 
members and join the initiative that reduces the use of plastic and its 
negative impact on the environment.

On January 1, 2019, the qualification process began to obtain elite status and enjoy it by February 2020. 
This year, our LifeMiles frequent flyer program implemented changes in the requirements of the statuses in order 
to deliver our value offer to the most loyal customers, along with exclusive benefits.
Below are the current requirements:  

Currently there are over 8 million members of the program distributed in eight regions.

Desde el 1 de enero de 2019

Silver Gold Diamond

Elite bonus LifeMiles 25% 75% 100%

Upgrade

Unlimited with one 
companion (confirmed 
at the airport) Subject 

to availability

Unlimited with one 
companion (48 hours 
prior to the flight or at 
the airport) Subject to 

availability

Unlimited with one 
companion (48 hours 
prior to the flight or at 
the airport) Subject to 

availability

Rollover miles - - Up to 25,000

Rollover segments - - Up to 30

Since January 1, 2019

Silver

Gold

Diamond

Millas  Cal ificables
Requer idas

Segmentos
Requer idos

Mi l las  Habi l i tadoras
Requer idas

Conoce  los  nuevos  requis i tos
L i feMi les  É l i te  2019

2 5.000

4 5.000

7 5.000

30

50

85

9.000

16.000

30.000

Qualified miles 
required

Segments 
required

Valid miles 
required

Know the new requirements 
Life Miles Elite 2019

25,000                    30 9,000

45,000           50  16,000

75,000           85  30.000
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On time Schedule Completion and Departure in Zero Minutes  
At Avianca, the most important thing is our customers’ time. That is why we measure the performance of our flights and 
take measures to improve our indicators on a permanent basis.

On Time Performance (OTP) is the percentage of flights whose delay upon arrival was less than 15 minutes. On the other 
hand, Schedule Completion measures the percentage of flights operated compared to those published in the itineraries. 
Compliance with Departure in Zero Minutes measures the percentage of flights operated that depart before or at the 
estimated departure time. 

The annual result of the OTP for Avianca Holdings in 2018 was 71.09%, Schedule Completion was 97.33% and Departure 
in Zero Minutes was 47.17%.

Own Indicator: 

Every minute counts!

Impact of short range flights 
(less than 3h) with delays of 
more than 15 minutes upon 
arrival 

29,48%
Impact of long distance 
flights with delays of more 
than 15 minutes upon 
arrival. 

26,83%

OTP compliant flights 
- short range.70,52%

Compliant flights - 
long range.73,17%
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At Avianca, we are committed to 
the sustainable development of our 
supply chain, ensuring compliance 
with ethical behaviors and practices 
along our operation and among our 
stakeholders. We are currently in a 
process of digital transformation, 
through the implementation of the 
best technological solutions available 
on the market, in order to optimize the 
management of our supply chain. 

We are training our team from the 
Administration and procurement Vice 
Presidency at the Supply School in 
order to be on the leading edge of the 
best business and trading practices. We 
have also optimized the organizational 
structure in the Supply Departments. 

We recognize the impact that we 
can have on economic, social and 
environmental matters through the 
selection and management of our 
supply chain. Therefore, we ensure that 
our suppliers act in conformity with 
our regulations regarding the Code of 
Ethics66 , Anti-corruption Policy67  and 
SIPLAFT Policy (Prevention and control 
system against money laundering, 
financing of terrorism and proliferation 
of weapons of mass destruction). We 
also set a policy for Managing the 
Supply of Goods and/or Services, based 
on which we establish the financial, 
legal and money laundering and 
terrorism financing guidelines that 
must be considered within our supply 
chain.

Supply chain: our strategic 
partners in management, 

procurement and logistics

¿Why is it important and how 
do we manage it?

“We have the best 
suppliers which enable us 
to optimize our operations 
and services”

1 
66. The business code of ethics and code of conduct can be found at 
http://s22.q4cdn.com/896295308/files/doc_downloads/governance_doc/CODE-OF-ETHICS.pdf 
67. http://s22.q4cdn.com/896295308/files/doc_downloads/governance_doc/2018/12/PG_036-ANTICORRUPTION-POLICY.pdf

10
Goal 8.3. Promote development-oriented policies that support 
productive activities, decent job creation, entrepreneurship, 
creativity and innovation, and encourage the formalization 
and growth of micro-, small- and medium-sized enterprises, 
including through access to financial services.

Goal 8.4. Improve progressively, through 2030, global resource 
efficiency in consumption and production and endeavor to 
decouple economic growth from environmental degradation, 
in accordance with the 10-year framework of programs on 
sustainable consumption and production, with developed 
countries taking the lead.
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54.6%
SOUTH AMERICA 

40%

0.1%

NORTH AMERICA 

5%
EUROPE

0.3%
ASIA

OCEANIA

1

68. In line with our 2020 vision, negotiations and investments have been made in the Technology segment, contributing to our digital 
transformation

Proportion of spending on our 
suppliers

42%

22%

20%

9%

7%

Monitoring the supply chain    

• We made progress in the implementation of the 
process to assess our suppliers’ performance, aiming 
to ensure compliance in the delivery and quality of 
the goods and services contracted. In 2018, the areas 
assessed 84% of the high-impact suppliers with whom 
work will be done regarding the opportunities for 
improvement identified.  

• We are strengthening contract management to 
ensure efficient management through the planning, 
organization and control of the elements contained 
in the contract.

• There are control panels in place managed by 
the Senior Vice Presidency of Engineering and 
Maintenance and the Administrative and Supply 
Vice Presidency, in order to monitor the supply 
chain in a cross-cutting manner.

• Through the Compliance and Risk Management 
model, we ensure the verification of all our suppliers 
across more than 300 lists: binding, legal aspects, 
financial impact and supply risks. This assessment is 
carried out prior to engagement and on a continuous 
basis until the end of the business relationship.

Total 
suppliers6,907

Total number of our suppliers 
distributed by geographic location69

We ensure that business 
relations with our 

suppliers are aligned 
with the Code of Ethics 

and other Company 
policies. 

Our supply chain 

We ensure the supply 
of technical and non-

technical material, 
complying with legal, 
customs, logistics and 
international transport 

regulations in order 
to meet the needs 

of Avianca Holdings 
in terms of time and 

costs.

Logistics and foreign 
trade management

We make certain 
that all our suppliers 
are subjected to risk 
assessments prior to 

their engagement, 
in order to ensure 

transparency regarding 
money laundering and/
or terrorism financing. 
Also, and according to 
the trading amounts 

involved, they are 
subjected to financial 

assessments to 
measure their capacity 
to provide the service 

contracted. 

Supplier assessment 
and selection 

Supplier relationship 
management

We centralize 
comprehensive 

management of the 
contract through an 

interdisciplinary team, 
ensuring its efficient 
execution within the 

current legal framework 
of the countries where 

we operate.

Contract 
administration 

and procurement 
management 

GRI 102-9 
Our processes:

We ensure the planning 
of the inventory, striving 

for appropriate and 
economic levels of 

supply to satisfy the 
maintenance needs of 

the aircraft operated by 
Avianca Holdings.

Our goods and services 
are procured through 
the purchase model 

integrated by specialized 
categories, providing 
vast knowledge for  

negotiation.

Inventory 
management 
Supply chain 

planning 

We attract 
suppliers to jointly 
develop strategic 
and sustainable 

partnerships that will 
allow us to connect 
Latin America to the 

world.

Supply strategy 
aiming to optimize 

costs and innovative 
ideas

Own Indicator:

69. There is a difference between the number of suppliers reported in 2017 compared to 2018, because in 2017, all the suppliers of the system were 
reported, and in 2018, the suppliers with transactions over the last 18 months were reported. 

Aircraft

Others

Customer Experience

Fuel

68
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As part of our administration, we identify any risks and 
negative impacts that can arise during our management 
and supply process. Through a risk matrix, we established 
the impacts for each of the Company’s procurement 
categories, in order to include clauses in the contracts to 
mitigate the risks identified, which are associated with: the 
environment, information security, industrial safety, money 

Risk management on the 
supply chain

Suppliers are categorized through the supplier segmentation model based on the assessment of the following criteria: 

Critical suppliers are those whose goods or services have a significant 
impact on our operation, environment, industrial safety, physical safety, 
operational security, information security, customer experience, digital 
transformation, including those that are difficult to replace.

In order to mitigate and respond to these risks, we 
have adopted the following measures:

• Impact on 
the operation.

• Level of 
spending.

• Strategic 
importance.

• Environmental 
impact and  

security.

• Difficulty of 
replacement.

We focused on the use 
of the most advanced 

technologies of the 
industry to achieve 
greater efficiency in 

the use of fuel and the 
reduction of our carbon 

footprint.

Our contracts include a set of standard clauses 
associated with the risk identified, in line with the 

nature of the contract.

We assessed the 
impact of the services 

provided by our 
suppliers, together 
with the Internal 

Assessment and Risk 
Management team.

We established the criteria 
for the classification of 

suppliers at the Holding 
Company level, which 
consider the aspects 

related to the impact of 
the services and/or goods 
provided by our suppliers 

on the operation. 

We strengthened the 
selection of civil works 

suppliers through 
the validation of 

commercial references.

laundering, terrorism financing and operational security, 
classified according to the nature of the contract.

Also, in order to carry out timely risk prevention, detection 
and control in the supply process, we have classified our 
suppliers according to their level of impact on the Company 
and on our stakeholders. 
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• We are the first airline in the Americas to become 
a part of the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) as 
part of the Supply Chain program, which aims 
to make progress as for the sustainability of our 
supply chain.

• We formalized the framework of strategic 
partnerships to create growth opportunities 
together with strategic suppliers. 

• We are part of the Sustainable Procurement 
Committee, whose purpose is to articulate 
and foster the creation of economic, social and 
environmental value through our supply chain.

• We are making progress in strengthening the 
aviation inventory model in order to improve 
service levels and optimize costs, based on 
authorized statistics and planning models.

• We launched the Authorized Economic Operator 
(AEO) project, whose main purpose is to certify 
risk management on Colombia’s supply chain.  

• We implemented the SAP Ariba platform in order 
for the suppliers who are interested in offering 
their portfolio of goods or services to register 
online70 .

• We consolidated the Company’s procurement 
based on negotiations centralized by the 
Administrative and Supply Vice Presidency aiming 
to improve the visibility and control of spending.  

Our Challenges  
for 2019

• Implement the work and governance 
framework set by the Sustainable 
Procurement Committee, thus 
achieving cross-sector sustainability in 
the strategy and management of the 
supply chain. 

• Develop the Suppliers Manual in order 
to compile the Company guidelines 
and inform our suppliers of the 
control, monitoring and management 
mechanisms of our sustainable supply 
chain.  

• Identify suppliers with whom we can 
develop long-term relations in order 
to optimize processes and resources 
focused on joint growth and impact on 
our customers.

• Extend the scope of the supplier 
performance assessment based on the 
high, medium and low level of impact.

• Obtain the Authorized Economic 
Operator (AEO) certification in 
Colombia.

• Self-evaluate the Foreign Trade 
process in North America and Peru 
to qualify for C-TPAT (Customs-
Trade Partnership Against Terrorism) 
certifications.

Highlights
2018

163. 

70. https://s1.ariba.com/Sourcing/Main/aw?awh=r&awssk=trni_33v&realm=avianca&dard=1 
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Our environmental objectives:

Reduce the fuel consumed 
by aircraft operation per 100 
revenue passenger kilometers 
(RPKs).   

1

3

2

4

Innovating with 
Sustainable Impact

As Avianca Citizens, we are 
committed to innovating with 
a sustainable impact through 
initiatives that generate 
environmental value, while carrying 
out preventive actions involving 
regular risk management and 
identif ication of environmental 
impact. Through our management 
and operations, we help to mitigate 
and adapt to climate change by 
implementing actions to reduce 
emissions and to increase energy 
efficiency and the use of clean 
technologies.

GRI 102-11 The control of 
environmental risks, optimization 
of our resources, best operating 
practices based on cleaner 
production principles (CPP) and 
incorporation of a more modern 
fleet have been key initiatives for 

the continuous improvement of 
our processes and reduction of our 
environmental impact.

We included the circular economy 
concept in our environmental 
management and strategy with 
the aim of optimizing operating 
efficiency, which will enable the 
comprehensive management of 
natural resources, processes and 
waste generated by our activity. 

By aligning this concept with the 
Environmental Management Policy, 
we have been able to advance in 
the effective development of our 
Strategic Plan with a projection to 
2020, which focuses on three central 
themes: Policy and Environmental 
Management System; Climate 
Change and Operational Eco-
efficiency71.

Increase the reuse of 
conventional waste in relation 
to the total waste generated.

Reduce aircraft emissions, 
expressed in kilograms of CO2, 
per 100 revenue passenger 
kilometer (RPKs).

Increase the recovery of 
hazardous waste in relation to 
the total waste generated. 

COP: This chapter discusses the actions taken to manage the most 
significant environmental impacts of our operations.  We have 
highlighted our management of the climate strategy, fuel consumption 
and waste management. 

1

71. The scope of this chapter consists of the main processes over which we have operating and financial control in: Bogotá, Medellín, San José in Costa 
Rica, El Salvador, Lima, Quito, Guayaquil and Guatemala. The processes involve activities implemented both in the air and on the ground, such as 
maintenance of aircraft and ground support equipment, passenger and cargo transportation, and administrative offices. It does not include the Miami 
cargo operation. All of the Holding Company’s flights and Air Operator’s Certificates (AOCs) are included in the information on aircraft operation, such 
as: AV, TA, 2K, QT and regional airlines.

11
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Goal 12.2 By 2030, achieve the sustainable management 
and efficient use of natural resources.

Goal 12.4 By 2020, achieve the ecologically rational 
management of chemicals and all waste throughout its 
life cycle in accordance with the agreed international 
frameworks, and significantly reduce their release into the 
atmosphere, water and soil with the aim of minimizing 
adverse effects on human health and the environment.

Goal 12.5 By 2030, considerably reduce waste generation 
through prevention, reduction, recycling and reuse 
activities.

¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it? 
Our environmental management 
involves a set of strategies focused 
on preventing pollution through the 
responsible use of natural resources 
and the implementation of cleaner 
production practices, meeting our 
environmental commitments, as well 
as complying with the applicable 
legislation.

These strategies are in line with our 
Environmental Policy, which not only 
confirms the commitment of all the 
Holding Company’s subsidiaries to 
environmental conservation, but also 
includes the rational use of natural 
resources. These guidelines are a 
frame of reference to plan the goals, 

Policy and Environmental 
Management System

strategies and challenges of the 
Environmental Management System.

Our progress regarding the 
implementation of the system and 
our commitment to continuous 
improvement through initiatives 
and programs that identify, 
prevent, minimize and control the 
environmental impact of our activities 
allowed us to maintain our ISO 14001 
certification and update it to the 2015 
version in all the activities developed 
in Quito and Guayaquil. It has also 
enabled us to certify MRO operations 
in Rionegro. Said certification is 
internationally accredited by IQNET. 

Environmental aspects of our operations:

Air
maintenance centers:

• Generation of conventional and hazardous waste.
• Fuel consumption from the use of emergency 

electric generators.
• Water and electricity consumption.
• Wastewater discharge.
• Chemical Substances consumption. 

Air 
operations:

• Generation of conventional waste on domestic 
flights.

• Fuel consumption.
• Greenhouse gas emissions.
• Noise generation.

Administrative
centers:

• Generation of conventional and hazardous waste.
• Fuel consumption by emergency electric generators.
• Water, energy and paper consumption.
• Wastewater discharge.

Ground 
operations:

• Generation of waste with potential biological risk.
• Fuel consumption.
• Greenhouse gas emissions.
• Noise generation from  equipment operation 
• Water consumption in the cleaning of aircraft and 

equipment.
• Wastewater discharge.
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Commitments established in our 
Environmental Policy:

Reduce

1. Consumption of fossil 
fuels.

2. Greenhouse gas 
emissions and noise.

3. Generation of hazardous 
waste. 

Comply

1. With applicable 
environmental legislation 
and other environmental 
commitments.

2. With the implementation 
of pollution prevention 
mechanisms in our activities.

Improve

1. Our environmental 
performance 
continuously.

2. Encourage the 
environmental 
commitment of 
employees, suppliers and 
contractors.

Investments
To move forward in the continuous improvement process in our Environmental Management System. Throughout 
2018, we mainly invested in offsetting emissions, building bicycle parking and promoting efficient energy use in 
lighting and air conditioning systems. The total investment amounted to USD 3,100,151. 

Own Indicator:

Station Initiative Description Amount (USD)
COL Carbon Credits Carbon Offsetting  3,036,120

COL Bicycle Parking
Construction of bicycle parking 
- Sustainable Mobility Project 
MRO.

40,721

SAL LED Lights
Change of light bulbs in 
chemical and rotables 
warehouse.

1,170

SJO LED Lights Change of lights in Avianca 
Clubs.

911

GUA LED Lights Change of lights in hangar 
MRO GUA (2018)

4,452

LIM LED Lights
Installation of lights during 
the renovation of the Lima 
Operations Control Center.

4,625

LIM LED Lights Installation of lights during the 
renovation of the Crew Office 
and Lounge.

937

LIM Ecological Air Conditioning 
Equipment

Installation of R410 air 
conditioning equipment in Lima 
Operations Control Center.

11,215

Expenses
Expenses in 2018 are mainly related to waste 
management, laboratory analysis, environmental 
monitoring, pollution control tools and equipment, 
system audits and environmental consultations, which 
amount to USD 965,734.

Fines 
In 2018, we were not fined in any of our activities for 
amounts greater than USD 10,000 for failing to comply 
with environmental requirements. 

• Keep up with the implementation of 
environmental strategies that contribute 
to the continuous improvement of the 
management system.

• Strengthen control regarding environmental 
compliance and supplier and contractor 
development.

• Progress in the integration of the 
Environmental Management System with 
the Corporate Risk Management System, 
which is based on the three lines of defense 
strategy.  

• We achieved a significant increase in our 
score on the Dow Jones Sustainability 
Index (DJSI), in the environmental 
dimension of the Integrated Latin 
American Market (MILA, for the Spanish 
original) version.

• We implemented the main environmental 
principles of the Global Compact as part 
of our environmental management and 
strategy.  

• We have an ISO 14001:2015 certified 
environmental management system 
at the bases of Quito, Guayaquil and 
Medellín (MRO) which is internationally 
accredited by IQNET.

• The processes owners areas were 
empowered in the effective management 
of their environmental impacts and 
legal requirements applicable under the 
strategy of three lines of defense.

• We trained 16,098 employees at the 
different bases of Avianca Holdings on 
good environmental practices.

Own Indicator: environmental expenses and investments

Own Indicator: environmental breaches

Highlights
2018

Challenges 
for 2019
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Goal 7.3 By 2030, double the global rate of improvement in energy efficiency.

Goal 12.4 By 2020, achieve the ecologically rational management of chemicals and all waste 
throughout its life cycle in accordance with the agreed international frameworks, and significantly 
reduce their release into the atmosphere, water and soil with the aim of minimizing adverse effects 
on human health and the environment. 

Goal 13.1 Strengthen the resilience and capacity of adaption to risks related to the climate and 
natural disasters in all countries.

Goal 13.3 Improve education, awareness and human and institutional capacity with regard to the 
mitigation of climate change and adaption to it, as well as the reduction of its effects and early 
warning.

Goal 13.4 Meet the commitment made by the developed country parties of the United Nations 
Framework Convention on Climate Change to achieve by 2020 the aim of collectively using USD 
100,000 million a year from all sources to respond to the needs of developing countries regarding 
the adoption of specific mitigation measures and transparency in their application, and to put the 
Green Climate Fund into full operation, leveraging it as soon as possible.

13.5 Promote mechanisms to increase the capacity for effective planning and management of 
climate change in the least developed countries and small island developing states, with particular 
emphasis on women, young people and local and marginalized communities.

Aviation produces around 2% of the total carbon dioxide 
(CO2) emissions produced by different human activity 
according to studies conducted by the United Nations 
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)72.

Due to investments made in new technologies and 
adequate operating procedures, air transportation has 
been able to maintain its emissions proportionally lower 

Climate Strategy

than the number of passengers, which increases by 5% on 
average each year. 

The aeronautics sector was the first to take global action 
and establish goals to reduce fuel consumption and CO2 
emissions.

The air sector’s targets in climate change are73:

1

72.  IPCC: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change.
73.  ATAG: Breakdown of CO2 reduction options for aviation up to 2050.

As part of the framework of positive economic market 
measures, in the plenary meeting during its 39th session, 
the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) agreed 
to recommend the adoption of a definitive resolution 
text on the Global Market-Based Measure (GMBM). The 
Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International 
Aviation (CORSIA) which implementation will begin with 
the emissions monitoring to establish the baseline in 2019. 

Using the CORSIA baseline, which remains in a preliminary 
phase from 2021 to the end of 2023 and a first phase 
from 2024 to the end of 2026, in these two phases, the 
flights subject to offsetting will be the international flights 
between two countries that have voluntarily adopted the 

scheme. The next phase, from 2027 to 2035, would include 
all states except the least developed countries (LDCs), small 
island developing states (SIDS), landlocked developing 
countries (LLDCs) and states with very low levels of 
international aviation activity.

For the effective implementation of CORSIA at Avianca 
Holdings, we created an interdisciplinary work group and 
developed the emissions monitoring plans (EMPs). In this 
way, we support the air industry with the first step: establish 
the baseline of the 2019 period, which will be the starting 
point for the second aim: carbon-neutral growth by 2020. 
 

1. Improve fleet fuel efficiency by 
1.5% per year by 2020.

2. Cap net CO2 emissions with 
carbon neutral growth as of 
2020.

3. By 2050, reduce emissions to half 
of those in 2005.

2005 2010          2020  2030          2040  2050

No action

1

2

3

Carbon neutral 
growth

-50% by 2050

Technology

Known technology, operations 
and infrastructure measures

Economic measures

Biofuels and additional new-
generation technology

Net emissions trajecttory

“No action” emissions

Operations
Infrastructure
Additional 
technologies and 
biofuels

M
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n 
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Energy Efficiency
GRI 302-1 Energy Consumption in terms of Absolute Value

 2015 2016 2017 2018
Aircraft fuel consumption 
(TJ)

61,600 64,545 64,813 69,442.55

Ground support equipment 
and vehicle fuel consumption 
(TJ)

133.41 144,46 123.2 58.19

Fuel consumption of 
emergency electric 
generators (TJ)

0.00284 0.00284 0.6 1.29

Electricity (TJ) 70.9 68.8 79.8 69.75
Total energy consumption 
(TJ)

61,805.11 64,758.49 65,017.23 69,571.78

In 2018, there was a 7% increase 
compared to 2017 due to the 
normalization of air operations 
in Colombia, which led to an 8% 
increase in revenue passenger 
kilometers (RPKs) compared 
to 2017, thus increasing the 
consumption of aviation fuel.

The Company’s main energy consumption source is the combustion of Jet A1 fuel, which is used on the aircrafts 
operation and comprises 99.8% of total energy consumption. That is why we have created the Avianca Fuel 
efficiency program, focusing our efforts on contributing to the three aforementioned goals set by the aviation 
sector.

As part of this program, we consolidated and reinforced the quality of our sources of information to understand 
the behavior of fuel consumption in our Company and, therefore, to be able to identify opportunities to improve 
efficiency. Additionally, we established an aviation fuel administration and management policy, we formed the 
Executive Fuel, and Emissions Committee comprised of key departments at Avianca, such as:

Operations Dispatch

Maintenance  Finance

Procurement Technology

Environmental 
Management

1 32

The program is strengthened by the implementation of 
18 projects, which involve the processes of operations, 
maintenance and airports. These are complemented 
with another set of initiatives focused on reducing 
onboard weight, more aerodynamic paint, reduction of 
route times, RNAV procedures and reduction of taxiing 
time. 

Some of the initiatives of the Avianca Fuel program: 

IFF (Idle Fuel Flow Factor): 
Use of an IFF value so the 
airplane spends more time 
on cruise and has a “cleaner” 
descent as well as saving fuel.

4 65

SETO (Single Engine Taxi 
Out): Taxiing at departure 
with a single engine.

SETI (Single Engine Taxi 
In): Taxiing at arrivals with a 
single engine.

RFL (Reduced Flaps 
Landing): Flaps 3 landing.

TRA (Thrust Reduction 
Altitude): Reduction of 
the thrust before a certain 
altitude.

DA (Decelerated Approach): 
Achieving a clean approach, 
lowering the landing gear 
at a certain altitude and/or 
applying the engine power at 
a certain altitude.

IRL (Idle Reverse on 
Landing): Use of full reverse 
for less than four seconds.

7 98APU Optimization: 
Reduction of the APU use.

Overfueling: Reduction of 
the variation between the 
fuels required according to 
flight plan and actual flight.

GRI 302-4 Through our energy saving programs, we managed to prevent the consumption of 6.95 million gallons 
of jet fuel (16% more than the gallons saved in 2017), equivalent to 67,014 less tons of CO2eq released.

With the fuel saved, Avianca would have made 440 flights from Bogotá to 
Madrid, transporting around 110,000 passengers. 

 2015 2016 2017 2018
Jet A-1 fuel on aircraft (gal)74 461,263,232 483,310,993 485,320,384 519,981,843

Own indicator: energy consumption. With the aim of monitoring the level of efficiency of fuel use with regard 
to the occupation of our aircraft, we measure our performance through the indicator of our aircraft Jet A1 fuel 
consumption (liters) for every 100 revenue form passenger per kilometers flown (RPKs), in line with our first 
environmental goal.

1

74.  The conversion factors of Annex 1 were used. Aviation fuel consumption is measured from the closing of doors in the station of origin to the opening 
of doors in the destination station.

“Fuel efficiency is the number one priority for 
our airlines”
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11
,4

7

Own indicator: Fuel RPKs

4,624,70

4,60

4,50

4,40

4,30

4,20

4,10

4,00

3,90
 2014       2015        2016       2017        2018

4,57

4,45

4,28

4,22

than in  
2016751.5% less

Target 2018

Indicator details for each airline that comprises Avianca Holdings as each one of the airlines contributed to 
achievement of the target:

Since 2016, we have reduced the consumption of jet fuel by 5% for every 100 revenue passenger per kilometers 
flown, while we had a 1.3% reduction compared to 2017.

This reduction is the result of the constant renovation of the fleet, implementation of new technologies in our 
aircraft and systems and the constant evolution of the Avianca Fuel program, which has enabled us to continue 
growing sustainability (14% increase in RPKs vs 2016, ongoing reductions in the fuel consumption indicator).

• Keep implementing the best technology 
in aircraft and applying good operating 
practices to save fuel. 

• Implement seven new fuel-saving initiatives 
that will enable us to keep achieving our 
targets.

• Increase our efficiency through two strategic 
partnerships with MIT and General Electric. 

• Apply new practices and industry standards 
focused on using analytics to make 
better decisions in flight planning and 
implementation.

• Thanks to the Avianca Fuel program, we 
managed to save a total of 6.95 million 
gallons of jet fuel A1 (+16% compared 
to 2017) equivalent to 67,014 tons 
of CO2 and savings of USD 20 million 
contributing to the Holding Company’s 
sustainability. 

• We reduced our aircraft’ landing fuel 
usage by 3% through our practices in 
operations and dispatch of the fleet, 
saving more than 265,000 gallons of jet 
A1 fuel in 2018.

• We kept implementing the best 
technology in aircraft and applying good 
operating practices to save fuel.

Indicator fuel RPKs Lineal (Indicator fuel RPKs)

75. This goal is compared to 2016, due to the fact that in 2017 it was an atypical year as a result of the strike of activities in Colombia.

5

Aerovías del 
Continente Americano

Grupo 
Taca Holdings

Aerogal

4.5

4

4.26
4.32

4.51

4.674.67

2014 20162015 2017 2018

4.4

4.2

4

3.8

4.01
4.04

4.19

4.26
4.3

2014 20162015 2017 2018

15
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5

0

4.715.33
5.775.65

9.99

2014 20162015 2017 2018

1. Reduce the fuel consumed (liters) 
by aircraft operation per 100 revenue 
passenger per kilometer flown (RPKs).  

Highlights
2018

Challenges 
for 2019

Consumed fuel (liters) by aircraft operation 
per 100 RPKs (L)
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¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?
Aviation produces around 2% of the 
total carbon dioxide (CO2) emissions 
produced by different human activity 
according to studies conducted by the 
United Nations Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 

Therefore, the sector has focused 
on investing in new technologies 
and adequate operating procedures 
and has managed to maintain 
its emissions at a level of growth 
proportionally lower than the increase 
in the number of passengers, which 
increases by 5% on average each 
year. The emissions generated by the 
aircraft’ engines are comprised of 
approximately 70% CO2, around 29% 
H2O and the remaining 1% of NOx, 
CO, SOx, NMVOCs76, particles and 

other trace elements. 

At Avianca, we calculate our 
carbon footprint, committing 
to the mitigation of emissions 
through programs to reduce energy 
consumption. CO2 emissions are 
comprised of the emissions generated 
by the combustion processes in the 
operation of aircraft, which amount 
to 99.8% of the total scope 1 and 
2 emissions. We also include the 
emissions from combustion processes 
for the operation of our own ground 
support equipment and vehicles, the 
use of emergency electric generators, 
the use of extinguishers on the ground 
and the consumption of refrigerant 
gases.

Carbon Footprint

GRI 305-4 GHG emissions intensity. With the aim of monitoring the level of efficiency in the generation of CO2 
emissions with regard to the occupation of our aircraft, we measure our performance through the indicator of 
kilograms of CO2 emissions by the aircraft over every 100 revenue passenger kilometers, in line with our second 
environmental objective.

1

76.  Non-Methane Volatile Organic Compounds: They are compounds formed mainly of hydrocarbons from some of the following chemical groups: 
alcohols, aldehydes, alkanes, arenes, ketones and halogen derivatives. These substances are characterized as easily becoming vapors at room 
temperature and many of them are colorless and odorless.
77.  Includes Avianca S.A., Taca, Aerogal and regional airlines..
78. This target is compared to 2016, because 2017 was an atypical year as a result of the strike of activities in Colombia.

2. Reduce aircraft emissions, expressed 
in kilograms of CO2, per 100 revenue 
passenger kilometer (RPKs).

than in  
2016781.5% less 

Target 2018

 2015 2016 2017 2018 Target
Efficiency: Kg of CO2 / 100 
revenue passenger kilometers77

11.54 11.25 10.81 10.67 11.0878
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 2015 2016 2017 2018
Total aircraft emissions (tons of 
CO2eq) 4,447,536 4,660,122 4,679,497 5,013,705

Aircraft emissions (tons of CO2) 4,414,025 4,625,010 4,628,024 4,975,929
Aircraft N2O79 emissions (tons 
of CO2)

123.2 129.09 129.63 138.89

Aircraft CH479 emissions (tons 
of CO2)

30.8 32.27 32.41 34.72

Ground support equipment 
and vehicle emissions (tons of 
CO2eq)

10,020.38 10,842.18 9.264.27 4,315.78

Electric generator emissions 
(tons of CO2eq) 0 0 46.9 98.9

Refrigerant gas emissions (tons 
of CO2eq)80 261 473 431 216.99

Total scope 1 emissions (tons of 
CO2eq) 4,457,818 4,671,437 4,689,239 5,018,337.31

In 2018, the kilograms of CO2 per 100 revenue passenger per kilometers flown decreased 5% compared to 2016 and 
1.3% compared to 2017. This decrease is mainly due to the integration of 10 new aircraft to our fleet that reduced 
fuel consumption in their operation, of which, five aircrafts are A320-251 Neo, which can consume 15% less fuel 
than the conventional A320 models, and the Avianca Fuel program.

. 

The 2018 aircraft emissions data were calculated as established by the International Civil Aviation Organization 
(ICAO) as part of the CORSIA scheme, which determines as benchmarks the density of Jet A1 fuel at 0.8 kg/liter 
and the emission factor per kilogram of fuel at 3.16 kg of CO2. Therefore, from 2015 to 2017, data were calculated 
again as listed below:

This report’s scope 1 and 2 emissions have been estimated according to the guidelines established in ISO 14064.

GRI 305-2 Scope 2 Emissions

 2015 2016 2017 2018 Target for 2018 (2% less 
than 2017)

Total scope 2 emissions 
(tons of CO2eq) 2,993.84 3,241.02 3,939.81 3,286.34 3,861.01

Scope 3 Emissions

As part of Avianca’s Climate Strategy and in line with global best practices, we joined the CDP Supply Chain program. 
Therefore, we invited 252 service providers including fuel suppliers, ground support operators, hotels, aircraft 
manufacturers and maintenance providers, jointly achieving a participation of 23%. They participated by reporting 
their management efforts in climate change including governance, emissions, targets and indicators, opportunities 
and risks. All of the above enables us to start measuring scope 3 of our carbon footprint and enables the air 
transport sector to incorporate strategies in its climate change management. Out of the suppliers that participated:

Integrate climate change 
in their business strategy.85%

Measure their scope 1 and 
2 emissions.76%

Have emissions reduction 
goals.73%

Report taking action to 
reduce their emissions.78%

GRI 305-1 Scope 1 Emissions

Our scope 1 emissions increased 6% compared to 2017, because of the normalization of air operations in Colombia 
and the 8% increase in revenue passenger kilometers (RPKs) compared to the previous year.

79. GRI 305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulfur oxides (SOX), and other substances.
80. GRI 305-6 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances

In 2018, we decreased the consumption of purchased electricity by 16.5% in comparison with 2017, because of the 
implementation of LED technology in the lighting systems of the different work centers in all countries and the 
transfer of Avianca’s operation out of the Puente Aéreo terminal.
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¿What are carbon credits?

An international mechanism 
for offsetting greenhouse gas 
emissions generated by human 
activity. Every time a person 
or organization purchases 
carbon credits, they invest in 
projects that protect or restore 
ecosystems that are part of our 
natural heritage, essential to 
saving life on our planet.

In 2018, we continued to have carbon neutral operations in Colombia by 
purchasing carbon credits and reducing emissions verified and certified under 
international and national standards. Said credits are a high-impact social and 
environmental investment. 

The purchase of these carbon credits or units took place in three projects in 
Colombia for the reforestation, restoration and conservation of forests. More 
than 70% of said credits were used in the REDD+ Unified Indigenous Reservation 
of the Mataven Forest project.

With an investment of more than USD 3 million, we offset emissions equivalent to 
1,019,170 tons of carbon dioxide, which amounted to 20.41% of the Company’s 
total scope 1 emissions, having carbon neutral operations in Colombia.

Projects:
REDD+ Unified Indigenous Reservation of the Mataven Forest 
(RIU SM, for the Spanish original) project, 1566: With the credits 
purchased by Avianca, we contributed to the conservation and protection of 
1.3 million hectares of forest in the territories of 17 indigenous communities of 
the high plains of the Amazon and Orinoco forest, as well as the creation of 600 
forest guard jobs for the indigenous people of the area. 

Standard: 

VCS
728,516
ton CO2

Verified:
YES

Galilea-Amé  Forest Conservation: : This project’s main aim is forest 
conservation in the municipality of Villarica, including areas of the municipalities 
of Cunday, Dolores, Purificación and Prado in the Department of Tolima, 
which ensures adequate protection of the significant biodiversity found there. 
Furthermore, the project aims to improve the living conditions of the people who 
currently live in the forest through the development of enterprise projects other 
than the expansion of the agricultural and cattle farming frontier.

Standard: 

ICONTEC
243,566
ton CO2

Verified:
YES

El Guásimo: A commercial reforesta-
tion project in the area called “Llanos de 
Cuivá” in the municipalities of Yarumal and 
Angostura in the Department of Antioquia; 
the ranches located in Alto del Guamo and 
La Palma in the municipality of Manizales, 
El Recreo ranch in the municipality of Neira 
and El Molino ranch in the municipality of 
Villamaría in the Department of Caldas, 
which involves different landowners in the 
process. This is a special project, because 
the land that is now dedicated to commer-
cial reforestation was previously used for 
extensive cattle farming, which caused the 
deterioration of the soil in the region. The 
soil quality and water cycle have improved 
since the implementation of the project.   

Standard: 

ICONTEC
47,088

ton CO2

Verified:
YES

• We incorporated 10 latest-generation 
aircraft. The upgrade of the fleet reduces fuel 
consumption, CO2 and NOx (nitrogen oxide) 
emissions and noise levels.

• Avianca Holdings airlines file the emissions 
monitoring plans with the civil aviation 
authorities as part of CORSIA for the countries 
where this is applicable according to their 
operation: Colombia, Ecuador, Costa Rica, 
Guatemala, El Salvador and Peru. The 
monitoring of said emissions is in line with 
the plans and, on January 1, 2019, will begin 
to establish the baseline that will serve as the 
market-based model determined by the ICAO. 

• We are the first airline in the Americas to be 
a part of the CDP “Supply Chain” program. 
Therefore, 55 of our main service providers 
reported their climate change management, 
which will facilitate the identification of 

opportunities in risk management related to 
climate change and will start the measurement 
of scope 3 regarding the carbon footprint.

• In the Dow Jones Index MILA, we had a 
significant increase in the Climate Strategy. This 
was a result of improvements such as: indicators 
with 100% coverage of air operations, risk 
management and climate change opportunities, 
and achievement of the targets established for 
the Climate Strategy. 

• To improve all the controls and processes in 
place for monitoring and reporting emissions, 
we scheduled a voluntary audit of the emissions 
generated by air operations with a European 
entity accredited for the framework applicable 
to the operation, such as CORSIA and the 
European Union Emissions Trading System (EU 
ETS). 

• Keep implementing the best technology in aircraft and 
applying good operating practices. 

• Measure scopes 1 and 2 of the carbon footprint for our 
main stations according to the ISO 14064 guidelines.

• Generate strategic partnerships to offset emissions and 
create a project bank in our main stations.

• Work with airport operators and aeronautical 
authorities to improve operating efficiency in the main 
airports.

Purchase or Carbon Credits 
Challenges 
for 2019

Highlights
2018
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Flights with 
Eco-efficiency

Goal 6.4. By 2030, considerably increase the efficient use of water resources in all sectors and 
ensure the sustainability of the extraction and supply of freshwater to combat water shortages 
and considerably reduce the number of people who suffer from lack of water. We are committed to 
generating efficiencies to mitigate our impact on the environment.

Goal 12.4 By 2020, achieve the ecologically rational management of chemicals and all waste 
throughout its life cycle in accordance with the agreed international frameworks, and significantly 
reduce their release into the atmosphere, water and soil with the aim of minimizing adverse effects 
on human health and the environment.

Goal 12.5 By 2030, considerably reduce waste generation through prevention, reduction, recycling 
and reuse activities.

Water Consumption
We measured our water consumption in m3 recorded for 2018.

GRI 303-1 Water Consumption81.

Main reduction strategies: 

• Implementation of pressure washers to wash ground equipment in the 
stations of El Salvador and Guatemala.  

• Repair of  water leaks efficiently. 
• Dry washing of aircraft - gallons reduced, etc. 
• Optimization of areas. 
• Change of bathroom taps in Lima station.

1

81. The 303-1 indicator refers to the water consumption of: Bogotá: Avianca Administrative Center, Operational Excellence Center and Hangar 2; 
Medellín: Hangar MRO (Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul) and Hangar Tampa; El Salvador; Guayaquil; Quito; Lima; San José; and Guatemala.

• Keep implementing strategies to save and 
efficiently use the water resource in the main 
stations where we operate.

• We managed to reduce our water 
consumption by 7.31% compared to 2017 
thanks to the implementation of efficient 
use and saving strategies.

Supply Source 2015 2016 2017 2018
Waterlines 168,203.0 159,164.0 94,349.70 87,945.53
Ground water 80,490.0 50,343.0 29,834.90 27,151.40
Total 248,693.0 209,507.0 124,184.60 115,096.93

121,700.9Target for 2018: 
(2% less than 2017)

Highlights
2018

Challenges 
for 2019
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Waste Management

GRI 306-2 Waste Management 

Conventional Waste 

3. Increase the reuse of conventional waste in relation to the 
total waste generated.

Target for  2018
Increase the use of conventional 

waste by 
37%

 In recent years, our generation of 
non-hazardous waste has shown a 
downward trend, while the recycling 
percentage has been on the increase. 
In 2018, we achieved the recycling 
of 41.4% of all conventional waste 

generated. This indicator measures the 
amount of conventional waste reused 
with regard to all the waste generated 
in 2018 and its management is in line 
with our third environmental objective.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Recycled (tons) 571.8 583.5 587.5 508 572.2
Landfill (tons) 1,292.4 917.5 877.8 897.2 808.7
Total generation of 
conventional waste 
(tons)

1,864.2 1,501.1 1,465.3 1,405.2 1,380.9

Main recycling practices of conventional waste:

• Create agreements with local organizations that economically exploit 
recyclable waste and reinvest in social projects.

• Transform plastic waste resulting from the maintenance processes of 
airline seats into new tools for our technicians.

• Encourage our employees and clients to separate plastic and polystyrene 
at the source through the installation of a machine that upon receipt 
of recyclable material, delivers discount vouchers for chain stores, 
restaurants, etc.

• Actively participate in the airport operators’ waste management 
programs. 

510.9 ton

Conventional Waste 
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Hazardous Waste  

4. Increase the recovery of hazardous waste in relation to 
the total waste generated.  

target 2018
Increase the recovery of 

hazardous waste by 
69%

We increased our recovery of hazardous waste by aligning our fourth 
environmental objective.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
Recovered (tons) 183.7 189.4 283.8 359.9 449.0
Disposed (tons) 58.0 66.5 115.9 169.4 171.5
Total generation 
of hazardous 
waste (tons)

241.7 255.9 399.7 529.3 620.5

Main practices for the recovery of hazardous waste:

• Reduce the waste of chemicals used in maintenance 
operations by authorizing controlled areas for 
leftover chemicals. 

• Purchase chemicals in smaller packages, which 
reduces waste. • Seek new partnerships to end the life cycle 

of the waste generated during our operation 
and continue increasing the percentage of 
waste reused.

Noise Management
Own Indicator: Noise Generation

In 2006, the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO), the United Nations 
intergovernmental organization for aviation, introduced a new noise standard 
called Chapter 4 designed to ensure that new aircraft are at least 10 decibels (or 
one third) quieter than those built according to the specifications of Chapter 3.  

This standardization consists of a series of measures to reduce the noise level 
of the reaction engines. In fact, the ICAO calculates that the number of people 
exposed to aeronautical noise decreased by 35% throughout the world between 
1998 and 2004. 

It is worth mentioning that all our airplanes (A318-A319-A320-A330-ATR72-
Boeing 787) are Stage 4 certified on noise level. The airplane manufacturer 
issues this categorization.  

Therefore, we have the best technology available for air operations and we 
comply with the noise reduction procedures at the airports as required by the 
aeronautical authority. 

• Maintain the highest standards in technology 
to mitigate noise in operations.

428.1 ton

Hazardous Waste

Challenges 
for 2019

Challenges 
for 2019



194 195Annual Report 2018 • Avianca Holdings S.A.

Factor  Source 
Colombia 
energy emission 
factor

 0.21 t CO2/ KWh 2017. Mining and Energy Planning 
Unit (UPME, for the Spanish original). 
Emission factors of the Colombian 
National Grid (SIN, for the Spanish 
original)    

El Salvador 
energy emission 
factor

0.0754 kg CO2/KWh 2018. National Meteorological 
Institute. Greenhouse gas emission 
factors. Eighth edition. p. 5

Costa Rica 
energy emission 
factor

0.0754 kg CO2/KWh 2018. National Meteorological 
Institute. Greenhouse gas emission 
factors. Eighth edition. p. 5

Guatemala 
energy emission 
factor 

0.4877 kg CO2/ KWh http://www.mem.gob.gt/wp-
content/uploads/2015/05/Balance-
Energetico-2016.pdf

Peru energy 
emission factor

0.297 kg CO2/KWh 2013. CO2 emissions from fuel 
combustion. Highlights. p. 114 

Ecuador energy 
emission factor

 0.21 t CO2/ KWh 2017. UPME. Emission factors of the 
Colombian National Grid (SIN, for the 
Spanish original)    

Conversion 
factor

1T =278000 KWh

Calorific Power  Amount Units Source
Gasoline calorific 
value 

44.3 TJ/Gg http://www.world-nuclear.org/
information-library/facts-and-
figures/heat-values-of-various-
fuels.aspx.

Diesel calorific 
value

43 TJ/Gg http://www.world-nuclear.org/
information-library/facts-and-
figures/heat-values-of-various-
fuels.aspx.

Gasoline density 2,574 Kg/gl  
Diesel density 3,149 Kg/gl  

ANNEX - Innovating with Sustainable Impact

Table of Emission Factors Used
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The economic, social and 
environmental performance of our 
Company is essential to creating 
value for our stakeholders. Our 
purpose is to profitably develop 
strategic markets with differentiated 
businesses, operations and services 
that meet the needs and motivations 
of our customers.

In the framework of our strategic 
direction, we have driven 
management toward digital 
transformation and the development 
of the best human resources, with 
our customer as the center of 
everything we do. We aim to provide 
exceptional service to consolidate 
Avianca’s leadership in the industry 
and that, in turn, will project us 
as a competitive Company at the 
level of the best industry standards, 
operating effectively to optimize 
resources, reduce costs and have an 
efficient cash flow.

To administrate and secure our 
financial management processes 
focused on the optimal and 
efficient administration of financial 
resources, we have defined policies 
that cover the relevant issues of our 
management:

• Cash unit.

• Investments.

• Financial risk hedging.

• Cleaning of bank transactions.

• Petty cash and imprest funds.

• Refunds.

• Travel expense control.

• Levels of authorization and 
delegation of administrative 
powers.

• Provision management.

• Clearing House miscellaneous.

“At Avianca, we 
always aim to go 
the extra mile”

A value proposition for 
our stakeholders

12 ¿Why is it important and how do we 
manage it?

Goal 8.1. Sustain per capita economic growth in accordance with national circumstances and, in 
particular, at least 7 per cent gross domestic product growth per annum in the least developed 
countries. 

Goal 8.2. Achieve higher levels of economic productivity through diversification, technological 
upgrading and innovation, including through a focus on high-value added and labor-intensive sectors.

Goal 9.1. Develop quality, reliable, sustainable and resilient infrastructure, including regional and 
transborder infrastructure, to support economic development and human well-being, with a focus 
on affordable and equitable access for all.
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In addition to the aforementioned policies, each of the eight departments of the Financial Vice Presidency have specific 
policies for the management of the department, in order to review the development of the proposed objectives and 
projects.

We apply a comprehensive risk approach in our financial management, focused on the timely identification and 
systematic assessment of threats and the control and management of risks. Risks are identified by the Risks and 
Security Area and assessed by the area responsible for the risk identified. The main financial risks identified are: 

We are working so that our management efforts are reflected in the quality of the results delivered to the market, 
as well as in the excellent service provided to our internal customers:

Achievements   
• Savings on P&L82  amounting to USD 143.8 M  derived from 104 initiatives in 2018. These savings have allowed 

the mitigation of post-strike impacts.

• Generation of USD 150 M from the implementation of 26 Cash Flow initiatives in 2018. 

Our CPI project
We have continued to implement our Cost Performance Improvement (CPI) Program, achieving major 
accomplishments in the search for efficiencies in the Company’s processes and operation in 2018:

CASK

6.6 = Total 
2017

6.2 = Ppto 
2018

The CPI has ten work fronts that address the areas with the 
most relevance and impact on our financial statements, 

reflected in the CASK:

1 
82.  Profit and loss account

6.4 = Real
2018

Volatility of 
the price of 
fuel.

Level of financial 
leverage.

Efficiency 
of the cost 
structure 
compared 
to the 
Industry.

Financial effects 
as a result of tax 
disputes, mainly 
in El Salvador, 
Guatemala, Peru, 
Costa Rica, Brazil 
and Ecuador.

1 42 3 Changes that can have a 
negative impact on the 
Financial Statements as 
a result of a tax reform, 
mainly in: El Salvador, 
Guatemala, Colombia, 
Peru, Costa Rica, Brazil 
and Ecuador.

5

As part of our risk management model, we have established controls such as the definition of Key Performance Indicators 
(KPIs), periodic analysis of information and the monitoring of action plans in order to improve the management of the 
financial risk and thus, carry on with our growth projections.

There are different spaces defined to assess the performance of financial processes:

• Bimonthly primary group meeting to review figures, processes, management’s alignment with the vice presidency 
objectives, human resource reviews, technology, ongoing projects, challenges and achievements of each of the 
departments. 

• Monthly meeting of the Financial Approval Committee in which the projects to be implemented are reviewed, 
ensuring their profitability for the Company and the budget availability. 

Provision of excellent service 
to our internal customer.

Quality of the results 
disclosed to the market on a 

quarterly basis.

Company responsibility in 
the repayment of all types of 

obligations. 

Attainment of 
resources.

Cost 
optimization. 

Assurance of returns on the 
Company’s investments.

Fleet Administration

Operations MaintenainceCommercial Customer
Experience

Technology

Airports

Fuels Business
Units
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1 
83. Total operating expenses, excluding fuel expense, divided by available chairs per kilometer.
84. Earnings before interest and taxes.
85. Related to the Sarbanes Oxley Act.

Our economic performance 2018
We are a Company committed to creating value for our stakeholders. In performing our operations, we create 
and distribute economic value, provide opportunities for growth and leverage the Company’s value strategy. The 
generation of employment, the development of our people’s skills, the demand for goods and services and the 
economic contribution to the government through the payment of taxes, are the bases of some of the contributions 
made while performing our economic activities. 

GRI 201-1 Direct economic value generated  

The information listed below presents the economic performance of Avianca Holdings and includes information 
about Aerovías del Continente Americano S.A. Avianca and its subsidiaries. It also includes Grupo Taca Holdings 
Limited and its subsidiaries. 

2018 Value in 
Thousands (USD)

$4,890,830

$ 10,115

$9.97

Economic value retained 
$ 45,415

2017 
$ 4,617,622

2018 
$ 5,035,889

2017 
$ 4,370,485

2018 
$ 4,990,474

$ 134,944

2018 Value in 
Thousands (USD)

$ 3,897,956

$ 760,758

$ 212,294

$ 119,456

Revenue from the 
sale of assets  

Revenue from 
net sales 

Revenue 
from financial 
investments 

Economic value 
generated 

$5,035,889
Economic value 

distributed 

$ 4,990,474

Operating expenses 

Employee salaries and 
benefits 

Payment to capital 
providers 

Payments to the government 

Investments in 
communities 

2017 
$ 247,136

2018 
$45,415

2018 Value in 
Thousands (USD)

• Fleet administration and management platform project

• Fuel processes

• Supply Chain 

• Revenue Accounting.

Improving the Company’s 
leverage indicators.

Reducing the ex-fuel CASK83

Achieving efficiencies to optimize 
and reduce costs

Achieving the projected EBIT84 and 
Net Profit indicators.

Implementing technological features 
that will provide us with greater 
productivity.

Contributing to the digital 
transformation process by implementing 
technological features in:

In 2018, our financial 
management was focused on:

Every year, the internal and external audit process 
is carried out in order to comply with the Company’s 

audit policies and certify all the SOX processes85.
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GRI 201-1 

Direct economic value generated 
Operating Revenue
The operating revenue of Avianca Holdings S.A. in 2018 amounted to USD 4,890.8 million, which meant an increase 
of 10.11% compared to 2017. The increases obtained from passenger transport and mail and cargo transportation 
on domestic level, outperformed in 2018. In the first concept, an increase of 14.9% was obtained by increasing USD 
529,7 million in relation to the amount received in 2017.

Operating revenue by type of service and geographic coverage (in USD millions)

Highlights
2018

• We merged the Company’s entire fuel 
process in the Treasury Department, 
achieving greater efficiencies.

• We have worked on the implementation 
of the Fleet Management Program, 
through which we expect to increase 
control over the Company’s accounting 
aspects and the lifetime of the fleet. We 
aim to complete this project in the first 
quarter of 2019.

• We improved the Company’s liquidity 
through new financing structures, such 
as JOLCOs and Revolving Credit Facility. 

• We compiled data related to Avianca 
Holdings’ inventory control.

• The Business Intelligence (BI) tool 
was implemented successfully in the 
financial departments, which enabled 
us to produce more robust and better-
quality reports.

• Our Director of Corporate Finance was 
recognized by Airline Economics87  on the 
“40 under 40” list, which highlights the 40 
people under age 40 who have stood out 
in the aviation industry. 

• JOLCO88 Deal of the Year for Latin America 
by Global Transport Finance (GTF). The 
recognition was obtained by the financing 
of a B787-8.

Awards

1 

87. September 2018 issue.
88. The JOLCO corresponds to an aircraft financing structure.

Revenue from financial investments
The revenue of Avianca Holdings S.A, on account of interest in 2018 showed an increase of 24.20% going from USD 
14.5 million in 2017 to USD 11 million in 2018.

On account of derivative instruments, it totaled USD 0.26% million in 2018 in expenses, which meant a decrease of 
89.75% compared to the previous period.

Economic value distributed 
The economic value distributed during 2018 by Avianca Holdings S.A. and all its subsidiary companies  
Includes the following concepts:

Operating Costs
In 2018, operating costs increased by USD 510.67 million, which is an increase of 12.31% compared to the previous 
period. Among the main concepts considered for the formulation of this item, the components of fuel, passenger 
services, ground operations, maintenance services and facilities, depreciation and amortization, and employee 
salaries and benefits stand out.  

Fuel
Fuel spending increased by USD 290 million, which 
represents an increase of 31% compared to same period 
of the previous year. This is due to a 30% increase in the 
price of a barrel of WTI crude, and a higher consumption 
of gallons due to the operation standardized in 2018. 
Additionally, a lower cost of hedges of USD 12.5 million, 
due to lower payment of premiums for derivatives of fuel 
coverage.

Employee salaries and benefits
By the end of the 2018 period, this item, which includes 
direct and sub-contracted employees, totaled USD 
760.7 million and mainly includes the payments made 
on account of salaries, healthcare insurance and 
transportation spends.

Payments to shareholders
The total of dividends paid to our shareholders in 2018 it 
was USD 97.6 million, which includes Dividends decreed 
by Avianca Holdings and the Dividends decreed to 
LifeMiles.

Depreciation and amortization 
(reinvestment)
The total depreciation and amortization in 2018 was USD 
389.4 million.

Payment to capital providers
The total payments to providers of funds made by the 
Company in 2018 amounted to USD 212.2 million.

Payments to the Government
All the local and municipal taxes on sales and current 
income tax are included in the payments made to the 
government, which amounted to USD 119.4 million in 
2018.

Economic value retained
For 2018, the economic value retained totaled USD 
45,415 million. 

Value in Millions 
(USD)

1 

86. The concept of Other Operational Income includes income from the traveler’s program concepts frequent, terrestrial operations, leases, 
maintenance, interline and others.

8686
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Managing impacts after the strike of 
activities of 2017

In 2018, incremental costs were generated mainly by 
training and the payment of WetLeases, thus affecting 
the Company’s financial indicators throughout the year.

Challenges 
2019

• Successfully complete the 
implementation of International 
Financial Reporting Standard 
(IFRS16).

• Achieve the implementation of the On 
Cloud platform for the information 
included in the Financial Planning 
systems. 

• Maintain the cash over revenue ratio 
above 12%.

• Successfully complete the 
implementation of the ERP SAP. 

• Optimize the passenger & cargo 
Revenue Accounting System.

• Implement and automate passenger 
ticket refunds, reversions and 
compensations.

• Implement robots for data processing.

• Complete the standardization 
of financial processes, policies 
and structures that add value to 
transaction banking and the financial 
operation. 
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13 “ With the best people 
and the best technology 
for an exceptional 
experience, we will be 
the preferred Latin 
American airline in the 
world”

We are projecting ourselves as a 
digital enterprise by transforming 
our customers’ experience. This 
means a change in culture, working 
together with our strategic partners 
and optimizing the components that 
can contribute to the improvement of 
the service. As a fundamental part of 
this process, we have made progress 
in the creation of a digital culture 
that incorporates attributes of agility, 
innovation, empowerment, and a 
process/product-oriented data-based 
approach, by developing initiatives 
that will enable us to become known 
as a digital company that flies 
airplanes.

To continue to do everything for 
the love of our customers through 
a closer, more agile, ongoing and 
personalized relationship, we 

developed the digital transformation 
strategy to improve the way 
we connect our passengers with 
their destinations, before, during 
and after their trip. This strategy 
is based on three main fronts: 
customer, operations and enterprise. 
We began its implementation in 
2017 through our Master Plan, by 
prioritizing the programs, projects 
and initiatives to be executed and 
implemented in the short and 
long term. In 2018, we achieved a 
high level of implementation for 
all the defined projects.  We also 
made major progress in terms of 
the management of technological 
operation and communications, 
which has enabled us to consolidate 
the foundations to achieve our digital 
transformation. 

¿Why is it important and 
how do we manage it?

Our digital DNA
We created a new digital culture based on five 
attributes.

Agile.  
To adapt to the new 
reality.

Innovative.  
To challenge the 
status quo.

Empowered.  
To have the power 
to decide.

Data-based. 
The value of information.

Process/Product-oriented. 
To maximize efficiency.

1

3

5

2

4

#DigitalAvianca

Digital Avianca: A 
new era of exceptional 

service
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Digital customer
We aim to improve our customers’ experience 
through digital technologies to make it more agile, 
consistent and personalized. The customer is the 
center, beginning and end of our business strategy.

Digital enterprise 
We aim to develop tools to increase our people’s 
productivity and promote self-service and agility. 

Digital operation
We optimize the operational processes by 
implementing tools that will lead to more 
efficient management. 

Digital 
Transformation 
Strategy
Our Digital Transformation Strategy has three work 
fronts: Customers, Operation and Enterprise. Each 
of them is made up of several digital technology 
implementation initiatives and projects. We highlight 
below some of the fulfilled projects:

Digitally transforming 
the way we work

Customer  

Digital Transformation Program
Through the Digital Transformation Program, we aim to develop our digital channels and increase their share in 
sales. 

Direct Connect
Avianca is the first Latin American airline to 
implement Direct Connect holding IATA’s Level 3 
NDC (New Distribution Capability) certification. This is 
an optimal technology solution for direct distribution 
that allows us to offer the best content of Avianca 
products and services to a third party (travel agency, 
add-on, metasearch engine, OTA), by using IATA’s NDC 
communication standard.

CRM (Customer Relationship Management)
We implemented the Customer Relationship 
Management (CRM) project using the initiatives of CRM 
Deprisa, Avianca contact management and commercial 
management of executives. We seek to have 360 view of 
our clients, respond more agile to their needs, optimizing 
interactions and functionalities.

• Renewal of the Avianca.com website, with a 
responsive design that adapts to any screen 
resolution and new content with improvements 
in the landing pages of promotions and sales to 
help users find the best prices on our routes and 
destinations. 

• Integration of Adobe tools, which will allow 
improvements in management of contents, 
understanding of the client, A / B tests, 
campaign optimization communication, among 

others; all in order to achieve efficiencies in 
times and be more assertive in the delivery to 
the customer.

• Implementation of improvements in the mobile 
app through the development of a unified 
architecture for smartphone operating systems 
(iOS and Android), improvements in the features 
of the tool and notifications to our customers. 

In 2018, we carried out the following projects.
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Own Indicator Compliance with project implementation (SPI Schedule 
Performance Index)
This is the level of compliance with the projects from the Master Digital and Technology Plan. 

Goal for 2019: 

90%90%

Operation Simplify
We are implementing new techno-
logies for the processes related to 
flight operations and crew mana-
gement by means of two fronts: 
Simplify OPS and Simplify Crew. 
Through the tools that make up this 
technology, operating irregularities 
are reported in a timely manner, 
processes are optimized and infor-
mation is centralized in order to 
manage crews and dispatchers. 

MyCrew (Pilot App)
This app provides pilots and cabin 
crew with a platform that contains 
consolidated administrative, 
technical and operational 
information of interest.

Electronic Flight Bag
Through the implementation of 
this project, we aim to increase 
the productivity of our pilots 
and reduce manual processes by 
digitizing the cockpit of the Avianca 
fleets, thus providing access to 
necessary information in the cabin 
with greater ease.

TAMS (Turn around 
management system)
This tool allows real time tracking 
of assignments and tasks carried 
out during transit stages in the 
operation.

Goal: 

95%
Real: 

105%
Compliance: 

Company

Office 365: Skype for Business
Collaboration tool that facilitates communication both 
internally and externally.

Success Factors
Through this project, human resource processes were 
digitized and transformed to promote the culture of 
digital transformation, self-service, agility and simplicity.

Electronic Bill
This project complies with the current regulations 
relevant to the bills emission and ease the process 
inside the Company.  

Document Management
We are implementing this program to define guidelines 
on document management and to comply with the 
applicable regulations in force.

E-volution - Ariba
The E-volution project aims to implement the new 
Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) in the Company. 
In 2018, the Ariba module was implemented, which 
improves supplier management and enables document 
digitization and tracking.
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Our 
challenges for 
2019

Customer-centered 
innovation

Benefits 
• Understanding of our customers’ actual 

needs.
• Improve our customers’ experience 

through co-creation and design thinking 
by involving them.

• Improvement in the adoption of new 
tools and systems.

• Strategic partnerships with MIT and 
Universidad de Los Andes. 

• Rethinking investments that add more 
value to our customers.

Innovation initiatives 
developed in 2018.30
Passengers have participated in research and direct 
observation activities led by the Company to ensure the 
alignment of new projects with our customers’ needs and 
expectations.

+1,000

Process management:
We have made progress regarding the process-oriented culture. At 
present, 85 processes have been mapped. Work is being done on 
the improvement of 21 processes, 4 of which aim directly at our 
OTP operational indicator.

Savings amounting to 
USD 10.5 million through 
the implementation of the 
new fuel program and the 
negotiation to optimize 
fuel consumption.

A reduction of USD 
2.3 million through 
the optimization of the 
organizational structure 
and alignment of 
processes.

This is how we are making progress as for 
our challenges from 2018
• We are implementing the projects and initiatives defined in 

the Master Plan.
• Through the Digital Transformation Program, we have 

improved the customer experience, by optimizing 
interactions and improving the features on digital channels.

• We launched Project Online, a tool that makes project 
monitoring much easier, by reducing manual processes in 
the Company.

• We are consolidating the management of the technology 
operation supported by third parties, by implementing 
MAURO  and ensuring infrastructure monitoring and 
support.

• Implement the projects 
defined in the Master Plan in 
2019.

• Implement the customer 
self-management platform 
via the Digital Transformation 
Program.

• Make sure we obtain value 
from the projects that have 
been implemented.

• Strengthen agility, analytics 
and data-based decision-
making.

Key projects for achieving technological 
transformation
In 2018, we made progress in the projects that consolidate 
Avianca’s digital transformation bases.

Journey to Cloud Software factories

Management 
by processes, 

corporate risks 
and enterprise 

architecture

 Data Center 
outsourcing/
user access 

management

Networks, 
Telecommunications 

and information 
security

IT Services 
Help Desk - outsourcing 

MAURO89

Key elements for 
achieving digital 
transformation

Journey to cloud
Reduction in technological 
obsolescence.
Optimization of cloud costs.

Management
by processes
Integrated platform 
to manage risk 
administration, 
management, 
architecture and 
processes in Avianca.

Transformation 
of networks, 
telecommunications and 
security    
Through the implementation of 
this program, we aim to improve 
network coverage by ensuring 
telecommunications and compliance 
with security. In 2018, we achieved an 
average network coverage of up to 44 
percentage points compared to 2017. 

Software factories  
Through methodologies 
agile with multidisciplinary 
equipment. 

Outsourcing 
of the 
technological 
operation  
In 2018, we achieved the 
monitoring and support 
of 100% of Avianca’s 
infrastructure 24/7 
thanks to the projects 
to outsource the 
technological operation.  

Integral service management
We implemented the Unified Help Desk of 
Operational Resources (MAURO, for the Spanish 
original), a new channel for improving the internal 
customer experience.
 The level of internal user satisfaction with 
MAURO89 reached a 19 percentage point 
increase in the indicator compared to its initial 
measurement.

Own indicator: 

1

89. MAURO: Unified Help Desk of Operational Resources
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14

Our fleet: 
eco-efficiency, 

reliability and comfort

“High-technology aircraft 
connecting Latin America 
to the world”

The customer is the center, 
beginning and end of our business 
strategy. We aim to provide an 
exceptional, safe and comfortable 
experience on land and air. Our 
actions are focused on having a 
fleet that offers more space and 
comfort, while striving to be on the 
leading edge of service technology 
with design improvements for 
greater operational efficiency and 
easy maintenance. 

For this purpose, we are carrying 
out a process for the identification, 
negotiation, incorporation, 
management and withdrawal 
of the fleet in the most efficient 

manner for Avianca’s operation. 
We have also continued to renew, 
simplify and modernize the fleet 
of aircraft to move forward in our 
purpose of being a more competitive 
and sustainable Company while 
complying with the highest industry 
standards.

Our actions are carried out based on 
the requirements of the Company’s 
Fleet Plan, through the planning 
and optimal implementation of 
aircraft movements, which result 
in cost reductions in the operation, 
in accordance with the leases and 
financing contracts.  
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Through the development of specific models, we 
measured the performance and profitability of the 

Company’s fleet and generated alerts and guidelines 
for the operational, accounting and financing areas, to 

maximize the return on the investment in the fleet.

We have implemented the LeaseWorks 
fleet management system for the 
systematization of fleet management 
processes

• We incorporated the A320 NEO fleet in Central 
America and the A330-300 fleet.

• We achieved the fleet certification across 52 
stations (airports).

• We renegotiated and extended the lease contracts 
of 13 aircraft, resulting in a 32,85% reduction in 
operating income.

• We operated 3 aircraft under wet leases.

The life cycle of our 
aircraft
We connect our travelers to their destination through one of the newest and 
most modern fleets on the continent. 

In 2018, we incorporated 10 aircraft:

• Five (5) Airbus 320neo
• Two (2) Airbus 330-300
• Two (2) Airbus 321
• One (1) Boeing 787-8

We are analyzing, proposing and negotiating the options to 
withdraw all the aircraft from the Holding Company, in compliance 

with the fleet requirements of the Company’s long-term business 
plan, aiming to generate savings or cash inflows and P&L 

through the sale, return, leasing to third parties, extension and/or 
renegotiation of the aircraft contracts.

We achieved a 52% reduction in maintenance reserves 
held by lessors. 

7. Withdrawal 
of the fleet

5. Incorporation of 
the fleet

6. Performance 
and operation 

of the fleet

2. Analysis and 
selection of the 

fleet

3. Negotiation 
of the fleet

4. Aircraft 
financing

1. Planning 
the fleet

Interesting fact
The rounded shape of the aircraft windows allows the pressure inside the plane, generated by 
pressurization (compressed air), to move along in a smooth and balanced manner, thus preventing any 
cracks or leaks that could pose a risk to passenger safety. 

Highlights
2018
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Features 

Business Class:

• More space available between seats (40 
inches). 

• New ergonomic headrests, with four different 
positions and neck support.  

• A better visual experience with the 11.6-inch 
screen and a 1,080-pixel resolution in the new 
in-flight Entertainment System. 

Economy Class:  

• Headrests that adjust to the height of our 
passengers. 

• Seats recline further to improve ergonomics, 
and since they are lighter and slim, they provide 
more space in the cabin. 

• Entertainment System screens are equipped 
with a USB port to connect your devices.

LEAP- 1A Engines
Its light, cutting-edge materials and a thermal 
process taking place in the combustion chamber 
ensure 15% savings on fuel and reduce the 
acoustic footprint by up to 50%, making the 
aircraft more efficient.

Wings
It has sharklets. These aerodynamic devices on the 
wing tip optimize fuel consumption by up to 4% 
on longer journeys, which is an annual reduction of 
approximately 1,000 tons of CO2 per aircraf.

Manufacturer
Airbus.

Lighting
It has a modern atmosphere with LED lighting 
that adapts to the journey and provides 
greater comfort.

Our Airbus 
A320neo
In 2018, we incorporated new aircraft in our fleet; introducing the Airbus 
A320NEO. 

Routes 
Domestic flights in Colombia and short-range 
international flights.

Technical specifications
Length: 37, 57 m 
Height: 12,08 m
Wingspan: 35,8 m

• Cruise speed: 840 km/h
• Ceiling: 12,131 m
• Capacity: 79,000 kg
• Load capacity:  6,300 kg

141  /  Avianca en revista

CLASE  
ECONÓMICA: 138 31 - 32”

CLASE  
EJECUTIVA: 12 40”

*Flota en operación y cifras a 30 de noviembre de 2017, sujeta a cambios. 
*Operating fleet and numbers at November 30, 2017 subject to changes.
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Boeing 787-8

• Its estimated load capacity is 4,700 kg, with sea-
level takeoff.

• Cruise speed: 828 Km/h
• Ceiling: 12,131 m
• Capacity: 75,500 kg
• 12 seats in Business Class and 108 in Economy 

Class.

Airbus A319

Aircraft

13
Aircraft

27

Passenger 
transportation.

Cargo 
transportation.

• Provides greater flight efficiency with less fuel 
consumption and greater speed.

• Ideal for long interoceanic flights.
Specifications
• Cruise speed: 913 km/h
• Range: 13,137 m
• Scope: 13.620 km.
• 28 seats in Business Class and 222 in Economy 

Class.
Advanced wing design
• Smooth flights, even in turbulence.
Total comfort
• In Business Class, the seats can be reclined   

all the way to the horizontal position.

A330

• It is the smaller version of the 320 family.
• Estimated load capacity: 4,550 Km
• Cruise speed: 828 Km/h
• Ceiling: 12,131 m
• Capacity: 68,000 kg
• 12 seats in Business Class and 88 in Economy 

Class.

Airbus A318

Aircraft

10
Aircraft

10

• Ideal for long flights
• Range: 13,450 km
• Cruise speed: 880 Km/h
• Ceiling: 12,500 m
• Capacity: 47,000 kg
• 30 seats in Business Class and 222 in Economy 

Class.
More comfortable flight
• Completely reclining seats in Business Class for 

greater comfort when sleeping.

Airbus A321

• Efficient, silent and eco-friendly craft, with the 
runway overrun prevention system.

• Load capacity of 6,300 kg, with sea-level takeoff.
• Cruise speed: 828 Km/h
• Ceiling: 12,131 m
• Capacity: 77,000 kg
• 12 seats in Business Class and 138 in Economy 

Class.

Airbus A320

Aircraft

15
Aircraft

68

• Less emissions, noise and fuel consumption
• Estimated load capacity of 11,340 kg
• Cruise speed: 846 Km/h
• Ceiling: 12,131 m
• Capacity: 93,500 kg
• 2 seats in Business Class and 182 in Economy 

Class.

Own Indicator: Our Fleet
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Embraer 190

• Regional aircraft driven by two turboprops. Its 
estimated load capacity ranges from 1,502 to 
1,704 kg

• Cruise speed: 263 Km/h
• Ceiling:  7,620 m
• Capacity: 5,255 kg
• Between 46 and 48 seats.

ATR – 42

Aircraft

10
Aircraft

2

• It is the most efficient aircraft in the 98 to 114 
passengers segment.

• Cruise speed: 0.82 Mach (871  Km/h)
• Ceiling: 41,000 ft (12,496.8 kms/hr
• Maximum load: 13,047 kg
• 8 seats in Business Class and 88 in Economy 

Class.

ATR – 72

• Regional turboprop aircraft for short-range 
flights with a maximum capacity of 12 
passengers.

CESSNA-208

Aircraft

15
Aircraft

13

• Aircraft with a maximum capacity of 68 seats for 
regional and short-range flights.

• Cruise speed: 510 Km/h
• Ceiling: 7,620 m
• Capacity: 8,150 kg
• 68 seats in Economy Class.

• Cargo fleet
• Maximum load: 70 tons.
• Maximum speed: 913 km/h
• Total capacity: 476,70 m³

A330F 

Aircraft

6

A300F

• Cargo fleet
• Wingspan: 47.6 m
• Length: 48.5 m
• Maximum takeoff weight: 159,210 kg
• Maximum payload: 44,000 kg

B767F

Aircraft

5

Aircraft

2

• Cargo fleet
• Wingspan: 44.8 m
• Length: 58,08 m
• Maximum takeoff weight: 165,000 kg
• Maximum payload: 43,500 kg

196Total 
aircraft90

Subleased fleet

Avianca subleases to:     Fleet   Number of aircraft

Aeroméxico E190 2
 A319 2
 A330 1
   A330F 1

Ocean Air

Our business model describes the way we 
operate as a Company, setting us apart for our 
service and delivering our operations under 
multiple Air Operator Certificates (AOCs), 
countries and HUBs.

• Incorporate three (3) A320neo aircraft.

• Go live with LeaseWorks software.

• Optimize the ATR 72 and Embraer 190 fleets.

• Simplify the fleets in operation.

• Extend the lease contracts in accordance with the 
Company’s profitability plan.

1

90.  Number of aircraft held by Avianca pursuant to contract and under its responsibility.

Challenges 
for 2019
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Our fleet has 
checkups too

El triage – Aircraft maintenance
When one of our aircraft arrives at an airport, 
it is welcomed by one of our maintenance 
technicians, who checks the “vital signs” of 
the plane as a preventive measure and checks 
that all its essential systems are working 
properly in order to diagnose that it is in 
optimal condition to begin its next flight.

Our aviation physicians - 
Maintenance technicians 
Between technicians, inspectors, supervisors and 
engineers, we have more than 3.000 experts with 
different specialties. Before inspecting and repairing 
the aircraft, they undergo more than four years 
of academic preparation and training to care for 
aircraft health. In addition, every two years, they 
carry out refresher courses for each type of airplane.

Aircraft health
An aircraft’s health is measured based on its technical 
reliability. In our case, the aircrafts are healthy because 
their reliability is 99.53%, which exceeds industry 
standards.

Surgery – Major maintenance 
At intervals of no more than three years, our 
aircraft undergo major maintenance at the 
Maintenance, Repair and Operations (MRO) 
facility in Rionegro, Antioquia. This procedure 
is equivalent to surgery, in which part of their 
systems are intervened: engines are subject 
to a borescope (endoscopy), we inspect 
several areas of the aircraft using x-rays and 
perform thorough maintenance of the cabin.

Checkup with the 
specialist - 
Maintenance after 
750 flight hours
Once our aircraft complete 750 flight hours, they 
undergo routine checkups with our specialized 
technical team, which is responsible for 
performing a functional and detailed inspection 
of the entire airplane. This inspection is similar 
to the checkup performed by an internist who 
orders a series of tests to verify a person’s state of 
health.

In maintenance, we enroll 
world-class talent.
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Maintenance Repair and 
Overhaul (MRO)
The MRO facility is located in Rionegro, Antioquia. 
It is the most modern aeronautical center in Latin 
America. It is recognized for implementing innovative 
processes in the maintenance of aircraft and their 
components in a safe and efficient manner with fewer 
environmental impacts.

In 2018, we continued the expansion plan of our 
aeronautical center by consolidating it as a source 
of specialized technical knowledge, innovation and 
progress for the domestic and international airline 
industry. The MRO has:

Implementation of new 
technologies focused on innovation

The warehouses of our MRO facility have an automated 
system in place for the storage of parts known as a ver-
tical lift, which enables the increase in storage capacity 
and greater control in the process. 

In 2018, digital tools were implemented for the measu-
rement of structural damage on fuselage and control 
surfaces, such as HandyScan and Smart Dent 3D. This 
advance reduces the time to assess dents from birds and 
lightning by up to 50% and ensures the traceability and 
reliability of 100% of the information.

Capacity in the performance of 
maintenance in overhauls

We have the capacity to operate 5 major maintenance 
bays at the same time for the A320 fleet, and an 
additional bay for the maintenance of the 787, A330 
passenger and A330 Cargo fleet.

We achieved a maintenance bay occupation rate of more 
than 95% by the end of 2018.

In 2018, more than 120 maintenance services were 
performed on Avianca Holding’s 787, A330 passenger, 
A330 Cargo, A320 and ATR72 fleets. Furthermore, we 
have provided additional maintenance services for the 
767 fleet of the Colombian Air Force and the A320 fleet 
of Chilean airline, Jet Smart. 

New capacities included in the 
MRO

• Component repair of the Panasonic In Flight 
Entertainment (IFE) system on our A330 and A320 
fleets.

• Repair and lamination of side wall panels on all of 
Avianca Holdings’ fleets.

• Repair of V2500 engine parts - Annulus Filler & Boro-
Blend.

• New capacities on different components of the 787 
and A320neo fleet. 

• Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) capacity 
installed on the units repaired at the MRO 
emergency equipment workshop.

Specialized workshops for 
component repair

We continued increasing the capacity to manufacture 
parts and repair components at the MRO workshops. 
In 2018, we produced more than 32.000 plastic parts 
through the thermoforming and injection processes, and 
such parts are now installed on the airplanes of Avianca 
Holdings’ fleet.

In 2018, we implemented measures to promote the wellbeing of our employees in the MRO facilities through projects 
such as:

• Plant standardization
• New work shifts that favor weekends off
• Opening of a second cafeteria 
• Public transportation up to the MRO facilities
• New bicycle parking and electric bicycle service
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Projects MRO

Focused on optimizing aircraft maintenance, 
repair and inspection.

Separation of the Airline structure (Air 
Operator’s Certificate – AOC291) and 
Certified Repair Station (CRS)
In 2018, we began to assess and redesign the 
organizational structure of the Vice Presidency 
of Engineering and Maintenance, as part of our 
commitment to security and compliance with the 
new aviation regulations for Latin America (LAR). The 
restructuring establishes a framework based on the 
following lines:

Portable Hangar for Wide Body Fleet  
We are in the process of arranging a portable 
hangar with the capacity for a Wide Body aircraft 
or two Narrow body aircrafts in the gulf area of El 
Dorado Airport in Bogotá, where the maintenance 
of this type of aircraft is currently being performed 
outdoors. Through this project, we will improve the 
efficiency of the works and increase the capacities 
that require having covered installations. 

The portable hangar will be located here until the 
new line maintenance hangar is in place. After that, 
it is expected to be moved to the base in Lima. 

Workcells
Work was broken down by cells 
into three different areas of the 
base in Bogotá (BOG). Each of 
these cells has its own coordinator 
and staff to increase the efficiency 
of its work, improve the availability 
of labor and increase productivity 
in processes. 

ADSB-Out (Automatic Dependent Surveillance 
Broadcast-Out)
We are implementing the ADSB-Out in our Airbus fleet. It is a 
system that improves the tracking and identification of aircraft 
during flight and allows the use of precision satellite technology. 
This provides coverage in remote and oceanographic areas in which 
there is no ground-based aids.

Vice 
Presidency of 

Engineering and 
Maintenance

Airline
(COA)

Repair 
station 
(CRS)

Cross-cutting 
areas of 
support

Responsible for en-
suring airworthiness 
and functionality of 
the fleet.

Responsible for pro-
viding line and base 
aircraft maintenance 
services.

Responsible for 
providing support 
for the AOC and CRS 
processes.

Through this project, we aim to clearly define:

• The governance structure, lines of authority, 
responsibilities and policies.

• The monitoring of line and base maintenance 
productivity.

• Quality control and assurance.
• Oversight of aircraft modifications and 

configuration. 
• Cost optimization.

•  Area: 70m x 70m
• Maximum exterior 

height: 30m
• Maximum interior 

height: 25m

USD 
$2.7 MTotal Investment

69 Of our aircraft already have 
the ADSB-Out in place.

The main features of the ADSB-Out installed in the equipment 
include:

• Identify and monitor the flight automatically
• Regulate the speed, altitude and position of the aircraft
• Optimize air space
• Improve the operation of the aircraft systems

Benefits 
This modification will enable the reduction of the minimum flight 
separation, obtaining the following benefits, among others:

Nations. Optimization of 
the use of air space and 
improvement in search and 
rescue activities.

Controllers. Enhanced air 
traffic control and security. 

Airline. Generates savings on 
routes by flying a more direct path 
between origin and destination

Pilots. Obtaining more accurate 
flight information.

USD 
$16.4 MTotal Investment

19
%

We achieved grea-
ter availability of 
labor with a 19% 
increase in repor-
ted man hours.

We achieved 
better results 
regarding the 
compliance of 
scheduled docu-
ments with a 12 
% increase.

12
%

Currently being implemented ImplementedCurrently being implemented Currently being implemented
1. 1

91.  AOC: Air Operator’s Certificate
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Changes on the Aircraft  

Connectivity: In-flight Wi-Fi
We have begun to implement high-speed Wi-Fi on board to complement our passengers’ travel experience. 
This service will gradually be installed at the MRO facility in Rionegro, Antioquia, to be offered mainly on 
international flights. This project will also provide great benefits in our flight and maintenance operations as 
part of our digital transformation strategy.

Inmarsat Global Xpress (GX) Technology

We are the first airline in Latin America to connect to the GX satellite network of Inmarsat Aviation, one of the 
world’s leading providers in satellite connectivity services for the airline sector. Inmarsat Aviation’s Ka-band 
has worldwide coverage and allows our passengers to access Internet. Thanks to the flexibility of the dirigible 
satellites of the GX network, aircraft maintain seamless connections through the Honeywell JetWave terminals 
installed. 

In-flight experience

We have installed Zodiac Inflight Innovations’ RAVE Equipment in the cabin so our passengers enjoy a highly 
reliable Internet connection on any of their mobile devices. This way, they can check their e-mail, use social media 
and even enjoy the preferred streaming services during their flight, provided the aircraft is at an altitude greater 
than 10,000 feet. 

Pilot plan 

We launched the pilot plan on November 26, 
2018, that is temporarily free, offering passen-
gers the possibility of accessing Internet. 

Sale of the in-flight Wi-Fi service

As of February 2019, together with our ally In-
marsat, we will provide passengers with three 
connectivity packages to suit their needs. In-flight 
Wi-Fi complements the service offering to our pas-
sengers, allowing them to customize their trip and 
enjoy a world-class experience.

Operational benefits

As this technology is implemented on more airplanes in our fleet, technology can be used for the capitalization 
of additional benefits, such as: 
• Weather and flight plan apps for pilots.
• Maintenance process prediction apps.

USD
$2.8 MInvestment budgeted 

for 2019

Wi-Fi on the A318 Fleet
Our A318 fleet now has the Wireless Entertainment System, through which we provide passengers with the 
possibility of enjoying movies, series, music and other content, along with a flight map customized by their 
portable electronic devices.  

System: it has six additional components installed at the crown of the aircraft to distribute content through a 
local wireless network from an on-board server.

Implementation: this system has been included on our ten A318 aircraft.

Progress of our projects in 2018

Project Status Progress  

Avianca Cargo Certification for major 
maintenance of B787  

In 2018, we performed three maintenance services on the 
Avianca 787 fleet, two preservation services and changed 
engines at the facilities of Avianca Cargo.  

Physical adaptations/Hangar 2
The warehouse area, operating area, hangar 2 and outdoor 
positions (Gulf) were remodeled in Bogotá based on the 
aircraft maintenance certification standards of the FAA. 

Productivity  
We are making progress to establish the framework for 
workcells, through which productivity increased at the Bogotá 
base by 10,2 %.

We are eco-friendly  

In January 2019, the electric bicycle project began at the 
MRO. 

We have continued making progress on the LEED GOLD 
certification process issued by the Green Building Council, as 
a sustainable building and on the installation of solar panels 
on the MRO infrastructure.

We have 2 A320 aircraft with the system 
installed and available to passengers.

We began to install the system on the first 
B787 at the Boeing MRO in the United States, 

which will be enabled in 2019.

USD
$1.8 MInvestment 

2018

An aircraft’s health is measured based on its technical reliability. 
Our operation complies with the technical reliability index, achieving 
99,5% and exceeding the industry standards.  99,5%

Own indicator: Technical reliability
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• We increased the major maintenance 
capacity by 20% by opening the fifth 
maintenance bay at our MRO facility in 
Rionegro, Colombia.

• We performed the first major maintenance 
of the Boeing B787 aircraft at our own 
Avianca Cargo MRO facilities in Rionegro.

• We performed the first major maintenance 
service on the A320 fleet for a foreign 
customer and airline with successful 
results. 

• We achieved a score of 89,9% on the 
annual commitment survey.

• We implemented the maintenance 
framework by workcells and began the 
restructuring of the Maintenance Control 
Center (MCC).

• Improve the figures of the On-Time 
Performance (OTP) index for Avianca 
Holdings. 

• Incorporate a maintenance line for the A320 
fleet for customers-third parties, in order to 
generate revenue for Avianca Holdings by 
performing maintenance.

• Modify more than 25 aircrafts by installing 
the Wi-Fi connectivity system, which will 
provide passengers with high-speed Internet 
access during flights.

• Consolidate the major maintenance facilities 
in Guatemala as a service line on the ATR72 
and A320 fleets.

• Manage the FOD so that the availability of 
the fleet is affected as little as possible. The 
FOD (Foreign Object Damage) refers to the 
affectation that those elements external 
to the aircraft can produce (maintenance, 
facilities, prevention work, among others).

• Reduce problems with the factory design 
of LEAP-1A (GE) & Trent 100 (Rolls Royce) 
engines.

• Strengthen the Maintenance Control Center 
(MCC) in its new work framework.

Highlights
2018

Challenges 
for 2019
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GRI 102 - 55 GRI Contents Index
General Contents / GRI 

Standard / Own Indicator Website / URL/ Direct response Omissions External 
Verification

Principles of 
the Global 
Compact

Page

GRI Contents Index

Organizational profile

GRI 102-1 Name of the 
organization

x 7, 9

GRI 102-2 Activities, brands, 
products, and services

x 9, 12

GRI 102-3 Location of 
headquarters

Avianca Holdings S.A 
Bogotá, Colombia

x

GRI 102-4 Location of operations x 26

GRI 102-5 Ownership and legal 
form

Avianca Holdings S.A. constituted 
in October 2009, as SK Holding 
Limited in Bahamas redomiciliated 
to Panama in 2011. The statutes of 
the company have been modified 
multiple times, being the last reform 
adopted by resolution unanimously by 
Shareholders Ordinaries and whose 
writing was protocolized with date of 
30 November 2018.

x

GRI 102-6 Markets served x 9, 12, 26

GRI 102-7 Scale of the 
organization

x 9, 26, 100

GRI 102-8 Information on 
employees and other workers

x 100

GRI 102-9 Supply Chain x 164

GRI 102-11 Precautionary Principle 
or approach

x 7 171

GRI 102-12 External initiatives x 57

GRI 102-13 Membership of 
associations

x 25, 36,27

Strategy

GRI 102-14 Statement from senior 
decision-maker

5

Ethics and integrity

GRI 102-16 Values, principles, 
standards, and norms of behavior

x 10 24

GRI 102-17 Mechanisms for advice 
and concerns about ethics

x 10 24

Governance

GRI 102-18 Governance structure x 10 74

GRI 102-19 Delegating authority x 72

GRI 102-20 Executive-level 
responsibility for economic, 
environmental, and social topics

x 73

GRI 102-22 Composition of the 
highest governance body and its 
committees

x 72, 74

GRI 102-23 Chair of the highest 
governance body

x 74

GRI 102-25 Conflicts of interest x 74

GRI 102-26 Role of highest 
governance body in setting 
purpose, values, and strategy

x 73
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GRI 102-32 Highest governance 
body’s role in sustainability 
reporting

x 73

GRI 102-35 Remuneration policies x 73

Compensation to executives Avianca Holdings has predefined 
financial returns as relevant to 
the variable compensation of the 
Executive Director, thus seeking to 
align the interests of executives with 
those of shareholders. Therefore, the 
Company has compensation structures 
in accordance with the long-term 
performance of the Executives. It 
also has a long-term incentive that 
seeks to guide executives to achieve 
sustainable strategic results, aligning 
with the purposes of creating value for 
the organization. For an executive to 
belong to this program, the financial 
and customer satisfaction goals of the 
business plan must be met. Through 
this incentive, different percentages 
of granting for vice presidents and 
Directors are stipulated.

x

GRI 102-36 Process for 
determining remuneration

x 123

GRI 102-37 Stakeholders’ 
involvement in remuneration

x 123

Stakeholder engagement

GRI 102-40 List of stakeholder 
groups

x 40

GRI 102-41 Collective bargaining 
agreements

x 3 133

GRI 102-42 Identifying and 
selecting stakeholders

x 40

GRI 102-43 Approach to 
stakeholder engagement

x 40

GRI 102-44 Key topics and 
concerns raised

x 40

Reporting practice

GRI 102-45 Entities included in the 
consolidated financial statements

x 7

GRI 102-46 Defining report 
content and topic Boundaries

x 38

GRI 102-47 List of material topics x 39

GRI 102-48 Restatements of 
information

x 8

GRI 102-49 Changes in reporting x 8

GRI 102-50 Reporting period x 7

GRI 102-51 Date of most recent 
report

x 7

GRI 102-52 Reporting cycle x 7

GRI 102-53 Contact point for 
questions regarding the report

x 8

GRI 102-54 Claims of reporting 
in accordance with the GRI 
Standards

x 8

GRI 102-55 GRI content index x 273

GRI 102-56 External Assurance x 8

Relevant issues of the materiality analysis

Economical performance

GRI 201-1 Direct economic value 
generated and distributed

x 201-, 202

Customer relations

Own Indicator: Complaint Index x 155

Own Indicator: Net Promoter 
Score (NPS)

155

Own Indicator: Ranking Skytrax 155

Own Indicator: OTP (On time 
performance)

x 160

GRI 418-1 Substantiated 
complaints regarding concerning 
breaches of customer privacy and 
losses of customer data.

x 81

Laws and regulation compliance

Own indicator. Reduction of 
fines by Transportation Security 
Administration

92

Own Indicator: environmental 
breaches

X 174

Prevention of corruption and bribery

GRI 205-2 Communication and 
training about anti-corruption 
policies and procedures

x 91

Own Indicator: Ethics and 
compliance training

90

GRI 415-1 Political contributions. Avianca granted an 80% discount on 
the available air fare plus taxes, to all 
candidates registered with the National 
Electoral Council as candidates for the 
Presidency of the Republic of Colombia 
for the constitutional period 2018-
2022, in the current electoral contest, 
and in conditions of equality, issuing 
151 discount tickets, which represented 
a value of COP $ 54,733,100. This 
decision was approved by the Board 
of Directors, in compliance with the 
provisions of the Anticorruption Policy 
of Avianca Holdings S.A.

x

Attraction and retention of human talent

GRI 401-1 New employee hires and 
employee turnover

x 104, 106

GRI 405-2 Ratio of basic salary and 
remuneration of women to men

x 125

Training and development of employees

GRI 404-2 Programs for upgrading 
employee skills and transition 
assistance programs

111, 112

GRI 102 - 55 GRI Contents Index
General Contents / GRI 

Standard / Own Indicator Website / URL/ Direct response Omissions External 
Verification

Principles of 
the Global 
Compact

Page

GRI 102 - 55 GRI Contents Index
General Contents / GRI 

Standard / Own Indicator Website / URL/ Direct response Omissions External 
Verification

Principles of 
the Global 
Compact

Page
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GRI 404-3 Percentage of 
employees receiving regular 
performance and career 
development 

x 111

Own Indicator: Hours of training in 
the leadership program

x 114

Own Indicator: Hours of training in 
the service program

x 114

Own Indicator: Satisfaction level 
regarding service variables (NPS)

114

Own Indicator: Hours of regulated 
training

x 119

Own Indicator: Training programs 
related to Avianca Academy

x 119

Safety and protection on land and air

Own Indicator: Stabilized 
Approaches

83

Own Indicator: Existing 
Deficiencies and Solutions

x 83

Own Indicator: Global Accidents in 
Commercial Operations in the Last 
Four Years

83

Risk and crisis management

Own Indicator: Security, Risks and 
Compliance Indicator

x 86

Responsible management of the supply chain

GRI 102 - 9 Supply chain 164

GRI 102-10 Significant changes 
to the organization and its supply 
chain

The significant changes that have 
occurred during the period object 
of analysis regarding: size, structure, 
shareholding property or the chain of 
the Company´s supply, will be identified 
throughout the report.

Own Indicator: Proportion of 
spending on our suppliers.

x 164

Other GRI indicators reported in the Report

Corporate Governance, a framework for comprehensive management

GRI 405-1 Diversity of governance 
bodies

x 76, 101

Corporate citizenship

Own Indicator: Engagement and 
participation in fundamental 
scenarios of Corporate Citizenship 

x 57

Management of our talent

We do everything for your love

GRI  401-2 Benefits provided to 
full-time employees that are not 
provided to temporary or part-
time employees

6 124

Decent work and social dialog

GRI 407-1 Operations and 
suppliers in which the right to 
freedom of association and 
collective bargaining may be at 
risk

During 2018, no risks were identified 
that could affect the exercise of 
freedom of association and collective 
bargaining of our contractors in 
Avianca Holding's operations.

x 129

Security, Risk Management, Ethics and Compliance: Our Organizational Culture

GRI 403-1 Workers representation 
in formal joint management–
worker health and safety 
committees.

139

Own Indicator: Absenteeism 
and Accident rate of the Holding 
Company’s Direct Employees.

x 141

Own Indicator: Occupational 
Health and Safety Training 
Provided 

143

Innovating with sustainable impact

GRI 302-1  Energy consumption 
within the organization

x 7, 8, 9 178

GRI 302-4 Reduction of energy 
consumption

7, 8, 9 179

GRI 303-1 Water withdrawal by 
source

x 7, 8, 9 189

GRI 305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG 
emissions

x 7, 8, 9 184

GRI 305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 
2) GHG emissions

x 7, 8, 9 184

GRI 305-4 GHG emissions intensity x 7, 8, 9 183

GRI 305-6 Emissions of ozone-
depleting substances (ODS)

x 7, 8, 9 184

GRI 305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOX), 
sulfur oxides (SOX), and other 
significant air emissions.

x 7, 8, 9 184

GRI 306-2 Waste by type and 
disposal method

x 7, 8, 9 191

Own Indicator: Environmental 
expenses and investments

7, 8, 9 174

Own Indicator: Own Electricity 
Consumption

7, 8, 9 179

Own Indicator: Noise Generation 7, 8, 9 193

Own Indicator: fuel RPKs X 7, 8, 11 180

Digital Avianca: A new era of exceptional service

Own Indicator: Compliance with 
project implementation (SPI 
Schedule Performance Index)

210

Own indicator: Innovation 
initiatives.

213

Our fleet: eco-efficiency, reliability and comfort

Own indicator: Technical reliability 231

Own Indicator: Our Fleet 220

GRI 102 - 55 GRI Contents Index
General Contents / GRI 

Standard / Own Indicator Website / URL/ Direct response Omissions External 
Verification

Principles of 
the Global 
Compact

Page

GRI 102 - 55 GRI Contents Index
General Contents / GRI 

Standard / Own Indicator Website / URL/ Direct response Omissions External 
Verification

Principles of 
the Global 
Compact

Page
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Avianca Holdings S.A. (hereinafter 
the Company or the Holding 
Company) has a corporate 
governance structure that 
establishes general corporate 
governance guidelines for all the 
Companies incorporated thereunder, 
despite the adoption of individual 
policies by each company in 
compliance with its bylaws or 
applicable regulatory framework.

In compliance with its commitments 
to the various Stakeholders, 
the Holding Company delivers 
information to the market in a timely 
manner, based on the principles 
of transparency, timeliness and 
accuracy.  It is important to highlight 
the delivery of complete financial 
information, as well as the analysis 
of the quarterly results shared with 
the market.  

In 2018, the Company followed the 
good practices adopted in line with 
the standards of the IR program of 
the Colombian Securities Exchange, 
mainly by prioritizing its management 
in the processes related to the 

disclosure of relevant information 
to the market, risk control and 
improvement in the processes of 
control architecture. 

For the fourth consecutive year, 
the Company maintained the 
IR recognition awarded by the 
Colombian Securities Exchange, 
certifying it as an Issuer with 
corporate governance standards that 
are more demanding than the local 
minimum requirements.

Avianca Holdings S.A. has registered 
preferred shares in the National 
Registry of Securities and Issuers, 
which are traded on the Colombian 
Securities Exchange. It also has 
registered ADSs on the New York 
Stock Exchange, complying with the 
good corporate governance practices 
defined by both markets. 

Avianca Holdings S.A., as the parent 
company of different companies, 
defines the corporate governance 
model applicable to its subsidiaries 
and maintains the main objectives as 
follows:

• The creation of value 
through transparent 
corporate management. 

• The respect of the rights of 
shareholders and investors 

and the equal treatment 
of those who belong to the 

same stakeholder.

• The implementation 
of good corporate 

governance practices 
to fulfill the legal 

obligations and the 
commitments acquired 

with investors and the 
stock market.

• The generation 
of an ethical 
culture in the 
Organization.

Annual Corporate 
Governance Report  

Avianca Holdings S.A.
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The Company has implemented the following tools to ensure an adequate 
control environment:

• Shareholder and Investor Relations Office
• Ethics Hotline

• Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee

• Finance and Investment Committee
• Compensation and Human Resources 

Committee
• Ethics Committee

•  Business Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct
•  Anti-corruption Policies
•  Policies and Procedures for Trading Shares 

and Securities on behalf of Company 
Managers

•  Policies of the Comprehensive System for the 
Prevention and Control of Money Laundering 
and Terrorism Financing (SIPLAFT, for the 
Spanish original)

•  Avianca Holdings S.A. Social Pact
•  Corporate Governance Code
•  Board of Directors Rules of Procedure
•  Shareholders’ Meeting Rules of Procedure
•  Audit and Corporate Governance Committee Rules of 

Procedure
•  Finance and Investment Committee Rules of 

Procedure
•  Compensation and Human Resources Committee 

Rules of Procedure

Good Governance Policies

Support Committees Good Governance Tools

Corporate Documents

Learn more about our Corporate Governance practices in our Annual Corporate Governance Report and on our website: 
http://aviancaholdings.com/corporate-governance/

In 2018, Avianca Holdings S.A. met the 
applicable regulatory requirements according 
to the Colombian and foreign authorities, such 
as the Financial Superintendence of Colombia, 
the Colombian Securities Exchange and the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). It also 
complied with the internal policies and procedures 
established by the Company to ensure the proper 
management of its practices. Through the Internal 
Audit reports and reports of the Board’s Audit 
and Corporate Governance Committee, the Board 
complied with the follow-up and monitoring of 
the scope of the practices implemented by the 
Organization regarding Corporate Governance and 
internal control.

The Company provided information through the 
following channels:

• Comprehensive System of Securities Market 
Information (SIMEV, for the Spanish original)

• Securities and Exchange Commission SEC

• Website: www.aviancaholdings.com

• Events and conferences Non Deal RoadShows 
(NDR)

• Quarterly results conferences 

• Direct contact with the Investor Relations 
department

1  Ownership Structure

1.1 Capital Stock

The corporation’s authorized share capital is FIVE 
HUNDRED MILLION UNITED STATES DOLLARS 
(USD 500,000,000.00) divided into FOUR BILLION 
(4,000,000,000) ordinary shares or shares with preferred 
dividends without voting rights, at a nominal value of 
twelve point five cents (USD 0.125) of a United States 
dollar each.   

The share capital is represented by six hundred and sixty 
million eight hundred thousand and three (660,800,003) 
ordinary shares with voting rights and three hundred 
and forty million five hundred and seven thousand nine 
hundred and seventeen (340,507,917) preferred shares 
without voting rights, which account for a total of one 
billion one million three hundred and seven thousand nine 
hundred and twenty (1,001,307,920) shares, distributed as 
follows:

-  Ordinary Shares:

78.08% of the total the ordinary shares with voting 
rights belongs to BRW AVIATION LLC, a company 
incorporated in the US state of Delaware, whose final 
beneficiaries are the brothers, Germán Efromovich 
and José Efromovich, 21.91% belongs to Kingsland 
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the 
Bahamas, whose final beneficiaries are some of the 
family members of Mr. Roberto Kriete and 0.0000001% 
belongs to United Airlines, Inc. a company incorporated 
in Delaware.

2018 Ordinary  Shares:

BRW Aviation LLC

United Airlines, Inc

Kingsland Holdings Limited

0,0000001; 0%

78,09%

21,91%

- Preferred Shares: 

34.01% of the total outstanding shares account for 
340,507,918 shares with preferred dividends without 
voting rights. 15.29% of the above percentage is traded 
on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) in the form 
of ADR (American Depositary Receipt) and 84.71% is 
traded on the Colombian Securities Exchange (BVC).

1.2 Shareholder structure

At December 31, 2018, the distribution of the 
1,001,307,920 outstanding shares, including the ordinary 
and preferred shares of Avianca Holdings S.A., is as 
follows:

51,53%

14,46%

 Kingsland 
Holdings Limited

 BRW Aviation LLC

34,01%
84,71%

15,29%

•  Avianca 
Holdings S.A. 
ADR Program

• Avianca Holdings S.A. 
BVC Program

Shareholder structure

0,0001%

 United Airlines, Inc
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1.3 Main Shareholders

The main shareholders of Avianca Holdings S.A., which hold ordinary or preferred shares at December 31, 2018, 
are listed below.

SHAREHOLDERS STRUCTURE OF AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AT DECEMBER 31, 2018
25 MAIN SHAREHOLDERS

No Shareholder Ordinary 
Shares

Preferred 
Shares

Total 
Shares  Total Share %

1 BRW AVIATION LLC 515.999.999  515.999.999 51,53 

2 KINGSLAND HOLDINGS LIMITED  144.800.003  144.800.003 14,46 

3 UNITED AIRLINES, INC.  1   1     0,0000001 

4 AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. ADR PROGRAM 153.053.616   153.053.616 15,29 

5 FONDO DE PENSIONES OBLIGATORIAS PROTECCION MODERADO  19.427.680     19.427.680  1,94 

6 FONDO BURSATIL ISHARES COLCAP  15.620.155     15.620.155  1,56 

7 FONDO BURSATIL HORIZONS COLOMBIA SELECT DE S&P   6.733.327       6.733.327  0,67 

8 FONDO DE PENSIONES OBLIGATORIAS PORVENIR MODERADO   6.120.550       6.120.550  0,61 

9 JARA ALBARRACIN MANUEL GUILLERMO   5.194.178       5.194.178  0,52 

10 VANGUARD EMERGING MARKERTS STOCK INDEX FUND   4.547.759       4.547.759  0,45 

11 VANGUARD TOTAL INTERNATIONAL STOCK INDEX FUND   4.352.081       4.352.081  0,43 

12 FIDUBOGOTA - PA PLAN INCENTI AVIANCA TACA HOLDING   4.320.632       4.320.632  0,43 

13 ISHARES CORE MSCI EMERGING MARKETS ETF   4.201.988       4.201.988  0,42 

14 FONDO DE CESANTIAS PROTECCION- LARGO PLAZO   3.303.162       3.303.162  0,33 

15 THE EMERGING MARKETS SMALL CAP SERIES OF THE DFA I   3.056.704       3.056.704  0,31 

16 FONDO DE CESANTIAS PORVENIR   2.683.164       2.683.164  0,27 

17 EMERGING MARKETS CORE EQUITY PORTFOLIO OF DFA INVE   2.671.908       2.671.908  0,27 

18 FUNDACION RODRIGO ARROYAVE ARANGO   2.236.458       2.236.458  0,22 

19 GLOBAL X MSCI COLOMBIA ETF   2.206.289       2.206.289  0,22 

20 FONDO DE PENSIONES OBLIGATORIAS PROTECCION MAYOR   1.934.161       1.934.161  0,19 

21 VALORES BANCOLOMBIA S.A. COMISIONISTA DE BOLSA S A   1.843.147       1.843.147  0,18 

22 CITY OF NEW YORK GROUP TRUST   1.781.018       1.781.018  0,18 

23 FONDO DE PENSIONES OBLIGATORIAS PROTECCION RETIRO   1.726.762       1.726.762  0,17 

24 FONDO DE PENSIONES OBLIGATORIAS COLFONDOS MODERADO   1.594.001       1.594.001  0,16 

25 DIMENSIONAL EMERGING MARKETS VALUE FUND   1.558.770       1.558.770  0,16 

 Others       90.340.407     90.340.407  9,02 

 Total outstanding shares   660.800.003  340.507.917 1.001.307.920      100,00 

 Repurchased Shares         -   

 Total Subscribed and Paid-in Shares   660.800.003    340.507.917 1.001.307.920  100,00 

1.4 Indirect Participation of the Board Members in the Company Capital.

At December 31, 2018, some of the members of the Board of Directors had an indirect interest in the share capital, as 
follows:

Name Indirect interest through  Ordinary 
Shares Share Preferred 

Shares
Germán Efromovich 
y José Efromovich BRW Aviation LLC (1) 515.999.999 78,09% N/A

Roberto Kriete Kingsland Holdings 
Limited (2) 144.800.003 21,91% N/A

(1) Company incorporated under the laws of 
Delaware, 100% owned by BRW Aviation Holding 
LLC, also incorporated in Delaware, which is a 
100% subsidiary of Synergy Aerospace Corp. 
Germán Efromovich and José Efromovich hold the 
deciding vote of the shares of BRW Aviation LLC. 

(2) Special purpose company incorporated under the laws 
of the Bahamas, 100% indirectly owned by Atlantis 
Trust. Roberto Kriete and his family have voting 
power of the shares of Kingsland Holdings Limited.

1.5 Family, business, contractual or corporate 
relations between significant shareholders 
and the Company, or significant shareholders 
with each other.

 The notes to the Financial Statements include a 
list of business and contractual relations between 
the significant shareholders and the Society.

1.6  Trading by members of the Board of Directors, 
Senior Management and other Managers of 
the shares and other securities issued by the 
Company.

 The Company was not informed by any member 
of the Board or Senior Management regarding 
the sale of shares issued by the Company.

1.7  Joint Action Agreement signed between BRW 
Aviation LLC, Kingsland Holdings Limited and 
United Airlines, Inc., Avianca Holdings S.A. and 
Synergy Aerospace, Corp.

 On November 30, 2018, the Joint Action 
Agreement signed between Avianca Holdings 
S.A., Kingsland Holdings Limited, BRW Aviation 
LLC, United Airlines, INC and Synergy Aerospace 
Corp. came into force, whose terms regarding 
corporate governance aspects are part of the 
Social Pact. 

Below are several relevant aspects of this 
Agreement:

• It regulates the rights of shareholder groups 
BRW Aviation LLC, Kingsland and United Airlines 
INC, to appoint directors.

• It provides that a majority of the Company’s 
directors must be independent according to 
the rules and regulations of the New York Stock 
Exchange (NYSE).

• It states that the Company’s operations are the 
responsibility of Management under the direction 
and supervision of the Board of Directors. 

• It grants BRW Aviation LLC, Kingsland and 
United Airlines INC the power of prior approval 
before consideration by the Board of Directors, 
regarding certain strategic transactions of the 
Company and its Material Subsidiaries, including, 
among others:

o Mergers and Acquisitions.
o Certain acquisitions or investments that exceed 

USD 10 million in a single instance and those 
that exceed USD 25 million in the aggregate in 
any fiscal year, unless they are considered in the 
Company’s annual budget. 

o The Company’s business plan and annual budget. 
o Substantial changes to the Social Pact and 

corporate documents 
o Increase or reduction in the size of the Board of 

Directors
o The issuance of shares with voting rights
o Related party transactions with the shareholders 

that are parties of the Agreement, Directors or 
Officers of the Company or any Family Member 
or Affiliate thereof.

• It provides that certain transactions of the 
Company and its Material Subsidiaries require 
the majority vote of the Board members and 
the approval of the majority of the independent 
directors:
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o File and/or withdraw a lawsuit exceeding the 
amount of USD 5 million; 

o File bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings and/or 
for winding-up or liquidation or a winding-up or 
liquidation agreement;

o Certain debt situations;

o The adoption or amendment of any incentive 
stock options; 

o The formalization of certain material or long-
term contracts or licenses; 

o An amendment of the policy for Company 
dividends.   

1.8 Treasury Shares held by the Company   

 Avianca Holdings S.A. has no repurchased 
treasury shares.

2  The Company’s Management 
Structure

2.1 Appointment of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is comprised of 11 members, 
all of whom are principal members, and most of which 
are independent pursuant to the provisions of the 
rules and regulations of the New York Stock Exchange 
(NYSE). 

Name Current 
appointment

First 
appointment

German Efromovich 16 / 03 de 2018 16 / 03 de 2010

Jose Efromovich 16 / 03 de 2018 23 / 03 de 2010

Alexander Bialer 16 / 03 de 2018 23 / 03 de 2010

Raul Campos 16 / 03 de 2018 17 / 04 de 2010

Isaac Yanovich * 16 / 03 de 2018 23 / 03 de 2010

Alvaro Jaramillo* 16 / 03 de 2018 23 / 03 de 2010

Ramiro Valencia* 16 / 03 de 2018 23 / 03 de 2010

Juan Guillermo Serna* 16 / 03 de 2018 23 / 03 de 2010

Roberto Kriete 16 / 03 de 2018 23 / 03 de 2010

Oscar Dario Morales* 16 / 03 de 2018 10 / 04 de 2012

James Leshaw 16 / 03 de 2018 16 / 03 de 2018

*Independent members. 

Shareholders’
Meeting

Board
of Directors

Audit
Corporate 

Governance 
Committee

Finance
and Investment 

Committee 

Steering
Committee 

CEO
Hernán Rincón

Human
Resources and 
Compensation 

Committee

Customers Operating Finance

Ethics OthersStrategic Units

2.2 Governance Bodies  

The Bodies responsible for Company Governance are 
listed in the chart below. 

The Chief Executive Officer reports to the Board of 
Directors and the Vice Presidents report to the CEO; 
Management has established several specialized 
committees that cover all the companies consolidated 
under Avianca Holdings S.A.  

2.3 Board Committees: 

The Company has established an Executive 
Committee that fulfills the functions defined in the 
Social Pact.

It also has three Board committees: an Audit and 
Corporate Governance Committee, a Finance and 
Investment Committee and a Compensation and 
Human Resources Committee, which define the 
guidelines and policies applicable to the entire 
Organization, including the subsidiaries consolidated 
under Avianca Holdings S.A.

- Executive Committee  

Prior to each Board meeting, the Executive Committee 
must be informed of all the matters to be considered 
at said meeting. The Committee is currently in the 
process of integration. 

- Audit and Corporate Governance Committee

Its main job involves supporting the Board of Directors 
in supervising the effectiveness of the systems of 
internal financial control, effectiveness of internal 
control systems and risk assessment of the Company 
and its relations with subsidiaries, as well as to ensure 
the integrity of the financial statements, compliance 
with the legal requirements in terms of public 
securities market regulations, the qualification and 
independence of the External Audit and to approve 
the internal audit procedures and oversee their 
compliance. 

The following independent members of the Board of 
Directors are part of this Committee: 

• Oscar Darío Morales (Presidente) 

• Juan Guillermo Serna  

• Isaac Yanovich  

• James Leshaw 

The main topics discussed in 2018: 

• Presentation, approval and monitoring of the 
audit plan 

• Results reports of the audits performed 

• Results reports of SOX control tests 

• Report on the Cybersecurity environment and 
material incident report as per SEC requirement 

• Presentation of the control procedures and the 
procedures performed by the Company disclosed 
in the 20F report 

• Results of the Ethics Hotline cases investigated 
by Corporate Audit  

• Review of the Ethics Committee report on cases 
reported to the Ethics Hotline and actions taken 

• Review of the fraud detection and prevention 
programs 

• Review of approval of special related party 
transactions taken to the Board of Directors for 
its approval 

• Selection of external auditor nominees and their 
contracting conditions to be submitted to the 
Shareholders’ Meeting 

• Approval of fees for the appointed External 
Auditor for additional services, considering his/
her assessment of independence 

• Review of the updated risk assessment 
methodology for the Audit Plan 

• Review of the methodology for assurance and 
consulting projects 

• Performance report of the Company’s Internal 
Control system 

• Periodic presentation by the External Auditor 
of his/her assessment of the internal control 
of financial reporting and the results of his/her 
review of the financial statements 

The Company CEO, the Chief Financial Officer, the 
Corporate Auditor, the Compliance Officer and 
the General Counsel attend the meetings of this 
Committee on a permanent basis. The External 
Auditor and other Vice Presidents who are invited 
to discuss situations that have had an impact on the 
Company’s internal control, progress in monitoring 
audit reports and special approvals, attend these 
meetings as guests.

- Compensation and Human Resources Committee

This Committee was set up to establish the model and 
strategy for the development and management of 
human resources and to recommend the Company’s 
core culture, objectives and corporate goals regarding 
the compensation of the Company’s employees.

The following independent members of the Board of 
Directors are part of this Committee:

•      Ramiro Valencia 

• José Efromovich 

• Roberto Kriete

• Isaac Yanovich

The Company’s CEO and the Vice President of Human 
Resources attend the meetings of this Committee on 
a permanent basis. 

Executive
Committee
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The main topics discussed in 2018:

• Conflict of interest policy for managers

• Validation of the general Human Resources 
strategy

• Validation of the Commitment action plan

• Monitoring of Acdac legal issues

• Full compensation policies for Company 
employees:

o Fixed compensation

o Variable short and long-term compensation

o Benefits

- Finance and Investment Committee

This Committee was created to carry out the detailed 
monitoring of the Company’s financial performance, 
as well as of the associated risk management. It is 
responsible for analyzing and advising the Board of 
Directors on the capital and debt structure.

• Alvaro Jaramillo 

• Roberto Kriete 

• Alexander Bialer

• Oscar Dario Morales

• Juan Guillermo Serna

The Company’s CEO and the Senior Finance Vice 
President, attend the meetings of this Committee on 
a permanent basis. 

The main topics discussed in 2018:

• Approval of the monthly, cumulative and 
projected financial results 

• Results of monthly, cumulative and projected 
revenue 

• Current debt structure: summary of the debt 
composition broken down by types, rates, 
companies and terms 

• Corporate cash: summary of the cash balance of 
the month preceding the committee meeting, 
details of operating cash flow and main cash 
inflows and outflows for the year to date In 
addition, the cash projections for the current 
quarter and the next 18 months 

• Compliance with covenants 

• Hedges: presentation of key changes in the 
supply, demand and inventories of crude oil 

around the world, evolution of historical prices 
and forward curve of Jet Fuel 

• Financial results of the Business Units

• Details of the behavior of AVH share prices 
during the year 

• Details of the financial structure, business cases 
and monitoring of the results of the Company’s 
strategic projects

2.4 Summary of the Board members’ CVs:

The information corresponding to the summary of the 
Board members’ CVs is included in the Management 
Report.

2.5 Changes in the Board of Directors during 2018.

In 2018, there were changes in the Board of Directors.  
Mr. James Leshaw was appointed as an independent 
member on March 16, 2018.

Participation of the members of the Parent 
Company’s Board of Directors in subsidiaries 

Mr. Germán Efromovich, Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Avianca Holdings S.A., is in turn a member 
of the Boards of Directors of Aerovías del Continente 
Americano S.A. Avianca and LifeMiles LTD.

In addition to be a Board member of Avianca Holdings 
S.A., Mr. José Efromovich is also on the Board of 
Directors of Aerovías del Continente Americano S.A. 
Avianca.

Policies approved by the Board of Directors in 
2018

In 2018, the Board of Directors approved the 
following policies:

• Corporate information security policy.  
The purpose of this policy is to ensure the 
implementation of a standard information 
security management model which also 
establishes guidelines to protect the 
confidentiality, integrity and availability of the 
information across the companies.

• BCM policy. This policy ensures the 
implementation of the business continuity 
management system in the Organization, which 
arose as a recommendation by management 
in accordance with the good practices guides 
published by several international bodies. The 
purpose of the policy is to establish a framework 
for action and implementation to ensure 
the design, preparation, response, recovery, 
resumption and restoration of the Organization’s 
critical operations when facing any critical event 
or major disruption.

• Amendment of the Anti-corruption Policy. 
The amendment establishes guidelines for the 
collaborators and suppliers of Avianca Holdings 
or any of its subsidiaries regarding to applicable 
anti-corruption laws and emphasizes that the 
Company has “Zero Tolerance” for any conduct 
that could be interpreted as bribery or could, in 
any other way, be considered corrupt.

2.6 Board of Directors remuneration policy

The Board members earn USD 1,000 per session as 
fees for their participation in Board meetings and the 
meetings of the Board Committees on which they 
serve.

The Company covers the travel expenses, 
accommodations and transportation expenses 
required for them to attend the Board meetings or 
the meetings of the Board Committees. 

In addition, the Board members receive unlimited 
tickets for themselves and their spouses to the 
destinations covered by the airlines comprised under 
Avianca Holdings S.A.

2.7 Remuneration of the members of Senior 
Management

The Senior Management Remuneration Policy 
is framed within the criteria of equality and 
competitiveness, based on the degree of contribution 
and the direct and indirect impact of each position on 
the achievement of the Company’s results.

Compensation combines salary, variable compensation 
and long-term incentives.

The purpose of variable compensation is to link 
Company results with the Compensation of Senior 
Management by defining key management indicators 
to ensure the achievement of the Corporate 
objectives..

2.8 Quorum of the Board of Directors

In accordance with the provisions of Article 53 of Law 
32 / February 26, 1927 on Corporations issued by the 
Panama National Assembly, the attendance of the 
majority of the Board members shall be necessary 
to constitute a quorum to decide on the Company’s 
business. The Social Pact does not lay down a different 
rule.

Audit and Corporate Governance Committee  

Name Share % Number of 
Meetings

Oscar Morales 100% 11
Isaac Yanovich * 100% 11
Juan Guillermo Serna* 100% 11
James Peter Leshaw (**) 100% 3

(**) From the time he was appointed, he has attended 100% of 
the meetings.

Compensation and Human Resources Committee

Name Share % Number of 
Meetings 

Roberto Kriete 66% 8 

José Efromovich 92% 11 

Isaac Yanovich 100% 12 

Ramiro Valencia 100% 12 

Finance and Investment Committee  

Name Share % Number of 
Meetings

Juan Guillermo Serna 92% 11

Alvaro Jaramillo 75% 9

Alexander Bialer 83% 10

Roberto Kriete 92% 11

Oscar Dario Morales 100% 12

2.9 Data on the attendance of Board meetings and 
Committee meetings in 2018
Number of Meetings Held
Board of Directors

Name Share % Number of 
Meetings

German Efromovich 92.3% 12

Jose Efromovich 100% 13

Alex Bialer 100% 13

Raul Campos 100% 13

Isaac Yanovich 100% 13

Oscar D.Morales 100% 13

Juan G. Serna 92.3% 12

Alvaro Jaramillo 100% 13

Ramiro Valencia 92.3% 12

Roberto Kriete 100% 13

James P. Leshaw 69.2% 9

(*) Independent members

Mr. JAMES P. LESHAW was appointed in May. 
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2.10 Chairman of the Board of Directors: Functions 
and key issues

At the Board of Directors meeting held in August 
2014, Mr. Germán Efromovich was appointed as the 
Chairman of the Board of Directors.

In accordance with the Social Pact, the functions of 
the Chairman or the person acting as such are as 
follows:

a) Chair the meeting

b) Formally open and close the meeting

c) Give the floor and ask the speaker to end his/her 
presentation when the time assigned runs out

d) Maintain internal order during the meeting

e) Comply with and enforce the Board of Directors 
Rules of Procedure

f) Decide on the questions or doubts that arise 
regarding the application of the Board of 
Directors Rules of Procedure.

2.11 Secretary of the Board of Directors: Functions 
and key issues 

In accordance with the Social Pact, the Company 
Secretary also serves as the Secretary of the Board of 
Directors. The Secretary has the following functions:

a) Verify the quorum to deliberate and decide prior 
to the commencement of the meeting

b) Attest to the form of notice and compliance with 
the delivery of relevant information about each 
of the matters to be discussed at the meeting

c) Prepare the minutes of the respective Board 
meeting, submit it for the corresponding 
approval and sign it as the Secretary 

d) Any other functions established by law, the 
Social Pact and the Board of Directors Rules of 
Procedure

2.12 External advice received by the Board of 
Directors

In 2018, the Board of Directors received the following 
external advice:

•  “Times and movements” – provided by London 
Consulting Group – Work to identify initiatives for 
operational efficiencies

• ” FCPA and UK antibribery act training” – 
External Counsel David Williams

•  The Mercer consulting firm advised the Human 
Resources Committee on matters related to the 
compensation process.

2.13 Information on the implementation of the 
Board of Directors assessment processes, as well 
as the synthesis of the results.

In compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, 
each year, the Board members completes a self-
evaluation of their management and an evaluation 
of the collective body. The results are presented 
to the Board in order to implement any plans for 
improvement that may be required.  

3  Related 
Party  Transactions

3.1 Powers of the Board of Directors regarding 
this type of transactions and conflict of interest 
situations

The Business Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct 
approved by the Board of Directors govern the 
management of conflicts of interest. Situations 
that entail a potential conflict of interest in which a 
Board member is involved are evaluated by the Audit 
Committee and submitted to the Board of Directors for 
a final decision. Situations that entail a potential conflict 
of interest of employees involved through a contract 
of employment are analyzed by the Ethics Committee.

According to the regulation set forth in the Business 
Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct, the act or 
transaction that gives rise to the potential conflict 
of interest may only be authorized when it does not 
compromise the interests of the Organization, and 
provided it complies with the market conditions that 
would be applicable if the act or transaction were 
carried out with a third party.

Authorization must be in writing and notified directly 
to the party involved. Until the authorization is duly 
notified, the party involved shall refrain from carrying 
out the corresponding act and/or transaction.

3.2 Details of the most relevant Related 
Party Transactions in the Company’s opinion, 
including transactions between companies of the 
Conglomerate

The Company is currently carrying out financial and 
commercial transactions with related parties; these 
transactions are performed in market conditions in 
the normal course of business activities, subject to 
the terms that would apply to transactions with third 
parties.

The notes to the Financial Statements include the 
details of related party transactions for the years 
ended December 31, 2017 and 2018.

3.3 Reported conflicts of interest and performance 
of the Board members

In 2018, there were no cases of Conflict of Interest. 
Potential conflict of interest transactions were 
disclosed to the Audit Committee and approved by the 
Board of Directors since they were subject to market 
conditions. 

3.4 Mechanisms to settle conflicts of interest 
between companies of the same Conglomerate 
and their application during the fiscal year

The functions of the Audit and Corporate Governance 
Committee include reviewing the transactions 
between the companies integrated under Avianca 
Holdings S.A. This review can identify situations that 
cause a potential conflict of interest, in which case 
the appropriate actions are taken to overcome the 
situation of conflict or determine that the transactions 
must not be carried out.

4  Internal Control System 

The Company’s Internal Control System is based on 
values, principles, policies, rules, procedures, actions, 
behaviors, as well as compliance with the regulations 
applicable to the Organization.  It is intended to 
reasonably ensure that the risks to which Avianca 
Holdings is exposed during the course of its activities 
do not affect the fulfillment of its strategic objectives, 
the performance of its operations, reporting and 
compliance in general.            

4.1. Control Environment 

Avianca is committed to the creation of a culture of 
integrity, characterized by honesty and commitment 
to the Organization’s values, within the framework of 
security, risks and compliance. The Company has set a 
Strategic Management System whose main purpose is 
to plan, align and carry out the strategic monitoring 
of Avianca Holdings S.A. and its subsidiaries, and the 
companies with which it consolidates its financial 
statements, in order to ensure the implementation 
and functionality of the strategy, and compliance with 
the Company’s objectives. The Strategic Direction is 
defined as part of this process, which is comprised of 
the Mission, Vision, Values and Strategic Objectives. 
Through a formal planning exercise, the Company has 
defined its Direction (Flight 2020), which is in effect for 
the 2017-2020 period and is leveraged on a portfolio of 
projects and initiatives intended to achieve the target 
state of the Organization described in the vision of said 
Direction. 

In 2018, the Company maintained the responsibilities 
of the control environment led by the General 
Directorate of Security, Risks and Compliance, 
whose mission is to guide, develop and maintain 
the Organization’s strategy for the management of 
security, risks and compliance. This Directorate is 
made up of the Departments of Internal Assessment, 
Control and Compliance, Operational Security Risk 
Management, Corporate and Civil Aviation Security 
Risk Management, Occupational Health, Safety and 
Environmental Risk Management, Information Security 
and Cybersecurity Risk Management and Business 
Continuity and Risk Management.  

The operational strategy of the General Directorate 
is based on a model with three lines of defense that 
aims to strengthen controls and risk management 
by aligning roles and responsibilities. The first line of 
defense is made up of the process leaders and vice 
presidents, who are responsible for identifying and 
managing their risks. The second line, made up of the 
General Directorate of Security, Risks and Compliance, 
is responsible for monitoring the design and creation 
of controls for the first line and provides guidance on 
risk management. The third line independently verifies 
the effectiveness of risk management and controls 
through the Organization’s Corporate Audit area.  

Regulatory Compliance
Culture Security, Risks and Compliance

Tone of Management:
Consistent conducts and activities led by Senior Management

First Line of 
Defense

Second Line of 
Defense

Third Line 
of Defense

Process 
owners, 
business 
units and 
Avianca 

Holding’s 
Companies

(General Directorate 
of Security, Risks and 
Compliance)

Control and Compliance
Corporate Security

Operational Security
Industrial Safety and 

Environment
Information Security

Risks
Internal Assessment

Human Factors

Corporate 
Audit

Three Lines of Defense Model

EXTERNAL AUDIT AND REGULATORY ENTITIES
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4.2. Risk assessment

Avianca Holdings S.A. has set a Comprehensive Risk 
Management System based on four objectives:   

1. Enable compliance with the Organization’s 
objectives by avoiding or mitigating the impact of 
any situations that may interfere with it.   

2. Strengthen customer and shareholder trust by 
becoming an Organization prepared to manage 
risks.   

3. Risk is part of any business, so it is important 
to accompany tactical and strategic decision-
making with the proper risk analysis and vision, 
in order to respond in a timely and effective 
manner to changes in the environment.   

4. Integrate the different risk management systems 
and approaches that must be complied by the 
Organization in a single Comprehensive Risk 
Management System.   

The model consists of a Comprehensive Management 
Policy for risks, processes and procedures that have 
been designed based on international standards, 
such as ISO 31000 and COSO, which enable the 
proper identification, analysis, treatment, monitoring 
and aggregation of risks at both the strategic and 
operational levels.  The system is currently centralized 
and falls under the responsibility of the General 
Directorate of Security, Risks and Compliance, and the 
main risk perspectives are: 

•  Operational security   

• Corporate and civil aviation security  

• Environment  

• Occupational health and safety   

• Information security and cybersecurity   

• Corporate / Strategic  

• Fraud  

• Financial reporting   

• Corruption, money laundering and terrorism 
financing 

• Business continuity 

• Human factors 

The Comprehensive Risk Management Model in 
place is based on a model of ten elements linked by 
the three lines of defense. The first five make up the 
cycle through which a risk is managed: identification, 
analysis, treatment, monitoring and aggregation; the 
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other elements are the basis for the implementation 
of the system: governance, dialog, culture, tools and 
business continuity plan.    

2. Risks at the process level: the new methodology 
for comprehensive risk management allows 
risk management focused on the Company’s 
processes, whose main deliverable is a 
comprehensive risk matrix that identifies, values 
and manages the different types of risks, such as 
operational security, corporate security, fraud and 
money laundering, among others. This enables 
the efficient and comprehensive management 
of the risks of a process. In 2018, the processes 
were prioritized in which the General Directorate 
of Security, Risks and Compliance, in a joint effort 
with leaders, conducted the risk assessment. 
As a result, a comprehensive risk matrix was 
created in 2018 for the compromised processes.  

3. Project risks: together with the Strategic 
Project Department, a project risk management 
chapter was prepared for inclusion in the 
new corporate methodology of projects. The 
implementation of this methodology began in 
2018 in the most important strategic projects.

4. Business continuity: with the Creation of 
the Corporate Risk and Business Continuity 
Department, greater weight was placed on 
the management of business continuity and 
emergency response within the comprehensive 
risk management system, along with the 
simulations. In addition, in the second half of 
the year, a work plan was defined to develop 
a Business Continuity System for Avianca 
Holdings, with two main fronts for 2018: first, 
an emergency plan aimed at improving the 
technology contingencies of business-critical 
software; and second, the project that establishes 
the governance and policy of said system and 
develops the Business Impact Analysis. As an initial 
approach, it was defined that work would be done 
only on the line of passenger air transport.  In turn, 
an emergency plan was carried out with Deprisa 
and SAI, aimed at defining and implementing 
contingency plans in cross-cutting projects 
and processes of each company. This fostered 
and raised the profile of business continuity 
management within each business unit, making 
it one of the aspects to be considered in 2019. 

4.2.1 Description of the risk policy and its 
implementation during the fiscal year  

 The Comprehensive Risk Management System 
has set a Risk Management Policy that defines 
the guidelines and the framework for action to 

manage the different risks to which Avianca Holdings 
S.A. and the companies incorporated thereunder 
are exposed, through the implementation of the 
system. The Policy defines the established objective, 
scope, authority, governance and guidelines, which 
were updated in 2018 as per system maturity.  

4.2.2 Oversight and response plans for the main 
risks  

The process of corporate risk identification, analysis, 
treatment, monitoring and aggregation is carried out 
on a yearly basis and was updated in 2018. The CEO, 
vice presidents, directors and experts on the matter 
participated in this exercise. Finally, the map was 
approved and monitored by the Steering Committee 
(formerly the Executive Committee). As a result, the 
following risks and treatments are presented:  

1. Risks Related to the Company  

RISKS   TREATMENT PLAN   
a. Sources of financing 
and cash flow

b. Labor relations   

Adaptation of the expansion 
plans in accordance with the 
Company’s financial conditions  

Renewal of agreements with 
union organizations and 
conflict resolution through the 
mechanisms protected under the 
laws in force   

2. Environment risks  

RISKS   TREATMENT PLAN   
a. Cyber attacks Improvements to the strategy 

for the detection, response and 
monitoring of cyber-attacks.  

b. Changes in the 
political climate 
and macroeconomic 
variables. 

 Permanent monitoring of 
political and macro-economic 
changes and development of the 
strategy for different scenarios 

c. Changes in legislation 
and regulation 

 Permanent monitoring of 
political and macro-economic 
changes and development of the 
strategy for different scenarios 

d. Changes in consumer 
preferences 

Reviews and improvements in 
customer experience in all their 
interactions with the airline 

This model is structured upon these the fronts: 
corporate risks, process risks and project risks. 
Corporate risks are those related to compliance with 
the strategic objectives; process risks are those that 
affect the objectives of processes, and project risks 
are those aimed at determining the events that can 
have an impact on the success of the project. Based on 
these objectives, the following advances were made in 
the three areas in 2018:   

 1. Corporate risks: the corporate risk map was 
updated based on the Company’s strategy for 
2018, aiming to identify, analyze, treat, monitor 
and aggregate risks that hinder compliance with 
the goals of Avianca Holdings S.A. The map 
was updated with the input of the different risk 
management systems, the findings of corporate 
audit, strategic projects, the environmental 
analysis, the criteria of experts and interviews 
with vice presidents and directors. This map was 
approved by the Security, Risks and Compliance 
Committee, and reviewed by the Audit Committee 
and the Board of Directors. In addition, the 
permanent monitoring and development of this 
new risk model has begun as part of the agenda 
of the primary groups of vice presidents. In turn, 
key risk indicators (KRI) have been implemented 
for the Top 17 corporate (strategic) risks, to 
identify trends in the materialization of these risks.  
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3. 3. Risks related to the Aviation Industry  

RISKS   TREATMENT PLAN   
a. Limitations in the 
airport infrastructure 
of the HUBs   
b. Highly competitive 
airline industry and 
greater advances in 
innovation and new 
technologies   

Adaptations in the Company’s 
itinerary network  

Definition of a new process 
digitization strategy for the 
Company      

4.2.3 Materialization of corporate risks during the 
fiscal year   

In 2018, the economic situation in South America 
affected the business dynamic of the holding company, 
and the strong devaluation in Argentina, as well as 
the devaluations in Colombia and Brazil, required the 
implementation of tactical and strategic plans for 
the fulfillment of sales goals. Also, in 2018, there was 
significant price volatility in Jet Fuel, which required 
hedging and revenue management strategies to 
mitigate the impacts thereof on the Company’s cost 
structure. 

In the political sphere, there were impacts due to 
presidential elections in Colombia, Mexico, Brazil and 
Costa Rica, which marked the course of the holding 
company’s institutional relations. 

In 2018, the aeronautical industry activated alarms 
regarding information security risks. Although there 
were information security incidents at Avianca 
Holdings, they did not cause a considerable impact 
due to the mitigation measures taken. 

4.3. Control activities  

In accordance with the risks identified by the Company, 
control activities were carried out to help mitigate 
them, in order to achieve the objectives of the Business 
processes. To this effect, Avianca Holdings continued 
working on different fronts to ensure the operations, 
financial reporting and compliance. 

4.3.1. Operations 

4.3.1.1 Internal Assessment Program  

The Internal Assessment Program aims to ensure that 
the organizational processes are designed based on 
process attributes (responsibility, authority, interfaces, 
procedures, controls, performance measurement and 
resources) and are documented and implemented 
in accordance with industry best practices and 
regulations and the proper risk controls.  

According to the prioritization model, the risk levels 
of the processes were assessed in accordance with 
the value chain established for each line of business: 
passenger, cargo, and the provision of aeronautical, 
courier and delivery services. Through this assessment, 
the degree of intervention of the business units and 
processes was determined according to risk level. 
About 16 processes and subprocesses were intervened 
on the organizational, operational, maintenance 
and airworthiness fronts, detecting opportunities 
for improvement to ensure the protection and 
sustainability of the Organization over time. 

4.3.1.2. Security, risk and compliance analytics 
program 

In 2018, work was done on phase II of the 
implementation of the Security, Risk and Compliance 
Analytics program, resulting in the structuring of data 
generated by the different risk management systems 
in the Security, Risk and Compliance database. Thanks 
to this effort, risk and compliance control panels were 
created in Power Bi, which are available for reference 
by those accountable in the Organization. They were 
created from 2 perspectives: 

• Performance regarding the Organization’s 
compliance and risk management: these control 
panels show the performance of the first line 
of defense in terms of the implementation of 
effective controls to mitigate the risks identified 
by the second and third line of defense. This 
enables effective management by those 
accountable for risks and compliance in the 
Organization. 

• Performance of the integrated management 
and compliance system: these control panels 
display information related to the state of 
compliance with the guidelines defined by the 
comprehensive risk and compliance system. They 
enable each risk management system director to 
oversee that the system is being functional and 
effective. 

4.3.1.3 Fraud Prevention Program 

In promoting the value of Honesty, the Fraud 
Prevention Program aims to frame actions within 
transparency, fairness and respect toward everyone, 
both internally and externally. 

The program has been implemented in a framework of 
prevention, detection and response, managing fraud 
risk based on the following types: a) Embezzlement, 
any irregular activity that can affect the revenue, 
disbursements, purchase and acquisition of goods; 
b) Financial Fraud, acts or actions for the purpose 
of manipulating the financial information, financial 

metrics, cash flow and/or the recognition of revenue; 
c) Cyber Crime, actions on information platforms 
involving unauthorized access, hacking or vandalism. 

4.3.2. Financial reporting 

The SOX Risk Management System, which is part 
of the Second Line of Defense, is responsible for 
coordinating the annual SOX Assessment program 
for AVH, which includes the phases of: planning and 
determination of the annual scope, support for the 
first line in terms of updating and defining controls, 
testing stages, validation of remediation of findings 
in design and operational effectiveness, and analysis 
of final deficiencies for the preparation of the annual 
report.   The IT general controls (ITGCs) are part of 
the scope of the second line in terms of support for 
technology areas, in defining these controls and the 
action plans required to achieve/maintain software 
compliance based on the scope of SOX. 

Process leaders and control implementers participate 
in the SOX assessment program, along with the 
Second Line, the Corporate Audit Division as the 
Third Line, and the External Audit entity, all of which 
perform their assessments throughout the year and 
report their findings to the First Line, Second Line and 
Senior Management. 

The general timetable for SOX control assessment 
is aligned across the three lines of defense and the 
external auditor, holding periodic meetings on the 
progress made and any new topics that arise, which 
are handled as a top priority to ensure SOX compliance 
during the year. 

Also, the Second Line is responsible for aligning with 
the First Line any work plans necessary for new 
software, entities and processes to maintain/achieve 
compliance with the SOX act.  

In 2018, all of these activities were covered, and work 
plans were managed to overcome the deficiencies 
reported at the end of 2017.  In addition, the culture of 
compliance continued to be strengthened regarding 
the execution of controls and risk mitigation in 
financial reporting, raising the SOX awareness of 
nearly 600 employees, including business units such 
as LifeMiles and AeroUnión.

4.3.3. Compliance 

4.3.3.1 Operational Compliance Program (OCP)

As part of the Compliance Monitoring Program (CMP) 
supplement, once the processes have been assessed 
by the Internal Evaluation Program (IEP) and they 
have complied with the regulations and best industry 
practices, and have the proper controls, the area 

responsible for the Operational Compliance Program 
verifies, through audits, that the implementation of 
the processes on the operational line is performed in 
accordance with the description at the documentation 
level. 

In 2018, the audit function continued to be performed 
for the operational areas, with coverage in Operations, 
as well as Maintenance, at all the bases where 
Avianca Holdings’ airlines operate and where it has 
aeronautical maintenance repair and overhaul (MRO) 
organizations, verifying the processes that involve 
service providers, certification of new stations and 
flight simulators, among others.

4.3.3.2. Ethics and Compliance Program    

The ethics and compliance program is based on a 
risk management system through which the risks of 
corruption/bribery are identified, assessed, controlled, 
mitigated and monitored.

Through this system, the ethics and compliance team 
and the areas across the Organization identify and 
assess risks so that they can be managed in a proactive 
manner by each process. In this analysis, the controls 
in place in each area to contain the risks at acceptable 
levels are identified and documented. If they do not 
have the controls necessary, the compliance area 
makes recommendations in order to adopt them.  

This risk management exercise provides tools, training 
and communications to employees in order for them 
to discover, understand and respond appropriately to 
the risks to which they are exposed in terms of the 
decisions they make and activities they perform.  

In addition, the Ethics Hotline, managed by a third 
party, is available to employees and third parties 
24/7, so that investors, customers, suppliers and 
employees can ask questions and f ile repor ts 
related to compliance with the Business Code of 
Ethics and Code of Conduct, the Anti-corruption 
Policy and all other internal policies, through the 
link below: http://aviancaholdings.ethicspoint.com. 

The Organization has an Ethics Committee, which 
ensures the compliance, correct interpretation and 
assessment of the conducts set out in the Business 
Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct and the 
Organization’s policies in place. The Ethics Committee 
prepares periodic reports for the Audit Committee 
regarding the reports and questions related to non-
compliance, unlawful acts or fraud and conflicts of 
interest.  

Relevant Aspects of 2018: 

• Avianca was recognized by Colombia’s 
Secretariat for Transparency as an Active 
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Company in terms of Anti-corruption 
Compliance. 

• No critical risks of corruption or bribery were 
materialized in 2018. 

• A Conflict of Interest Disclosure session was 
carried out for Managers. 

• They renewed their commitment to comply 
with: The Business Code of Ethics and Code of 
Conduct; The Conflict of Interest Management 
Policy for Members of the Board of Directors 
and Managers of the Organization; The Anti-
corruption Policy; and The Policy and Procedure 
for Managers to Trade Company Securities, for 
Managers 

• The new Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) 
virtual course was launched, through which 
12,419 employees have been trained. 

4.3.3.3. Program for the Prevention of the Risks of 
Money Laundering and Terrorism Financing  

The program for the prevention of the risk of money 
laundering, terrorism financing and proliferation 
of weapons of mass destruction (SIPLAFT, for the 
Spanish original) is carried out in 5 stages: 1) risk 
identification; 2) knowledge of third parties (suppliers, 
customers, employees, ticket beneficiaries); 3) training 
and communication; implementation of controls and 
monitoring; and 5) report management. 

Relevant aspects of 2018: 

• No critical risks of money laundering or terrorism 
financing were materialized in 2018.

• 20,313 employees of Avianca Holdings were 
trained in SIPLAFT. 

• 1,641 risks of money laundering and terrorism 
financing were mitigated through alerts 
generated with third parties. 

• A Politically Exposed Person (PEP) session was 
carried out. 

• Avianca Holdings S.A. and its incorporated 
companies made reports regarding 70,771 
transactions to the Financial Analysis and 
Information Units. 

4. Compliance with information security and 
privacy regulations  

Information security and privacy of customer, 
employee, supplier and shareholder data, at the 
level of processes, people (employees and third 
parties supporting AVH processes) and technology, 
have policies and procedures in place to protect 

their information, keep it available and manage risk 
situations, whether they are materialized or not, that 
are identified through reports or monitoring.      

 We have privacy policies for our stakeholders: 

•  Privacy Policy for Travelers, Customers and 
Users. 

•  Privacy Policy for Shareholders and Investors. 

•  Privacy Policy for Suppliers. 

•  Privacy Policy for Human Resources Processes. 

They are published at https://www.avianca.com/co/es/
politica-privacidad 

The systems or software that manage information and, 
depending on their critical nature, have controls that 
aim to protect it in terms of availability, integrity and 
confidentiality.  

Avianca has instruction and training plans for 
employees that aim to provide them with knowledge 
and guidance regarding the measures to be taken to 
maintain information security and privacy. 

4.4. Information and communication 

4.4.1 Communications on Security, Risk and 
Compliance

Avianca Holdings and its integrated companies are 
constantly issuing and receiving information related to 
topics of security, risk and compliance. Therefore, the 
Company has provided internal and external channels 
of communication for the different stakeholders, such 
as:

Internal: E-mail, Intranet, Corporate Screens, Somos 
Uno (We Are One) Magazine, Yammer, GPS and Pilot/
Crew website, among others. 

External: Social Media. 

In 2018, we continued to strengthen the promotion 
and dissemination of information on security, risk and 
compliance to the Organization’s different audiences, 
establishing a dynamic, ongoing and strategic 
structure within the General Directorate to ensure the 
alignment and synergy of the topics disseminated by 
the different management systems.  

The SERC Attributes (Security, Ethics, Risk and 
Compliance) were disseminated, indicating the 
behaviors expected from Company employees on 
these four fronts. In addition, we continued to develop 
different awareness campaigns, emphasizing the 
importance of reporting any risk condition and the 
channels available to do so. The lessons learned 
were disseminated, along with critical issues related 

to the management and addressing of each of the 
Management Systems that make up the General 
Directorate.

4.5. Monitoring Security, Risk and Compliance 

The Organization is constantly working to ensure the 
existence of an effective environment of control by 
implementing comprehensive and cross-cutting risk 
management, performing activities in a safe manner 
and in accordance with the organizational regulations 
and guidelines in place.  

 In order to ensure this environment of control, in 
2018, the monitoring initiatives of the Organization’s 
different risk systems were standardized in order to 
perform monitoring activities on the Organization’s 
processes, projects and software. This monitoring 
is intended to confirm that the controls established 
by the first line of defense to control risks or 
ensure compliance are properly designed, effective 
and functional during the performance of the 
Organization’s activities.

4.5.1 Operational Compliance Monitoring Program

As part of the work done in 2018 on the operational 
compliance and monitoring program, initiatives 
were developed related to the identification of 
organizational deficiencies that could cause negative 
consequences on the Organization, either due to the 
materialization of risks on any front or the failure to 
comply with regulations and practical improvements. 

 This program included the implementation of the 
internal assessment program, the implementation of 
the annual operations and maintenance oversight plan, 
and the internal assessment of compliance with the 
IOSA standards in the 7 main aircraft operators that 
belong to Avianca Holdings in accordance with the new 
Enhanced IOSA philosophy. 

4.5.3 Internal Audit

 The Board of Directors, through the Audit Committee, 
is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the 
different components of the Internal Control System. 
In turn, the administration is responsible to provide 
assurance about the effectiveness of the control 
architecture and carry out the due supervision of 
relevant business processes.

During 2018, the Audit Committee approved and 
followed the Corporate Audit Plan of the year. 
Corporate Audit in 2018, monitored the performance 
of the internal control system so independent and 
objective through the execution of the assurance 
works (financial audits, technological, operational) and 
consultancies generating added value in its services, 

with a of risks and adopting and implementing better 
practices.

As a result of the execution of the Audit Plan approved 
by the Audit Committee we issue reports categorized 
as unstable, partially stable and stable and we 
perform the respective follow-up to the established 
action plans by those responsible, whose results 
were also shared with the Audit Committee and the 
Administration.

In the same way, the operability of the established 
controls and systems have been evaluated existing 
technologies for the purpose of preparing financial 
information, whose results led to the administration 
to the remediation of controls for the monitoring 
of certain accounts, accesses and segregation of 
functions in some systems. The responsible for the 
implementation of the plans of have been working 
on the mitigation of risks and the effectiveness of 
controls.

The Internal Control System (ICS) of Avianca seeks 
to provide reasonable assurance in the achievement 
of strategic, operational, reporting objectives 
information and regulatory compliance, through 
timely management of its risks and assurance of 
the effectiveness of their controls, taking reference 
the practices recommended by the framework of 
international reference COSO (Committe of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission).

The Audit Committee through periodic sessions 
carried out during the year, review the results of the 
internal audits carried out, the reports delivered 
by the external auditor, the line reports ethics, the 
methodology for monitoring risks of cybersecurity and 
advances on the system of Risk management of the 
Company, among others.

Regarding the financial information presented in the 
different sessions to the Audit Committee, it was not 
aware of critical situations related with breaches of 
accounting rules applicable and / or frauds, which 
will affect the quality of the financial and accounting 
information of the Company.

The Audit Committee learned about the progress of 
the work plan of the External Audit, allowing them to 
inform for the decision making.
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5    General 
        Shareholders’ Meeting
5.1 Differences in the expected functioning of 
the Meeting between the quorum provisions of 
the current regulations and that defined by the 
Company Bylaws and the Rules of Procedure for 
the Meeting

The Company was characterized by implementing 
the different Corporate Governance standards in its 
Bylaws and other rules of procedure of the corporate 
bodies, pursuant to the guidelines of the Sarbanes 
Oxley Act of 2002 and the recommendations of Código 
País.  

5.2 Measures taken during the fiscal year to 
promote shareholder participation, shareholder 
information and communication with shareholders

For the fourth consecutive year, the Company received 
the IR recognition from the Colombian Securities 
Exchange. The Company is known for maintaining the 
practices adopted in its investor relations, as well as in 
the area of information disclosure. 

Through this recognition, the Company certifies 
that it has an Investor Relations area with certified 
representatives to provide investors with effective 
assistance in Colombia and abroad (in both Spanish 
and English). In this sense, it is important to highlight 
the Company’s willingness to provide information that 
will enable the detailed analysis of its performance, as 
well as the timely delivery of the financial statements 
with consolidated quarterly figures and periodic 
invitations for the analysis of said statements.

At our Company, we emphasize the fundamental 
importance of optimal management by the Company 
for our investors with a view to creating value for all 
those involved. Due to the above, we constantly aim 
to adopt the highest standards to ensure the accuracy, 
transparency and timeliness of the information issued 
to the various stakeholders. This recognition has 
encouraged us to continue working fully committed to 
the fulfillment of the objectives we have set. 

 

5.3 Attendance of the General Shareholders’ 
Meeting

The number of shareholders who account for 100% of 
the Company’s ordinary shares attended the ordinary 
General Shareholders’ Meeting held on March 16, 
2018, either directly or through a proxy.

5.4 Details of the main agreements made

At the ordinary Shareholders’ meeting held in March 
2018, the shareholders approved:

• The Management Report of the Board of 
Directors, the CEO and the other Managers.

• The financial statements prepared according to 
the IFRS.

• The Annual Corporate Governance Report was 
also presented, along with the report issued by 
the External Auditor.

Sincerely,

Hernán Rincón 

Chief Executive Officer 

The following members of the Board of Directors 
have accepted and endorsed this report:

Germán Efromovich

José Efromovich

Roberto Kriete. 

Alexander Bialer

Raul Campos

Isaac Yanovich

Álvaro Jaramillo

Juan Guillermo Serna

Ramiro Valencia

Oscar Darío Morales 

James Leshaw

Bogotá, March 2019
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Memorandum of independent review on the 

2018 Annual Report of Avianca Holdings 

issued by the external assurer 
 

Scope of our work 

We have reviewed the adaptation of the contents of the 2018 Annual Report of 

AVIANCA HOLDINGS to the Consolidated set of GRI Sustainability Reporting 

Standards, hereinafter "GRI Standards". 

 

Verification process 

We conducted our work in accordance with ISAE 3000 - International Standard on 

Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 

Information issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standard Board 

(IAASB) of the International Federation of Accounts (IFAC), with the Standard 

AA1000 Stakeholder Engagement Standard AA1000SES (2015) and the 

International framework of the International Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC). 

Our review work consisted in formulating questions to the management, as well 

as to the various areas of AVIANCA HOLDINGS who participated in the preparation 

of the 2018 Annual Report and the application of certain analytical procedures and 

review testing sample described below: 

 Interviews with AVIANCA HOLDINGS employees to know about the principles, 

management approaches and data consolidation systems applied to prepare 

the Report. 

 

 Analysis of how the content, structure and indicators were defined, based on 

the materiality exercise according to the GRI Standards. 

 

 Analysis of the processes to collect and validate the data presented in the 

report. 

 

 Checking, by sample testing and review of quantitative and qualitative 

evidence corresponding to the GRI contents and AVIANCA HOLDINGS internal 

indicators included in the 2018 Annual Report, and proper compilation from 

the data supplied by AVIANCA HOLDINGS’ the sources of information.  

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 

Responsibilities of the 

Management of AVIANCA 

HOLDINGS and Deloitte 

 

 The preparation of the 2018 

Annual Report of Avianca 

Holdings and its content are 

the responsibility of the 

organization which is also 

responsible for defining, 

adapting and maintaining 

management systems and 

internal control which 

information is obtained. 

 

 Our responsibility is to issue an 

independent report based on 

our review procedures applied. 

 

 This Report has been prepared 

exclusively in the interest of 

the organization in accordance 

with the terms of our proposed 

services. We do not assume 

any liability to third parties 

other than the Management of 

the company. 
 

• We have performed our work 

in accordance with the 

Independence regulations 

required by the etic code of the 

International Federation of 

Accountants (IFAC). 

• The scope of a limited review 

is substantially less than an 

audit. Therefore, we do not 

provide an audit about the 

Annual Report. 

 

 

 

 

 

Deloitte & Touche Ltda.  

Jorge Enrique Múnera D. 

Partner 

Bogotá, February 2019 
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Confirmation that the 2018 Annual Report of AVIANCA HOLDINGS has been prepared in 

accordance with GRI Standards: Core option "in accordance". 

 

General aspects: 

It was confirmed that the report meets the requirements of the Essential option "in accordance" of the general 

aspects of the GRI Standards. 

 

Specific aspects: 

We reviewed the management approach, GRI disclosures and AVIANCA HOLDINGS internal indicators of the 

material issues below:  

 

Material Issues GRI Disclosures or AVIANCA HOLDINGS internal indicator* 

Economic performance  201 - 1 Direct economic value generated and distributed 

Satisfaction and 

relationship with customers 
 Own indicator: Complaints index 

Own indicator: OTP (On time performance) 

 GRI 418 - 1 Substantiated complaints concerning breaches of customer 

privacy and losses of customer data 

Compliance with laws and 

regulations 
 Own indicator. Environmental non-compliance 

Prevention of corruption and 

bribery 
GRI 205 – 2 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies 

and procedures 

GRI 415 - 1 Political contributions 

Attraction and retention of human 

talent 
GRI 401 - 1 New employee hires and employee turnover 

GRI 405 - 2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to men 

Training and development 

of employees 
 GRI 404 - 3. Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career 

development reviews 

Own indicator. Training hours in the leadership program 

Own indicator. Training hours in the service program 

Own indicator. Hours of regulated training 

Own indicator. Training programs related to Academia Avianca 

Safety and protection on 

land and air 
Own Indicator. Deficiencies presented and solved 

Risk and crisis management Own indicator.  Security, Risks and Compliance Indicator. 
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Material Issues GRI Disclosures or AVIANCA HOLDINGS internal indicator* 

Corporate Governance, a framework 

for integral management 
 GRI 405 - 1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees 

Corporate Citizenship Own indicator. Link to and participation in fundamental corporate citizenship 

scenarios. 

Management of our talent GRI 407 - 1 Operations and suppliers in which the right to freedom of association 

and collective bargaining may be at risk 

Own indicator. Absenteeism and accident rate for direct employees of the 

Holding 

Connected with the environment GRI 302 - 1 Energy consumption within the organization 

GRI 305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 

GRI 305 - 2  Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions 

GRI 305 - 4 GHG emissions intensity 

GRI 305 - 6 Emissions of ozone-depleting substances (ODS) 

GRI 305 – 7  Nitrogen oxides (NOX), sulfur oxides (SOX), and other significant 

air emissions 

GRI 303 - 1 Water withdrawal by source 

GRI 306 - 2 Waste by type and disposal method 

Own indicator. Liters of fuel consumed in the operation of aircraft for every 100 

RPKs (L) 

 

Conclusion 

As a result of our review, it has not been revealed any aspect nor disclosure that leads us to believe that the 

2018 Annual Report of AVIANCA HOLDINGS contains significant errors or has not been prepared in accordance 

with the GRI Standards, Core option "in accordance". 

Recommendations according to GRI principles1 

Context of sustainability / Materiality 

General remarks 
The appropriation and integration of sustainability issues as a strategic part of the Company's management. 

We also highlight these issues analysis in the international, national and local context in economic, social 

and environmental terms, which allows stakeholders to have a holistic view of the management and the 

reality of the company.  

 

                                                
1 GRI principles of quality and content: Inclusion of stakeholders, context of sustainability, materiality, completeness, 
precision, balance, clarity, comparability, reliability, punctuality. 
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Recommendations 
It is suggested to continue strengthening this good practice of continuous improvement and consolidation of 

the indicators identified, since the constant materiality updating that Avianca Holdings has been executing 

has given positive outcomes. Hence, it will permit the Company to continue strengthening sustainability 

management by continuing with the critical analysis of material topics and its measurement mechanisms in 

order to evolve to other material topics. This will allow measuring Avianca Holdings’ performance and progress 

with regards to sustainability management and its focuses of priority action. 

 

Information gathering processes 

 

General remarks 
For the great majority of the indicators, a robust information collection process was found, as well as the 

appropriation of those responsible for the information, which allows traceability of the different data and 

evidence delivered during the auditing process. This permits to realize a traceability for different metrics and 

evidences delivered during verification process. 

 

Recommendations 

It is suggested to continue with Avianca Holding’ standardization and consolidation processes for information 

to strengthen the communication and presentation of information. This will facilitate the analysis for different 

indicators and material topics and, thus, signify broadly its positive impact in economic, social and 

environmental topics. 

  

ANNEX 1 Declaration of Independence 

Deloitte is one of the largest companies of professional services in audit, tax, consulting and financial advisory 

and sustainability to public and private clients in multiple industries. With a globally connected network of 

member firms in more than 185 countries, Deloitte brings world-class capabilities and high quality service to 

its customers. Approximately 250,000 professionals are committed to becoming the standard of excellence. 

We confirm our independence from AVIANCA HOLDINGS. All our employees perform annual updates to the 

Ethics Policy which promptly declare that we have no conflicts of interest with AVIANCA HOLDINGS, its 

subsidiaries and its stakeholders. 

 

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee (“DTTL”), its network of 

member firms, and their related entities. DTTL and each of its member firms are legally separate and independent entities. DTTL (also 

referred to as “Deloitte Global”) does not provide services to clients. Please see www.deloitte.com/about for a more detailed description of 

DTTL and its member firms. 

This communication is for internal distribution and use only among personnel of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, its member firms, and 

their related entities (collectively, the “Deloitte network”). None of the Deloitte network shall be responsible for any loss whatsoever sustained 

by any person who relies on this communication. 

Deloitte provides audit, consulting, financial advisory, risk management, tax, legal, and related services to public and private organizations 

in various industries. Deloitte serves four out of five of the companies listed in the Fortune Global 500® ranking, through a global network 

of member firms in more than 150 countries, providing world-class capabilities and high-quality services to clients, providing the necessary 

knowledge so that they can face their most complex business challenges. To learn more about how the more than 244,000 professionals 

generate an impact that transcends, connect with us through Facebook, LinkedIn or Twitter. 

©2018 Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 

http://www.deloitte.com/about
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(Republic of Panama) 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
(In USD thousands) 
 

3 
 

  

 Notes 

As of 
December 31, 

2018  

As of 
December 31, 

2017 
     
Assets     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents 7 $               273,108  $            508,982 
Restricted cash 7 4,843  5,465 
Trade and other receivables, net of expected 
credit losses 8 288,157 

 
226,015 

Accounts receivables from related parties 9 6,290  17,204 
Current tax assets 31 231,914  114,361 
Expendable spare parts and supplies, net of 
provision for obsolescence 10 90,395 

 
97,248 

Prepayments  11 99,864  99,757 
Deposits and other assets 12 89,773  201,984 
Total current assets  1,084,344  1,271,016 

     
Assets held for sale 15 31,580  — 
     
Non–current assets:     
     Deposits and other assets 12 115,504  116,400 

Trade and other receivables, net of expected 
credit losses 8 35,503  4,115 
Non current taxes assets 31 19  136,301 
Intangible assets and goodwill, net 14 513,803  426,579 
Deferred tax assets 31 24,573  25,969 
Property and equipment, net 13 5,298,450  4,881,016 

Total non–current assets  5,987,852  5,590,380 
Total assets  $         7,103,776  $         6,861,396 
     
     

     
     

  
See accompanying notes to Consolidated financial statements 
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Notes 

As of 
December 31, 

2018 
 

As of 
December 31, 

2017 
     
Liabilities and equity     
Current liabilities:     

Short-term borrowings and current portion of 
long-term debt 16 $           626,742  $            572,072 
Accounts payable 17 506,568  263,245 
Accounts payable to related parties 9 2,827  7,187 
Accrued expenses 18 120,894  186,657 
Current tax liabilities 31 252,708  263,719 
Provisions for legal claims 32 7,809  11,720 
Provisions for return conditions 19 2,475  19,093 
Employee benefits 20 44,663  38,706 
Air traffic liability 21 424,579  454,018 
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 21 186,378  85,207 
Other liabilities 22 3,861  9,415 

Total current liabilities  2,179,504  1,911,039 
Non–current liabilities:     

Long–term debt 16 3,380,838  3,180,041 
Accounts payable 17 7,127  5,084 
Provisions for return conditions 19 127,685  144,099 
Employee benefits 20 110,085  135,640 
Deferred tax liabilities 31 18,437  25,814 
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 21 234,260  104,786 
Other liabilities 22 68,246  15,193 

Total non–current liabilities  3,946,678  3,610,657 
Total liabilities  $        6,126,182  $         5,521,696 

Equity: 23    
Common stock  82,600  82,600 
Preferred stock  42,023  42,023 
Additional paid–in capital on common stock  234,567  234,567 
Additional paid–in capital on preferred stock  469,273  469,273 
Retained earnings  381,280   587,989 
Other comprehensive income   (54,156)  (802) 

Equity attributable to owners of the Company  1,155,587  1,415,650 
Non–controlling interest  (177,993)  (75,950) 

Total equity  977,594  1,339,700 
Total liabilities and equity  $         7,103,776   $          6,861,396 

 
See accompanying notes to Consolidated financial statements 
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  For the year ended December 31, 
 Notes 2018  2017  2016 
       
Operating revenue:       
Passenger  $         4,079,939  $     3,550,160         $     3,285,217      
    Cargo and other 5, 25 810,891  891,524  853,121 
Total operating revenue  4,890,830  4,441,684  4,138,338 
       
Operating expenses:       
Flight operations  153,615   92,471  58,381 
Aircraft fuel  1,213,411  923,468  785,273 
Ground operations  474,802  450,209  426,203 
Aircraft rentals 32 267,708  278,772  314,493 
Passenger services  188,713  166,869  151,718 
Maintenance and repairs  206,454  280,536  260,703 
Air traffic  269,631  242,587  218,965 
Selling expenses  530,930  515,073  545,318 
Salaries, wages and benefits  760,758  706,778  661,708 
Fees and other expenses  203,304  177,864  187,560 
Depreciation, amortization and impairtment  13,14 389,388  313,413  269,546 
Total operating expenses  4,658,714  4,148,040  3,879,868 
Operating profit  232,116  293,644  258,470 
       
Interest expense  (212,294)  (183,332)  (172,630) 
Interest income  10,115  13,548  13,054 
Derivative instruments  (260)  (2,536)  3,321 
Foreign exchange 6.c (9,220)  (20,163)  (23,939) 
Equity method profit  899  980  — 

Profit before income tax  
 

21,356  
 

102,141  78,276 
       
Income tax expense – current 31 (27,151)  (35,159)  (27,448) 
Income tax expense – deferred  6,938  15,050  (6,642) 
Total income tax expense  (20,213)  (20,109)  (34,090) 
       
Net profit for the year  $            1,143  $          82,032  $          44,186           
       
Basic earnings per share 25      
Common stock  $            (0.025)                    $              0.05                            $              0.04              
Preferred stock  $            (0.025)                            $              0.05                                                        $              0.04                            

See accompanying notes to Consolidated financial statements 
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  For the year ended December 31, 
 Notes 2018  2017  2016 
       
Net profit for the year  $                   1,143  $           82,032               $         44,186       
Other comprehensive income (loss):       
  Items that will not be reclassified to profit 
or loss in future periods:  23    

  

   Revaluation of administrative property  (30,963)  31,017  8,971 
   Remesurements of defined benefit liability  (9,039)  (33,385)  4,094 
   Income tax  (39)  (15,018)  4,289 
  (40,041)  (17,386)  17,354 
Items that will be reclassified to profit or 
loss in future periods:     23    

  

   Effective portion of changes in fair value 
of hedging instruments   (13,701)  6,385  21,712 

   Net change in fair value of financial assets 
with changes in OCI  (328)  19  (245) 

   Income tax   —  3,558  (3,558) 
  (14,029)  9,962  17,909 
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of 
income tax  (54,070)  (7,424)  35,263 

Total comprehensive (loss) income net of 
income tax  $              (52,927)  $           74,608  $        79,449 

       
Profit attributable to:       
Equity holders of the parent  $              (24,803)  $           48,237  $         16,980 
Non–controlling interest  25,946  33,795  27,206 
Net profit  $                  1,143  $           82,032  $         44,186 

       
Total comprehensive (loss)  income 
attributable to:     

  

Equity holders of the parent  (78,612)  40,813  52,243 
Non–controlling interest  25,685  33,795  27,206 
Total comprehensive (loss) income  $               (52,927)  $           74,608      $         79,449       
 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated financial statements. 
 
 



AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
(In USD thousands) 

 

7 
 

  
Common 

Stock 
Preferred 

Stock 

Additional paid-in capital Other comprehensive income 
Retained 
earnings 

Equity 
attributable to 
owners of the 

Company 

Non- 
controlling 

interest 

 Total 
equity  

 Notes 
Common 

Stock  
Preferred 

Stock 
OCI 

Reserves Revaluation 

Balance at January 31, 2016  $   82,600 $  42,023 $   234,567 $     469,273 $      (46,580) $    18,394 $  553,712 $  1,353,989 $        18,646 $ 1,372,635 

Net profit   — — — — — — 17,149 17,149 27,037 44,186 

Other comprehensive income  23 — — — — 26,123 8,971 — 35,094 169 35,263 

Dividends decreed  — — — — — — (5,723) (5,723) (26,100) (31,823) 

Balance at  December 31, 2016  $  82,600 $  42,023 $  234,567 $     469,273 $      (20,457) $     27,365 $    565,138 $  1,400,509 $        19,752 $ 1,420,261 

Net profit  — — — — — — 48,523 48,523 33,509 82,032 

Increase in non–controlling interest  — — — — — — — — 504 504 

Other comprehensive income 23 — — — — (38,727) 31,017 — (7,710) 286 (7,424) 

Dividends decreed 35 — — — — — — (25,672) (25,672) (130,001) (155,673) 

Balance at  December 31, 2017  $  82,600 $  42,023 $  234,567 $     469,273 $      (59,184) $     58,382 $    587,989 $  1,415,650 $      (75,950) $ 1,339,700 

Adjustment on initial application of new 
standards 

4 
— — — — — — (141,591) (141,591) (57,958) (199,549) 

Administrative property revaluation 13 — — — — — (30,913) 10,515 (20,398) — (20,398) 

Impairment of assets 13 — — — — — — (14,867) (14,867) — (14,867) 

Balance adjusted at January 1, 2018  $  82,600 $  42,023 $  234,567 $     469,273 $      (59,184) $     27,469 $   442,046 $  1,238,794 $     (133,908) $ 1,104,886 

Net profit t  — — — — —   —  (24,803) (24,803) 25,946 1,143 

Other comprehensive income  23 — — — —         (22,391)               (50) (455) (22,896) (261) (23,157) 

Sale of subsidiaries 1 — — — — — — — — (7,674) (7,674) 

Dividends decreed 35 — — — — — — (35,508) (35,508) (62,096) (97,604) 

Balance at December 31, 2018 
 

$ 82,600 $ 42,023 $ 234,567 $     469,273 $   (81,575)    $     27,419 $           381,280 $                1,155,587      $(177,993)             $   977,594 

See accompanying notes to Consolidated financial statements. 
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   For the year ended December 31, 
 Notes  2018  2017  2016 
Cash flows from operating activities:        

Net profit for the year   $           1,143  $          82,032  $ 44,186 
Adjustments for:        

Provision net of expected credit losses 
8

8  4,526  4,363  2,966 
Provision for expandable spare parts and 
suppliers  obsolecense   

1
10  (3,203)  (5,376)  (7,094) 

Recovery for return conditions  
1

19  (27,092)  811  28,354 
Net provisions for legal claims 32  (2,973)  14,490  11,116 
Depreciation, amortization and impairtment 13, 14  389,388  313,413  269,546 
Sale & leaseback amortization   (4,747)  ¾  ¾ 
Share–based payment (income) expense   ¾  (1,002)  1,111 
(Gains) Loss on disposal of assets   (16,081)  (1,978)  10,256 
Gains on sale of subsidiary 1  (10,579)  ¾  ¾ 
Fair value adjustment of financial instruments   260  3,549  (4,290) 
Interest income   (10,115)  (14,528)  (13,054) 
Interest expense   212,294  183,332  172,630 
Deferred tax 31  (6,938)  (15,050)  6,642  
Current tax 31  27,151  35,159  27,448 
Unrealised foreign currency  (gain) losses   (32,569)  20,163  23,939 

Changes in:        
Accounts receivable 8  (105,762)  (108,793)  (65,516) 
Expendable spare parts and supplies 10  10,056  (9,272)  (6,499) 
Prepayments 11  (115)  (49,396)  (14,017) 
Net current tax 31  7,719  ¾  ¾ 
Deposits and other assets 12  95,247  38,611  28,050 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 17, 18  265,263  77,865  29,101 
Air traffic liability 21  (36,569)  24,491  89,187 
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 21  37,719  ¾  ¾ 
Provision for return conditions 19  (5,814)  (11,458)  (16,967) 
Employee benefits 20  (39,324)  (15,011)  (8,929) 
Income tax paid   (47,547)  (39,098)  (40,212) 
Net cash provided by operating activities   $    701.338  $         527,317  $         567,954 
Cash flows from investing activities:        
   Acquisition of nvestments available for sale   ¾  85  170 
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   For the year ended December 31, 
 Notes  2018  2017  2016 

Restricted cash 7  378  (505)  7,422 
Interest received    9,871  12,492  8,606 
 Advance payments on aircraft purchase 
contracts 

 
 (111,711)  (119,049)  (78,523) 

         Acquisition of property and equipment 13  (430,610)  (215,305)  (210,772) 
         Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   132,369  161,910  143,362 
         Investment in certificates of bank deposits   4,640  ¾  32,709 
         Redemption of certificates of bank deposits   ¾  (15,540)  ¾ 
         Acquisition of intangible assets 14  (116,635)   (30,619)  (21,660) 

Proceeds from acquisition of subsidiary   ¾  6  ¾ 
Sale of subsidiaries 1  18,000  ¾  ¾ 
Acquisition of investments   (78)  ¾  ¾ 
Sale of investments   ¾  484  296 
Net cash used in investing activities   $     (493,776)  $      (206,041)  $      (118,390) 
        
Cash flows from financing activities:        
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 16  303,640  510,360  35,034 
Repayments of loans and borrowings 16  (483,473)  (388,096)  (394,939) 
Interest paid 16  (208,709)  (162,144)  (158,741) 
Sale & leaseback transactions 13  53,990  ¾  ¾ 
Dividends paid 35  (35,508)  (25,671)  (5,723) 

          Dividends paid to minoritary shareholding 35  (56,096)  (130,002)  (26,100) 
Net cash used in financing activities   $     (426,156)  $      (195,553)  $     (550,469) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
 (218,594)  125,723  (100,905) 

Effect of movements in exchange rates on 
cash held  

  (17,281)  7,506  (2,723) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   508,982  375,753  479,381 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   $       273,108  $         508,982             $          375,753 
        

        
See accompanying notes to Consolidated financial statements. 
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(1) Reporting entity  
Avianca Holdings S.A. (the “Company” or “Avianca Holdings S.A.”), a Panamanian corporation 
whose registered address is at Calle Aquilino de la Guardia No. 8 IGRA Building, Panama City, 
Republic of Panama, was incorporated on October 5, 2009 under the name SK Holdings Limited in 
and under the laws of the Commonwealth of the Bahamas. Subsequently, the Company changed its 
corporate name as follows on March 10, 2010 to AviancaTaca Limited, on January 28, 2011 to 
AviancaTaca Holding, S.A and on March 3, 2011 changed its registered offices to Panama. In 2011 
AviancaTaca listed its shares in the Bolsa de Valores de Colombia (“BVC”) and was listed as 
PFAVTA: CB. On March 21, 2013 the Company changed its legal name from AviancaTaca Holding 
S.A. to Avianca Holdings S.A. and its listing name to PFAVH: CB. On November 6, 2013, the 
Company listed its shares on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) and is listed as AVH. 
It’s ultimate holding company is Synergy  Aerospace Corp. and directly holding is BRW Aviation 
LLC. 
The following are the significant subsidiaries in the Group included within these financial 
statements: 

Name of Subsidiary Country of 
Incorporation 

Ownership 
Interest% 

2018 2017 
Avianca Ecuador Ecuador 99.62% 99.62% 
Aerovias del Continente Americano S.A. 
(Avianca) Colombia 99.98% 99.98% 
Avianca, Inc. EE.UU. 100% 100% 
Avianca Leasing, LLC EE.UU. 100% 100% 
Grupo Taca Holdings Limited Bahamas 100% 100% 
Latin Airways Corp. Panama 100% 100% 
LifeMiles Ltd. Bermuda 70% 70% 
Avianca Costa Rica S.A. Costa Rica 92.40% 92.40% 
Taca International Airlines, S.A. El Salvador 96.83% 96.84% 
Tampa Cargo Logistics, Inc. EE.UU. 99.98% 99.98% 
Tampa Cargo S.A.S. Colombia 99.98% 99.98% 
Technical and Training Services, S.A. de C.V.  El Salvador 99% 99% 
Avianca Peru S.A. Perú 100% 100% 
Vu–Marsat S.A. Costa Rica 100% 100% 

The Company through its subsidiaries is a provider of domestic and international, passenger and 
cargo air transportation, both in the domestic markets of Colombia, Ecuador, Costa Rica, Nicaragua 
and Peru and international routes serving North, Central and South America, Europe, and the 
Caribbean. The Group has entered into a number of bilateral code share alliances with other airlines 
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(whereby selected seats on one carrier’s flights can be marketed under the brand name and 
commercial code of the other), expanding travel choices to customers worldwide. Marketing 
alliances typically include: joint frequent flyer program participation; coordination of reservations, 
ticketing, passenger check-in and baggage handling and transfer of passenger and baggage at any 
point of connectivity, among others. The code share agreements include Air Canada, United Airlines, 
Aeromexico, All Nippon Airways, Singapore Airlines, Copa Airlines, Avianca Brasil, Iberia, 
Lufthansa, Eva Airways, Air China, Etihad Airways, Silver Airways and Turkish Airlines. Avianca, 
Avianca Ecuador, Avianca Perú, Taca International and Aviateca are member of Star Alliance, 
which give customers access to destinations and services offered by Star Alliance network, allowing 
customers to access all the destinations and services offered by the 28 member airlines of the Star 
Alliance network. Its members include several of the most recognized airlines worldwide, such as 
Lufthansa, United Airlines, Thai Airlines, Air Canada, TAP, Singapore Airlines, among others, as 
well as smaller regional airlines. All of them are committed to meet the highest standards in terms 
of security and customer service. 
Cargo operations are carried out by our subsidiaries and affiliates, including Tampa Cargo S.A.S. 
with headquarters in Colombia and Aerotransporte de Carga Union S.A. de C.V. The Group also 
undertakes cargo operations through the use of hold space on passenger flights and dedicated freight 
aircraft. In certain of the airport hubs, the Group performs ground operations for third-party airlines. 
Additionally, an important part of the cargo business is carried by the companies that operate 
passenger air transportation. 
The Group owns and operates a coalition loyalty program called LifeMiles (the “Program”), which 
is also the frequent flyer Program for the airline subsidiaries of AVH. LifeMiles sells loyalty 
currency (“Miles”) to its commercial partners and Program members, including to AVH airlines and 
other airline partners from the Star Alliance network, and collects incentive payments and fees from 
partners and members of the Program for certain transactions. These partners in turn use Miles to 
reward their customers, increasing loyalty for their brands. For instance, partner airlines reward 
passengers with Miles whenever they fly, financial partners reward cardholders with Miles when 
they spend with their credit cards, and retail partners reward customers with Miles when they 
purchase merchandise or other goods and services. Miles earned can be exchanged for flights with 
Avianca, airline members of Star Alliance and other air partners, as well as for other commercial 
partners’ products and services such as hotel nights, car rentals and retail merchandise, among other 
rewards. 

Sale of subsidiaries 

On December 28, 2018, Avianca Holding entered into an agreement for the sale and transfer of its 
participation and control in Getcom Int’l Investments S.L., a company incorporated in Spain, to Seger 
Investments, Corp, a company domiciled in Panama, who already owned 50% equity interest in Getcom 
Int’l Investments S.L. Pursuant to the terms of such agreement, the Company and the Purchaser also 
effected the sale in this date. 
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As a result of the transaction,  the Company loss the control and ceased to consolidate Getcom Int’l 
Investments S.L.’s financial statements on December 31, 2018. 

The following is a summary of the movements in the financial statements due to the sale and corresponding 
loss of control of Getcom Int'l Investments S.L 

 
 
Amount of cash  in Getcom Int'l Investments S.L. $         1,764 
Carrying amount of the Getcom Int'l Investments S.L. assets, without cash          20,561  
Carrying amount of the Getcom Int'l Investments S.L. liabilities          (6,983) 

 Net Assets of the subsidiary   $       15,342  
 Non-controlling interest           (7,674) 
 AVH participation             7,674  
Received consideration:  

Portion of the consideration consisting of cash  18,000 
Portion of the consideration consisting of account receivables 250 

Fair Value of the received consideration $       18,250 
Gains on the sale of the subsidiary  $      10,579  

 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, Avianca Holdings S.A. had a total fleet consisting of: 
  2018  2017 

Aircraft  Owned/ 
Financial 

Lease 

 Operating 
Lease 

 Total  Owned/ 
Financial 

Lease 

 Operating 
Lease 

 Total 

Airbus A-318  10  —  10  10  —  10 
Airbus A-319  23  4  27  23  5  28 
Airbus A-320  35  26  61  37  25  62 
Airbus A-320 NEO  3  4  7  —  2  2 
Airbus A-321  7  6  13  5  8  13 
Airbus A-321 NEO  —  2  2  —  —  — 
Airbus A-330  3  7  10  1  9  10 
Airbus A-330F  6  —  6  6  —  6 
Airbus A-300F-B4F  5  —  5  5  —  5 
Boeing 787-8  8  5  13  7  5  12 
ATR-42  2  —  2  2  —  2 
ATR-72  15  —  15  15  —  15 
Boeing 767F  2  —  2  2  —  2 
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  2018  2017 
Aircraft  Owned/ 

Financial 
Lease 

 Operating 
Lease 

 Total  Owned/ 
Financial 

Lease 

 Operating 
Lease 

 Total 

Boeing 767  —  —  —  —  1  1 
Cessna Grand Caravan  13  —  13  13  —  13 
Embraer E-190  10  —  10  10  —  10 
  142  54  196  136  55  191 

(2) Basis of preparation of the Consolidated Financial Staments 
Applied Professional Accounting Standards 

(a) Statement of compliance 

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). 
The Consolidated financial statements of the Group were authorized for issue by the Board of 
Directors on February 21, 2019. 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for, 
certain land and buildings (classified as property), derivative financial instruments and plan assets, 
have been measured at fair value. The carrying values of recognised assets and liabilities that are 
designated as hedged items in fair value that would otherwise be carried at amortised cost are 
adjusted to recognise changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged in 
effective hedge relationships.  
 

 (c) Functional and presentation currency 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is also the parent 
company’s functional currency. For each entity, the Group determines the functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 
The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and on disposal of a foreign operation, the gain 
or loss that is reclassified to profit or loss reflects the amount that arises from using this method 

 (d) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting 
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates. 
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Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
The following are critical judgments used in applying accounting policies that may have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the Consolidated financial statements: 

§   The Group has entered into operating lease contracts with respect to 54 aircraft. The Group 
has determined, based on the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of all these leased aircraft have not been transferred from the 
lessor, so it accounts for these lease contracts as operating leases. 

§   The Group operates certain aircraft under a financing structure which involves the creation 
of structured entities that acquire aircraft with bank and third–party financing. This relates to 
100 aircraft from the A319, A320, A321, A330, A330F, ATR72 and B787 families. The 
Group has determined, based on the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that the 
Company controls these special purpose entities (“SPE”) and therefore, SPEs are 
consolidated by the Group and these aircraft are shown in the consolidated statement of 
financial position as part of Property and Equipment with the corresponding debt shown as 
a liability. 

The following assumptions and estimation uncertainties may have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the Consolidated financial statements within the next financial year: 

§ The Group periodically evaluates Air traffic liability and any significant adjustment is 
recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. These adjustments are 
mainly due to differences between actual events and circumstances such as historical sales 
rates and customer travel patterns that may result in refunds, changes or expiration of tickets 
that differ substantially from the estimates. The Group evaluates its estimates and adjusts 
deferred revenue for unearned transportation and revenue for passenger transport when 
necessary. 

§ The Group believes that the tax positions taken are reasonable. However, tax authorities by 
audits proceedings may challenge the positions taken resulting in additional liabilities for 
taxes and interest that may become payable in future years. Tax positions involve careful 
judgment on the part of management and are reviewed and adjusted to account for changes 
in circumstances, such as lapse of applicable statutes of limitations, conclusions of tax audits, 
additional exposures derived from new legal issues or court decisions on a particular tax 
matter. The Group establishes provisions, based on their estimation on feasibility of a 
negative decision derived from an audit proceeding by the tax authorities of the respective 
countries in which it operates. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, 
such as experience of previous tax audits and different interpretations of tax regulations by 
the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority. Actual results could differ from estimates. 
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§ Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilized. Significant 
management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognized and the tax rates used, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable 
profits together with future tax planning strategies, and the enacted tax rates in the 
jurisdictions in which the entity operates. 

§ The Group measures administrative land and buildings primarily in Bogota, Medellin, San 
Jose, and San Salvador at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being recognized in 
other comprehensive income. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to assists 
management in determine the fair value of these assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
The valuation techniques used by these specialists require estimates about market conditions 
at the time of the report. 

§ The Group estimates useful lives and residual values of property and equipment, including 
fleet assets based on network plans and recoverable value. Useful lives and residual values 
area revaluated annually taking into account the latest fleet plans and business plan 
information. In the note 13 provides more information about the net book value of the 
property and equipment and their respective depreciation charges. 

§ The Group evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets subject to amortization or 
depreciation whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment may 
exist. For purposes of this testing, the Company has generally identified the aircraft fleet type 
as the lowest level of identifiable cash flows. An impairment charge is recognized when the 
asset’s carrying value exceeds its net undiscounted future cash flows and its fair market 
value. The amount of the charge is the difference between the asset’s carrying value and fair 
market value. 
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for 
impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset 
may be impaired. Goodwill and indefinite-lived assets are reviewed for impairment on an 
annual basis, or on an interim basis whenever a triggering event occurs. 

§ The cost of defined benefit pension plans and other post–employment medical benefits and 
the present value of the pension obligation are determined using actuarial valuations. An 
actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions which may differ from actual 
developments in the future. These include the determination of the discount rate, future salary 
increases, mortality rates and future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the 
valuation, the underlying assumptions and its long–term nature, a defined benefit obligation 
is highly sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All assumptions are reviewed at each 
reporting date. 
For determines the discount rate of the pension plans in Colombia, the management takes as 
a reference the local market rates. 
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The mortality rate is based on publicly available mortality tables in Colombia. Future salary 
increases and pension increases are based on expected future inflation rates in Colombia. 

§ As a result of the maturity of loyalty business and given the information available on the 
history of program and members behavior, in June 2017 the Group implemented a new 
methodology to estimate breakage, supported by a third valuation specialist to assist 
management in this process. The change in estimate in accordance with accounting standards 
was treated prospectively from the date of the change in accordance with IAS 8. 

 In the previous methodology, the breakage was calculated based on historical redemption 
patterns from older months, based on the aggregate behavior of all members. The new 
methodology considers the behavior of the members based on a segmentation into 
statistically homogeneous groups of members to be able to project future behaviors , and 
therefore is considered to be more robust in predicting redemption rates by segment and 
breakage estimates of the Program.  

§ The Group recognizes a provision in the balance sheet when a third party account has a legal 
or implicit obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an exit of liquidity 
benefits to the obligation is required. In relation to provisions for litigation, the main source 
of uncertainty is the time of the outcome of the process. 

§ Aircraft lease contracts establish certain conditions in which aircraft shall be returned to the 
lessor at the end of the contracts. To comply with return conditions, the Group incurs costs 
such as the payment to the lessor of a rate in accordance with the use of components through 
the term of the lease contract, payment of maintenance deposits to the lessor, or overhaul 
costs of components. In certain contracts, if the asset is returned in a better maintenance 
condition than the condition at which the asset was originally delivered, the Group is entitled 
to receive compensation from the lessor. The Group accrues a provision to comply with 
return conditions at the time the asset does not meet the return condition criteria based on the 
conditions of each lease contract. The recognition of return conditions require management 
to make estimates of the  costs with third parties of return conditions and use inputs such as 
hours or cycles flown of major components, estimated hours or cycles at redelivery of major 
components, projected overhaul costs and overhaul dates of major components. At redelivery 
of aircraft, any difference between the provision recorded and actual costs is recognized in 
the result of the period. 

(e) Reclassifications 
 Reclassifications have been made to the prior year consolidated financial statements to conform 

to the current period presentation: 

•  ‘Air traffic liability’ in the amount of $644,011 in the consolidated statement financial 
position was bifurcated into ‘air traffic liability’ at December 31, 2017 the amount of 
$454,018 and ‘frequent flyer deferred revenue’ of $189,993, to reflect the current and non-
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current performance obligations associated with the Group’s air transportation and loyalty 
activities. 

• Assets current $ 114,361 and non-current taxes for $ 136,301 and current tax liabilities for $ 
263,719 that were presented as part of accounts receivable and accounts payable in December 
31, 2017  were disclosed separately with the purpose of disclosing the balances for rights and 
obligations the Group has for this concept.  

(3) Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by all the Company’s entities 
of the Group. 
This is the first set of the Group’s annual financial statements in which IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have been applied. Changes to 
significant accounting policies are described in Note 4. 

 (a) Basis of consolidation 
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by Avianca Holdings S.A. The financial statements of 
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control 
commences until the date that control ceases, in accordance with IFRS 10. Control is established 
after assessing the Group’s ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee, its exposure and 
rights to variable returns, and its ability to use its power to affect the amount of the investee’s 
returns. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been aligned when necessary with the policies 
adopted by the Group. 
The consolidated financial statements also include 55 special purpose entities that relate primarily 
to the Group’s aircraft leasing activities.  These special purpose entities are created in order to 
facilitate financing of aircraft with each SPE holding a single aircraft or asset. In addition the 
Consolidated financial statements includes 58 entities that are mainly investment vehicles, 
personnel employers and service providers within the consolidated entities. The Group has 
consolidated these entities in accordance with IFRS 10. 
When the sale of a subsidiary occurs and no percentage of participation is retained on it, the Group 
derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, the non-controlling interests and the other 
components of equity related to the subsidiary on the date on which it was sold. Any gain or loss 
resulting from the loss of control is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income. 
If the Group retains a percentage of participation in the subsidiary sold, and does not represent 
control, this is recognized at its fair value on the date when control is lost, the amounts previously 
recognized in other comprehensive income are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed 
of the related assets and liabilities, which may cause these amounts to be reclassified to profit or 
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loss. The retained percentage valued at its fair value is subsequently accounted for using the equity 
method. 

(b) Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from 
intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated financial statements. 
Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that 
there is no evidence of impairment. 

(c) Foreign currency 

Foreign currency transactions  
These consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Group’s 
functional currency. 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency at the respective 
spot rate of exchange ruling at the date of the transaction.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the spot rate of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are recognized currently as an element of 
profit or loss. Non–monetary items that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rate at the date of the initial transaction. Non–monetary items 
measured at a revalued amount in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the 
date when the fair value was determined. 

(d) Foreign operations  

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations included in the consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position are translated using the closing exchange rate on the date of the consolidated statement of 
financial position. The revenues and expenses of each income statement account are translated at 
quarterly average rates; and all the resultant exchange differences are shown as a separate 
component in other comprehensive income. 

(e) Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method in accordance with IFRS 3 
“Business Combinations”. The consideration for an acquisition is measured at acquisition date fair 
value of consideration transferred including the amount of any non–controlling interests in the 
acquiree. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred and included in administrative expenses.  
When the Group acquires a business, it measures at fair value the financial assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual 
terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes 
the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 
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Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred to the seller, including the amount recognized for non–controlling interest over the fair 
value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For 
the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired is, from the acquisition date, allocated to 
each of the Group’s cash–generating units that are expected to benefit from the acquisition, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

(f) Revenue recognition 

The group has initially applied IFRS 15 from January 1, 2018. The effect of initially applying IFRS 
15 described in note 4. 
 
(i) Passenger and cargo transportation 

 The Group recognizes revenues from passenger, cargo and other operating income in consolidated 
statements of comprehensive income. Passenger income, which includes transportation, baggage 
fees, fares, and other associated ancillary income, is recognized when transportation is provided. 
Cargo revenues are recognized when the shipments are delivered. Other operating income is 
recognized as the related performance obligations are met. 
The tickets and other revenues related to transportation that have not yet been provided are initially 
deferred and recorded as "Air traffic liability" in the consolidated statement of financial position, 
deferring the revenue recognition until the trip occurs . For trips that have more than one flight 
segment, the Group considers each segment as a separate performance obligation and recognizes 
the revenues of each segment as the trip takes place. Tickets sold by other airlines where the Group 
provides transportation are recognized as passenger income at the estimated value that will be 
billed to the other airline when the trip is provided. 
Reimbursable tickets usually expire after one year from the date of issuance. Non-refundable 
tickets generally expire on the date of the intended trip, unless the date is extended by customer 
notification on or before the scheduled travel date. Rates for unused tickets that are expected to 
expire are recognized as revenue, based on historical data and experience, supported by a third 
valuation specialist to assist management in this process. The Group periodically evaluates this 
liability and any significant adjustment is recorded in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income. These adjustments are mainly due to differences between actual events 
and circumstances such as historical sales rates and customer travel patterns that may result in 
refunds, changes or expiration of tickets that differ substantially from the estimates. The Group 
evaluates its estimates and adjusts deferred revenue for unearned transportation and revenue for 
passenger transport when necessary, . 
The various taxes and fees calculated on the sale of tickets to customers are collected as an agent 
and sent to the tax authorities. The Group records a liability when taxes are collected and 
deregisters it when the government entity is paid. 
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(ii)  Frequent flyer 
The Group has a frequent flyer program “LifeMiles”, that is managed by LifeMiles Ltd, a 
subsidiary of the Group.which airlines buy lots of miles to be granted to member costumers 
of the program.The purpose of the program is designed to retain and increase travelers’ loyalty 
by offering incentives to travelers for their continued patronage. Under the LifeMiles program, 
miles are earned by flying on the Group’s airlines or its alliance partners and by using the 
services of program partners for such things as credit card use, hotel stays, car rentals, and 
other activities. Miles are also directly sold through different distribution channels. Miles 
earned can be exchanged for flights or other products or services from alliance partners. 
The liabilities for the accumulated miles are recognized under "Frequent Flyer Deferred 
Revenue" (See Note 21) until the miles are redeemed. 
The Group recognizes the revenue for the redemption of miles at the time of the exchange of 
miles. They are calculated based on the number of miles redeemed in a given period multiplied 
by the cumulative weighted average yield (CWAY), which leads to the decrease of " Frequent 
Flyer Deferred Revenue ". 
Breakage estimates are reviewed every semester. If a change in the estimate is presented, the 
adjustments will be accounted for prospectively through the income, with an adjustment of 
"update" to the corresponding deferred income balances. 

(g) Income tax 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxes and is accounted for in accordance with 
IAS 12 “Income Taxes”. 
(i) Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws 
used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting 
date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. 
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive 
income recognized in the consolidated statement of changes in equity or consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, respectively. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations 
are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

(ii) Deferred income tax 
Deferred tax is recognized for temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that is probable that the temporary differences, 
the carry forward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses can be utilized, except: 
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§   Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

§   In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is 
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, using tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date. 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized deferred tax assets are re–
assessed at each reporting date and are recognized to the extent that it has become probable 
that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.  
Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized in correlation to 
the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity.  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on 
the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but the Group intends to settle current tax 
liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized 
simultaneously. 

(h) Property and equipment 

(i) Recognition and measurement 
Flight equipment, property and other equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses in accordance with IAS 16 “Property, Plant 
and Equipment”. 
Property, operating equipment, and improvements that are being built or developed for future 
use by the Group are recorded at cost as under–construction assets. When under–construction 
assets are ready for use, the accumulated cost is reclassified to the respective property and 
equipment category. 
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Gain and losses on disposal of an item of flight 
equipment, property and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from disposal 
with the carrying amount. 
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(ii) Subsequent costs 
The costs incurred for major maintenance of an aircraft’s fuselage and engines are capitalized 
and depreciated over the shorter period to the next scheduled maintenance or return of the 
asset. The depreciation rate is determined according to the asset’s expected useful life based 
on projected cycles and flight hours. Routine maintenance expenses of aircraft and engines 
are charged to income as incurred. 

(iii) Depreciation 
Depreciation is calculated over the depreciable amount, which is the cost of an asset, or other 
amount substituted for cost, less its residual value. 
Depreciation is recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a 
straight–line basis over the estimated useful lives of flight equipment, property and other 
equipment, since this method most closely reflects the expected pattern of consumption of the 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset. 
Rotable spare parts for flight equipment are depreciated on the straight–line method, using 
rates that allocate the cost of these assets over the estimated useful life of the related aircraft. 
Land is not depreciated. 

Estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 Estimated useful life (years) 

Flight equipment:  
Aircraft 10 – 30 

Aircraft components and engines Useful life of fleet associated with component 
or engines 

Aircraft major overhaul repairs 4 – 12 
Rotable parts Useful life of fleet associated 
Leasehold improvements Lesser of remaining lease term and estimated 

useful life of the leasehold improvement 
Administrative Property 20 – 50 
Vehicles 2 – 10 
Machinery and equipment 2 – 15 

Residual values, amortization methods and useful lives of the assets are reviewed and 
adjusted, if appropriate, at each reporting date.  
The carrying value of flight equipment, property and other equipment is reviewed for 
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not 
be recoverable and the carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
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The Group receives credits from manufacturers on acquisition of certain aircraft and engines 
that may be used for the payment of maintenance services, training, acquisition of spare parts 
and others. These credits are recorded as a reduction of the cost of acquisition of the related 
aircraft and engines and against other accounts receivable. These amounts are then charged to 
expense or recorded as an asset, when the credits are used to purchase additional goods or 
services. These credits are recorded within other liabilities in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when awarded by manufacturers. 

 (iv) Revaluation and other reserves 
Administrative property in Bogota, Medellín, El Salvador, and San Jose is recorded at fair 
value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment losses recognized at the 
date of revaluation. Valuations are performed with sufficient frequency to ensure that the fair 
value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount. A revaluation 
reserve is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve in equity. However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same 
asset previously recognized in profit or loss, the increase is recognized in profit and loss. A 
revaluation deficit is recognized in the other comprehensive income, except to the extent that 
it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognized in the asset revaluation reserve. 
Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred 
to retained earnings.  

(i) Non-current assets available for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets and groups of assets for disposal that are classified as held for sale are measured 
at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and groups 
of assets for disposal are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered mainly 
through a sale transaction, rather than through continued use. This condition is considered fulfilled 
only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or group of assets for disposal are available, in 
their current conditions, for immediate sale. The Administration must be committed to the sale, 
and it must be expected that the sale complies with the necessary requirements for its recognition 
as such, within the year following the date of classification. 
 
Property and equipment and intangible assets, once classified as held for sale, are not subject to 
depreciation or amortization. 

 

 (j) Leased assets 

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
are classified as finance leases in accordance with IAS 17 “Leases”. Upon initial recognition the 
leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments.  
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Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as 
to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are 
recognized in interest expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
A leased asset is depreciated over the useful life of the asset. However, if there is no reasonable 
certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset is depreciated 
over the lease term. 
Operating lease payments are recognized as an operating expense in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income during the lease term. 
Gains or losses related to sale–leaseback transactions classified as an operating lease after the sale 
are accounted for as follows: 
(i) They are immediately recognized as other (expense) income when it is clear that the 

transaction is established at fair value; 
(ii) If the sale price is below fair value, any profit or loss is immediately recognized as other 

(expense) income, however, if the loss is compensated by future lease payments at below 
market price, it is deferred and amortized in proportion to the lease payments over the 
contractual lease term;  

(iii) In the event of the sale price is higher than the fair value of the asset, the value exceeding the 
fair value is deferred and amortized during the period when the asset is expected to be used. 
The amortization of the gain is recorded as a reduction in lease expenses. 

If the sale–leaseback transactions result in financial lease, any excess proceeds over the carrying 
amount shall be deferred and amortized over the lease term as an other income 

(k) Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalized as part of the cost of the respective assets in accordance with IAS 23 “Borrowing 
Costs”. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with 
the borrowing of funds.  

(l) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially measured at cost in accordance with IAS 38 
“Intangible Assets”. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair 
value as at the date of acquisition. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalized 
development costs, are not capitalized and the related expenditure is reflected in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful economic lives and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
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amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or in the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted 
for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognized 
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income within depreciation and amortization. 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment 
annually, either individually or at the cash–generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life 
is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, 
the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 
Gains and losses arising from the de–recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognized. 
Goodwill is measured initially at cost, represented by the excess of the sum of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognized for the non-controlling interest, with respect to the net of 
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If this consideration is less than the fair 
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is recognized as a gain at the date of acquisition. 
After initial recognition, Goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment loss. For 
the purpose of impairment tests, Goodwill acquired in a business combination is assigned, from 
the date of acquisition, to each company acquired, that we consider a cash generating unit. 

The Group’s intangible assets include the following: 
 (i)  Software and webpages 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of cost incurred to acquire, 
implement and bring the software into use. Costs associated with maintaining computer 
software programs are expensed as incurred. In case of development or improvement to 
systems that will generate probable future economic benefits, the Group capitalizes 
software development costs, including directly attributable expenditures on materials, 
labor, and other direct costs. 

Acquired software cost is amortized on a straight-line basis over its useful life. 
Licenses and software rights acquired by the Group have finite useful lives and are 
amortized on a straight–line basis over the term of the contract. Amortization expense is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

(ii)  Routes and trademarks 
Routes and trademarks are carried at cost, less any accumulated amortization and 
impairment. The useful life of intangible assets associated with routes and trademark rights 
are based on management’s assumptions of estimated future economic benefits. The 
intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives of between two and thirteen years. 
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Certain routes and trademarks have indefinite useful lives and therefore are not amortized, 
but tested for impairment at least at the end of each reporting period. The assessment of 
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be 
supportable. If not, the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a 
prospective basis.  
The Group expects to provide an indefinite service on the routes it has determined with an 
indefinite useful life and expects the support infrastructure to be maintained at those airports 
during the entire time that the routes exist. The analysis of demand and cash flows supports 
these assumptions because the facts and circumstances support the ability of the entity to 
continue providing air service indefinitely. 

(iii)  Contract–based intangible assets  
The useful life of intangible assets associated with contract rights and obligations is based 
on the term of the contract and are carried at cost, less accumulated amortization and related 
impairment. 

(iv)  Other intangible rights  
Contains projects related to technological developments to generate efficiencies in the 
operation. Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures on an 
individual project are recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate: 

§ The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that the asset will be 
available for use or sale 

§ Its intention to complete and its ability and intention to use or sell the asset 
§ How the asset will generate future economic benefits 

§ The availability of resources to complete the asset 
§ The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development 

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as an asset, the asset is carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
Amortisation of the asset begins when development is complete and the asset is available 
for use. It is amortised over the period of expected future benefit. Amortisation is recorded 
in cost of sales. During the period of development, the asset is tested for impairment 
annually. 

 (m)Financial instruments – initial recognition, classification and subsequent measurement 

(i) Financial assets 
Financial assets are classified in the initial recognition as follows:  

§ Measured at amortized cost, 
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§ At fair value through changes in other comprehensive income (OCI) and 
§ At fair value through profit or loss. 

The classification of financial assets in the initial recognition depends on the characteristics 
of the contractual cash flow of the financial asset and the Group's business model for its 
administration. With the exception of commercial accounts receivable that do not contain 
a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair 
value plus, (in the case of a financial asset that does not obtain profit or loss), transaction 
costs. Commercial accounts receivable that do not contain a significant financing 
component are measured at the transaction price determined in accordance with IFRS 15. 
For a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or at fair value through 
OCI, it must give rise to cash flows that are "only capital and interest payments (OCI)" over 
the outstanding principal amount. This evaluation is known as the SPPI test and is 
performed at the instrument level. 
The Group's business model for the management of financial assets refers to how it 
manages its financial assets to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether 
cash flows will result from the collection of contractual cash flows, the sale of financial 
assets or both.Purchases or sales of financial assets that require the delivery of assets within 
a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market (regular operations), are 
recognized on the trading date, that is, the date on which the Group Commit to buy or sell 
the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For subsequent measurement purposes, financial assets are classified into four categories: 

§ Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments) 
§ Financial assets at fair value through OCI with effect on accumulated gains and 

losses (debt instruments) 
§ Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI without effect on accumulated 

gains and losses upon derecognition (equity instruments) 
§ Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments) 

The Group measures financial assets at amortized cost if the following conditions are met: 
§ The financial asset is maintained within a business model with the objective of 

maintaining financial assets in order to collect the contractual cash flows. 
§ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specific dates to the cash 

flows that are only payments of the principal and interest on the principal amount 
pending payment. 
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Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest 
method (EIM) and are subject to impairment. Profits and losses are recognized in results 
when the asset is written off, modified or impaired. 
The Group's financial assets at amortized cost include trade accounts receivable, accounts 
receivable with related parties, accounts receivable from employees and other non-current 
financial assets. 

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments) 
The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if the following conditions 
are met: 

§ The financial asset is maintained within a commercial model with the objective of 
maintaining both to collect contractual cash flows and sell. 

§ The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specific dates to the cash 
flows that are only payments of the principal and interest on the principal amount 
pending payment. 

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, exchange revaluation and 
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in the other comprehensive income and are 
calculated in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortized cost. The 
remaining changes in fair value are recognized in OCI. After derecognition, the change in 
accumulated fair value recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss. 
Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments) 

After initial recognition, the Group may elect to irrevocably classify its capital investments 
as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition 
of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments. The classification is determined instrument 
by instrument. 
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recognized as gains or losses. Dividends 
are recognized as other income in the income statement when the right to payment has been 
established, except when the Group benefits from such income as a recovery of part of the 
cost of the financial asset, in which case such earnings are recorded in OCI. Equity 
instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment evaluation. 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, 
financial assets designated at initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or 
financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
in the short term. Derivatives, including embedded implicit derivatives, are also classified 
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial 
assets with cash flows that are not only capital and interest payments are classified and 
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measured at fair value through profit or loss, regardless of the business model. 
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortized cost or at fair 
value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments can be designated at fair value 
through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, 
an accounting mismatch. 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of financial 
position, at fair value with net changes, recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income. 
This category includes derivatives and listed equity investments that the Group had not 
irrevocably chosen to be classified at fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity 
investments are also recognized as other income in the statement of comprehensive income 
when the right to payment has been established. 

(ii) Impairment of financial assets 
The Group recognizes a reserve for expected credit losses (ECL) for all debt instruments 
that are not held at fair value through profit or loss. The ECLs are based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash 
flows that the Group expects to receive. 
For trade accounts receivable and contractual assets, the Group applies a simplified 
approach when calculating ECL. Therefore, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, 
but recognizes a loss adjustment based on ECL for life at each reporting date. The Group 
has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical experience of credit losses, 
adjusted by specific prospective factors for debtors and the economic environment. 

Derecognition  

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognized primarily when: 
• The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired 
• The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed 
the obligation to pay the cash flows received in full without significant delay to a third party 
under a "transfer" agreement, and (a) the The Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and benefits of the asset, or (b) the Group has not transferred or retained substantially 
all the risks and benefits of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 
When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered 
into a transfer agreement, it evaluates whether and to what extent it has retained the risks 
and benefits of ownership. When it has not transferred or retained substantially all the risks 
and benefits of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to 
recognize the asset transferred to the extent of its continued participation. In this case, the 
Group also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated 
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liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has 
retained. 
The continuous participation that takes the form of a guarantee on the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that the Group may have to repay. 

(iii) Financial liabilities 
 

Financial liabilities are classified, on initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss, loans and debt, accounts payable, or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. 
 
All financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and, in the case of loans and 
debt and accounts payable, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
The Group's financial liabilities include trade accounts payable and other accounts payable, 
loans and debt, including bank overdrafts and derivative financial instruments. 
 
Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for 
trading and financial liabilities designated at initial recognition as at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the short term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in the hedging 
relationships defined by IFRS 9. Separate embedded derivatives are also classified as held 
for trading unless they are designated as equity instruments. effective coverage. 
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the consolidated statement 
of income. 
The financial liabilities designated in the initial recognition at fair value through profit or 
loss are designated at the initial recognition date, and only if the criteria of IFRS 9 are met. 
The Group has not designated any financial liability at fair value with changes in results. 
Loans carried at amortized cost 

This is the most relevant category for the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing 
loans are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method 
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(EIM). Profits and losses are recognized in results when liabilities are derecognized in 
accounts, as well as through the EIM amortization process. 
The amortized cost is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on the 
acquisition and the fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIM. The amortization of 
the EIM is included as financial costs in the income statement. 
This category generally applies to loans and debt that accrue interest. 

Derecognition financial instruments  
Financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is canceled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another of the same lender in 
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the income statement. 

(iv) Compensation of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is recorded in the consolidated 
statements of financial position, if and only if, you have the legal right to offset the amounts 
recognized and there is an intention to cancel them on a net basis, or, to realize the assets 
and cancel the liabilities simultaneously. 

(v) Fair value of financial instruments 
The fair value of the financial instruments that are traded in the active markets on each 
reporting date is based on the prices quoted on the market (on the prices of purchase and 
sale prices on the stock exchange), not including deductions for transaction costs. 
In the case of financial instruments that are not traded in active markets, fair value is 
determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques may include recent purchase and 
sale transactions at arm's length prices, reference to the fair value of other basically identical 
financial instruments, an analysis of the discounted cash flow, or recourse to other valuation 
models. 
Note 30 includes an analysis of the fair values of financial instruments and more details on 
how they are valued. 

(n) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward currency contracts, interest rate 
contracts and forward commodity contracts to hedge its foreign currency risks, interest rate risks 
and commodity price risks, respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are initially 
recognized at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, derivatives are carried at fair value as financial assets when the fair value is 
positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.  
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Future contracts from commodities that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of 
the receipt or delivery of a non–financial item in accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, 
sale or usage requirements are held at cost. 
Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives are taken directly into the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except for the effective portion of derivatives 
assigned as cash flow hedges, which is recognized in other comprehensive income. 

Cash flow hedges 
At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge 
relationship to which the Group wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management 
objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes identification of the 
hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how 
the entity will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging instrument’s fair value in 
offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s cash flows attributable to the hedged risk. 
Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in cash flows and 
are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective 
throughout the financial reporting periods for which they were designated. 

Cash flow hedges which meet the strict criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows: 
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly as other 
comprehensive income in the equity, while any ineffective portion of cash flow hedge related to 
operating and financing activities is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. 
Amounts recognized as other comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income when the hedged transaction affects earnings, such as when the hedged 
financial income or financial expense is recognized or when a forecast sale occurs. Where the 
hedged item is the cost of a non–financial asset or non–financial liability, the amounts recognized 
as other comprehensive income are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non–financial 
asset or liability. 
If the forecast transaction or firm commitment is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognized in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised 
without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, any cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income remains in other comprehensive income 
until the forecast transaction or firm commitment affects profit or loss. 
The Group uses forward currency contracts and cross currency swaps as hedges of its exposure to 
foreign currency risk in forecasted transactions and firm commitments, as well as forward 
commodity contracts for its exposure to volatility in the commodity prices. Refer to Note 27 for 
more details. 
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Current versus non–current classification of derivatives instruments 
Derivative instruments that are not designated as effective hedging instruments are classified as 
current or non–current or separated into a current and non–current portion based on an assessment 
of the facts and circumstances (i.e., the underlying contracted cash flows). 
Where the Group will hold a derivative as an economic hedge (and does not apply hedge 
accounting) for a period beyond 12 months after the reporting date, the derivative is classified as 
non–current (or separated into current and non–current portions) consistent with the classification 
of the underlying item. 
Derivative instruments that are designated as, and are effective hedging instruments, are classified 
consistently with the classification of the underlying hedged item. The derivative instrument is 
separated into a current portion and a non–current portion only if a reliable allocation can be made 
Embedded derivatives are separated from the host contract and accounted for separately if the 
economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and the embedded derivative are not closely 
related, a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the 
definition of a derivative, and the combined instrument is not measured at fair value through other 
comprenhensive income.  

 (o) Expendable spare parts and supplies  
Expendable spare parts relating to flight equipment are measured at the lower of average cost and 
net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated base stock cost reduced by the allowance 
for obsolescence.  

(p) Impairment of non–financial assets 
We review flight equipment and other long-lived assets used in operations for impairment losses 
when events and circumstances indicate the assets may be impaired. Factors which could be 
indicators of impairment include, but are not limited to, (1) a decision to permanently remove flight 
equipment or other long lived assets from operations, (2) significant changes in the estimated useful 
life, (3) significant changes in projected cash flows, (4) permanent and significant declines in fleet 
fair values and (5) changes to the regulatory environment. For long-lived assets held for sale, we 
discontinue depreciation and record impairment losses when the carrying amount of these assets is 
greater than the fair value less the cost to sell. 
 
For purposes of this testing, the Group has generally identified the aircraft fleet type as the lowest 
level of identifiable cash flows. An impairment charge is recognized when the asset’s carrying 
value exceeds the greater value of its net undiscounted future cash flows or its fair market value. 
The amount of the charge is the difference between the asset’s carrying value and fair market value. 
 
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment 
annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the asset may be impaired. 
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Goodwill and indefinite-lived assets are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or on an 
interim basis whenever a triggering event occurs. 

 (q) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at 
banks and on hand and short–term deposits with original maturity of three months or less, which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and short–term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts, if any. 

(r) Maintenance deposits 
Maintenance deposits correspond to deposits paid to lessors based on cycles, flight hours, or fixed 
monthly amounts, depending on the specific nature of each provision. Rates used for the calculation 
and monthly amounts are specified in each lease agreement. The maintenance deposits paid to 
aircraft lessors are recorded within “Deposits and other assets” when they are susceptible for 
recovery, to the extent that such amounts are expected to be used to fund future maintenance 
activities. Deposits that are not probable of being used to fund future maintenance activities are 
expensed as incurred. 

The maintenance deposits refer to payments made by the Group to leasing companies to be used 
in future aircraft and engine maintenance work. Management performs regular reviews of the 
recovery of maintenance deposits and believes that the values reflected in the consolidated 
statement of financial position are recoverable. These deposits are used to pay for maintenance 
performed, and might be reimbursed to the Group after the execution of a quialifying maintenance 
service or when the leases are completed, according to the contractual conditions. Certain lease 
agreements establish that the existing deposits, in excess of maintenance costs are not refundable. 
Such excess occurs when the amounts used in future maintenance services are lower than the 
amounts deposited. Any excess amounts expected to be retained by the lessor upon the lease 
contract termination date, which are not considered material, are recognized as additional aircraft 
lease expense. Payments related to maintenance that the Group does not expect to perform are 
recognized when paid as additional rental expense. Some of the aircraft lease agreements do not 
require maintenance deposits. 

(s) Security deposits for aircraft and engines 
The Group must pay security deposits for certain aircraft and engine lease agreements. 
Reimbursable aircraft deposits are stated at cost. 
Deposits that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Such assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognized by applying the effective 
interest rate. 
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Deposits for guarantee and collateral are represented by amounts deposited with lessors, as 
required at the inception of the lease agreements. The deposits are typically denominated in U.S. 
Dollars, do not bear interest and are reimbursable to the Group upon termination of the agreements. 

(t) Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is more likely than not that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation in accordance with IAS 37 “Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. 
Provisions are set up for all legal claims related to lawsuits for which it is probable that an outflow 
of funds will be required to settle the legal claims obligation and a reasonable estimate can be 
made. The assessment of probability of loss includes assessing the available evidence, the 
hierarchy of laws, available case law, the most recent court decision and their relevance in the legal 
system, as well as the assessment of legal counsel.  
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre–
tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a financial cost. 
For certain operating leases, the Group is contractually obligated to return aircraft in a defined 
condition. The Group recognizes for restitution costs of the aircraft held under operating leases and 
accumulates them monthly during the term of the lease contract. Restitution costs are based on the 
net present value of the estimated average costs of returning the aircraft and are recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in “Maintenance and repairs.” 

(u) Employee benefits 

The Group sponsors defined benefit pension plans, which require contributions to be made to 
separately administered funds. The Group has also agreed to provide certain additional post–
employment benefits to senior employees in Colombia. These benefits are unfunded. The cost of 
providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined separately for each plan using the 
projected unit credit cost method.  
Actuarial gains and losses for defined benefit plans are recognized in full in the period in which 
they occur in other comprehensive income. 
The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
(using a discount rate based on Colombian Government bonds), and less the fair value of plan 
assets out of which the obligations are to be settled. Plan assets are held by CAXDAC, nor can 
they be paid directly to the Group. Fair value is based on market price information and in the case 
of quoted securities on the published bid price. The value of any defined benefit asset recognized 
is restricted and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from 
the plan or reductions in the future contributions to the plan. 
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Under IAS 19 (issued in June 2011 and amended in November 2013), the Group determines the 
net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the period by applying 
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual 
period to the net defined benefit liability (asset) at the beginning of the annual period. It takes into 
account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of 
contributions and benefit payments. The net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 
comprises: 
-   Interest income on plan assets. 

-   Interest cost on the defined benefit obligation; and 

-   Interest on the effect of the asset ceiling 
Additionally the Group offers the following employee benefits: 

(i) Defined contribution plans 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognized as an 
expense in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when they are due. 

(ii) Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are recognized as an expense at the earlier of when the entity can no 
longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when the entity recognizes any related 
restructuring costs. 
 

(v) Employee benefits 
 

The Company updated its share-based payment plan, by which eligible participants receive 
payments with virtual shares of Avianca Holdings S.A. that are quoted in NYC, as long as certain 
conditions and short-term indicators are met. The Company accounts for the Share-based Plan as 
a stock-based payment settled in cash in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 2 "Share-based 
Payments", whereby the Company accumulates a liability at the end of each reporting period 
based on the estimated fair value of the prizes that are expected to be exchanged. 

 

(w) Prepaid expenses 

(i) Prepaid commissions 
Commissions paid for tickets sold are recorded as prepaid expenses and expensed when the 
tickets are used. 

(ii) Prepaid rent 
Prepaid rent for aircraft corresponds to prepaid contractual amounts that will be applied to 
future lease payments over a term of less than one year. 
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(x) Interest income and interest expense 
Interest income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available–for–sale 
financial assets), changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income and gains on interest rate hedging instruments that are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Interest income is recognized 
as accrued in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, using the effective interest 
rate method. 
Interest expense comprises interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on 
provisions, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive Income, and losses on interest rate hedging instruments that are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Borrowing costs that are not 
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income using the effective interest 
method. 

(4) New and amended standards and interpretations 

4.1 Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year 

The Group has applied for the first time some standards and modifications to the standards, which 
were effective for the periods beginning on January 1, 2018. The Group has not applied any standard, 
interpretation or modification that has been issued but is not yet effective. 
The Group applied for the first time IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments, this application generated a decrease in equity of $199,549 distributed as 
follows: $199,765 for application of IFRS 15 and ($216) for IFRS 9. 

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, which establishes a five-step model to determine the time 
and amount by which revenues should be recognized. The new standard replaces existing revenue 
recognition guidelines, including IAS 18 Revenue from Ordinary Activities, IAS 11 Construction 
Contracts and IFRIC 13 Loyalty Programs with Customers. 
The standard was effective for annual periods beginning on January 1, 2018 and its early adoption 
is allowed. For its adoption, the standard allows choosing between the total retrospective method 
and the cumulative effect method. The Group adopted IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018, using the 
modified retrospective approach that does not require the restatement of previous financial 
statements. 
The Group completed its qualitative and quantitative assessment of the impacts of the adoption of 
IFRS 15 in its consolidated financial statements. The evaluation included, among others, the 
following activities: 

• Analysis of the contracts concluded with clients and their main characteristics; 
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• Identification of the performance obligations included in said contracts; 
• Determination of the price of the transaction and the effects caused by the variable considerations; 
• Analysis of the payments made to customers, including their proper classification and presentation 
in the income statement (net of income); 

• Assignment of the transaction amount to each performance obligation; 
• Analysis of the moment in which the income must be recognized by the Group, either at a moment 
in time or in the course of time, as appropriate; 
• Analysis of the impacts that the adoption of IFRS 15 has originated in the Group's accounting 
policies, processes and internal controls, as well as; 
The accounting policies at the consolidated level, as well as at the level of the subsidiaries in relation 
to the recognition of income, had already been subject to the approval of the Group's Audit 
Committee and establish the new bases for accounting for the revenue from contracts with customers 
under IFRS 15. Likewise, the Group analyzed the aspects related to internal control derived from 
the adoption of IFRS 15, with the objective of ensuring that the Group's internal control environment 
is appropriate for the purposes of the financial reporting process. 
The group recognizes revenue from the following main sources: 

(i) Passengers 
(ii) Cargo and others 

Management used the alternative transition method to adopt IFRS 15. 
The majority of the revenues are generated from the ticket sale, which will continue to be recognized 
as the flight service is provided. The evaluation included an estimate of the impact that the new 
revenue standard will have on the accounting of revenue from passengers and cargo and others, both 
with all the sub-revenue categories that roll up to these two items in total. 
Upon adoption of IFRS15, revenues for ancillaries associated with changes in date, destination or 
passanger name are recognized at the time of use dateand classified in “Passanger revenue”. 
Previously this ancilliaries, were recognized when changes were requested and it was classified 
under “Cargo and other revenue”. 
Under IFRS15, ancilliaries revenues are not considered to be a separate performance obligation, and 
are combined with the existing performance obligation and accounted for as if they were part of the 
original ticket sale transaction. Therefore, the original price of the ticket and the amount paid for the 
ancilliaries are combined and considered to be one single performance obligation, which is deferred 
and recognized as “Passenger revenues” when the related consideration is satisfied. The impact of 
the change was USD $6,840 and resulted upon adoption, in an increase of the air traffic liability. 
For revenue arrangements associated with the LifeMiles loyalty program, the Group concluded that 
there is only one performance obligation, and as such, that loyalty revenue should be recognized 
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upon the redemption of miles by its customers. Under prior guidance, the Group was recording 
separately the value of marketing and branding activities from the fair value of the miles earned by 
its customers. As a result, upon adoption of IFRS 15 on January 1, 2018, the Group recorded an 
increase to Frequent flyer deferred revenue of $192,925. 
Our analysis also included the evaluation of the costs to obtain and to fulfill a contract which we 
anticipate, given the current accounting policy in effect, will not have a significant impact as a result 
of the adoption of the new standard. 
The current accounting policy of the Group is to recognize certain bonus associated with different 
commercial agreements as other income, when the agreement is signed. At the date of transition, the 
Group recognized non-material modifications for certain agreements signed during 2017 (whose 
income was recognized at the date of signature) and will defer and recognize the corresponding 
income over the term of the agreement as indicated in IFRS 15. 

Impacts of the IFRS 15 standard adoption (As of January 1, 2018) 

The effects of the adoption of IFRS 15 standard in the consolidated financial statements position of 
the Group's was as follows: 

 
Reported as of 

December 
31, 2017 

 Application of the 
new standard Reported as of 

January 1, 
2018 

 
 Deferred revenue 

(1)(2) 
Total Assets $       6,861,396   ¾     $      6,861,396  
Total Liabilities        5,521,696   199,765   5,721,461  
Total Equity 1,339,700   (199,765)       1,139,935  

 
(1) An adjustment of $192,925, net of taxes was recognized as an increase to Frequent flyer 
deferred revenue.  
(2) An adjustment of $6,840 net of taxes was recognized to an increase to air traffic liability, 
in exchange for date, change of destination and name changes.  

The effects of the adoption of IFRS 15 standard to Non-controlling interests as of January 1, 2018 
was $57,958. 
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Impacts of the IFRS 15 standard adoption (for the year ended December 31, 2018) 

The effects on the adoption of the standard in the consolidated financial statements of comprehensive 
income of the Group was as follows: 

 Amounts for the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2018 without 

IFRS 15 

 Application of the new standard  Amounts for the 
year ended 

December 31, 
2018 as 

reported  

 
Deferred revenue 

adjustment 
(1) 

 Reclasifications 
(2) 

 

Operating revenue:        
     Passager         $    4,064,718   $           (8,239)  $              23,460          $     4,079,939  
     Cargo and other            834,351   ¾  (23,460)             810,891  
Total operating revenue         4,899,069   (8,239)  ¾          4,890,830  
Total operating expenses         4,658,714   ¾  ¾          4,658,714  
Operating profit            240,355   (8,239)  ¾             232,116  
Other no operating Income and 
expenses          (210,760)  ¾  ¾           (210,760) 

Profit before tax              29,595   (8,239)  ¾             21,356  
Income tax expense            (20,213)  ¾  ¾             (20,213) 

Net loss for the year            $    9,382   $           (8,239)  $                   ¾  
         $                  

1,143 
 

(1) Corresponds to the effect of the change in the recognition of some ancilliaries until the date of flight and 
income from the sale of miles at the time of redemption.  

(2) In accordance with the recognition criteria of IFRS 15, the reclassification associated with the items for 
the income of ancilliaries is directly related to the income of passengers. 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments  

 
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 
39 "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement" and all previous versions of IFRS 9.  
 
IFRS 9 includes three aspects of accounting for financial instruments: classification and 
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. Retrospective application is required but the 
presentation of comparative information is not mandatory, except for hedge accounting, for which 
the requirements are applied prospectively, with some exceptions.  
 
Avianca Holdings adopted the new standard on the required effective date. During 2017, the Group 
carried out a detailed impact assessment of the three aspects of IFRS 9.  
 
(a) Classification and measurement  

The Group measures all financial assets that under IAS 39 were measured at fair value. 
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Loans and commercial accounts receivable are maintained to collect the contractual cash flows and 
are expected to generate cash flows that represent only capital and interests payments. The Group 
analyzed the contractual characteristics of the cash flows of these instruments and concluded that 
they meet the criteria for measuring amortized cost according to IFRS 9. Therefore, reclassification 
is not required for these instruments.  
(b) Impairment  
IFRS 9 requires the Group to record the expected credit losses on all its debt securities, loans and 
trade accounts receivable, either for 12 months or for life. The Group applied the simplified approach 
and record the expected lifetime losses on all trade accounts receivable. The Group determined that, 
due to the unsecured nature of its loans and accounts receivable, the loss allowance will decrease by 
$216 upon adoption with the corresponding related decrease in the deferred tax asset of $71has 
determined that, due to the unsecured nature of its loans and accounts receivable, the impact of the 
application of this standard will not be material.  
(c) Hedge accounting  
The Group determined that all existing hedging relationships currently designated as effective 
hedging relationships will continue to qualify for hedge accounting under IFRS 9. The Group has 
opted not to retrospectively apply IFRS 9 in the transition to hedges where the Group excluded the 
forward points the coverage designation according to IAS 39. As IFRS 9 does not change the general 
principles of how an entity accounts for effective hedges, the application of the hedging requirements 
of IFRS 9 do not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
IFRIC 22- Transactions in Foreign Currency and Advance Considerations 

This Interpretation provides guidance on the determination of the date of transactions for purposes of 
establishing the exchange rate to be used in the initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income 
(or the corresponding part thereof), and the derecognition of an non-monetary asset or non-monetary 
liability that arises from the payment or collection of the anticipated consideration in foreign currency.  

This Interpretation is effective for the periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and is not have a 
significant effect on the Group’s consolidated financial statements, because the Group already accounts 
for transactions that involve payment or receipt of an advance consideration in a foreign currency in a 
manner consistent with the interpretation. 

4.2 Standards issued but not yet effective 
The group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that are not yet effective: 
IFRS 16  Leases  

IFRIC 23  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier application permitted. 
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IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16, Leases, must be applied from January 1, 2019. Currently, the payment obligations arising 
from operating leases only have to be disclosed in the Notes. The new standard requires lessees to 
recognize a right-of-use asset and liability on the balance sheet for all contracts that qualify as leases 
(with the exception of short-term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value) at 
the lease commencement date and recognize expenses on the income statement.  
The lease liability will be measured at the present value of the unpaid lease payments. Lease 
payments will include fixed and in-substance fixed payments, variable payments based on an index 
or rate, reasonably certain purchase options, termination penalties, fees paid by the lessee to the 
owners of a special-purpose entity for restructuring the transaction, and probable amounts the lease 
will owe under a residual value guarantee. Lease payment will not include variable lease payment 
other than those that depend on an index or a rate, any guarantee by the lessee of the lessor´s debt, 
or any amount allocated to non-lease components. 
The group will initially measure the value of the right-of-use assets for the value of the lease liability 
and include the value of the payments made before the start of the lease, any initial direct cost 
incurred by the tenant, and the return condition costs of the underlying assets. 
The Group will adopt the modified retrospective approach to introduction of this standard. Under 
this approach, the comparable figures for the previous year are not adjusted and all adjustment effects 
as of January 1, 2019 are therefore to be presented as adjustments to retained earnings, 
The Group are completing its assessment of the impacts of the adoption of IFRS 16 in its 
consolidated financial statements. The evaluation includes: 

• Aircraft Leases: 
As of December 31, 2018, the Group had 54 aircraft under operating leases, and The Group expects 
to record such aircraft as right-of-use assets and liabilities of the Group with the requirement of the 
new standard.  
Right-of-use assets will be accounted for under IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment. Aircraft 
recorded as right-of-use will have be depreciated over the lease term and any qualifying 
maintenances events will be capitalized and depreciated over the lease term expected and expected 
maintenance life. Provisions for end-of-lease conditions will be recorded on aircraft leases as a part 
of the right-of-us assets and any changes to the provision will be recognized as an adjustment to the 
right-of-use asset and subsequently amortized to the income statement over de remaining term of the 
lease. 

• Property Leases 
The Group has leases related to airport terminal operations space and other real states. For leases 
related to terminal operations space, there are generally effective substitution rights in the hands of 
the lessor and therefore these are not considered lease contracts under the standard. Airport terminal 
contracts with variable leases payments will also be excluded since variable lease payments, other 
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than those bases on an index or rate, are excluded from the measurement of the lease liability. The 
property leases that are expected to be recorded as right-of-use assets and the leases liabilities under 
the new standard which relate to Group offices 

• Other Leases 
Other leases related to vehicles, machinery, technology Equipment has been evaluated, discarding 
short-term contracts and low-value assets, and contracts associated with vehicles are mainly 
recognized as assets of right-of-use 

• Main Impacts 
At the date of initial application, the Group will expect an increase pre-tax in assets and financial 
obligations in the range of $900,000 and $1,100,000, with a lower or neutral impact in equity. The 
Group will apply the incremental rate which ranges from 4.5% to 6%, depending on the nature of 
the underlying asset. 
The impacts on the income statement, will be an elimination of aircraft rent and will be replaced by 
a depreciation of the right-use of asset and interest cost on the lease liability. These changes in 
presentation are not likely to have any significant impact on the result from operating profit. In 
addition, the change in the presentation of the expenses related to operating leases will result in a 
transfer from cash flow from financing activities to cash flow from operating activities as the lease 
payments no longer affect the operating cash flow and are instead recognized as interest and 
redemption payments within cash flow from financing activities. 
IFRIC 23- Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

The Interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition 
of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset 
or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on 
which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from 
the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must 
determine the date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. This 
Interpretation does not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions 

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the 
effects of vesting conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; 
the classification of a share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding 
tax obligations; and accounting where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based 
payment transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity settled. On adoption, 
entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective 
application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The Group’s 
accounting policy for cash-settled share based payments is consistent with the approach clarified in 
the amendments. In addition, the Group has no share-based payment transaction with net settlement 
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features for withholding tax obligations . Therefore, these amendments do not have any impact on 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

(5) Segment information 
The Group reports information by segments as established in IFRS 8 “Operating segments”. The 
Group has two reportable segments, as follows: 

§ Air transportation: Corresponds to passenger and cargo operating revenues on scheduled 
flights and freight transport, respectively. 

§ Loyalty: Corresponds to the coalition loyalty program, the frequent flyer program for the 
airline subsidiaries of Avianca Holdings S.A.  

The Board of Directors is the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM) and monitors the operating 
results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation 
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on profit or loss and is 
measured consistently with profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s 
operational information by reportable segment for the year ended December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

 For the year ended December 31, 2018 

 
Air 

transportation 
 Loyalty 

(1) 
  

Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating revenue: (2)        
    External customers $       4,577,021  $     313,809  ¾  $          4,890,830 
    Inter-segment 148,882  1,867  (150,749)  ¾ 
        Total operating revenue 4,725,903  315,676  (150,749)  4,890,830 
    Cost of loyalty rewards 55,071  154,887  (140,376)  69,582 
    Operating expenses 4,171,344  38,382  (9,981)  4,199,744 
    Depreciation, amortization                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
and impairtment 388,960  12,976  (12,548)  389,388 

Operating profit 110,529  109,429  ¾   232,116 
    Interest expense (182,230)  (30,064)  ¾  (212,294) 
    Interest income 8,062  2,053  ¾  10,115 
    Derivative instruments 567  (827)  ¾  (260) 
    Foreign exchange (9,238)  18  ¾  (9,220) 
    Equity Method 899  ¾  ¾  899 
    Income tax expense (20,258)  45  ¾  (20,213) 
 Net (loss) profit  for the 
period $        (91,669)  $       80,656  $         12,156  $                   1,143              

    Total Assets $       7,083,405  $     248,937  $    (228,566)  $           7,103,776 
    Total Liabilities $       5,426,718  $     862,834  $    (163,370)  $           6,126,182 
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The Group’s operational information by reportable segment for the year ended December 31, 2017 are as 
follows: 
 

 For the year ended December 31, 2017 

 
Air 

transportation 
 Loyalty 

(1) 
  

Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating revenue: (2)        
    External customers $      4,167,658  $    274,026  $                ¾  $             4,441,684 
    Inter-segment 112,037  4,366  (116,403)  ¾ 
        Total operating revenue 4,279,695  278,392  (116,403)  4,441,684 
    Cost of loyalty rewards 55,604  126,505  (105,967)  76,142 
    Operating expenses 3,741,852  30,122  (13,489)  3,758,485 
    Depreciation and, amortization 313,314  12,876  (12,777)  313,413 

Operating profit 168,925  109,429  ¾  293,644 
    Interest expense 174,657  8,675  ¾  183,332 

Interest income (12,978)  (1,550)  ¾  (14,528) 
    Derivative instruments 2,536  ¾  ¾  2,536 
    Foreign exchange 20,161  2  ¾  20,163 
    Income tax expense 19,457  652  ¾  20,109 
        Net (loss) profit  for the  
        Period $        (34,908)   

 
$     101,110  $         15,830  $                 82,032 

        
    Total Assets $      6,796,848  $     248,919  $    (184,371)  $            6,861,396 
    Total Liabilities $      5,082,763  $     545,951  $    (107,018)  $            5,521,696 

 
The Group’s operational information by reportable segment for the year ended December 31, 2016 are as 
follows: 

 For the year ended December 31, 2016 

 
Air 

transportation 
 Loyalty 

(1) 
  

Eliminations  Consolidated 
Operating revenue: (2)        
    External customers $ 3,898,271  $ 240,067  $             ¾  $ 4,138,338 
    Inter-segment 89,071  3,834  (92,905)  ¾ 
        Total operating revenue 3,987,342  243,901  (92,905)  4,138,338 

    Cost of loyalty rewards 53,901 
 

120,589  (78,785)  95,705 
    Operating expenses 3,509,122  19,617  (14,122)  3,514,617 
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 For the year ended December 31, 2016 

 
Air 

transportation 
 Loyalty 

(1) 
  

Eliminations  Consolidated 
    Depreciation and, amortization 269,534  12,789  (12,777)  269,546 
    Interest expense 172,381  249  ¾  172,630 
    Interest income (13,960)  906  ¾  (13,054) 
    Derivative instruments (3,321)  ¾  ¾  (3,321) 
    Foreign exchange 23,952  (13)  ¾  23,939 
    Income tax expense 32,384  1,706  ¾  34,090 
        Net (loss) profit  for the  
        Period $   (56,651) 

 
$ 88,058  $ 12,779  $ 44,186 

        
    Total Assets  $ 6,328,740  $ 227,382  $ (204,787)  $ 6,351,335 
    Total Liabilities  $ 4,842,190  $ 203,542  $ (114,658)  $ 4,931,074 

 
(1) 2018 Financial Information is prepared under IFRS 15 "Revenue from Contracts with clients" 

and for 2017 and 2016 it was prepared under IFRIC13 " Customer loyalty programmes" 
(2) Loyalty revenue for miles redeemed is allocated to passenger revenue and, other loyalty revenue 

is recorded in other revenue. 
The results, assets and liabilities allocated to the loyalty segment reportable correspond to those 
attributable directly to the subsidiary LifeMiles Corp., and exclude assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses of the loyalty program recognized by the Group’s Subsidiaries. 
Inter-segment revenues are eliminated upon consolidation and reflected in the “Eliminations” 
column. 
The Group’s revenues by geographic area for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
are as follows: 

  For the year ended December 31, 
  2018  2017  2016 
United States of America  $        462,091  $        565,910     $ 539,365 
Central America and the Caribbean  248,896  539,682  442,841 
Colombia  2,580,979  1,961,600  1,831,218 
South America (excluding–Colombia)  732,586  933,569  840,934 
Other  866,278  440,923  483,980 

Total operating revenue  $    4,890,830  $    4,441,684  $   4,138,338 

The Group allocates revenues by geographic area based on the point of origin of the flight. Non-
current assets are composed primarily of aircraft and aeronautical equipment, which are used 
throughout different countries and are therefore not assignable to any particular geographic area. 
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(6) Financial risk management 
The Group has exposure to different risks from its use of financial instruments, namely, liquidity 
risk, fuel price risk, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and capital risk management. 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s 
risk management framework. The Board has established mechanisms for developing and monitoring 
the Group’s risk management policies. The Group’s risk management policies are established to 
identify and analyze the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to 
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly 
to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training 
and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations. 

 (a)Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will 
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed 
conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 
Due to the seasonal and cyclical nature of the business and the liquidity needs for the operations and 
for the investments derived from the incorporation of new aircraft and the renewal of its fleet, the 
Group requires a very prudent management of its liquidity. This management consists of insuring, 
as much as possible, that there will always be sufficient liquidity to meet its obligations when they 
mature, under normal conditions and stress situations due to seasonality of liquidity. This 
management focuses on obtaining sufficient and adequate financing for its fleet assets, adapting the 
terms of new fleet incorporations to the growth and renewal strategies with the aim of reducing 
commitments of advance payment of investments above the necessary thresholds and renegotiating 
the long-term structural financing with sufficient margin to avoid incurring unacceptable losses or 
risk the reputation of the Group 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group had unsecured revolving lines of credit with different 
financial institutions in the aggregate amounts of $423,880, and $115,742, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were $109,059, and $14,123 unused credit line balances, 
respectively, under these facilities. These revolving lines of credit are preapproved by the financial 
institutions and the Group may withdraw funds if it has working capital requirements. 
The following are the contractual maturities of non–derivative financial liabilities, including 
estimated interest payments. Amounts under the “Years” columns represent the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows of each liability. 
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As of December 31, 2018 

 Years 

 Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flows  One  Two  Three  Four  

Five and 
thereafter 

              
Short–term 
borrowings  $    119,866  $      121,194  $    121,194  $            ¾  $             ¾  $          ¾  $             ¾ 

Long–term  
Debt 3,300,422  3,992,304  627,272  595,696  645,103  690,558  1,433,675 

Bonds 587,292  649,020  75,988  573,032  ¾  ¾  ¾ 
Total debt 4,007,580  4,762,518  824,454  1,168,728  645,103  690,558  1,433,675 
Accounts 
payable 437,506  437,506  437,506  ¾  ¾  ¾  ¾ 
Accrued 
Expenses 108,707  108,707  108,707  ¾  ¾  ¾  ¾ 

Contractual 
maturities $4,553,793  $5,308,791  $1,370,667  $1,168,728  $    645,103  $ 690,558  $ 1,433,675 
              

As of December 31, 2017 

 Years 

 Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flows  One  Two  Three  Four  

Five and 
thereafter 

              
Short–term 
borrowings  $     79,263           $      80,459        $    80,459             $         —  $             —  $        —  $             — 

Long–term  
Debt 3,063,801  3,568,473  586,446  485,333  498,336  460,022  1,538,336 

Bonds 609,049  732,149  81,062  78,140  572,947  —  — 
Total debt 3,752,113  4,381,081  747,967  563,473  1,071,283  460,022  1,538,336 
Accounts 
payable 140,848  140,848  140,848  —  —  —  —  

Accrued 
Expenses 150,513  150,513  150,513  —  —  —  — 

Contractual 
maturities $4,043,474   $ 4,672,442   $1,039,328  $563,473   $ 1,071,283  $460,022  $ 1,543,420 
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(b) Fuel price risk 

The Group maintains a commodity–price–risk management strategy that uses derivative instruments 
to minimize significant, unanticipated earnings fluctuations caused by commodity–price volatility. 
The operations of the Group require a significant volume of jet fuel purchases. Price fluctuations of 
oil, which are directly related with price fluctuations of jet fuel, cause market values of jet fuel to 
differ from its cost and cause the actual purchase price of jet fuel to differ from the anticipated price. 
All such transactions are carried out within the guidelines set by the Risk Management Committee.  
The Group enters into derivative financial instruments using heating oil and jet fuel to reduce the 
exposure to jet fuel price risks. Such financial instruments are deemed to be highly effective hedge 
because changes in their fair value are closely correlated with variations in jet fuel prices. The Group 
determines fair value of the contracts based on the notional future curves as observed in the market; 
gain or loss of hedge instruments are recognized directly in net equity, through other comprehensive 
income (OCI), based on Hedge Accounting procedures. 
Sensitivity analysis 

A change in 1% in jet fuel prices would have increased/decreased profit or loss for the year by 
$12,163 and $9,235. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the reporting date and had 
been applied to risk exposures existing at that date. This analysis assumes that all other variables 
remain constant and considers the effect of changes in jet fuel price and underlying hedging 
contracts. The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2017. 

(c) Foreign currency risk 
The foreign currency risk arises when the Group carries out transactions and maintains monetary 
assets and liabilities in currencies other than its functional currency. 
The functional currency used by the Group to establish the prices of its services is the US dollar. 
The Group sells most of its services at prices equivalent to the US dollar and a large part of its 
expenses are denominated in US dollars or are indexed to that currency, particularly fuel costs, 
maintenance costs, aircraft leases, lease payments, aircraft, insurance and aircraft components and 
accessories. The remuneration expenses are denominated in local currencies. 
The Group maintains its freight and passenger rates in US dollars. Although sales in domestic 
markets are made in local currencies, prices are indexed to the US dollar. 
The gain or loss in foreign currency is derived primarily from the appreciation or depreciation of 
the Colombian Peso against the US Dollar. For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, 
the Group recognized a net loss from currency exchanges of $(9,220), $(20,163) and $(23,939), 
respectively. 
The Group manages its exposure to foreign currency risk by hedging the selected balances using 
exchange contracts and currency swaps. 
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The summary quantitative data about the Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the management of the Group 
based on its risk management policy was as follows: 

 December 31, 2018 

 USD  Colombian 
Pesos  Euros  Venezuelan 

Bolivares  Argentinean 
Pesos  Brazilian 

Reals  Others  Total 

Cash and cash equivalents $      172,966  $         33,822  $        7,501             $             —  $     16,430  $     20,769  $        26,463  $      277,951 
Accounts receivable, net of 
expected credit losses 186,841  56,862  6,863  —  6,843  33,632 

 
38,909 

 
329,950 

Current tax assets 67,819  108,089  1,145  1  1,551  530  52,798  231,933 
Deposits and other assets 143,413  13,017 1 21,968  2,007  5,688  4,542  14,642  205,277 
Deferred tax assets 24,535  —  —  —  —  —  38  24,573 
Secured debt and bonds (3,115,356)  (29,316)  (170,670)  —  —  —  (14,041)  (3,329,383) 
Unsecured debt (675,699)  (2,498)  —  —  —  —  —  (678,197) 
Current tax liabilities (106,897)  (22,545)  (20,721)  (23,365)  (4,509)  (5,235)  (69,436)  (252,708) 
Accrued expenses (91,118)  (20,363)  (7,577)  —  (231)  (717)  (888)  (120,894) 
Provisions for return conditions (130,160)  —  —  —  —  —  —  (130,160) 
Provisions for legal claims (2,280)  (3,191)  (160)  —  (34)  (1,354)  (790)  (7,809) 
Employee Benefits (17,938)  (137,324)  (8)  —  —  —  522  (154,748) 
Deferred tax liabilities (17,927)  —  —  —  —  —  (510)  (18,437) 
Accounts payable (382,510)  (97,830)  (1,572)  (1)  (962)  (10,968)  (22,679)  (516,522) 
Net financial position exposure $ (3,944,311)  $     (101,277)  $   (163,231)  $    (21,358)  $     24,776  $    41,199  $    25,029  $ (4,139.174) 

                Sensitivity analysis                
Change forecast in exchange rate   (4.03)%  (5.64%)%  213,662.62%  2.36%  (4.39)%     
Effect on profit of the year   $       (4,258)  $       8,715  21,348  (570)  1,892     
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 December 31, 2017 

 USD  Colombian 
Pesos  Euros  Venezuelan 

Bolivares  Argentinean 
Pesos  Brazilian 

Reals  Others  Total 

Cash and cash equivalents $      342,524          $     70,957  $       20,914  $          11  $        6,874  $     19,468  $      48,234  $508,982 
Available-for-sale securities —  —  —  55  —  —  —  55 
Accounts receivable, net of 
expected credit losses 71,640  133,319  50,983  102  8,282  21,749 

 
194,717 

 
480,792 

Secured debt and bonds (2,931,194)  (61,784)  (127,416)  —  —  —  —    (3,120,394)  
Unsecured debt (628,767)  (2,952)  —  —  —  —  —  (631,719) 
Accounts payable (286,401)  (144,146)  (10,239)  (119)  (7,184)  (11,943)  (72,016)  (532,048) 
Net financial position exposure $  (3,432,198)       $     (4,606)  $     (65,758)  $          49  $        7,972  $      29,274  $   170,935      $(3,294,332) 

                Sensitivity analysis                
Change of 1% in exchange rate                
Effect on profit of the year $             —  $          (46)          $        (658)                  $          —                 $              80             $         293  $            —  -  $              — 
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Sensitivity analysis 
The calculation assumes that the change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to 
risk exposures existing at that date. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant 
and considers the effect of changes in the exchange rate, which is the rate that could materially 
affect the Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

(d) Interest rate risk 
The Group incurs interest rate risk mainly on financial obligations with banks and aircraft lessors. 
Interest rate risk is managed through a mix of fixed and floating rates on loans and lease 
agreements, combined with interest rate swaps. 
The Group assesses interest rate risk by monitoring and identifying changes in interest rate 
exposures that may adversely impact expected future cash flows and by evaluating hedging 
opportunities. The Group maintains risk management control systems to monitor interest rate risk 
attributable to both the Group’s outstanding or forecasted debt obligations.  
At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest–bearing financial instruments 
is: 

Carrying amount – asset/(liability)  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

     
Fixed rate instruments     
Financial assets  $    68,706  $          340,877    
Financial liabilities  (3,162,548)  (3,003,336) 
Interest rate swaps  5,063  2,990 
Total  $     (3,088,779)            $     (2,659,469) 
Floating rate instruments     
Financial assets  14,798  $51,042 
Financial liabilities  (845,031)  (748,777) 
Total  $          830,233    $       (697,735) 

 

At December 31, 2018, the interest rates vary from 0.44% to 12.55% (December 31, 2017: 0.44% 
to 12.15% ) and the main floating rate instruments are linked to LIBOR plus a spread according to 
the terms of each contract. 

Sensitivity analysis 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 an average increase of 1% in interest rates on short-term and 
long–term debt would be expected to decrease the Group’s income by $10,284 and $8,825 
respectively. 
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(e) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the potential loss from a transaction in the event of default by the counterparty during 
the term of the transaction or on settlement of the transaction. Credit exposure is measured as the 
cost to replace existing transactions should a counterparty default. 

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk at the consolidated statement of financial 
position date. The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each 
financial asset. 

The Group conducts transactions with the following major types of counterparties: 

• Trade receivables, net of expected credit losses: The Group is not exposed to significant 
concentrations of credit risk since most accounts receivable arise from sales of airline tickets to 
individuals through travel agencies in various countries, including virtual agencies and other 
airlines. These receivables are short term in nature and are generally settled shortly after the sales 
are made through major credit card companies. 

Cargo–related receivables present a higher credit risk than passenger sales given the nature of 
processing payment for these sales. The Group is continuing its implementation of measures to 
reduce this credit risk for example by reducing the payment terms and affiliating cargo agencies 
to the IATA Cargo Account Settlement Systems (“CASS”). CASS is designed to simplify the 
billing and settling of accounts between airlines and freight forwarders. It operates through an 
advanced global web–enabled e–billing solution. 

• Cash, cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions:  In order to reduce 
counterparty risk and to ensure that the risk assumed is known and managed by the Company, 
investments are diversified among different banking institutio(both local and international). The 
Company evaluates the credit standing of each counterparty and the levels of investment, based 
on (i) their credit rating, (ii) the equity size of the counterparty, and (iii) investment limits 
according to the Company’s level of liquidity. According to these three parameters, the Company 
chooses the most restrictive parameter of the previous three and based on this, establishes limits 
for operations with each counterparty. 

• Foreign exchange transactions:The Group minimizes counterparty credit risk in derivative 
instruments by entering into transactions with counterparties with which the Group has signed 
“International Swaps and Derivatives Association Master Agreements”. Given their high credit 
ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its contractual obligations. 

 (f)  Capital risk management 
The Group’s capital management policy is to maintain a sound capital base in order to safeguard the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, and in doing so, face its current and long–term 
obligations, provide returns for its shareholders, and maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital. The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt–to–capital ratio.  
 



AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
(In USD thousands) 
  

54 
 

Following is a summary of the debt–to/capital ratio of the Group: 

 

  
  

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

        
Debt  16  $       4,007,580  $      3,752,113 
Less: cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash  7  (277,951)  (514,447) 
Total net debt    3,729,629  3,237,666 
Total equity attributable to the Company    1,032,282  1,415,650 
Total Capital    $       4,761,911  $      4,653,316 
       
Net debt–to–capital ratio    78%  68% 

There were no changes in the Group’s approach to capital management during the year. 
 
 
Fair value financial assets and liabilities 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2018 are as follows: 

  December 31, 2018 

 Notes 
Carrying 
amount 

 Fair value 

Financial assets     
Investments 12 $           67,306  $           67,306 
Derivative instruments 27 7,456  7,456 
Plan assets 20              178,594  178,594 
  $            253.356  $          253.356 
Financial liabilities     
Short term borrowings and long–term debt 16 $       4,007,580  $       4,022,707 
Derivative instruments 28 (17)  (17) 
  $       4,007,563  $       4,022,690 
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The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2017 are as follows: 

  December 31, 2017 

 Notes 
Carrying 
amount 

 Fair value 

Financial assets     
Derivative instruments 26 23,539  23,539 
Plan assets 20 189,697  189,697 
  $            213,236  $           213,236 
     
  December 31, 2017 

 Notes 
Carrying 
amount 

 Fair value 

Financial liabilities     

Short term borrowings and long–term debt  
16 $      3,752,113  $      3,587,841 

Derivative instruments 26,27 137  137 
  $      3,752,250   $      3,587,978 

 
The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities corresponds the amount at which the instrument 
could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or 
liquidation sale. 
 
Management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, account receivable, account payable and other 
current liabilities approximate their carrying amount largely due to the short–term maturities of these 
instruments.  

(7) Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      Cash on hand and bank deposits  $          264,565  $          490,657 
Demand and term deposits (1)  8,543  18,325 

Cash and cash equivalents  273,108  508,982 
Restricted cash (2)  4,843  5,465 

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash  $          277,951  $          514,447 
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(1) As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, within the cash equivalents, there are demand and term 
deposits that amounted to $8,543 and $ 18,325, respectively. The use of term deposits depends 
on the cash requirements of the Group. As of December 31, 2018, term deposits accrue annual 
interest rates between 2,61% and 4,85% in Colombian pesos and between 2,05% and 4,59% in 
dollars. As of December 31, 2017, term deposits accrue annual interest rates between 3.77% and 
5.52% in colombian pesos and between 2.10% and 6.50% in dollars. 

(2) As of December 31, 2018, the restricted cash includes resources in administration in an 
autonomous equity, which have a specific destination in relation to the object for which they 
were constituted, they consist among others in the payment of capital and interests to the 
bondholders. 

(8) Trade and other receivables  

Trade and other receivables as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      
Trade   $         258,185  $              190,501 
Employee advances  4,848  6,213 
Other (1)  73,057  46,596 
  $         336,090  $ 243,310             

243,310 Less Allowance for expected credit losses   (12,430)  (13,180) 
Total   $        323,660  $              230,130 
     
Net current  $        288,157          $              226,015 
Net non–current  35,503  4,115 
Total   $        323,660  $              230,130 

(1) Corresponds mainly to amounts charged to Rolls Royce to contractual rights acquired in 
connection with failures in Trent 1000 engines. 

Changes during the year in the allowance as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

Balance at beginning of year   $          13,180  $          13,256 
Adjustment implementation IFRS 9 (See note 4)  (216)  — 
Bad debt expense  4,526  4,363 
Write–off against the allowance  (5,060)  (4,439) 
Total  $          12,430  $         13,180 
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The aging of accounts receivables at the end of the reporting period as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  December 31, 2017 

Neither past due nor impaired   169.589    127.046  
Past due 1–30 days   33.720    23.537  
Past due 31–90 days   17.506    17.151  
Past due 91 days   37.370    22.767  

Total  $            258,185  $               190,501 
Allowance for expected credit losses  (12,430)  (13,180) 
Net accounts receivable  $           245.756  $       177.321 



AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
(In USD thousands) 
  

58 
 

(9) Balances and transactions with related parties 

The following is a summary of related party transactions for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

Company 
 

Country 
 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017 

  Receivables  Payables  Revenues  Expenses  Receivables  Payables  Revenues  Expenses 
SP SYN Participações S.A.  Brazil  $                —           $             —           $           585          $             —           $           13,853  $             —           $           860  $             — 
OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, S.A.  Brazil  6,199  1,078  23,062  58,479  1,725  4,264  28,906  33,888 
Aerovias Beta Corp.  Panama               —                        —                        —                        —           977  —   —   —  
Aeromantenimiento, S.A. 

 
El 

Salvador 
 10               —               —               —  17  —   —   6,22 

Transportadora del Meta S.A.S.  Colombia  13  569  19  4,781  —   222  18  3,444 
Empresariales S.A.S.  Colombia               —  364  5  3,511  —  467  3  10,107 
Global Operadora Hotelera 
S.A.S   Colombia 

 9  532  7  5,954  8  636  9  5,340 

Synergy Aerospace Corp.  Panamá               —               —               —               —  512  1,262  —   4,201 
Corp. Hotelera Internac S.A. 

 
El 

Salvador 
              —  203               —  745  —   83  —   432 

Other    59  81  6  2  112  253  23  846 
Subtotal    $           6,290  $        2,827  $     23,684  $      73,472  $           17,204  $        7,187  $      29,819  $      58,880 
                   
    Receivables  Payables      Receivables  Payables     
Short–term    $           6,290  $       2,827      $           17,204  $        7,187     
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 Accounts receivable with SP SYN Participações S.A. As of December 31, 2018 there are 
payments in full. 

The Group has not recognized any expense or provision for doubtful accounts since it is expected 
that the balances will be recovered completely. 
All related parties are companies controlled by the same ultimate shareholder that controls Avianca 
Holdings S.A. The following is a description of the nature of services provided by and to related 
parties. These transactions include: 

Related party Nature of Services 

Aeromantenimiento S.A. Aircraft maintenance company that provides aircraft overhaul 
services to the Group. 

Aerovías Beta Corp. 
Accounts receivable correspond to amounts due to Latin 
Airways Corp. as a result of the spin-off of Aerovías Beta 
Corp., which led to the creation of Latin Airways Corp. 

Corporación Hotelera 
Internacional S.A. 
Global Operadora 
Hotelera S.A.S. 

Accommodation services for crews and employees of the 
Group. 

Empresariales S.A.S. Transportation services for employees of Avianca, S.A. 

OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, 
S.A. 

The Group provides to and receives from OceanAir logistic 
services, marketing and advertising, maintenance services, and 
training services. The Group has entered into a licensing 
agreement with OceanAir for the use of the Avianca trademark 
in Brazil. Additionally, the Group leases aircraft to OceanAir 
(see Note 33). On November 4, 2014, Tampa Cargo S.A.S., 
entered into a Block Space Agreement with OceanAir Linhas 
Aéreas, S.A., acquiring priority rights and a minimum 
guaranteed cargo capacity on certain flights of the carrier.  

SP SYN Participações 
S.A. 

Avianca, S.A. (“Avianca”) and SP SYN Participações S.A. 
(“SP SYN”) signed a novation of the receivables from 
OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, S.A. (“OceanAir”) whereby SP SYN 
would be the new debtor. 

Synergy Aerospace Corp. 

The balances of accounts receivable correspond to reserves on 
aircraft engines and maintenance contracts. The balances 
payable originate in payments executed by Synergy Aerospace 
Corp. on behalf of Latin Airways Corp. 
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Related party Nature of Services 

Transportadora del Meta 
S.A.S. 

It provides Avianca, S.A. ground transportation services for 
cargo / courier shipments. 

Key management personnel compensation expense 

Key management personnel compensation expense recognized within “Salaries, wages, and other 
benefits” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the years ended December 31 
2018 and 2017 are as follows. 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      Salaries  $          13,571    $         13,791  
Bonuses                 5,054                 8,775  
Social benefits                 2,604                 3,027  
Loans                      55                      —  
Compensation                      31                      73  
Others                    759                    833  
Total   $          22,074    $         26,499  

(10) Expendable spare parts and supplies, net of provision for obsolescence 

Expendable spare parts and supplies as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
  December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017 
      Expendable spare parts  $              83,151  $                 86,705 
Supplies  7,244  10,543 
Total  $              90,395  $                 97,248 

For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 expendable spare parts and supplies in the 
amount of $84,662, $60,027 and $59,579, respectively, were recognized as maintenance expense.  

Changes during the year in the allowance as follows: 

 2018 2017 
Balance at beginning of year $        18,631   $        24,705  
Expense for obsolete inventory          (3,203) (4,858) 
Write-offs against the 
allowance (8,923)            (1,215) 
Balance at end of year $          6,505   $        18,631  
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(11) Prepayments 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 prepaid balances are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

        Prepaid commissions (1)    $            27,991  $            33,170 
Prepaid compensations clients    37,130  29,754 
Advance payments on operating aircraft leases    12,470  9,507 
Premiums for insurance policies    2,401  12,142 
Other     19,872  15,184 
Total    $            99,864  $            99,757 

(1) Advance payment made to IATA for service charges made by airlines. This is mainly the case 
with Airlines that belong to Star Alliance for the accumulation of miles, use of VIP lounges and 
Reservation Systems, Travelport Global Distribution System B.V., Services of Bolivian 
Airports, S.A., United Airlines Inc. 

(12) Deposits and other assets 

Deposits and other assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  
Notes  

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

        Short term:       
Deposits with lessors (1)    $           15,535  $         111,229 
Short term investments (2)    59,847  59,332 
Guarantee deposits (3)    2,283  2,003 
Others (4)    9,542  8,871 

Sub–Total    87,207  181,435 
Fair value of derivative instruments  26  2,566  20,549 
Total    $           89,773  $         201,984 
Long term:       

Deposits with lessors (1)    73,569  $          63,962 
 Long term investments – restricted (2)    7,459  9,214 
Guarantee deposits (3)    14,715  16,531 
Others (4)    14,983  23,703 

Sub–Total    110,726  113,410 
Fair value of derivative instruments  26  4,778  2,990 
Total    $          115,504  $        116,400 
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 (1) Corresponds mainly to maintenance deposits in connection with leased aircraft. These 
deposits are applied to future maintenance event costs, and are calculated on the basis of a 
performance measure, such as flight hours or cycles. They are specifically intended to 
guarantee maintenance events on leased aircraft. 
Maintenance deposits paid do not transfer the obligation to maintain aircraft or the costs 
associated with maintenance activities. 
Maintenance deposits are reimbursable to the Group upon completion of the maintenance 
event in an amount equal to the lesser of (a) the amount of the maintenance deposits held by 
the lessor associated with the specific maintenance event or (b) the qualifying costs related 
to the specific maintenance event. 
The variation corresponds to the change of guarantee on the debt since now the group 
constitutes letters of credit with the same lessor in order to ensure the payments. 

(2) Short term classification corresponds to funds invested that will expire within one year. All 
treasury cash surpluses are invested as defined and outlined in the Group´s Investment Policy. 
Otherwise, they are classified as long-term. The restricted investments correspond to CDT's 
and bonds constituted by the Trusts held by the Group. 

(3) Corresponds mainly to amounts paid to suppliers in connections with leasehold of airport 
facilities, among other service agreements. 

(4) It mainly corresponds to guarantee deposits pending return with Airbus for delivery of 
aircraft and funds to guarantee 15% of the outstanding amount of the debt with the 
bondholders. 

(13) Property and equipment, net 
The main additions corresponds to: 
 

• Flight equipment: During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group acquired two aircraft A-
330-300, two aircraft A321-200, one aircraft B-787 and one aircraft 320 under financial leasing, 
in the amount of $441,175. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Group acquired ten 
A-318 aircraft and one A-320, which were previously operating leases. Additionally, one aircraft 
B787-8, one aircraft A-300F and two A320NEO aircraft under financial leasing, valued at $ 
337,083. 
 

• Capitalized maintenance: Additions reported for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
correspond mainly to major repairs of the fuselage for $16,441 and $27,821, respectively, and 
major engine repairs for $197,674 and $143,786, respectively. 

 
• Reimbursement of predelivery payments: In the item of aircraft advances, as of December 31, 

2018 and 2017, the Group capitalized loan costs of $16,355 at an average interest rate of 7.16% 
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and $10,443 at an interest rate average of  7.30%, respectively. In addition, the Group made pre-
delivery payments ("PDPs") of 29 orders with Airbus and Boeing for the twelve months of 2018. 

 
• Others: During the year ended December 31, 2018, the following capitalizations can be 

highlighted: 
o Charges associated with the phase V project transfer to El Dorado International Airport 

and expansion of the VIP Room for $4.267 

o Assembly of multimedia equipment in airplanes for $5,610 

o Furniture and office equipment for $726. 

o Aeronautical training and emergency practices (ATR Gate), originating a higher value 
of the A320 TRU flight simulator for $886. 

o Charges associated with the repair of roofs, improvements to the internal structure and 
surrounding land of Hangar II, located on the Bogotá air bridge for $ 607. o Charges 
associated with the adaptation of the new VIP Lounge at the Alfonso Bonilla International 
Airport and adaptation of the Santa Marta VIP Lounge Simón Bolivar International Airport 
for $ 295 and $ 207 respectively. o Closed Circuit Television - CCTV for phases IV, V and 
VIP Room El Dorado International Airport for $ 270. 

o During the year ended December 31, 2018, $25,963 was capitalized for the purchase and 
installation of an Airbus A320 MSN 2605 flight simulator installed in the CEO. The cost 
includes tariffs and taxes. It is used for personnel training.  

o During the year ended December 31, 20187, the Hangar MRO of Avianca in the Jose 
Maria Cordova International Airport of the municipality of Rionegro, ended with a total 
cost of $43,443, which consists of hangars and specialized workshops for the repair of 
aircraft components. , as well as infrastructure for the taxiing of aircraft, spare parts 
warehouses and training rooms. 

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Group obtained a gain of $70,070 related to sale 
and leaseback transactions: 

•  Transaction results in a financial lease: $53,990 was recognice as financial leasing and it 
has been deferred and will be amortized over the term of financing, $4.747 were 
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, as amortization.  

• Transaction results in an operating lease: $16.080 was recognice as a loss in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 

Impairtment 

In 2018, the impairment loss of $53,748 represented: 
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• Impairment of fleet Embraer E-190 $38,881: The write-down  of the residual value has 
been the result of the decision to start withdrawing our Embraer-190 fleet  in 2019, in the 
search for fleet standardization, generating benefits and operating efficiencies. This was 
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Results. The amount of 
impairment as of December 31, 2018 was based on the fact that this type of fleet had a 
very significant decrease in market value in the current year and therefore the residual 
value, which is what the Group expects recovering the result of an alienation, it has had 
to be totally impairment. 

• Impairtment of property administrative located in Venezuela $14,867: Taking into 
consideration the significantly high levels of inflation that exist in Venezuela and the 
volatility of foreign currency exchange rates resulting from continued political instability, 
we recorded impairment charges of our five offices in Venezuela. As a result of these 
impairment charges the remaining carrying value of these administrative property is zero. 

Administrative property 

The Group uses the revaluation model to measure its land and buildings which are composed of 
administrative properties. Management determined that this constitutes one class of asset under IAS 
16, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the property. The fair values of the properties 
were determined by using market comparable methods. This means that valuations performed by the 
appraisals are based on active market prices, adjusted for difference in the nature, location or 
condition of the specific property. The Group engaged accredited independent appraisals, to assist 
management determine the fair value of its land and buildings. Land and buildings were revaluated 
at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
In order to establish the fair value of real estate as of December 31, 2018, the revaluation of land of 
$917 and buildings of $(967) originated from the figures determined in the technical studies 
(valuation) was recognized as a result a final balance of Land is recorded for $ 54.536 and $79.049 
for buildings. 
 
In the year 2018, the Group reduced the revaluation value of lands and building lacated in Colombia 
for an amount of $20,448, due to the effect of loss in Colombian peso that affect the fair value of 
property in reltation with our functional currency. 
 

 If land and buildings were measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as follows: 
  

  
December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017 
        Cost    $         102,351  $          128,791 
Accumulated depreciation     (10,371)  (11,230) 
Net carrying amount    $           91,980  $          117,561 



AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
(In USD thousands) 
  

65 
 

 
Flight equipment, property and other equipment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 

 

 

Flight 
Equipment 

Capitalized 
Maintenance 

Rotable 
Spare parts 

Reimbursement 
of predelivery 

payments 

Administrative 
property Others Total 

Gross:        
December 31, 2017 $    4,808,885  $            555,619  $       219,067  $              159,303  $            158,217  $     294,306 $     6,195,397  

Additions    516,614 238,597 30,098 111,711 1,615 71,437 970,072 
Disposals (81,381) (3,632) (22,843) (11,014) (3,546) (48,165) (170,581) 
Transfers 42 420 (481) — — 19 — 
Transfers to assets held for sale — — — — — (41,402) (41,402) 
Sale of subsidiaries — — — — — (12,762) (12,762) 
Revaluation — — — — (20,448) — (20,448) 

December 31, 2018 $    5,244,160 $            791,004   $      225,841 $              260,000 $            135,838                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                 $     263,433 $     6,920,276 
Accumulated depreciation:        
December 31, 2017 $      824,774  $           270,780 $         67,560 $                       — $              10,554  $     140,713  $     1,314,381  
Additions 192,581 95,460 10,742 — 2,310 23,245 324,337 
Disposals (28,188) (1,263) (20,918) — (2,075) (1,065) (53,507) 
Impairment  38,881 — — — 14,867 — 53,748 
Transfers 143 — (146) — — 3 — 
Transfers to assets held for 
sale — — — — — (9,573) (9,573) 
Sale of subsidiaries — — — — — (7,558) (7,558) 

December 31, 2018 $     1,028,191 $            364,976  $         57,238 $                      — $             25,656 $     145,765 $      1,621,826 
Net:        
December 31, 2017 $    3,984,111       $            284,839         $       151,507     $             159,303        $           147,663         $     153,593    $     4,881,016     
December 31, 2018 $  $4,215,969 $            426,028 $     $168,603 $             260,000 $           110,182 $     117,668 $     5,298,450 
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Flight 
Equipment 

Capitalized 
Maintenance 

Rotable Spare 
parts 

Reimbursement of 
predelivery 
payments 

Administrative 
property Others Total 

Gross:        

December 31, 2016 $      4450.572  $             383.434   203.545   215 097  158.777  274.872  5.686.297 
Additions     333.202  171.607  17.271             119.049   2.099  33.828   677.056 
Disposals/Transfers  25.111  578  (1.729)  (174.843)   (33.676)  (14.394)  (198.973) 
Revaluation — — — —   31.017 —  31.017 

December 31, 2017 $    4,808,885 $           555,619   $      219,067  $       159,303 $          158,217  $  294,306  $     6,195,397 
Accumulated depreciation:        
December 31, 2016 $        653,41 5 $            190,596  $        62,489  $                          — $            9,406  $  120,462  $     1,036,368   

Additions    177,262  81,616   6,642  — 2,229  25,351  293,100  
Disposals (5,903)  (1,432)  (1,571)  — (1,081)  (5,100)  (15,087)  

December 31, 2017 $        824,774  $            270,780   $        67,560  $                         — $            10,554  $  140,713  $      1,314,381  
Net:        
December 31, 2016 $    3,797,157  $            192,838  $      141,056      $                215,097  $         149,371         $  154,410  $     4,649,929  
December 31, 2017 $    3,984,111  $            284,839  $      151,507  $                159,303  $          147,663  $  153,593  $     4,881,016  
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(14) Intangible assets and good will, net 

Intangible assets and good will, net of amortization as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are follows: 

 
 

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      

Routes   
$            34,299  $            36,503 

Trademarks  3,959  3,938 
Software and webpages  84,470  70,927 
Other intangible rights  83,042  3,938 
Subtotal   205,770  115,306 
Goodwill  308,033  311,273 

Total Intangible Assets  $         513,803  $          426,579 
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The following is the detail of intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

 

 Goodwill Routes Trade-Marks Software & 
Webpages 

Others 
(1) Total 

Cost:       
December 31, 2017 $  314,420  $    52,481 $       3,938 $    147,512 $       8,721 $   527,072 
Other Acquisitions – Internally developed ¾ ¾ 21 23,888         92,726 116,635 
Acquisitions / Adjustment through 
Business Combinations (3,240) ¾ ¾ ¾ ¾ (3,240) 
December 31, 2018 $  311,180 $    52,481    $       3,959 $    171,400 $     101,447 $   640,467 
       
Accumulated Amortization and 
Impairment Losses:       
December 31, 2017 $      3,147 $    15,978 $            ¾ $     76,585 $         4,783 $   100,493 
Amortization for the year ¾ 2,204 ¾ 10,345 13,622 26,171 
December 31, 2018 $      3,147 $    18,182 $            ¾ $     86,930 $       18,405 $   126,664 
       
Carrying Amounts:       
December 31, 2017 $  311,273 $     36,503 $       3,938 $     70,927 $     3,938 $  426,579 
December 31, 2018 $  308,033 $     34,299 $       3,959 $     84,470 $     83,042 $  513,803 
       
 

(1) The main acquisitions of other intangibles correspond to digital transformation project for $ 28,567, the SAP project for 
$17,566, J2C project for $ 13,056, SOC Project for $ 8,848 and CRM project 5,936. 
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The following is the detail of intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016: 
 
 

 Goodwill Routes Trade-Marks Software & 
Webpages Others Total 

Cost:       
December 31, 2016 $  311,181 $   52,481 $    3,938 $  120,694 $   4,804 $  493,098 
Other Acquisitions – Internally developed 3,240 ¾ ¾ 26,818 3,916 33,974 
December 31, 2017 $  314,421  $  52,481 $3,938 $147,512 $   8,720 $  527,072 
       
Accumulated Amortization and 
Impairment Losses:       

December 31, 2016 $   (3,147) $ (13,774) $            ¾ $  (58,890) $  (4,369) $  (80,180) 
Amortization for the year ¾ (2,204) ¾ (17,695) (414) (20,313) 
December 31, 2017 $   (3,147) $ (15,978) $            ¾ $   (76,585) $  (4,783) $(100,493) 
       
Carrying Amounts:       
December 31, 2016 $ 308,034 $   38,707 $       3,938 $     61,804 $        435 $  412,918 
December 31, 2017 $ 311,274 $   36,503 $       3,938 $     70,927 $     3,937 $  426,579 
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(14.1) Goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful life 
In order to verify the impairment of goodwill acquired through business combinations and other 
intangibles with indefinite useful life, these have been assigned to the following Cash Generating 
Units (CGU): 
-   Avianca Ecuador, S.A.  
-   Grupo Taca Holdings Limited 
-   Tampa Cargo S.A.S.  

The carrying amount of goodwill and intangibles allocated to each of the CGUs: 
  Avianca Ecuador  Grupo Taca 

Holdings Limited 
 Tampa Cargo  

S.A.S. 
  2018  2017  2018  2017  2018  2017 
Goodwill  $32,979   $32,979   $234,779  $234,779  $ 40,276  $ 40,276 
Routes  —  —  —  —  23,463  23,463 
Trademarks  —  —  —  —  3,938  3,938 

 
The Group performed its annual impairment test in December 2018 and 2017. The Group considers 
the relationship between the value in use of the CGU and its book value, among other factors, 
when reviewing for indicators of impairment on the goodwill or any of its intangible assets. As of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group did not identify potential impairment of goodwill or 
intangible assets. 

Basis for calculating recoverable amount 
The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been measured based on their value-in-use. 
Value-in-use is calculated using a discounted cash flow model. Cash flow projections are based 
on the Business plan approved by the Board covering a five year period. Cash flows extrapolated 
beyond the five year period are projected to increase based on long-term growth rates. Cash flow 
projections are discounted using the CGU’s pre-tax discount rate. 
Annually the Group prepares and the Board approves five year business plans. Business plans were 
approved in the fourth quarter of the year. The business plan cash flows used in the value-in-use 
calculations reflect all restructuring of the business that has been approved by the Board and which 
can be executed by Management under existing agreements. 
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For each of the CGUs the key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations are as follows: 

 
  Aerogal  

                                                     
 Grupo Taca Holdings 

Limited 
 Tampa Cargo  

S.A.S. 
  2018  2017  2018  2017  2018  2017 
Carrying amount of 
goodwill 

 
$32,979   $32,979   $234,779  $234,779  $ 40,276  $ 40,276 

Impairtment losses  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Revenue growth p.a. 
over planning period 

 -0.6% to 
8.9%  1.9% to 

11.7%  1.3% to 
9.6%  4.3% to 

17.8%  0.4% to 
1.9%  0.8% to  

3.7% 
Operating income  
over planning period  

 4.9% to 
17.7%   

8.5% to 
14.9%  -3,0% to 

2.2%  1.8% to  
5.2%  8.4% to 

13.9%  8.9% to 
12.3% 

Capital expenditures 
over planning period 

 9% to  
17%  3% to  

13%  9% to  
13%  4% to  

11%  2% to 
10%  0.3% to  

7.7% 
Duration of planning 
period 

 
5 years  5 years  5 years  5 years  5 years  5 years 

Revenue growth p.a. 
after planning period 

 
4.4%  6.9%  4.4%  12.9%  3.9%  5.5% 

Operating Income  
after planning period  

 5.9%  13.2%  3,2%                 5.2%  15.3%  11.4% 

Capital expenditures 
after planning period 

 10%  7%  8%  5%  6%  6.6% 

Business Enterprise 
Value  

 274.720  231.008  2.142.073  1.886.880  759.450  772.027 

Discount rate  12.32%  13.03%  13.44%  14.48%  9.36%  9.6% 

The projections are based on the Company's budget, from which we calculate the unit and its 
growth trends to develop the 5-year projections. We also add the expectations of relative growth 
of other business units and their selected costs. 
Macroeconomic assumptions are based on market data extracted from Bloomberg for both the 
expected WTI price and the expected interest rate levels, which have a direct impact on our cost 
projections. All costs are affected by inflation. 
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(15) Assets held for sale 
Assets held for sale at December 31, 2018 consist of the following assets: 

  
December 31, 2018 

  Flight Simulators $             31,580 
Total Assets Held For Sale $             31,580 

(1) No impairment loss was recognized at the time of the reclassification of the simulators to 
the item as held for sale at December 31, 2018, since it is expected that the fair value less 
cost of sales is greater than the amount in books. 

(2) The company signed a sale agreement on January 30, 2019 with CAE International 
Holdings Ltd., agreeing to sell (10) ten flight simulators belonging to the Group. The 
simulators were in use for the provision of training services for pilots and co-pilots of civil 
and commercial aircraft. 

(3) The assets classified as held for sale belong to the operating segment of air transportation. 

(16) Long–term debt 
Loans and borrowings, measured at amortized cost, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are 
summarized as follows: 

 
Notes 

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      Current:     
Short–term borrowings and current 

portion of long–term debt 
 

 $      589,366   $     542,614 
Bonds  37,376  29,458 

       $     626,742       $     572,072 
 
 
Non–current: 

 
   

Long–term debt  $   2,830,922  $  2,600,450 
Bonds  549,916  579,591 

  $  3,380,838   $  3,180,041 
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Terms and conditions of the Group’s outstanding obligations for years ended December 31, 2018 
and 2017 are as follows: 

   December 31, 2018 
 

Due 
through  

Weighted 
average 

interest rate  Face Value  
Carrying 
Amount 

        
Short–term 
borrowings 2019  5.81% 

 
$       130,858  $    119,866 

Long–term debt  2029  4.76%  5,249,987  3,300,422 
Bonds–Colombia 2019  9.87%  81,966  28,147 
Bonds– Luxembourg 2020  7.95%  550,000  559,145 
Total  $    6,012,811  $  4,007,580 

 
 

   December 31, 2017 
 

Due 
through  

Weighted 
average 

interest rate  Face Value  
Carrying 
Amount 

        
Short–term 
borrowings 2018  3.96% 

 
$         85,387  $           79,263 

Long–term debt  2029  4.14%  4,699,338  3,063,801 
Bonds–Colombia 2019  10.58%  89,266  59,808 
Bonds– Luxembourg 2020  8.38%  550,000  549,241 
Total  $    5,423,991  $      3,752,113 

Below we present the detail of the debt balance by type of loan: 
 

 December 
31, 2018 

 December 31, 
2017 

    
Aircraft $    2,396,748  $      2,288,605 
Corporate 1,023,540  854,459 
Bonds 587,292  609,049 
 $    4,007,580  $      3,752,113 

The majority of interests bearing liabilities are denominated in US dollars except for bonds 
and certain financing liabilities for working capital which are denominated in Colombian 
Pesos, and some aircraft debts are denominated in Euros. 
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The main additions for the years ended at 31 December, 2018 and 2017 corresponds to: 

• Loans (financial leasing) to finance the purchase of aircraft:  

o During 2018, the Group obtained $427.751 in loans to finance the purchase of  
one  A320 aircraft, two A321, two A330, and  one B787. 

o During 2017, the Group obtained $340.568 in loans to finance the purchase of 
ten A318 aircraft, one B787, one A320, two A320neo, and refinance one A319 
and two A320.  

• Loans for general purposes of working capital: 

o During 2018, the Group also obtained $303,640. Mainly these loans are 
acquired by Lifemiles, $ 95,000 at a rate Libor + 5.5 for a term of 4 years. 

o During 2017, the Group also obtained $510,360. Amount these loans is the one 
acquired by LifeMiles, $300,000 at a rate LIBOR + 5.5%, for a term of 5 years, 
this loan is guaranteed with all tangible and intangible assets, except for some 
exclusions of LifeMiles Ltd and its subsidiaries, likewise this debt has financial 
commitments. In addition , the Group received a US $150,000 (less transaction 
costs) in connection with the transfer of future cash flows from certain sales of 
credit card tickets in the United States (related only to travel agency sales), 
which were sold by Avianca to USAVFlow for a period of five years. 

Senior bonds 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Senior Notes outstanding and the corresponding 
balances are as follows: 

ssuing entities  
Original 
currency  

Total placed in 
original currency  

Balance as of 
December 31, 

2018  2017 
Avianca Holdings S.A., 
Avianca Leasing, LLC 
and Grupo Taca Holdings 
Limited 

 

USD  550,000  $ 559,145  $ 549,241 
 

Issuers: Avianca Holdings S.A., Avianca Leasing, LLC, and Grupo Taca 
Holdings Limited 
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Guarantors: Avianca Costa Rica, S.A., Avianca Perú S.A., and Taca International 
Airlines, S.A. fully and unconditionally guarantee the total Notes. 
Aerovías del Continente Americano – Avianca, S.A. unconditionally 
guarantee the obligations of Avianca Leasing, LLC under the Senior 
Notes in an amount equal to $375 million. 

Notes offered: $550,000 aggregate principal amount of 8.375% Senior Notes due 
2020. 

Initial Issue Price: 98.706% 
Initial Issue Date:  May 10, 2013 

Issue Amount: $300 million 

Interest: The Senior Notes will bear interest at a fixed rate of 8.375% per year. 
The first issuance is payable semiannually in arrears on May 10 and 
November 10 of each year, commencing on November 10, 2013. 
Interest will accrue from May 10, 2013. The second issuance is payable 
semiannually in arrears on May 10 and November 10 of each year, 
commencing on May 10, 2014. 

Second Issue Price: 104.50% 

Second Issue Date: April 8, 2014 

Maturity Date: The Senior Notes will mature on May 10, 2020. 

Local bonds 

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, bonds issued and the corresponding balances are as follows: 

Issuing 
entity 

 

Issue  

Total 
placed in 
original 
currency 

(1)  

Balance as of 
December 31, 

2018  2017 
Original 

currency (1)  
In US 

Dollars  
Original 

currency (1)  
In US 

Dollars 
Avianca  Series A  75,000  ¾ $ ¾  ¾ $ ¾ 

Avianca  Series B  158,630  ¾  ¾  ¾  ¾ 

Avianca  Series C  266,370  90,566  28,147  178,468  59,808 
Total       $ 28,147   $ 59,808 

(1) Presentation of original currency in millions of Colombian pesos 
On August 25, 2009 a bond issue was completed on the Colombian stock exchange, which is 
collateralized by Credibanco and Visa credit cards ticket sales in Colombia. 
The specific conditions of the 2009 bond issue in Colombia are as follows: 
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Representative of 
bondholders: Helm Trust, S.A. 
Amount of issue: $500,000 million Colombian Pesos 
Managing agent: Fiduciaria Bogota, S.A. 
Series: 
 
 

Series A: Authorized issue $100,000 million Colombian Pesos  
Series B: Authorized issue $200,000 million Colombian Pesos 
Series C: Authorized issue $300,000 million Colombian Pesos 

Coupon: 
 
 

Series A: Indexed to Colombian consumer price index 
Series B: Indexed to Colombian consumer price index 
Series C: Indexed to Colombian consumer price index 
Interest is payable at quarter–end 

Term: 
 

Series A: 5 years  
Series B: 7 years 
Series C: 10 years 

Repayment of 
capital: 

 

Series A: At the end of 5 years 
Series B: 50% after 6 years and 50% after 7 years 
Series C: 33% after 8 years, 33% after 9 years and 34% after 10 years 

Future payments on long–term debt 

Future payments on long–term debt for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as 
follows: 

  Years 
  One  Two  Three  Four  Five and 

thereafter  Total 

December 31, 2018  $    469,500  $   457,737  $   529,125  $    608,026  $1,236,034  $ 3,300,422 
             December 31, 2017  $    463,351   $   381,288   $   412,839        $    392,810  $1,413,513       $  3,063,801 

Future payments on bonds for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  Years 
  

One  Two  Three  Four  
Five and 

thereafter  Total 
December 31, 2018  $   37,376  $  549,916  $            ¾  $           ¾  $           ¾  $   587,292 
             December 31, 2017  $     29,458  $    29,676  $   549,915  $           ¾  $           ¾  $   609,049 

 



AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
(In USD thousands) 
  

77 
 

  
Changes in liabilities derived from financing activities at December 31, 2018 
 

 
 

(1) Goods and equipment acquired during the period under finance lease; these movements have no effect on the statement 
of cash flows. 

(2) This column contains the value of the pending interest for the year ended to 2018 for $212,294 and the initial balance of 
interest payable related to the financial obligations of $ 21,018. In the year 2017 the interest caused was $ 183,332 and 
these were presented as accounts payable. 

  

 January 1, 
2018 

New 
adquisitions 

 

New Leases 
(1) 

Financial 
Cost 
(2) 

Payments Interest 
Payments 

Foreign 
exchange 
movement 

December 
31,2018 

 
Current interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings 
(excluding itmes listed 
below) 

$       79,263 $      68,866 $             — $       5,556 $   (27,691) $      (4,572) $       (1,556) $      119,866 

Current portion of long-term 
credits (excluding items 
listed below) 

463,351 — — 141,337 (103,630) (56,650) 25,092 469,500 

Current Bonds 29,458 — — 57,940 — (51,044) 1,022 37,776 
Non-current obligations 
under financial lease 
agreements and purchase 
agreements 

2,600,450 234,774 427,751 23,063 (324,748) (96,443) (33,925) 2,830,922 

Bonds 579,591 — — 5,416 (27,404) —  (7,687) 549,916 
Total liabilities from 
financing activities $  3,752,113 $    303,640 $    427,751 $   233,312 $ (483,473) $  (208,709) $     (17,054) $   4,007,580 
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Changes in liabilities derived from financing activities at December 31, 2017 
 
 

 
 January 1, 

2017 
New 

adquisitions 
New Leases 

(1) Payments 
Foreign 

exchange 
movement 

December 
31,2017 

 
Current interest-bearing loans 
and borrowings (excluding 
itmes listed below) 

 
 $       62,179  

  
$     39,492  

 
$           — 

 
$  (22,408)  

  
$           —  

 
 $        79,263  

Current portion of long-term 
credits (excluding items listed 
below) 

 
 314,970  

 
207,562  

 
— 

 
(57,197)  

 
 (1,984)  

 
 463,351  

Bonds  29,590  —  — — (132)   29,458  

Non-current obligations under 
financial lease agreements and 
purchase agreements 

 
 
 

 2,259,459  

 
 
 

 263,306 

 
 
 

   340,568  

 
 
 

(279,580)  

 
 
 

 16,697  

 
 
 

   2,600,450  
Bonds  608,037   —  — (28,910)   464     579,591  
Total liabilities from 
financing activities 

 
$  3,274,235  

 
$   510,360  

 
 $ 340,568  

 
$ (388,095)  

  
 $    15,045  

 
 $    3,752,113  

 
(1) Goods and equipment acquired during the period under finance lease; these movements have no effect on the statement 

of cash flows. 

(2) In the year 2017 the interest caused was $ 183,332 and these were presented as accounts payable. 
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(17) Accounts payable 

Accounts payable as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      
Trade accounts payable  $           424,717  $               122,696 
Non-income taxes collected in advance   —  68,651 
Payroll taxes (1)  69,062   53,746 
Other payables (2)  12,789  18,152 
Total  $           506,568  $               263,245 

 

Trade accounts payable  4,276   — 
Social Charges  2,851  5,084 
Total  $          7,127  $             5,084 

(1) Represent payroll taxes and contributions based on salaries and compensation paid 
to employees of the Group in the various jurisdictions in which it operates. 

(2) Other accounts payable include mainly provisions for travel expenses, provisions for 
fees and accrued interest. 

(18) Accrued expenses 

Accrued expenses as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      Operating expenses  $  105,649              $          112,844 
Vacation and other employee accruals  12,187  36,144 
Other accrued expenses (1)  3,058  37,669 
Total  $         120,894  $          186,657 

(1) Other accrued expenses include transport, freight and haulage, public services and 
maintenance  

(19) Provisions for return conditions 
For certain operating leases, the Group is contractually obligated to return the aircraft in a 
predefined condition. The Group accrues for restitution costs related to aircraft held under 
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operating leases at the time the asset does not meet the return conditions criteria and 
throughout the remaining duration of the lease. 

Provisions for return conditions as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

        Current    $              2,475  $            19,093 
Non – current    127,685  144,099 
Total    $          130,160  $          163,192 

Changes in provisions for return conditions as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

        Balances at beginning of year     $          163,192  $          173,938 
Provisions made     43.705  811 
Provisiones reverse (1)     (70.797)  — 
Provisions used     (5.939)              (11,557) 

Balances at end of year    $          130,160  $          163,192 
 

(1) In 2018 there is a decrease in provisions for return conditios, mainly due to: $ 14,650 for 
extension of operating contracts and $48,581 for extension in the period of maintenance. 

(20) Employee benefits 

Employee benefits as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  
  

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

        
Defined benefit plan    $        144,862  $         174,346 
Other benefits Short term     9,084  — 
Other benefits Long term    802  — 
Total    $        154,748  $         174,346 

 
Current      $          44,663  $           38,706 
Non  –  current    110,085    135,640 
Total    $        154,748  $         174,346 
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The Group has a defined benefit plan which requires contributions to be made to separately 
administered funds. The Group has also agreed to provide post–employment benefits to its 
retirees that consist primarily of medical benefit plans as well as certain other benefits, 
including scholarships, tickets, seniority and retirement. These other benefits are unfunded. 
Accounting for pensions and other post–employment benefits involves estimating the benefit 
cost to be provided well into the future and attributing that cost over the time period in which 
each employee works for the Group. This requires the use of extensive estimates and 
assumptions about inflation, investment returns, mortality rates, turnover rates, medical cost 
trends and discount rates, among other information. The Group has two distinct pension 
plans, one for pilots and the other for ground personnel. Both plans have been closed to new 
participants, and therefore there are a fixed number of beneficiaries covered under these plans 
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

  
 

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      Fair value of plan assets  $         (178,594)  $       (189,697) 
Present value of the obligation  323,456  364,043 

Total employee benefit liability  $          144,862  $          174,346 

The following table summarizes the components of net benefit expense recognized in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the funded status and amounts 
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position for the respective plans: 

Net benefit expense – year ended December 31, 2018 
(recognized in Salaries, wages and benefits) 

 Defined benefit 
plan  Other benefits 

      Current service cost  $              1,094  $             2,353 
Interest cost on net benefit obligation  17,375  3,706 
Interest income on plan assets  (11,699)  — 
Net Cost  $            6,770  $             6,059 

 
Net benefit expense – year ended December 31, 2017 
(recognized in Salaries, wages and benefits) 

 Defined benefit 
plan  Other benefits 

      Current service cost  $              1,207  $             1,982 
Interest cost on net benefit obligation  18,490  3,984 
Interest income on plan assets  (12,615)  — 
Net Cost  $             7,082  $            5,966 

Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2018 are as 
follows: 



AVIANCA HOLDINGS S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Republic of Panama) 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
(In USD thousands) 
  

82 
 

  Defined 
benefit 

Obligation 
 Other benefits  Total 

Benefit obligation as of December 31, 2017  300,773  63,270  364,043 
Period cost   18,469  6,059  24,527 
Benefits paid by employer  (29,878)  (3,188)  (33,067) 
Remeasurements of defined benefit liability  850  (6,172)  (5,322) 
Other current  —  (342)  (342) 
Exchange differences  (21,727)  (4,657)  (26,384) 
Benefit obligation as of December 31, 2018  268,487  54,970  323,456 
Fair value of plan assets  (178,594)  —  (178,594) 
Total employee benefit liability  89,892  54,970  144,862 
Current  32,205  3,374  35,579 
Non–current  57,687  51,596  109,282 
Total  89,892  54,970  144,862 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

  
Defined 

benefit plan 
   
Fair value of assets at December 31, 2017  189,697 
Interest income on plan assets  11,699 
Remeasurament of interest assumptions   (14,361) 
Employer contributions  31,871 
Benefits paid  (26,268) 
Exchange differences  (14,044) 
Fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2018  178,594 

 
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation as of December 31, 2017 are as 
follows: 

  
Defined 
benefit 

Obligation 
 Other benefits  Total 

       
Benefit obligation as of December 31, 
2016  $         265,928  $           54,962  $         320,890 

Period cost   19,697  5,966  25,663 
Benefits paid by employer  (20,058)  (2,398)  (22,456) 
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Defined 
benefit 

Obligation 
 Other benefits  Total 

Remeasurements of defined benefit 
liability   34,848  4,572  39,420 

Other OCI  (1,215)  ¾  (1,215) 
Exchange differences  1,573  168  1,741 
Benefit obligation as of December 31, 
2017  300,773  63,270  364,043 

Fair value of plan assets  (189,697)  ¾  (189,697) 
Total employee benefit liability  $         111,076  $           63,270  $         174,346 
Current  $           34,141  $             4,565  $           38,706 
Non–current  76,935  58,705  135,640 

Total  $         111,076  $           63,270  $         174,346 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 

  
Defined 

benefit plan 
   
Fair value of assets at December 31, 2016  $           165,740 
Interest income on plan assets  12,615 
Remeasurament of interest assumptions   6,568 
Employer contributions  23,522 
Benefits paid  (17,460) 
Adjustment in plan asset performance  (1,896) 
Exchange differences  608 
Fair value of assets at December 31, 2017  $           189,697 

For the year ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, the remesurements of defined benefit 
plan liability, net of $(9,039), $(33,385) and $4,094 respectively were recognized in other 
comprehensive income. 

  December 
31, 2018  

December 31, 
2017 

 December 31, 
2016 

Actuarial gains recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

 
$     5,322  $    (38,205)  $ 2,383 

Return on plan assets adjustment  (14,361)  4,672  1,711 
Adjustments for translation  ¾  148  ¾ 
Amount recognized in other 
comprehensive income 

 
$      (9,039)  $    (33,385)  $ 4,094 
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The Group expects to contribute $35,579 to its defined benefit plan and other benefits in 
2019. 
Plan assets correspond to net funds transferred to CAXDAC, which is responsible for the 
administration of the pilots’ pension plan. The assets held by CAXDAC are segregated into 
separate accounts corresponding to each contributing Group. Additionally the plan assets 
included a portion relating to pension plan of ground personnel. 

 
The principal assumptions (inflation–adjusted) that are used in determining pension and 
post–employment medical benefit obligations for the Group’s plans are shown below: 
 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

Discount rate on all plans  7.25%  6.75% 
Price inflation  3.00%  3.09% 
Future salary increase      

Pilots  4.00%  4.00% 
Cabin crew  4.00%  4.00% 
Other employees  4.00%  4.00% 

Future pension increase  3.18%  3.18% 
Healthcare cost increase  4.50%  4.50% 
Ticket cost increase   3.00%  3.00% 
Education cost increase  3.00%  3.00% 

 

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of the total plan assets 
are as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

Equity securities  31.00%  22.04% 
Debt securities  21.00%  33.73% 
Domestic Corporate bonds  32.00%  35.30% 
Foreign goverment/corporate 
bonds 

 
10.00% 

 
6.61% 

Other  6.00%  2.30% 

Equity securities comprise investments in Colombian entities with a credit rating between 
AAA and BBB. The debt securities include investments in bonds of the Colombian 
government, in banks and in Colombian public and private entities. Domestic corporate 
bonds include bonds issued by private companies and Foreign Government Corporate Bonds 
include Yankes bonds and bonds issued by financial and private entities abroad. 
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Pension plans for ground personnel 
In 2008, the Group entered into a commutation agreement with Compañía Aseguradora de 
Vida Colseguros S.A. (Insurance Company) in connection with the pension liability of two 
of the Company’s pension plans. 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, there are 12 and 12 beneficiaries, respectively, which 
have not been commuted. Consequently, the Group estimates through an actuarial calculation 
the pension liability of these beneficiaries. 

Pension plans for flight personnel 

Due to local regulations for two of the Group’s pension plans, the Group has to make 
contributions to a fund which is externally administrated. The amount of the annual 
contribution is based on the following: 
–  Basic contribution for the year: equal to the expected annual pension payments. 

–  Additional contribution for the year (if necessary): equal to the necessary amount to match 
the actuarial liability under local accounting rules and the plan assets as of year 2023 
(determined with an actuarial calculation). 
Sensitivity Analysis 

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the aforementioned 
assumptions. The following table summarizes how the impact on the defined benefit 
obligation at the end of the reporting period would have increased (decreased) as a result of 
a change in the respective assumptions: 

  0.5% increase  0.5% decrease 
Discount rate  (15,675)  17,226 
Pension increase  14,100  (12,978) 
Mortality table  (7,096)  17,533 

 

Shares Base Payment 
 
The Group authorized the implementation of a long-term incentive plan for its executives (Share-
based Payment Plan), which updates the authorized plan since 2012. Annually, the beneficiaries 
of the plan will receive a package of virtual shares to which they can be made creditors at the end 
of the period, as long as the financial and customer satisfaction goals of the business plan are met. 
 
Once the goal board is closed, and at the end of the period, the number of virtual shares the 
beneficiary takes can go from 0% to 200%, depending on the performance of long-term indicators. 
These indicators are measured in the short term (1 year), but their payment is long term, which will 
be deferred in 3 payments as long as there is employment linkage at the time of payment. 
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The beneficiaries of the plan are those positions of Vice President and Director level, in addition 
all those persons who are defined as high potential and / or who hold critical positions which must 
be approved by the CEO. 
 
Each year a new package of virtual shares will be settled, which according to the performance of 
the period will be delivered in thirds during the following three years. The value to be paid for each 
third will be the result of calculating the number of virtual shares to be paid, multiplied by the 
value of the Avianca Holdings S.A. share. in NYC for the period. The payment will be made in the 
base country of work of the beneficiary, the value will be subject to the deductions of taxes that 
correspond to each country at the time of payment. 
 
Based on the aforementioned assumptions, the Company recorded a liability of $ (1,312) on 
December 31, 2018, which is considered within the other long-term employee benefits as a non 
cuerrent liability in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

(21) Air traffic liability and frequent flyer deferred revenue 

The Air traffic liability, comprises the proceeds from the unused air ticket or the revenues 
corresponding to the unused portion of a ticket sold. This income also includes the deferred 
income from the loyalty programs. The Group periodically evaluates this liability and any 
significant adjustment is recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. 
These adjustments are mainly due to differences between actual events and circumstances 
such as historical sales rates and customer travel patterns that may result in refunds, changes 
or expiration of tickets that change substantially from the estimates.  

The balance as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

      Advance ticket sales  $       424,579  $          454,018 
Miles deferred revenue  186,378  85,207 
Current  $        610,957  $          539,225 

 

     
Miles deferred revenue  $        234,260         $          104,786 
Non–current  $        234,260          $          104,786 

 
 

(22) Other liabilities 

Other liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
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Notes  

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

        Derivative instruments   26,27  $             (129)  $                   137    
Deferred income (1)    71,649  24,471 
Other    587  — 
Total    $           72,107  $              24,608 
       
Current    $             3,861  $                9,415 
Non–current    68,246  15,193 
Total    $           72,107  $              24,608 

(1) As disclosed in note 13, the Group reclassified to other liabilities, the balances related 
to deferred profits with sale and leaseback transactions for $64,095, which are deferred 
for a period of ten years. 

(23) Equity 
Common and preferred stock 
On November 5, 2013, the Company issued 12,500,000 American Depository Shares, or 
ADSs, each representing 8 preferred shares. Net proceeds from this offering amounted to 
$183,553 million (net of issuance costs amounting to $3,956). Preferred stock has no voting 
rights and cannot be converted to common stock. Holders of the preferred shares and ADSs 
are entitled to receive a minimum dividend to be paid preferentially over holders of common 
shares, so long as dividends have been declared by our shareholders at their annual meeting. 
If no dividends are declared, none of the Company’s shareholders will be entitled to any 
dividends. If dividends are declared and the Company’s annual distributable profits are 
sufficient to pay a dividend per share of at least COP 50 per share to all the Company’s 
holders of preferred and common shares, such profits will be paid equally with respect to the 
Company’s preferred and common shares. However, if the Company’s annual distributable 
profits are insufficient to pay a dividend of at least COP 50 per share to all our holders of 
preferred and common shares, a minimum preferred dividend of COP 50 per share will be 
distributed pro rata to the holders of the Company’s preferred shares, and any excess above 
such minimum preferred dividend will be distributed solely to holders of our common shares. 
In connection with that offering, the common shareholders (“selling shareholders”) 
converted 75,599,997 common shares to preferred shares, representing 14,734,910 ADSs. 
As a consequence, the number of common shares was reduced to 665,800,003; the number 
of preferred shares increased in 75,599,997 to 331,187,285 preferred shares. The Company 
did not receive any of the net proceeds from the sale of ADS by the selling shareholders. 
As of December 31, 2013, the Company purchased 197,141 of its outstanding preferred 
shares, for this reason, outstanding preferred stock was decreased by $25 and additional paid–
in capital on preferred stock was decreased by $452. 
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On November 28, 2014, the common shareholders (“selling shareholders”) converted 
5,000,000 common shares to preferred shares. As a consequence, the number of common 
shares was reduced to 660,800,003 and the number of preferred shares increased in 5,000,000 
to 336,187,285 preferred shares. 

 
The following is a summary of authorized, issued and paid shares: 

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017 
Authorized shares  4,000,000,000  4,000,000,000 
Issued and paid common stock  660,800,003  660,800,003 
Issued and paid preferred stock  336,187,285  336,187,285 

The nominal value are $0,12 per share. 
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Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) Reserves  
The movement of the other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 

    Income tax reserves relating to (4)   

 
Hedging 
reserves 

(1) 

Fair value 
reserves 

(2) 

Reserves relating to 
actuarial gains and 

losses 
(3) 

Fair value 
reserves 

 

Reserves relating to 
actuarial gains and 

losses 
 

Revaluation of 
administrative 

property 
(5) 

OCI Atributable 
to owners of the 

company 

As of December 31, 2017 $     6,507          $   (226)               $    (65,138)                     $         3           $          125           $    58,382       $      (347)  

Other comprehensive 
Income (loss) for the 
period 

(13,701) (328) (9,039)          — (39) (30,963) (54,070) 

As of December 31, 2018 $   (7,194) $    (554) $    (74,177) $       3 $           86 $  27,419 $  (54,417) 

 

    Income tax reserves relating to (4)  

 

Hedging 
reserves 

(1) 

Fair value 
reserves 

(2) 

Reservas relating 
to actuarial gains 

and losses 
(3) 

Fair value 
reserves 

Fair value 
reserves 

Reservas relating 
to actuarial gains 

and losses 
 

Revaluation of 
administrative 

property 
(5) 

Total OCI 
reserves 

As of December 31, 2016 $            122 $       (245) $       (31,753) $     (3,558) $          3      $      15,143    $     27,365     $    7,077 

Other comprehensive 
Income (loss) for the 
period 

6,385 19 (33,385)     3,558                  -   (15,018) 31,017 (7,424) 

As of December 31, 2017 $        6,507          $      (226)               $       (65,138)                     $             —   $         3              $             125             $    58,382          $      (347)  
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(1) Hedging Reserves 

The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the 
fair value of hedging instruments used in cash flow hedges pending subsequent 
recognition of the hedged cash flows (See Note 27). 

(2) Fair value reserves 
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available–
for–sale financial assets until the assets are derecognized or impaired. 

(3) Reserve relating to actuarial gains and losses  

It comprises actuarial gains or losses on defined benefit plans and post–retirement 
medical benefits recognized in other comprehensive income.  

(4) Income tax on other comprehensive income 
Whenever an item of other comprehensive income gives rise to a temporary difference, 
a deferred income tax asset or liability is recognized directly in other comprehensive 
income 

(5) Revaluation of administrative property 
Revaluation of administrative property is related to the revaluation of administrative 
buildings and property in Colombia, Costa Rica, and El Salvador. The revaluation 
reserve is adjusted for increases or decreases in fair values of such property. 

The following provides an analysis of items presented net in the statement of consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income which have been subject to reclassification, without 
considering items remaining in OCI which are never reclassified to profit of loss: 

  2018  2017 
Cash flow hedges:     
Reclassification during the year to profit or loss  $     (17,179)  $          10,309 
Effective valuation of cash flow hedged            3,478  (3,924) 
  $     (13,701)  $            6,385 
Fair value reserves:     
Valuations of  investments in fair value with 
changes in OCI 

 
$            (328)  $                 19 

  $            (328)  $                 19 
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(24) Non-Controlling interests 
The following is summaries the information relationg to each of the Group’ subsidiaries that has material NCI as of December 31, 
2018 and 2017: 

 

LifeMiles 
B.V. 

Taca 
International 

Airlines 

Aerotaxis la 
Costeña S.A. 

TurboProp 
Leasing 
Corp. 

Lineas Aereas 
Costarricense

s S.A. 

Other 
individually 
inmaterial 

subsidiaries 

Total 

                
NCI percentage  30.00% 3.17% 31.92% 32.00% 7.58%     
        
Current assets $        50,344   $        28,269  $          2,597   $          4,155  $         25,818  $             5,719   $  116,902  
Non-current assets           24,337               8,932                 687               7,615                 5,444                  2,529      49,544  
Current liabilities        (98,034)          (18,861)           (1,268)            (2,658)           (27,515)             (3,481) (151,818) 
Non-current liabilities  (160,816)     (26,210)     —              (3,995)                (827)                (773) (192,622) 
Net assets       (184,169)            (7,871)             2,017               5,117             2,919                3,994  (177,993) 
(Loss) profit  24,321            (3,684)         (499)             1,283                   841                 3,683        25,946  
Other comprehensive imcome     $            (94) $          (158) $               —       —    $                —    $                 (9) $   (261) 

 

 

LifeMiles 
B.V. 

Taca 
International 

Airlines 

Aerotaxis la 
Costeña S.A. 

TurboProp 
Leasing 
Corp. 

Lineas Aereas 
Costarricense

s S.A. 

Other 
individually 
inmaterial 

subsidiaries 

Total 

                
NCI percentage  30.00% 3.17% 31.92% 32.00% 7.58%   
        
Current assets $       47,603  $        24,269  $          2,971  $           7,095  $           30,581  $               7,381  $   119,900  
Non-current assets 27,039  10,720  777  7,909  6,092                 4,268        56,804  
Current liabilities (67,814) (14,915) (1,232) (7,317) (29,007) (2,880) (123,166) 
Non-current liabilities (95,939) (24,054)     — (3,257) (5,470) (768) (129,488) 
Net assets (89,112) (3,980)  2,516  4,429  2,196   8,001     (75,950) 
(Loss) profit 30,738  (3,980) 2,364  674  2,106                    1,893        33,795  
Other comprehensive imcome $             78  $            358  $               — $               — $                  — $                    19  $          455  
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(25) Earnings per Share 
The calculation of basic (loss) earnings per share at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as 
follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
 2017 

Net profit (loss) attributable to Avianca 
Holdings S.A. 

 
$                  (24,803)  $                 48,237 

     
Weighted average number of shares     
(in thousands of shares)     
Common stock  660,800  660,800 
Preferred stock  336,187  336,187 
     
Earnings per share     
Common stock  $                 (0.025)  $                    0.05 
Preferred stock  $                 (0.025)  $                    0.05 

(26) Operating revenue 
The Group had no major customers which represented more than 10% of revenues in 2018 
and 2017. The Group tracks its segmented gross revenue information by type of service 
rendered and by region, as follows: 

By type of service rendered 
 

  
Year ended 

December 31, 
2018 

 Percentage  
Year ended 

December 31,  
2017 

 Percentage  
Year on 

Year 
Variation 

Domestic           
Passenger  2,001,825  41%  $       1,900,627        43%      101,198  
Cargo and mail  303,343  6%  279,666  6%        23,677  
  2,305,168  47%  2,180,293  49%      124,875  
International            
Passenger  2,072,566  42%  1,649,533  37%      423,033  
Cargo and mail  315,433  6%  271,313  6%        44,120  
  2,387,999  49%  1,920,846  43%      467,153  
           
Other (1)  197,663  4%  340,545  8%  (142,882)  
Total operating 
revenues  4,890,830  100%  $       4,441,684        100%      449,146  
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Year ended 

December 31, 
2017 

 Percentage  
Year ended 

December 31,  
2016 

 Percentage  
Year on 

Year 
Variation 

Domestic           
Passenger  $      1,900,627  42%  $      1,752,001  42%  $     148,626    
Cargo and mail  279,666  6%  264,432  6%  15,234 
  2,180,293  48%  2,016,433  48%  163,860 
International           
Passenger  1,649,533  37%  1,533,216  37%  116,317 
Cargo and mail  271,313  6%  291,442  7%  (20,129) 
  1,920,846   43%  1,824,658  44%  96,188 
           

Other (1)  340,545  9%  297,247  8%  43,298 
Total operating 
revenues  $       4,441,684  100%  $      4,138,338  100%  $     303,346 

 
Other operating revenue for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

 December 31, 
2016 

       
Frequent flyer program  $          $ 46,376  $           178,841  $            154,245 
Ground operations (a)  23,592  20,172  21,053 
Leases  22,610  22,232  28,295 
Maintenance  58,032  11,639  7,696 
Interline  2,025  1,900  3,859 
Other (b)  45,028  105,769  82,099 
  $       197,663  $           340,553  $            297,247 

(a) Group provides services to other airlines at main hub airports. 
(b) Corresponds mainly to income from penalties, access to VIP rooms and additional 
services. 

 

(27) Derivatives recognized as hedging instruments 

Financial instruments recognized as hedging instruments at fair value though other 
comprehensive income as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are the following: 
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Notes 

December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

Cash flow hedges – Assets      
Fuel price hedges  $              2,566  $            20,549 
Interest rate  4,890  2,990 
Total 12,22 $              7,456  $            23,539 

  
The notional value of derivatives recognized as hedging instruments for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 is 92,560,000 gallons of jetfuel. 
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income reflect the 
change in fair value of fuel price derivative contracts designated as cash flow hedges. Hedged 
items are designated future purchases deemed as highly probable forecast transactions. 
Cash flow hedges liabilities are recognized within Other Liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position. 
The Group purchases jet fuel on an ongoing basis as its operating activities require a 
continuous supply of this commodity. The increased volatility in jet fuel prices has led the 
Group to the decision to enter into commodity contracts. These contracts are expected to 
reduce the volatility attributable to fluctuations in jet fuel prices for highly probable forecast 
jet fuel purchases, in accordance with the risk management strategy outlined by the Board of 
Directors. The contracts are intended to hedge the volatility of the jet fuel prices for a period 
between three and twelve months based on existing purchase agreements. 

The following table indicates the periods in which the cash flows associated with cash flow 
hedges are expected to occur, and the fair values of the related hedging instruments to 
December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

December 31, 2018 Fair Value  1–12 months 12–24 months 
Fuel price $        2,566  $         2,566  
Assets     
Interest rate $        4,890  $           112 $        4,778 
Assets     

  

December 31, 2017 Fair Value  1–12 months 12–24 months 
Fuel price     
Assets $        20,549  $      20,549 $                 — 
Interest rate     
Assets $ 2,990  $     — $  2.990 

 

The terms of the cash flos hedging contracts have been negotiated for the expected highly 
probable forecast transactions to which hedge accounting has been applied. As of December 
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31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, a net (loss)/gain relating to the hedging instruments of $(13,701), 
$6,385 and $21,712 respectively is included in other comprehensive income (see Note 23). 

(28) Derivative financial instruments 
Derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss as of December 31, 2018 
and 2017 are the following: 

 Notes  December 31, 
2018  

December 
31, 

2017 
      
Derivatives not designated as hedges – Liabilities      

Derivative contracts of interest rate 22  $               (17)  $               137             
Total   $               (17)  $                137             

Financial instruments through profit or loss are derivative contracts not designated as hedges 
for accounting purposes that are intended to reduce the levels of risk of foreign currency and 
interest rates. 
Liabilities on derivatives not designated as hedges are recognized within Other Liabilities in 
the consolidated statement of financial position.  
Foreign currency risk 

Certain foreign currency forward contracts are measured at fair value through profit or loss 
and are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. The foreign currency 
forward contract balances vary with the level of expected foreign currency sales and 
purchases and changes in foreign currency forward rates. 

Interest rate risk 
The Group incurs interest rate risk primarily on financial obligations to banks and aircraft 
lessors. Certain financial derivative instruments are recognized at fair value through profit or 
loss and are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes. The interest rate 
contracts vary according to the level of expected interest payable and changes in interest rates 
of financial obligations. Interest rate risk is managed through a mix of fixed and floating rates 
on loans and lease agreements, combined with interest rate swaps and options. Under these 
agreements, the Group pays a fixed rate and receives a variable rate. 

(29) Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
The Group has derivative instruments that could meet the offsetting criteria in paragraph 42 
of IAS 32 given that the Group has signed with its counterparties enforceable master netting 
arrangements. Consequently, when derivatives signed with the same counterparty and for the 
same type of notional result in gross assets and liabilities, the positions are set off resulting 
in the presentation of a net derivative. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group has not 
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set off derivative instruments because it has not had gross assets and liabilities with the same 
counterparty for the same type of notional. 

(30) Fair value measurements 
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and 
liabilities as of December 31, 2018: 
Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets: 

  Fair value measurement using 

Assets measured at fair value  

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets 
(Level 1)  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)  Total 

Derivative financial assets 
(Note 26 y  27) 

 
       

Aircraft fuel hedges                 —  2,566                 —  2,566 
Interest rate derivatives                —  4,778                —  4,778 

Investments                —  67,306                —  67,306 
Assets plan  —  178,594  —  178,594 
Revalued administrative 
property (Note 13) 

               —   
253,244                —   

253,244 

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities: 
  Fair value measurement using 

Liabilities measured at fair 
value  

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

 (Level 1)  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
 (Level 2)  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
 (Level 3)  Total 

Foreing currency derivatives  —  (17)  —  (17) 
Liabilities for which fair 
values are disclosed         

Short–term borrowings and 
long–term debt   —  4,022,707  —  4,022,707 

 
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and 
liabilities as of December 31, 2017: 

 

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets: 
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  Fair value measurement using 

Assets measured at fair value  

Quoted 
prices in 

active 
markets 
(Level 1)  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)  Total 

Derivative financial assets 
(Note 27)         

Aircraft fuel hedges         
Interest rate derivatives  —  20,549  —  20,549 

Available–for–sale securities  —  2,990  —  2,990 
Assets held for sale  —  55  —  55 
Assets plan  —          189,697      189,697 
Revalued administrative 
property (Note 13)   

—   
213,291   

—   
213,291 

Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities: 

  Fair value measurement using 

Liabilities measured at fair 
value  

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

 (Level 1)  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
 (Level 2)  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
 (Level 3)  Total 

Derivative financial liabilities 
(Note 27)         

Interest rate derivatives  —  137  —  137 
Frequent flyer 
liability (Note 21)  —  191,157  —  191,157 

Liabilities for which fair 
values are disclosed         

Short–term borrowings and 
long–term debt (Note 16)  —  3,587,841  —  3,587,841 

Fair values hierarchy 

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value by valuation method. The 
different levels have been defined as follows: 

Level 1  Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets 
Level 2 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; or 
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
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For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by 
re–assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the 
following methods. 
(a) The fair value of available–for–sale financial assets is determined by reference to the 

present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at a market based 
interest rate at the reporting date. 

(b) The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with various counterparties, 
principally financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. Derivatives valued 
using valuation techniques with market observable inputs are mainly interest rate 
contracts, foreign currency forward contracts and commodity contracts. The most 
frequently applied valuation techniques include forward pricing and swap models, using 
present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs including the credit 
quality of counterparties, foreign currency spot and forward rates, interest rate curves and 
forward rate curves of the underlying commodity. 

(c) The fair value of short–term borrowings and long–term debt, which is determined for 
disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of future principal and 
interest cash flows, discounted at a market based interest rate at the reporting date. For 
finance leases, the market rate is determined by reference to similar lease agreements. 

(d) The Group uses the revaluation model to measure its land and buildings which are 
composed of administrative properties. Management determined that this constitutes one 
class of asset under IAS 16, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of the property. 
The fair values of the properties were determined by using market comparable methods. 
This means that valuations performed by the appraisals are based on active market prices, 
adjusted for difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific property. The 
Group engaged accredited independent appraisals, to determine the fair value of its land 
and buildings. 

(31) Income tax expense 
Assets and liabilities for taxes as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 

  December 31, 
2018  

December 31, 
2017 

     
 Current taxes – assets  $                 231,914  $                   114,361 
 Non Current taxes – assets  19  136,301 
 Current taxes – liabilities  (252,708)  (263,719) 
 Non Current taxes – liabilities  —  — 

Net taxes  $              (20,775)  $                (13,057) 
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a) Income tax expense components 
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
are: 
   

a) Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
 

 December 
31, 2018 

 December 
31, 2017 

 December 
31, 2016 

Current income tax:      

Current income tax charge $        24.208  $        32.934        $       28.114 
Adjustment in respect of current income tax 
of previous year 2.943  2.225  (666) 

Deferred tax expense:      
Relating to origination and reversal of 
temporary differences (6.938)  (15.050)  6.642 
Income tax expense reported in the 
income statement $        20.213  $        20.109  $      34.090 

 
b) Tax Rate reconciliation in accordance with the Tax Provisions and the Effective Rate 

 
Current Colombian tax legislation applicable to dominant company in its subsidiaries: 

 
• The income tax rate applicable for 2017 and 2018 is 40% and 37% respectively (including 

the 6%- and 4%-income tax overcharge, respectively). 

• For the years 2017 and 2018, the presumptive income to determine the income tax cannot 
be less than 3.5% of the net equity on the last day of the immediately preceding taxable 
year. 

• From 2017, tax losses may be compensated with ordinary liquid income obtained in the 
following 12 taxable periods. 

• Excess of presumptive income can be compensated in the following 5 taxable periods. 

• The tax for occasional income is taxed at the 10% rate 

 
Funding Law - (Tax reform) 
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On December 28, 2018, Law 1943 was issued (Funding Law), by which new rules were 
introduced in tax regulation, the most relevant aspects are presented below: 

• Progressive reduction in the income tax and corporate complementary rates as follows: 
taxable year 2019, 33% rate; 2020 taxable year, 32% rate; 2021 taxable year, 31% rate; and 
since the taxable year 2022, 30% rate. 

• Progressive reduction of presumptive tax as follows: taxable year 2018, rate of 3.5%; 2019 
taxable year, 1.5% rate; 2020 taxable year, 1.5% rate; And since the taxable year 2020, 0% 
rate. 

A general rule determines that 100% of taxes, fees and contributions paid in the taxable year 
will be deductible, if it has causal relationship with the generation of income except for the 
income tax. 

• 50% of the industry and commerce tax may be deductible from the income tax in the taxable 
year in which it is effectively paid and to the extent that it has a causal relation with its 
economic activity. As of the year 2022 it can be discounted 100%. 

The value-added tax (IVA) on import, training, construction or acquisition of real productive 
fixed assets including services can be considered as a discount on income tax for those 
responsible for sales tax. 

• The capitalization rule is modified, indicating that the maximum amount of indebtedness will 
be the liquid equity of the previous year, multiplied by two (previously was multiplied by 
three), it is necessary that the indebtedness must correspond to loans with residents and non-
residents. This rule does not apply to the industries supervised by the Superintendencia 
Financiera, factoring companies, companies in the unproductive period, in the cases of 
financing of transport infrastructure projects and financing of infrastructure projects of public 
services. 

• In reference to the dividend tax, the following modifications were made: 

- The withholding tax rate on untaxed dividends was increased to 7.5%, in favor of companies 
and foreign entities, non-residents and permanent establishments. 

- The applicable table to untaxed dividends for the benefit of individuals residing in the 
country and illiquid successions of the decedents in the country was modified, establishing a 
marginal rate of 15% for dividends that exceed 300 UVT ($ 10,281,000, for the year 2019). 

- It was established that the taxed dividends will be determined: (i) applying the tax income 
rate in the year in which they are decreed (33% year 2019, 32% year 2020, 31% year 2021, 
and 30% year 2022) and (ii) for the remainder, the rate corresponding to the non-taxed 
dividend will be applied, depending on the beneficiary (if the person is a resident or illiquid 
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successor of the resident originator, the table will be applied and for all other cases, the 7.5% 
rate will apply). 

-  It established a Tax regime on dividends decreed for the first time to national companies, 
which will be transferable to the final beneficiary, a resident or an investor resident abroad. 

- The dividends decreed with a charge to profits of the years 2016 and previous will keep the 
current treatment in that moment; and the profits for the years 2017 and 2018 will be 
governed by the rates set forth in Law 1819 of 2016 and will be decreed as enforceable before 
December 31, 2018, otherwise, it will adhere to the new rules of the Law of Financing. 

• Stipulated a new mega-investment regime applicable to income taxpayers that increase de 
employment on 250 direct jobs and make investments in Colombia in property, plant and 
equipment that are productive or have the potential to be, for an equal or higher value to 30 
million UVT ($ 1,028,100 million in 2019). The law has a series of tax incentives for these 
investments: income tax rate of 27%; depreciation of fixed assets for a minimum term of 2 
years; not subject to estate tax or presumed income; special rates for taxation on taxable 
dividends that are decreed, among others. 

Taxpayers who make Mega-Inversions may sign tax stability settlement with the State to 
stabilize the fiscal conditions of the aforementioned regime for a term of 20 years. This 
regime does not apply to companies related to the exploitation of non-renewable natural 
resources. 

Under the Colombian tax bill, it is possible the early termination – or extraordinary 
termination – of the legal processes by the Tax Authorities, through the following 
mechanisms: 1. Termination by Mutual Agreement and 2. Tax court settlement (known as 
“Conciliación Contencioso Administrativa”), by the payment of the 100% or the 50% of the 
tax payable, depending on the administrative act object of discussion and, obtaining a debt 
forgiveness, in a proportion of the interests, sanctions and updates, that varies depending on 
the moment in which the process is found. 

For the Tax court settlement, the interested may request it until September 30, 2019 and sign 
the minutes no later than October 31, 2019. For the Terminations by Mutual Agreement the 
interested may request its implementation until October 31, 2019. 

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by domestic tax 
rate for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is as follows: 
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 December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016 

Accounting (loss) profit after income tax         

Total, income tax expense   
$ 1.143    $ 82.032     $ 44.186 

(Loss) profit before income 
tax  

   20.213   20.109     34.090 
   

   21.356    $102.141    $ 78.276 
Income tax at Colombian 
statutory rate 37.0%  7,902  40.00%  40.856  40.00%   31.311 
Tax credit (1) 0.0% -  0.00%  0  (5.74%) (4.493) 
Productive fixed assets 
special deduction (268.0%)  (57,229)  (44,91%) (45,868)  (22.10%) (17.299)  
Permanent differences (2) (390.8%) (83,458)  138.54% (141,508  (346.48%) (271.209)  
Non–deductible taxes 16.0% 3,413  3.06% 3,124  15.01% 11.749 
Effect of tax exemptions and 
tax rates in foreign 
jurisdictions 

125.0% 26,699  
(118.26%) (120,797)  71.56% 56.014 

Non recognized deferred tax 
assets (544.9%) (116,362)  (141.93%) (144,965)  248.77% 194.732 
Losses of tax reversion    184.69% 188,640  0.00% — 
Exchange rate differences 1066.2% 227,692  (48.56%) (49,595)  107.20% 83.916 
Prior year expenses  (5.8%) (1,245)     (13.10%) (10.254) 
Other    9.30% 9,498    
Changes in tax rates  59.9% 12,801  (2.24%) (292)  (51.58%) (40.377) 

 95% $20,213  19.69% $    
20.109  43.55% $    34.090 

 

(1) Airline companies in Colombia are entitled to a tax credit or discount for income tax 
purposes based on the proportion between the international flight’s income and total 
income of the Company during the year. The legislative purpose of this tax provision is to 
limit the Company’s exposure to double taxation on their worldwide income in Colombia, 
therefore limiting the tax expense to local Colombian source income. 
The tax reform contained in the Law 1819 of 2016 eliminates the tax credit for air or marine 
international transportation above noted, therefore in Tampa Cargo S.A. such tax credit 
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will only be applicable until tax year 2016, however due to Avianca’s Stabilization 
Agreement the credit will be available to offset until tax year 2028. 

(2) This item includes various permanent differences for Corporate Income Tax purposes in 
Colombia. These permanent differences include nontaxable gains and losses on the sale of 
property, plant and equipment, nontaxable revenues and other items.  

 
c) Subsidiaries Investments 

Because Avianca S.A. and Tampa Cargo S.A. are the dominant companies in their subsidiaries and 
are able to control the future moment in which the temporary difference related to their investments 
in such subsidiaries can be reversed. Consequently, and in accordance with the exception permitted 
by paragraphs 39 and 44 of IAS 12, deferred tax liabilities with respect to temporary differences of 
investments in subsidiaries, were not recognized for a value of US $60 million as of December 31. 
2018, for the year 2017 this figure amounted to US $61 million. 
 
d) Tax Credits 
 
As of December 31, 2018, and 2017, the following is the detail of the tax loss carryforwards and 
excesses of presumptive income of the Company that have not been used and for which no deferred 
tax asset has been recognized: 

Tax losses originated in the year: 

2014     $      1.061 
2015   4.282 
2016 19.458 
2017 105.449 
2018 260.342 
Total: $ 390.592 

 
Excess of presumptive income originated in the year: 
 
Year 2017    $     8.495   
Year 2018 1.271 
Total:     $     9.766  

 

The Company has deferred tax asset corresponding to the aforementioned tax losses for US$120. 
However, according to the Company’s financial projections no tax income will be generated for the 
next 5 years to allow the compensation of the deferred tax assets. Therefore, said deferred tax assets 
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has only been recognized by an amount up to the concurrence of deferred tax liabilities, according 
to IAS12 paragraph 35. 
 
e) Deferred tax by type of temporary difference: 
 
The differences between the carrying value of assets and liabilities and the tax bases, lead to 
temporary differences that generate deferred taxes, calculated and registered in the periods December 
31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 applying the tax rate for the taxable year in which those temporary 
differences will be reversed. 
 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

 
       

 December 31, 
2018 

December 31, 
2017 Variación  

Assets (liabilities)    

Accounts payable $              88.920 $           —            $               88.957 
Deposits and other assets (10.481) (24.379) (6.807) 
Aircraft maintenance (3.573) (43.973) 15.756 
Pension liabilities 3.089 (525) (23.325) 
Provisions 19.037 103.830 110.174 
Loss carry forwards 603 8.670            (96.500) 
Non-monetary items (49.343) (29.231) (186.455) 
Intangible assets (8.220) (11.534) 3.314 
Other (32.987) (2.703) (4.487) 
Net deferred tax assets / 
(liabilities) $                6.136 $         155 $                 5.891 

   

 
The analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 
is as follows: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Reflected in the statement of financial position as follows: 
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Deferred tax assets $              24.573 $     25.969        (1.396) 
Deferred tax liabilities (18.437) (25.814) 7.377 
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) net $                6.136 $          155           $          5.891 

 
In accordance with paragraph 74 of IAS 12, the Company has compensated the deferred tax assets 
and liabilities for presentation purposes in the Statement of Financial Position. The impact of this 
application, in consideration of the quantitative analysis and economic facts involved, does not 
significantly alter and is not relevant regarding to the Statement of Financial Position. 
 

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets net 
 

  December 31, 
2018 

 December 31, 
2017 

Opening balance as of January 1,  $                155  $             (14.507) 
Tax income during the period recognized in profit or loss  6.938  15.050 
Tax income during the period recognized in other 
comprehensive income  

 (39)  (155) 
Deferred taxes acquired in business combinations     
Exchange differences  (918)  (233) 
Closing balance as of December 31  $             6.136  $                    155 

 
 
f) Effect of Deferred Tax on each Component of the Other Comprehensive Income: 
 
The effects of the deferred tax on each component of the other comprehensive income are: 
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income  
 

 December 31, 
2018 

 December 31, 
2017 

 December 31, 
2016 

      

Hedging reserves $                     —  $             3.558  $            (3.558) 
Fair value reserves —  —  — 
Reserves relating to actuarial gains and 
losses $              (39)  (15.018) 

 
4.289 

Income tax charged directly to other 
comprehensive income $              (39)  $        (11.460) 

 
$         731 

 
 
g) Transfer pricing 
 

According to Statutes 788/2012, 863/2003, 1607/2012, 1819/2016 and Regulatory Decree 
2120/2017, the company prepared a transfer-pricing study about transactions within and between 
enterprises under common ownership or control during fiscal year 2017. There were no adjustments 
to taxable income or deductible expenses that affected the company, due to this study. Although the 
company is currently working on the transfer pricing study for 2018, we don´t anticipate any 
significant changes in contrast with fiscal year 2017.   
 
 
h) Position due to tax uncertainties 
For the financial statements as of December 31, 2018 and December 31 2017, has been analysed 
the tax positions adopted in the tax statements still subject to review by the Tax Authority, in 
order to identify uncertainties associated with a difference between such positions and those of 
the Tax Administration. According to the evaluations compiled, no events have been identified 
that lead to the recording of additional provisions for this concept. 
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(32) Provisions for legal claims 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Group is involved in different lawsuits and legal 
actions that arise in the development of commercial activities. 
The changes in provisions for litigation as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
 December 31, 

2018  
December 31, 

2017 
Balances at the beginning of the period $               11,720         $           18,516 
Provisions constituted 2,034  14,490 
Provisions reverse (5,007)  — 
Provisions used (938)  (21,287) 
Balances at the end of the period $                 7,809  $           11,720  
    

 
Among the provisions for litigation are those related to labor processes (2018: $3,695, 2017: 
$5,062, consumer protection processes (2018: $1,133, 2017: $1,704) and civil processes 
(2018: $795, 2017 : $1,857). 
Certain processes are considered possible obligations. Based on the plaintiffs' claims as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017, these contingencies total $123,216 and $119,573, respectively. 
Certain losses that may arise from such litigation will be covered by the insurance companies 
or with funds provided by third parties. Legal claims not resolved with the aforementioned 
forms of payment are estimated at $ 56,210 as of December 31, 2018 and $ 26,275 as of 
December 31, 2017 
In accordance with IAS 37, the legal claims that the Group considers to represent a remote 
risk are not contemplated in the consolidated financial statements. 

Cessation of pilot activities affiliated with the Colombian Association of Civil Aviators 
(ACDAC) 

On September 20, 2017, the Colombian Association of Civil Aviators union (“ACDAC”) 
unilaterally initiated a cease of activities as no agreement had been reached in a labor dispute 
between the union and Avianca S.A. The cease of profit activities lasted for 51 days and lend 
to the cancellation of 14,337 flights, approximately 50% of our flights, during that period. 
On September 25, 2017, Avianca S.A. filed a lawsuit with the Superior Court of Bogotá to 
declare the illegality of the strike. Such motion was granted by the court on October 6, 2017. 
Subsequently, ACDAC filed an appeal but such decision was upheld by the Labor Chamber 
of the Colombian Supreme Court of Justice. 
ACDAC submitted an application with the court for additional clarification of the judgment 
as well as an annulment. However, on February 8, 2018, the Colombian Supreme 
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Courtdenied the motions presented by ACDAC and, therefore, the judge’s decision declaring 
the strike illegal became final. 
On September 28, 2017, by resolution No. 3744 of 2017, the Ministry of Labor convened a 
compulsory arbitration tribunal, whose awards are comparable to collective bargaining 
agreements, to settle the differences regarding economic claims between ACDAC and 
Avianca S.A. The tribunal served Avianca S.A. with the award on December 11, 2017. 
Subsequently, Avianca S.A. filed a motion to clarify the terms of the award and another 
motion for annulment since, the Group believes , the tribunal exceeded its competence by 
rendering decision beyond the scope of its jurisdiction. On February 8, 2018, the arbitration 
tribunal accepted such motions and remanded the case before the Labor Chamber of the 
Colombian Supreme Court of Justice, who is the competent authority to rule on the recourse. 
On July 18, 2018, the Supreme Court of Justice in its civil court confirmed the decision of 
illegality of the ACDAC strike. 
 

Current Situation with Oceanair Linhas Aereas S.A.  
 

On December 10th,, 2018 Oceanair Linhas Aereas S.A. (See Note 9-Balances and 
transactions with related parties) and AVB Holdings S.A., both separate related companies 
not integrated with the Group, filed for a judicial recovery request before the 1st  Judicial 
Recovery and bankruptcy court of Sao Paulo, Brazil.  
Derived from this event, the Group is currently assessing the potential impacts related to all 
commercial agreements executed between certain companies of the Group and Oceanair 
Linhas Aereas S.A., including 4 sublease agreements for the following aicraft: 1 A330, 1 
A330F, 2 A319. 
The Group has formally requested the termination and redelivery of the aircraft in compliance 
with the terms and conditions set forth in each of the sublease agreements. 
In regards to the redelivery of the subleased aircraft, the Group is evaluating the process of 
reincorporating these aircrafts into the Group operaton or eventually its sale to third parties. 
As of the issuance of these finanancial statements, none of these aircraft has been 
incorporated into the Group fleet. 
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(33) Future aircraft leases payments 
 

The Group has 124 aircraft that are under financial leasing. The following is the summary of 
future financial lease commitments: 

  Aircraft 
       
Less than one year  316,334 
Between one and five years  1,117,208 
More than five years  963,206 

  $    2,396,748 

The Group has 54 aircraft that are under operating leases with an average lease term of 50 
months. Operating leases can be renewed, in accordance with the Administration's business 
plan. The following is the summary of the future commitments of operating leases: 

  Aircraft 
       
Less than one year  245,579 
Between one and five years  668,403 
More than five years  186,711 

  $    1,100,693 

The Group has 6 engines under an operating lease contract for its aircraft fleet of the E190 
and A320 families. The following is the summary of the future commitments of operating 
leases: 

  Engines 
   
Less than one year  5,787 
Between one and five years  23,946 
More than five years  9,378 
  $        39,111 
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As of December 31, 2018 the Group had two Airbus A319, one Airbus A330F and one Airbus 
A330, under operating lease to OceanAir Linhas Aéreas, S.A. and two E-190 to Aerolitoral, 
S.A. de C.V. Future minimum income from these lease agreements is as follows: 

  Aircraft 
   
Less than one year  26,442 
Between one and five years  52,543 
More than five years  20,720 
  $        99,705 

The amount of recognized payments has expenses during the year is as follows: 

  
December 

2018 
 December 

2017 
 December 

2016 
Leases minimun payments  $      267,708  $      278,772  $ 314,493 

(34) Acquisition of aircraft 

In accordance with the agreements in effect, future commitments related to the acquisition of 
aircraft and engines are as follows: 

 
 

 
 

(1) On December 2017, the Group signed two Assignment, Assumption and Release Agreement, 
one assigning 5 A-320 family aircraft to Muisca Aviation Limited and other assigning 4 A-320 
family aircraft to Tejo Aviation Limited. Under the terms of these agreements to acquire Airbus 
aircraft, the Group must make pre delivery payments to Airbus on predetermined dates. 

(2) On September 2017, the Company signed an amendment to convert three 787-8 into 787-9 
with deliveries scheduled in 2019. Additionally, on July 2017 the Company exercised a purchase 
option of one 787-8 with delivery scheduled in 2018. 

(3) The Group has 3 firm orders with CFM for the acquisition of LEAP-1A engines, whose 
deliveries are scheduled between 2019 and 2020.  

On November 2017, the Company signed two Aircraft Sale and Purchase Agreement between 
Transasia Airways Corporation and Avianca. Each agreement for 1 A330-300 aircraft with 
delivery dates January 2018. On January 2018, the Company signed two Aircraft Sale and 
Purchase Agreement, one between V Air Corporation and Avianca, and other between Transasia 
Airways Corporation and Avianca. Each agreement for 1 A321-200 aircraft with delivery dates 
March 2018. 

 Order Options Delivery 
           
Airbus (Family A320) (1) 124 — 2019-2025 
Boeing 787- 8/9 (2)  3 9 2019 
Engines (3) 3 — 2019-2020 
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The value of the final purchase orders is based on the aircraft price list (excluding discounts and 
contractual credits granted by the manufacturers) and including estimated incremental costs. As 
of December 31, 2018, commitments acquired with manufacturers for the purchase of aircraft 
and advance payments are summarized below. Advance payments are subsequently applied to 
aircraft acquisition commitments. 

 Year one Year two Year three Year four  Thereafter Total 
       
Advance payments  $    223,071    $     237,970 $    205,594    $    210,735       $    380,559          $   1,257,929     
Aircraft acquisition 
commitments 

$    981,054   $  2,123,295  $ 2,407,313  $ 2,162,148 $ 6,831,519 $ 14,505,329 

 
The Group plans to finance the acquisition of the commitments acquired with the resources 
generated by the Group and the financial operations that can be formalized with financial 
entities and aircraft leasing companies. 

(35) Dividends 
The Group paid dividends during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, based on the 
retained earnings as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively:  

  
December 
31, 2018 

 
December 
31, 2017 

Dividend - Ordinary shared  $       23,443  $       16,942 
Dividend - Preferred shared  12,075  8,730 
Total  $       35,508  $       25,672 

 
The Board of Directors of Avianca Holdings S.A. at an ordinary session of the General 
Shareholders Meeting held on March 16, 2018, agreed distribution of profits for the year 2017 as 
dividend to the shareholders of the Group who will be paid the amount of COP$98.6 per share, for 
a total amount of $35,508. The dividends declared were paid in four equal installments of 
COP$24.65 per share, on June 29, July 31, August 31 and September 28, 2018. 
 
The decree of dividends was made with a TRM of COP $ 2,780.47. The payment of the dividends 
was made to the corresponding TRM on the date on which the transaction was made. 
 
The Board of Directors of Avianca Holdings S.A. at an ordinary session of the General 
Shareholders Meeting held on March 31, 2017, agreed the project for the distribution of profits for 
the year 2016 as dividend to the shareholders of the Group who will be paid the amount of COP$77 
per share. The dividends declared were paid in two equal installments of COP$38.5 per share, on 
July 31 and September 30, 2017. 
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Dividends paid to minority shareholding 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the subsidiaries with minority interest, declared 
dividens as follows: 
 
 

  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2017 
Subsidiaries  Minority 

Interest 
AVH 

Participation 
Total 

Dividends 
 Minority 

Interest 
AVH 

Participation 
Total 

Dividends 
         
LifeMiles Ltd (1)  $61,500 $     143,500 $      205,000  $   127,002 $     296,335 $  423,337 
Turbo Prop Leasing 
Corp 

 596 1,265 1,861  — — — 

Aerotaxis La 
Costeña S.A 

 — — —  3,000 6,377 9,377 

Total  $62,096 $144,765 $206,861  $130,002 $302,712 $432,714 
 
The dividends receibed for AVH are eliminated in consolidation process. 
 

(1)  At December 31, 2018 the ammount of $6,000 is pending to pay at minority interest. 

(36) Debt covenants 

During 2018 and 2017, the Company did not comply with certain debt covenants. However 
these breaches did not accelerate the due date for the repayment of the debt. As of December 
31, 2018. The most significant commitments related to financial ratios assumed by the 
Company and its subsidiaries are as follows: 
Avianca Holdings S.A.  

The consolidated financial statements of Avianca Holdings must comply with the following 
financial covenants: 

• EBITDAR Coverage Ratio: Should be not less than 1.75 to 1.0. 

• Capitalization Ratio: Should not be greater than 0.86 to 1.00 at the end of December 
31, 2018, and the reporting periods are the quarters ending in March, June, September 
and December. 

• Coverage Ratio: Should not be less than 1.5 to 1.0 at the end of each reporting period. 

• Cash reserves held or controlled or otherwise available to the guarantor or its 
subsidiaries should be at least $350 million at all times until the relevant testing date 
in respect of the period ending December 31, 2018. Relevant testing date means the 
date on which the Avianca Holdings S.A. and subsidiaries audited financial 
statements prepared in accordance with IFRS are delivered to the Securitie Trustee, 
no later than 180 days of the end of the financial period. 
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• EBITDA Margin: At the end of each period the EBITDA margin shall not be less 
than 0%. The reporting periods are the quarters ending in March, June, September 
and December. 

Avianca S.A. 
The issuance of bonds in the local Colombia Capital Market requires de compliance with the 
following financial covenants: 

• Debt Service: should be greater than or equal to 1.4 at the end of each reporting period 

• Leverage ratio: should be less than or equal than or equal to 4.5 at the end  of each 
reporting period. 

The reporting periods are the semesters ending in June an December, and these covenants 
are measured at the Avianca S.A. levele. 
Although a breach in these covenants has no consequences in terms of acceleration of debt, 
it would impose restrictions on additional indebtedness that Aerovías del Continente 
Americano Avianca S.A., can take outside of fleet financing and ground support equipment. 
Avianca S.A. had restriction to decreted dividends. 

 
Lifemiles Ltd. & Subsidiaries 

Covenants as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 include maintenance of a Total Leverage Ratio 
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) below 4.50:1.00 for the first year and 4.00:1.00 
thereafter, certain restrictions on distribution of dividends and incurrence of certain types of 
investments, among others. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017 the Company was in 
compliance with all its loan covenants. 

 

(37) Relevant Information 

Commercial and Strategic Partnership Avianca, United y Copa Airlines 
 
On November 29, 2018, Avianca Holdings’ airlines (Avianca) entered into a revenue-sharing joint 
business agreement with United Airlines, Inc. (“United”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of United 
Continental Holdings, Inc., Compañía Panameña de Aviación, S.A. (“Copa”) and several 
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oespective affiliates. This long-term revenue sharing arrangement among United, Avianca and 
Copa covers routes between the United States and Central and South America (excluding Brazil). 
 
The Avianca Holdings’ airlines (Avianca) that entered into a revenue-sharing joint business 
agreement are: 
 

• Aerovías del Continente Americano S.A 
• Taca International Airlines, S.A. 
• Avianca Perú S.A.  
• Avianca Costa Rica S.A. 
• Avianca Guatemala S.A. 
• Servicios Aéreos Nacionales S.A. 
• Isleña de Inversiones S.A. 
• Aerotaxis la Costeña S.A 

 
Allowing the carriers to serve customers as if they were a single airline is expected to enable the 
companies to better align their frequent flyer programs, coordinate flight schedules and improve 
airport facilities 
 
By integrating their route networks between United States and the Latin American countries under 
the joint business agreement (“JBA”), Avianca, together with United and Copa, plan to offer 
important benefits for travelers, including: 
  
§ Joint service between the companies so that customers may travel with more than 12,000 

connection options, 
§ New nonstop routes, 
§ Additional flights on existing routes and, 
§ Reduced travel times. 

 
The arrangement is subject to regulatory approval in the United States and several jurisdictions in 
Central and South America. 

(38) Subsequent Events 
There is no knowledge of important subsequent events to be disclosed at the date of issuance 
of the report.  

 
**** 


